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in t rodu c t ion

BONES BENEATH

España de los inquisidores Spain of the inquisitors
que padecieron el destino who suff ered the fate,
de ser verdugos, of being henchmen,
y hubieran podido ser [when] they could have
 mártires.  been martyrs.

— Jorge Luis Borges, “España,” 1965

pain is diff erent,” proclaimed advertisements around the world in 
the 1960s.1 Their aim was to encourage tourism to an introverted, 
authoritarian country— and it worked wonders with affl  uent trav-

elers eager for Mediterranean sun. At the time, Spain was ostracized 
by its continental neighbors, but sustained by a U.S. State Depart-
ment more concerned with preventing a “red plague” descending 
over Western Eu rope than with the anachronistic, autocratic rule of 
Generalísimo Francisco Franco.2

Spain is diff erent indeed. By any quantifi able standard, it is a rare 
late twentieth- century success story, one that not even a gargantuan 
real estate boom and bust (compounded by a Eurozone debt crisis) could 
overshadow. When Franco fi nally died in 1975, Spain went through a 
relatively clean demo cratic transition, rapid economic growth, de-
creasing poverty, declining irredentist claims, and seamless Eu ro pean 
integration, not to mention the revival of its cultural primacy in the 
Ibero- American world. Today it is home to some of the world’s best-
 run corporations as well as a prolifi c publishing industry in the world’s 
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second most common native language.3 In spite of a long recession and 
distressingly high unemployment and in contrast to some of its neigh-
bors, Spain has developed no successful anti- European po liti cal par-
ties. Even those who dream about regional self- determination or in-
de pen dence in Catalonia or the Basque Country embrace an integrated 
Eu rope.

Yet there is more to Spain than a successful transition into global-
ized modernity. Distant battles, contested memories, and unspoken 
crimes routinely return to disturb its newfound normalcy. Quite liter-
ally, half- forgotten bones lurk beneath the arid Iberian soil. Successful 
as the society built on them has become, these bones creep up in the 
most unexpected places. In a fi t of Nietz schean recurrence, they re-
turn: in courts, in politics, and in culture. Silenced though they have 
been, silent they are not.

The Spanish Civil War was fought seventy- fi ve years ago. The battle 
over its memory, however, rages on; it is legally contested, culturally 
relevant, and po liti cally explosive. Its echoes are loud in Spain and be-
yond.4 But essential parts of the story of how Franco came to impose 
his will on a divided country remain buried like the bones in his mass 
graves. Among the deepest buried is the intervention that brought 
German Nazi and Italian Fascist troops, know- how, and supplies into 
Spain and to Franco’s aid. This book seeks to unearth the project of 
Nazi informal empire on Iberian soil, to explain how it came to be, 
and to elucidate the economic framework within which it operated. 
What I call Adolf Hitler’s “shadow empire” during the Spanish Civil 
War was fundamentally diff erent from his later attempts at formal em-
pire; it involved a relationship with Franco’s Nationalists that was dis-
tinctive from that which bound Nationalists with their other key sponsor, 
Benito Mussolini’s Fascist Italy. Yet Franco long outlived his fascist 
backers. After their demise he was keen to forget all debts and to erase 
what they implied for Spain’s role in any future German- dominated 
Eu ro pean economic system.

Strictly speaking, this is not a book about Spain. Rather it is a story 
of po liti cal economy and war in the tumultuous 1930s, one that by defi -
nition transcends national borders. Although my focus is Spain, Ger-
many, and the relationship between them, I take crucial detours to Italy, 
France, and Britain, moving from battlefi elds to boardrooms and banks. 
The way Nazi Germany sought to profi t from the Spanish Civil War 
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could have taken place only in the context of the dysfunctional, De-
pression- era international system. Nazi imperialism in Spain contrasts 
starkly with the established views of Berlin’s domestic and international 
priorities in those years, as well as central tenets of the Hitlerian re-
gime’s evolving ideology. Hence this study lays bare profound diff er-
ences among key fi gures in Nazi- era Berlin, many of whom have been 
lost in the historiography of an “inexorable” road to world war.

German intervention in the Spanish Civil War is unique when com-
pared not only with the behavior of other great powers like Britain 
and France but also with “fascist” policy as implemented by Rome. 
The Nazis’ fi rst international military adventure encapsulates a strategy 
diff erent from the one they tried to impose on Eu rope in World War II. 
Although the shadow empire in Spain was not the one Hitler ulti-
mately chose to build, it provides a useful counterfactual for German 
projection of power in Eu rope. In many ways informal integration under 
German informal power—as exercised in Spain more thoroughly than 
even in the well- studied Balkans— had the potential to yield more lasting 
results than the formal, genocidal, and ultimately ephemeral Nazi em-
pire ever did.

Other histories are written. The history of the Spanish Civil War is 
exhumed. A par tic u lar set of bones leads to the fi rst indictment relating 
to Francoist crimes during the war. They belonged to Federico García 
Lorca, one of the most prominent intellectuals to fall victim to the con-
fl ict. His remains had long been rumored to lie in an unmarked mass 
grave along a winding road in Granada. Early in the confl ict a Nation-
alist death squad found the poet in hiding and, after a few days of 
improvised imprisonment, took him “for coff ee, lots of coff ee”— a 
peculiar Iberian euphemism for facing the fi ring squad. There has been 
a decades- long, heated debate about precisely why Lorca was shot. In 
spite of his closeness to prominent reactionaries, his being an outspoken 
Socialist with a trail of male lovers surely did not help.5 Seven de cades 
later, the legal case for exhuming Lorca’s bones was anything but 
straightforward. At the center of the case lay Spain’s post- Francoist 
 amnesty law. Yet in 2008 a judge ordered that bones belonging to 
nineteen victims of the “Francoist repression,” including Lorca’s, be 
exhumed, even when the alleged perpetrators had themselves been six 
feet under for de cades.6
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To Spanish liberals, unearthing the bones was one of many battles 
in the long war to reclaim their country’s memory after de cades of dic-
tatorship; it amounted to painful but necessary reckoning. Historians 
sought details about Lorca’s last hours. The granddaughter of a school-
teacher who had the dubious honor of being executed alongside the 
author was exultant, having “spent a de cade waiting for the moment.”7 
She would be disappointed: there was little to be found at the desig-
nated location.

Yet elusive bones led to an even greater setback for proponents of 
exhumation: the only person to be indicted in the case was the judge 
who ordered the digging.8 This was not just any judge. Baltasar Garzón 
has had a long, controversial history with cases featuring crimes against 
humanity. In 1998 he became internationally recognized when he pros-
ecuted former Chilean dictator Augusto Pinochet for the murder of 
Spanish citizens during his junta rule. Garzón banked on the “universal 
principle” ascribed by Iberian jurisprudence, which limited Pinochet’s 
jurisdictional arbitrage in the Eu ro pean Union while the former dic-
tator was in the United Kingdom. Pinochet subsequently spent eigh-
teen months under  house arrest in London. Many scholars judged the 
case to be a defi ning moment for international law. After all, having 
personally managed Chile’s transition to democracy, Pinochet had 
dodged indictment; it was only through the probing of a Spanish judge 
in the name of a few obscure victims that he came close to actually 
facing trial. Garzón’s judicial activism had consequences beyond the 
prosecution of a decrepit octogenarian: it contributed to challenges 
against postdictatorship amnesty laws in countries as diverse as Argen-
tina, Bosnia, and Kyrgyzstan— all of which experienced “managed” 
demo cratic transitions.

Around the world, but in par tic u lar within Spain, Garzón became 
a Manichaean fi gure. To his supporters he was a restless crusader for 
justice; to his opponents he was a careless, overstepping judge, fi ghting 
a past buried for good reason. British courts eventually found Pino-
chet unfi t for trial, but the dictator’s life back in Chile would never be 
the same; the autumn of the patriarch had fi nally arrived.9

After a series of causes célèbres targeting Latin American juntas and 
Islamic terrorists, Garzón focused on his own backyard. In response to 
a fi ling by twenty- two civil organizations, he produced a sixty- eight- 
page judicial opinion arguing that Civil War– era murders qualifi ed as 



“crimes against humanity,” meaning neither statutes of limitations nor 
the deaths of alleged perpetrators allowed them to lapse.10 He then re-
quested Franco’s death certifi cate, a sine qua non for indictment, as well 
as those of other central fi gures of his regime. In so doing he implic-
itly challenged Spain’s amnesty law. Even though it had been origi-
nally designed to protect Franco’s victims rather than his perpetrators, 
the law originally passed in 1977 became crucial to the transition that 
allowed for the return of democracy to Spain.11 It allowed old Fran-
coists and the Spanish military to engage in the constitutional mon-
archy that King Juan Carlos I established.12 It was a gamble and, by (al-
most) all mea sures, a successful one. Some of Franco’s old ministers  were 
soon elected to offi  ce. Some bumps in the road notwithstanding, a stable 
demo cratic transition ensued. And integration into Eu rope fl ourished.

When Garzón settled on Lorca’s undignifi ed resting place to launch 
his crusade into Civil War crimes, two right- wing organizations with 
Francoist roots fought back. Manos Limpias (Clean Hands) and Falange 
Española— Franco’s old po liti cal party turned civil organization— fi led 
a suit arguing that the judge was overstepping his responsibilities and 
violating the amnesty law. Conservative magistrate Luciano Varela 
agreed, suspending Garzón from the bench. Public opinion was fi ercely 
divided. Thousands took to the streets to protest the ruling; among other 
symbols, Garzón’s supporters waved fl ags of the Second Spanish Re-
public, the very one the Civil War had ended.

In early 2012 the Spanish Supreme Court cleared Garzón of abuses 
of power in a six- to- one decision.13 Yet the Court also suspended Garzón 
for illegal wiretaps in another, technically unrelated case involving cor-
ruption in Spain’s leading conservative party, the Partido Pop u lar; the 
Court judged that Garzón conducted investigations with “methods only 
found in totalitarian societies.” Few believed the cases against Garzón 
to be in de pen dent of each other, and the result was unequivocal: sus-
pended from the bench, the judge could not upset the legal status quo 
any longer. Garzón’s lawyer complained that the verdict amounted to 
a “career death sentence.” NGOs and the world press suggested the judge 
was being persecuted.14 Garzón has since gone before the Constitutional 
Tribunal, questioning the impartiality of the Supreme Court in light 
of new evidence linking one of the Court’s judges to the very po liti cal 
party he was investigating.15 The Supreme Court’s ruling implicitly gave 
its imprimatur to Garzón’s investigation into Francoist crimes— but no 

 IN T RODUC T ION 5



6 HI T LER’S SH A DOW EMPIR E 

other judge has thus far dared step into such a minefi eld. There are pow-
erful reasons why Spain’s bones have remained buried, both literally 
and fi guratively.

The battle over Spain’s bones transcends its courts. On March 2, 2009, 
for instance, the country’s troubled past made the cover of the Wall Street 
Journal, which reported on a legislative initiative that stirred social di-
visions akin to Garzón’s legal probes.16 Although the ominously titled 
Law of Historical Memory did not directly revisit the 1977 amnesty 
law, it sought to redress public memory of the confl ict and Franco’s 
rule.17 It allowed the Socialist administration of José Luis Rodríguez 
Zapatero to issue apologies for thousands of illegal executions and off er 
citizenship to living members of the international brigades— the vol-
unteers from all over the world who poured into Spain to fi ght Franco’s 
Nationalists. It also launched a crusade against Franco’s iconography: 
yokes and arrows, ea gles, street names, statues.

A few years earlier the Socialist- controlled Parliament had decreed 
that the last remaining statue of Franco be removed from the heart of 
Madrid.18 Copied from a sixteenth- century equestrian piece by Do-
natello, it portrayed a victorious Franco marching on the capital after 
its defenders had fi nally capitulated. Through three de cades of consti-
tutional monarchy, the statue had stood erect in the center of Madrid, 
epitomizing the unapologetic view of the Francoist past that so enraged 
the Iberian left. The Socialist government’s decision was unambiguous: 
Francoism had no place in modern Spain’s public sphere. But as with 
Garzón’s case, not everyone agreed. Before dawn and armed with lit 
candles, old Francoists gathered to protest the statue’s removal. The ef-
fi gy was confi ned to a government ware house, away from the public 
eye but not gone forever.

In light of such tensions it is unsurprising that Spain’s bones  were 
fi rst unearthed by neither courts nor congress, but rather by Iberian 
culture. Generations of artists broke the silence surrounding Civil War 
crimes well before Franco had passed away; by adding music to po-
etry, artists like Joan Manuel Serrat revived artistic statements in ways 
that echoed Picasso’s paintings and Neruda’s verses in defense of the 
Second Republic. Arguably Spain’s fi nest twentieth- century trouba-
dour, Serrat came to prominence in his native Catalonia when he with-
drew from the 1968 Eurovision contest— a fi xture of Eu ro pean pop 
culture—in protest of Franco’s repression of the Catalan language. He 



would later declare he found forbidden languages the best conduits for 
expression.19

A year later the songwriter took up a cause that made him renowned 
everywhere. It began with a twelve- track LP, “To Antonio Machado, 
Poeta.”20 Featuring a red cover with a photograph of the left- leaning 
Civil War– era poet, the record should have raised Francoist eyebrows, 
but it somehow got past the censors. Serrat revived Machado’s poems 
by crafting them into song. The album was more po liti cal statement 
than artistic homage; not unlike Lorca’s, Machado’s was a telling Civil 
War tragedy.21 The album’s fi rst track, “Cantares,” revived the poet’s 
best- known couplet, penned shortly before his death in 1939. By then 
the Civil War was lost. Machado, who, like many vanquished Repub-
licans, literally walked into exile in France, wrote, “Walker, your foot-
steps are road / and nothing  else. / Walker, there are no roads / you 
make roads walking.”22 Spaniards knew of the poet’s ignominious death 
in exile. Serrat’s own lines, intertwined with the original verse, laid 
bare the po liti cal message:

The poet died, far from home
he’s covered by dust from a foreign land,
walking away he was heard to cry:
“Walker, there are no roads,
you make roads by walking.”

Serrat too soon found himself in exile. In 1972 he turned the work 
of Miguel Hernández into song. This time he added not a single word 
of commentary. Perhaps the most powerful statement in this set is to 
be found in Hernández’s “onion lullaby,” a tragic, almost fi nal com-
munication between the poet and his family before tuberculosis over-
came him in one of Franco’s many prisons. Receiving desperate letters 
from his wife, Hernández had nothing but couplets on borrowed paper 
to send back:

Laugh, my boy, 
Your laughter frees me,
it gives me wings;
it vanquishes my loneliness,
it rips my prisons.23

 IN T RODUC T ION 7
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The stanzas became a sensation. It is still moving to watch the recording 
of a young Serrat, eyes looking into the distance, singing Hernández’s 
words on Spain’s public tele vi sion, Televisión Española, in the early 
1980s. By then Franco was long dead and Spanish democracy very much 
alive. Serrat’s sung poetry inspired new generations and the trova— the 
troubadour movement— became a cultural conduit through which to 
explore the buried past.

More recently younger generations have taken up this distinctively 
Spanish blend of remembrance and guitars. Among others, Javier Bergia 
and Ismael Serrano— two young artists outspoken in their support of 
Garzón’s inquiries and public memory initiatives— stand out. They epit-
omize a cohort that did not stop at denouncing Francoism for its au-
thoritarianism; their challenge ran deeper. In between allusions to Che 
Guevara and mini skirts, Serrano’s breakout 1997 single, “Dad, Tell Me 
Once Again,” asked:

Dad, tell me once again how after so many a barricade,
so many clenched fi sts, so much spilled blood,
by the end of the game, there was nothing you could do,
and below the cobblestones there lay no beach sand.24

Such lyrics— cleverly playing with student revolutionaries’ slogan 
“Under the cobblestones, the beach”— questioned the  whole edifi ce of 
Iberian society as it emerged from the managed demo cratic transition.25 
Franco’s downfall left more than beach beneath the cobblestones.

This book begins with an earlier downfall: Spain’s. Chapter 1, “Two 
Spains,” traces the ideologies that clashed in the Civil War. When the 
Bourbons fell in 1931, the country seemed to settle on universal democ-
racy, yet the demo cratic system led to further polarization. Between 
seemingly endless po liti cal tumult and economic crisis, two radically 
dissimilar versions of Spain emerged: a liberal, Republican, and secular 
Spain and a conservative, monarchical, and Catholic Spain. Yet the 
country was too poor to fund its fratricidal confl ict. Neither Republi-
cans nor Nationalists could prevail without foreign aid; they needed 
weapons, supplies, and hard currency, and, although the Great Depres-
sion was not quite over, they found them. Spain became the only place 



where Communists and fascists waged open war against each other be-
fore World War II; between 1936 and 1939 it became Eu rope’s open 
wound.

Even before the fi rst shot was fi red, the Spanish Civil War was an 
international aff air. It was state- of- the- art Junkers and Heinkel bombers 
from Nazi Germany’s Condor Legion, with Italian aerial support, that 
wrought the destruction of Guernica later immortalized by Picasso; Ma-
drid’s Communist defenders charged against Franco’s Foreign Legion 
with American weapons purchased from, of all places, Stalinist Rus sia. 
In a world of crumbling globalization, Spain saw the internationaliza-
tion of localized violence. Intervention favored the side that started the 
war at a marked disadvantage: the Nationalists. The diplomatic deci-
sions across great power capitals reversed the Republic’s advantage and 
undermined its government.26 Chapter 2 approaches these decisions by 
analyzing simultaneously the domestic politics and evolving interna-
tional perceptions in Paris, London, Moscow, Washington, Rome, and 
Berlin. With sources in six languages from archives in three continents, 
it is now possible to reconstruct not only strategic outcomes but also 
the news reports, rumors, diplomatic cables, co ali tion battles, and per-
sonal biases that infl uenced decision making. As the chapter concludes, 
it will become clear how the great power decisions that determined 
the Civil War’s outcome  were made within twenty- four hours on one 
crucial day— July 25, 1936.

But what exactly  were German Nazis and Italian Fascists looking 
for in Spain? Answering that question gets to the central purpose of 
this book. The historiography of foreign intervention in the Spanish 
Civil War has, by and large and in par tic u lar outside of Spain, re-
mained unchanged in spite of a considerable reassessment of Nazi eco-
nomic and foreign policy.27 Shortly after inception Nazi Germany’s 
project in Spain changed radically, becoming more pragmatic and far 
more ambitious than anything its ally on Spanish soil, Fascist Italy, 
ever attempted. The Third Reich’s fi rst foreign military foray three 
years after its seizure of power and three years before the beginning of 
World War II became an exercise in informal empire. This is defi -
nitely not the type of imperialism we traditionally associate with Nazi 
Germany.28 Indeed the Nazi project in Spain fi t into a primarily eco-
nomic conception of German power that was sidelined in Berlin as 
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Hitler drifted toward a wider war and the Polish frontier that fi nally 
triggered it.29

One man above others may be said to have inspired this economics- 
focused foreign expansion: Hjalmar Schacht. His personal ascent mir-
rored Germany’s, and Chapter 3 tracks his development while sketching 
the debates that drove German po liti cal economy in the de cade before 
Nazism. Two overarching, interrelated concerns had dictated conti-
nental policy since the fall of Bismarck. One was the fear of encirclement, 
an issue that addressed both geostrategic and economic concerns. The 
other was what a young Henry Kissinger summarized as “unassimi-
lated greatness”— essentially how to cope with Bismarck’s delicate 
Eu ro pean balance of power once the grand master was gone.30 By the 
time Schacht became the Weimar Republic’s currency commissioner, 
the great successes of the nineteenth century— Prussian industrializa-
tion and German unifi cation— had been overshadowed by the spec-
tacular failures of the early twentieth century: defeat in World War I 
and the Weimar Republic’s hyperinfl ation. As president of the Reichs-
bank, Germany’s central bank, Schacht wandered away from economic 
liberalism and toward reactionary nationalism. His historicist economics, 
rooted in the “historical” German tradition of the burgeoning disci-
pline, encouraged this fundamental shift. When globalization crum-
bled, Schacht threw himself into the arms of Hitler. Germany soon 
followed.

Schacht’s personal and professional ascent crystallizes the policy de-
bate among economists during the Great Depression. Dismissing most 
of them as “Party thugs,” the banker believed he could “rule through 
the Nazis.” His goal was recasting Germany’s role in the Eu ro pean eco-
nomic system, and the price was enabling Hitler’s rearmament, which 
lay at the core of the ensuing— and still contested— “economic mir-
acle.” This is the topic of Chapter 4. With power over monetary aff airs 
through the Reichsbank and economic or ga ni za tion from his years- 
long acting control over the Economics Ministry (Reichswirtschaft-
ministerium), Schacht wielded unpre ce dented power in Nazi Germany. 
He was not the only economic nationalist in 1930s Eu rope, but he was 
by far the most powerful and successful one, and I show how Hitler’s 
“economic dictator” crafted an economic program that would later 
allow for the informal projection of German power in Spain, one iron-
ically run by men he distrusted.



Schacht managed Germany’s vast foreign debt, remade its industrial 
organizations, and revolutionized its trade relationships in a neomer-
cantilist tradition. The implosion of the liberal international fi nancial 
system that Britain was unable and the United States unwilling to sus-
tain allowed him unpre ce dented room for maneuver. He labored to 
redirect trade to less developed countries where power could tilt the 
terms of trade. Borrowing from the British imperial experience, Nazi 
Germany’s economic dictator sought to develop an “economic empire” 
to address Germany’s structural weaknesses, which he— like many other 
nationalists— linked to the Treaty of Versailles. Thus Schacht became 
the mastermind of a nationalist economic strategy that made Nazi in-
tervention in Spain not only possible but also profi table.

The Nazis swiftly transcended the strategic rationale of Hitler’s Wag-
nerian decision to aid Franco in his civil war, reconstructed in detail 
in Chapter 5.31 The regime soon began seeking economic profi t from 
the dislocations created by the confl ict and Franco’s utter dependence 
on their favor. Fascist support from Rome and Berlin had made Franco 
primus inter pares among Nationalist generals. To prevail he needed 
the products of the Schacht- fueled German armaments boom, but these 
did not come for free for long. Nazi intervention in Spain eventually 
became more about resources than ideology. As early as September 1936 
and for the remainder of the Civil War, a central motivation for German 
intervention became economic in nature. It was not that strategic mo-
tivations did not matter to Hitler or, for that matter, Mussolini, but 
because of its natural wealth and relative stage of development, Spain 
fi t perfectly into Schachtian economic designs.32 To an extent other 
historians have overlooked, Chapter 7 traces how Schachtian economics 
came to dominate German policy in Spain.33 In far better studied cases, 
a similar phenomenon later took place in Eastern Eu rope and the Bal-
kans. Yet the Spanish project was far more ambitious than anything 
ever attempted in those geographies. Informal empire relied on po liti cal 
power to direct trade: without sacrifi cing scant foreign exchange, Ger-
many could unload in Spain those products being produced by the Nazi 
Sparta and, in exchange, extract what its constrained industry needed 
to keep growing. All this was executed through monopolistic compa-
nies with the full backing of the Nazi apparatus. That is how, within 
two years and in the midst of civil war dislocations, German trade with 
Spain had eclipsed centuries of Anglo- French dominance.

 IN T RODUC T ION 11
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Until mid-1937 Nazi economics was—to a large extent— Schachtian 
economics. Even afterward most of Schacht’s key policy patterns and 
economic structures endured. Yet the “Party thugs” he so derided out-
maneuvered the banker in Berlin power circles. Intervention in Spain 
may have been Schachtian in design, but it came to be run by Schacht’s 
nemesis, Hermann Göring. For his part Hitler moved toward trans-
formative economic choices that sent Germany closer to world war. 
These choices are detailed in Chapter 6. Schacht’s departure from the 
higher echelons of Nazi decision making was part of a key transfor-
mation in the regime, one that sacrifi ced the possibility of informal 
empire, an idea inspired by the tradition of Weltpolitik, on the altar of 
Lebensraum.34

Those who replaced Schacht ensured that “essential living space” 
would be sought to the east, through force, and underpinned by ra-
cialist pseudo- science.35 Hitler unleashed armaments spending far be-
yond Schacht’s targets, leading to crisis in a system that was already too 
reliant on armaments to deliver growth and full employment. I con-
trast the banker’s downfall in Berlin with the eff ectiveness of his pre-
ferred imperial strategies on Iberian soil.

In order to establish the exceptional character of Germany’s Iberian 
project, Chapters 8 and 9 contrast it with another intervention and an-
other empire, respectively. In terms of lives and lire, Mussolini invested 
far more in Spain than Hitler did.36 Intervention fi t il Duce’s long- 
standing foreign policy.37 New archival fi ndings detail a Fascist “con-
nivance” with Iberian conspirators.38 The Civil War and the specter 
of Communism arguably brought the Axis together while the dicta-
tors collaborated on Spanish battlefi elds.39 The gargantuan investment 
in Spain, however, depleted Italy’s resources at a rate that the Fascist 
regime could not realistically hope to sustain. Together with Musso-
lini’s empire building in Africa, the sheer scale of Iberian commitments 
crippled Rome’s economic standing ahead of world war. Fascists had 
little to show for intervention, in par tic u lar when contrasted with an 
“Axis partner” that eff ectively undermined them.40 The stark diff er-
ences between both fascist interventions underscore the uniqueness of 
the Nazi project and is symptomatic of an Axis that worked, to para-
phrase Italian foreign minister Count Galleazzo Ciano, for only one 
of its parts.41



Understanding an empire that could have been requires a compar-
ison with the empire that was, albeit fl eetingly. Chapter 9 therefore con-
trasts the informal empire in Spain with the formal empire Hitler ul-
timately chose to build. German behavior in occupied territories 
between 1937 and 1945 was anything but a coordinated aff air. It was 
haphazard, often contradictory, and ever dependent on Hitler’s personal 
diktats. Austria and the former Czech o slo vak i a  were swiftly integrated 
into the Reich; meanwhile territories farther east fell victim to the most 
radical Lebensraum designs. With par tic u lar intensity in Poland and the 
Soviet Union, the Nazi empire involved a racially driven plan of un-
economic mass deportations, forced labor, and unspeakable genocide. 
By contrast, occupation in Western Eu rope involved relatively less out-
right plundering and violence, at least at fi rst. The degree of direct ex-
ploitation increased when Blitzkrieg failed to deliver a decisive world 
war victory. Yet the degree of geographic variability in Nazi imperial 
experience underscores a relative lack of experience and ex ante plan-
ning, as well as managerial problems exacerbated by centralized Nazi 
rule and the inherent diffi  culties of long- term extractive exploitation. 
Neither the western nor the eastern Nazi empires  were as potentially 
sustainable as the informal projection of German power attempted, as 
we shall see, on Iberian soil.

Chapter 9 also concurrently traces the decline of German hegemony 
on Iberian soil, concluding with a hitherto unappreciated paradox; an 
analysis of bilateral documents in the context of the wider war shows 
the extent to which the advent of world war crippled the Nazis’ standing 
with Franco. Only after September 1939  were Franco and his govern-
ment able to successfully resist German economic penetration and debt 
repayment. World war yielded unexpected benefi ts to Franco. Debts 
are rarely paid when creditors are obliterated. That is what came of Nazi 
Germany’s large claims on Nationalist Spain, as well as its network of 
resource- focused long- term investments.

The shadow empire in Spain previewed the economic exploitation of 
the European periphery at the ser vice of the industrial German core. 
Although this strategy was ultimately abandoned in favor of a far more 
ruthless and less eff ective policy, an informal empire did function on 
Iberian soil to Germany’s benefi t. Some might counter that such an 
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empire never appeared on Eu ro pean maps. They would be right. And 
yet, as John Gallagher and Ronald Robinson wrote in a classic study 
of the British Empire, “for purposes of economic analysis it would clearly 
be unreal to defi ne imperial history exclusively as the history of those 
colonies coloured red on the map.” 42 Hitler did possess a shadow em-
pire, one that in hindsight would have provided a more eff ective blue-
print for continental dominance than his preferred alternative.

We live in diff erent times. Today a peaceful, demo cratic, and increas-
ingly federal Eu rope faces challenges inherent to the birth defects of 
its monetary  union.43 Frequently populist politicians in the so- called 
periphery complain of German dominance; they even explicitly evoke 
the memory of the Nazi past. But institutions are rarely, if ever, ex ante 
constructions. More often than not they evolve in the context of po-
liti cal cultures, economic realities, social aspirations, and demographic 
constraints— a point made long ago by adherents to the historical school 
of economics. As Eu rope’s federal institutions evolve, the experience 
of the Spanish Civil War and Germany’s designs for economic hege-
mony should remind us of far less palatable alternatives to the current 
pro cess of “ever closer  union.” I have heard it said that, after the Civil 
War, one Spain abandoned freedom for the motherland and the other 
Spain abandoned the motherland for freedom. Today that is no longer 
the case; integrated Eu rope is at the core of modern, demo cratic Spain’s 
successes. It has underpinned its demo cratic transition, its accelerated 
development, and even the diffi  cult— but ultimately bloodless— debates 
about its buried past. Similarly “Eu rope” as idea and reality has been 
crucial to the po liti cal and economic successes of both reunifi ed Ger-
many and postwar Italy.

My interpretation of Nazi Germany’s project in Spain departs from 
the work of scholars like Michael Burleigh, who see Nazism as a po-
liti cal religion largely devoid of economic rationale.44 The argument 
herein also diverges from the theory of an overdetermined racial em-
pire as proposed by Mark Mazower and Timothy Snyder, among 
others.45 German exploitation of Spain predated the (initially) profi t-
able Western Eu ro pean conquests highlighted by Alan Milward and 
others, while providing a case study in economic hegemony that has 
been largely ignored in the best economic histories of the period, among 
which Adam Tooze’s stands out.46 This book thus sets Nazi Germany’s 



Iberian project in a novel, comparative economic framework within 
the shipwreck of globalization in the 1930s.

Above all, however, this study challenges the view that Germany’s 
informal empire in Spain was a mere “failure,” as advocated by learned 
Civil War scholars in Germany (Hans- Henning Abendroth), Britain 
(Christian Leitz), and Spain (Angel Viñas and Rafael García Pérez).47 
That surely goes too far, in par tic u lar in the context of the amazing 
successes of economic penetration before the advent of world war. Hence 
counterfactual questions can be raised about the sustainability of the 
Iberian shadow empire if Hitler had chosen a diff erent foreign policy. 
Without fascist intervention, Franco could never have written, as he 
did on April 1, 1939, “Today, with the Red army imprisoned and dis-
armed, national troops have achieved their fi nal military objectives. The 
war is over.” 48 And without Iberian resources Germany would have 
been less ready for war fi ve months later. Not so Fascist Italy, a point 
that can only be made through the comparison of both interventions. 
The Spanish Civil War left many bones to bury beneath the arid Ibe-
rian soil. Among them was an alternative version of German em-
pire— and indeed of Eu ro pean integration— that deserves to be 
unearthed.
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ore so than London’s British Museum or New York’s Metro-
politan, and perhaps comparable only to the relationship that 
binds the Louvre to Paris, El Prado defi nes Madrid. No visitor 

can hope to comprehend the city’s layout without understanding the 
centrality of its leading museum. Both its neoclassical façade and sleek, 
modern expansion stand tall, unavoidable, on a street that bears its 
name (Calle del Prado) and connects one of the city’s central arteries 
(Calle de Alcalá), where one can fi nd the imposing Bank of Spain and 
the beautiful curves of Cibeles, with Atocha station, the country’s 
busiest and its rail connection to the rest of Eu rope.1 El Prado is at the 
heart of Madrid. Close to it is the Retiro, the madrileña answer to 
Hyde Park or Central Park, as well as the Royal Botanical Gardens, 
whose serene leafy vistas retain that distinctively Gallic aesthetic of 
Bourbon kings. El Prado’s forty- fi ve thousand square meters cannot 
rival the Napoleonic grandiosity of the Louvre or the vastness of New 
York’s Met, yet in the words of Iberian modernist Antonio Saura, it 
“may not be the most extensive [museum], but it’s the most intense.”2

If El Prado defi nes Madrid, then Goya defi nes El Prado. The Diego 
Velázquez and El Greco collections may be favorites among tourists 
on busy morning tours, but Francisco de Goya is el Prado’s most care-

chapt e r  one

TWO SPAINS

Aquí yace media España; Here lies half Spain;
murió de la otra mitad. it died of the other half.

— Mariano José de Larra, “All Saints’ Day,” Figaro, 1836

M



 T WO SPA IN S 17

fully curated artist. Its halls exhibit no fewer than 100 of Goya’s works, 
which may explain why the curatorial staff  includes a position dedi-
cated to the master. It is Goya’s oversize, stern- looking effi  gy that over-
sees the museum’s main entrance, unsurprisingly named “Goya Gate.”

The master’s most evocative paintings are also his last, collectively 
called the “black paintings.”3 As touching as they are troubling, these 
fourteen murals epitomize the transformation of a romantic forced to 
taste invasion, war, illness, and even ostracism. Excluded from the royal 
court, deaf, and aged, Goya retreated to a solitary enclave in the out-
skirts of Madrid; at this so- called Deaf Man’s Villa, he produced paint-
ings so private that they were—as far as we know— not even titled. As 
if to hide them from his statue’s sight, they now reside in a gallery at 
the farthest corner from Goya Gate.

Upon entering the room, most visitors are immediately taken by Sat-
urn’s gaze as he devours one of his sons lest his progeny overthrow him. 
Others may be drawn to the disfi gured faithful in A Pilgrimage to San 
Isidro (1820–1823). Yet Goya’s most astute po liti cal message is hidden 
in the deceptive simplicity of Duel by Clubs (1820–1823), which mas-
terfully captures the promise of violence of a duel frozen in time.4 
Against an arid landscape that could be almost anywhere in Spain, one 
of the duelists is about to die a painful death by clubbing, a curiously 
Iberian form of dueling devoid of the stiff  formality— and relative 
civility—of Anglo- French rules. The raw physicality of such duels 
ended with the victor bloody and entangled with his victim, making 
it diffi  cult to ascertain who ultimately prevailed.

Duel by Clubs is a fi tting meta phor for the centuries- long dichotomy 
that culminated in the Spanish Civil War, a theme also touched upon 
by contemporaries of the war like Antonio Machado and Miguel de 
Unamuno.5 The “two Spains” underscore antagonistic answers to an 
elusive question: Who— and what— was Spain? Was it the absolutist, 
Catholic, conservative kingdom of the Bourbon kings or the free-
thinking, secular, Republic of liberals?

When King Philip II commissioned a traditional bronze suit of armor 
to depict all the territories he ruled, the product looked like the shield 
of Achilles— a legendary shield, as described by Homer, which Hep-
haestus crafted to depict the  whole world. In the last de cade of the six-
teenth century, Philip ruled over the greatest seafaring powers (Spain, 
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Portugal, and the Low Countries), Sicily and Naples, an uninterrupted 
tract of the Americas from the viceroyalty of New Spain bordering 
present- day Canada all the way down to Patagonia, trading ports 
throughout India and South Asia, the Spanish East Indies, and select 
holdings in Guinea and North Africa. He even had a claim on En gland 
by marriage. To say the sun never set on Philip’s empire was, strictly 
speaking, an understatement.6

The empire fi t the motto of Philip’s father, Charles, which endures 
on the Spanish coat of arms: Plus ultra. Their Spain was running out of 
“further beyonds.” And yet, lacking the communication and bureau-
cratic apparatus of Queen Victoria’s empire two centuries later, Spain’s 
was an empire too vast to rule. A system of regional viceroyalties tied 
to Madrid’s absolutist control failed to deliver eff ective management. 
Under Philip’s underwhelming successors, the viceroyalty system be-
came expensive and chaotic. The monarchy went largely unchecked 
by the Cortes (Parliament) and was backed by a Church keen on em-
pire building.7 The Spanish Empire threw away the metallic wealth of 
its South American colonies in failed ventures fought with imported 
weapons and, increasingly, imported men. Not least of those ventures 
was Philip’s Grand Armada fi asco, an ill- fated, hubristic attempt to con-
quer Elizabethan En gland. The Spanish trea sury’s chronic bankruptcy 
weakened Spain’s foreign infl uence, an early modern version of impe-
rial overstretch.8 Not unlike the decline and fall of other great empires, 
Spain’s involved a self- reinforcing pro cess linking the overcommitting 
of military resources with the loss of economic preeminence.

As Spain’s foreign infl uence declined, foreign involvement in Spanish 
aff airs increased. It was not until Napoleon upset the Eu ro pean bal-
ance of power that Spain began in earnest its duel with itself. Bonaparte 
was the fi rst to challenge Iberian territorial integrity since the so- called 
Reconquista, the pro cess of Spanish unifi cation under one crown (Fer-
dinand and Isabella’s) and one faith (Catholicism) in the 1490s. By the 
time Napoleon’s imperial army crossed the Pyrenees, two centuries of 
fi nancial mismanagement had taken their toll: the country was another 
piece in the Eu ro pean puzzle, far from the world’s undisputed hegemon. 
It was the terror Napoleon’s men brought that Goya immortalized in 
The Third of May of 1808 (1814), a momentous development in po liti cal 
art.9 In it, a pure Spain rises against the invader’s fi ring squad, an iconic 
scene of Catholic martyrdom.
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Eu rope’s internal wars meanwhile emboldened self- government 
movements throughout the Spanish colonies. Starting in Buenos Aires 
in 1810, creoles evicted Bourbon viceroys in favor of self- government.10 
Along with foreign troops, Enlightenment ideals also crept into the Ibe-
rian peninsula—as they did in the colonies. Many of those who died 
to deliver Bourbon Spain from Bonaparte did not merely want in de-
pen dence from foreign rule; they also sought deep domestic reforms. 
Indeed, the liberal revolutions are best understood as a single historical 
pro cess linking the metropolis with the colonies, where in de pen dence 
broadly conceived was the central goal.11

In 1812 the provisional government passed the liberal Constitu-
tion of Cádiz promising limits on both Crown and Church. It was 
an inspired document that challenged the traditionalist Bourbon 
king, Ferdinand VII. The exiled monarch did little to oppose it lest 
it inspire his subjects to seek more radical reform than the (mere) 
establishment of a constitutional monarchy. But when the Battle of 
Waterloo did away with the Napoleonic threat once and for all, Ferdi-
nand swiftly abolished the Constitution. He lived up to the most fa-
mous dictum about his kin: the Bourbons “forgot nothing and learned 
nothing.”12

Yet Ferdinand failed to restore an ancien régime that was bankrupt 
both literally and fi guratively.13 Not unlike the Latin American in de-
pen dence hero José de San Martín, Iberian offi  cers devoted themselves 
to the constitutional cause. In the port of Cádiz, Gen. Rafael del Riego 
staged a liberal mutiny. Meeting no re sis tance, he marched on Madrid, 
where a cornered Ferdinand signed on the dotted line. Not for the last 
time change proved short- lived. While a new government planned 
long- delayed reforms, Ferdinand appealed to the Holy Alliance, the 
guarantor of absolutist monarchies in post- Napoleonic Eu rope. Conser-
vative Rus sia and Prus sia hesitated. Austria’s Prince Metternich, master-
mind of the Alliance, pressed France’s Louis XVIII to aid his cousin. To 
stop the spread of liberalism, French troops crossed the Pyrenees once 
again, this time armed with an ideology diametrically opposed to Na-
poleon’s. François- René Chateaubriand, the author- cum- ultraroyalist 
foreign minister, fondly recalled a historically charged campaign: 
“Striding across the Spains, succeeding where Bonaparte had failed, tri-
umphing on the same soil where a great man’s arms had suff ered set-
backs, doing in six months what he was unable to do in seven years, was 



20 HI T LER’S SH A DOW EMPIR E 

a true miracle!”14 Financed by two Rothschild loans, the “Hundred 
Thousand Sons of St. Louis” reestablished absolutist power.15

Ferdinand’s retaliation was vicious. Yet his notoriously unchaste 
daughter, Isabella, also struggled to maintain Bourbon autocracy. Some 
argued the queen was not the rightful heir, favoring instead Ferdinand’s 
brother, Carlos; these royalists became known as “Carlists” and, a cen-
tury later, would play a key part in the Spanish Civil War. It was during 
the fi rst of the “Carlist wars” that the salient romantic journalist Mariano 
José de Larra wrote of a Spain “dying of the other half.” Less than a 
year later, spurned by his love and depressed about his fatherland, he 
committed suicide.16 In spite of the Carlist threat and unstable consti-
tutional arrangements, Isabella’s nightmare was the pronunciamiento— the 
Iberian version of a coup d’état— from an army eager to put limits on 
the Crown.17 There  were other enemies too: the clergy reacted against 
some of Isabella’s mea sures, particularly desamortización, the pro cess of 
selling off  Church- owned “dead lands” to fi nance Spain’s fi scal ex-
cesses.18 Reactionary forces did not move fast enough. A naval mutiny 
began— again—in Cádiz, leading to the “glorious revolution” of 1868. 
But while the Industrial Revolution gathered momentum in northern 
Eu rope, Spain stagnated. When the queen went into exile, Iberian lib-
erals looked for a more reliable dynasty. Prus sia’s Iron Chancellor, Otto 
von Bismarck, saw a strategic opportunity; he proposed a German prince 
for the throne. It would not be long before the Hohenzollern prince 
abandoned the bid, yet the row served Bismarck’s purpose of souring 
relations between Prus sia and France’s Napoleon III.19 This “Spanish 
diversion” therefore helped pave the way for German unifi cation under 
Prussian— and Bismarckian— leadership. Meanwhile Catalonian gen-
eral Juan Prim scouted Eu rope for a monarch willing to swear on a 
liberal constitution. In the 1870s this was no simple task: “looking for 
a demo cratic monarch in Eu rope,” Prim was quoted saying, “is like 
trying to fi nd an atheist in heaven.”20

Eventually he settled for Amadeo of Savoy, younger son of Italy’s 
unifi er, Victor Emmanuel II. The arrival of the new king in Madrid 
coincided with Prim’s assassination. It was a bad omen. Upon Prim’s 
corpse, outside the Cortes, Amadeo swore to uphold the Constitution. 
At last Spain had a constitutional monarchy. But in a country in des-
perate need of reform, Amadeo could rely neither on the reactionary 
Church, for which he was too liberal, nor on radicalizing liberals, who 
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now looked to the Paris Commune for inspiration. Carlists also op-
posed him. Before Amadeo had time to get used to Madrid, Madrid 
had had enough of him; the same Parliament that made him king in 
1870 proclaimed a Republic in 1873. That eve ning deposed king 
Amadeo declared Spain to be “ungovernable.”21

In a time of irredentism all over the Continent, the Spanish Republic 
promised increased autonomy for regions like the Basques and Catal-
onia. Yet such initiatives deepened the gulf between Republicans and 
the army. Increasingly conservative generals argued that moves toward 
federalism would destroy Spain’s integrity and render the country im-
possible to rule. It would also weaken what remained of Spain’s em-
pire. A solution was once again sought from abroad: Isabella’s son, Al-
fonso XII, went from cadet at Sandhurst to king of Spain in a fortnight.22 
His passion for “all things military” pleased the generals. During Al-
fonso’s rule the army was driven into the monarchical camp, seduced 
by the promise of renewed imperial glory.23

The restoration’s ideological architect, Antonio Cánovas del Castillo, 
sacrifi ced modernization for stability. Although he admired the British 
prime ministers Gladstone and Disraeli enough to have memorized their 
speeches at Westminster, Cánovas was deeply pessimistic about his par-
liamentary system. A historian by training, he had achieved fame by 
penning a book about Iberian decline and was widely believed to have 
said, “[The] Spanish are those who cannot be anything  else.”24 Cáno-
vas’s Conservatives took turns with the Liberals in power.25 The lat-
ter’s name, however, was misleading; the only issues that diff erentiated 
the parties  were the Liberals’ relative anticlericalism and support for 
public education.26

Cánovas’s restoration was so eff ective that newspapers published re-
sults ahead of elections.27 In time pop u lar discontent with such blatant 
rigging grew. An 1891 volume comparing Spain’s system with the rest 
of the continent epitomized disenchantment: “In Spain . . .  one cannot 
speak about a system like the French . . .  of numerical despotism, or 
like in Italy and Belgium, of the omnipotence of parliamentary ma-
jorities, but about ministerial omnipotence and the utter lack of an elec-
toral base, substituted by the most scandalous corruption of electoral 
pro cesses.”28 Eventually the parties resorted to slightly more elaborate 
vote rigging; in a trick still occasionally used in some former Spanish 
colonies, for instance, all seven hundred dead in a Castilian cemetery 
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cast votes for the Conservatives; the deceased, it seemed,  were not 
Liberals.29

Without lasting development, however, stability turned stale. The 
ruling elites cheered King Alfonso XIII in his attempt to seek renewed 
imperial grandeur in Cuba and Morocco. Not so the lower classes. 
Having lost faith in the corrupt Parliament and the royalist Church, 
masses of landless agricultural workers turned to yet another foreign 
solution: ideology. Socialism, Communism, and anarchism took root 
in Spain.30 Like Prim de cades before, Cánovas was assassinated when 
leaving the Cortes.31 Following an uprising in Barcelona in 1909 that 
met ferocious military repression, Catalonia’s governor, Ángel Ossorio 
y Gallardo, famously confi ded to his diary, “In Barcelona, a revolution 
does not have to be prepared, since it is always prepared.”32

During World War I Spain did enjoy an export boom, not unchar-
acteristic for nonbelligerent nations. Yet this growth spurt did little to 
increase the real income of the lower classes, at this point among the 
poorest in Eu rope. The economic burst after the end of the war, how-
ever, managed to boost support for fringe politics, on both the right 
and the left. Economic crisis deepened polarization. Not for the last 
time, King Alfonso XIII feared the end was nigh; and like his pre de-
ces sors, he opted for reaction over revolution. On September 13, 1923, 
the king acquiesced in Gen. Miguel Primo de Rivera’s pronunciamiento. 
“We have reason on our side and, therefore, force, though we have used 
force with moderation. . . .  We shall not shrink from bloodshed.”33 
During Primo’s ensuing six years of dictatorship, however, there  were 
no po liti cal executions. The general fl irted with fascism but ruled like 
a despot from a bygone century.34

During the early years of his rule, cheap foreign credit put Spain’s 
deeply rooted economic problems on hold. Although foreign trade grew 
considerably, loans to furnish the military, develop education, mod-
ernize infrastructure, and build extravagant cinemas— a passion of 
Primo’s that left its mark in the landscape of Madrid— eventually dried 
up. Iberian capital markets closely followed the fl ow of foreign funds. 
Their withdrawal was particularly painful.35 With the fi rst signs that 
the 1929 Wall Street crash heralded a global crisis, Primo fell. Spain’s 
intellectuals called for a new Republic. As yet another Bourbon went 
into exile, a new generation proclaimed, “This young and eager Spain 
has at last arrived at its majority.”36
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* * *
Virtually all analyses of the Spanish economy in the “long nineteenth 
century” agree on one thing: industrialization failed.37 At the core lies 
Spain’s backward agricultural sector, which employed over two thirds 
of its labor force until well into the twentieth century.38 Admittedly 
the country’s physical endowment is poor for agriculture. Narrow coasts 
surround the meseta central— the high, dry central Iberian plateau— and 
over 90 percent of the country receives less than 750 millimeters per 
year in precipitation; this complicated the introduction of intensive ag-
ricultural techniques. Most of the innovations that led to higher pro-
ductivity before industrial takeoff — the so- called agrarian revolution, 
including new husbandry, crop rotation, and heavy plows— did not 
easily fi t the Iberian landscape; technologically, therefore, Spain re-
mained trapped in Roman times.39 Most Spaniards’ diets  were kept 
barely above subsistence levels, with agricultural yields far below not 
only industrial “fi rst- movers” like En gland and France but also Medi-
terranean neighbors like Italy.40

When reforms  were attempted, a po liti cally weak state exacerbated 
suboptimal distribution, creating the twin problems of latifundios in the 
South and minifundios in the North.41 Agricultural backwardness be-
came intertwined with the failure of education. Notwithstanding a lib-
eral pet project, the Instituto de la Libre Enseñanza, Spanish education 
lagged far behind most of western Eu rope. Tellingly the number of stu-
dents enrolled in primary schools peaked in the 1880s and plummeted 
for the next three de cades.42 Spanish human capital was behind even 
its Latin neighbors.43

Economists also agree on the centrality of Iberian fi scal irrespon-
sibility.44 Having famously defaulted no fewer than fourteen times 
between 1557 and 1696, Spain was by no means new to fi scal crisis, yet 
public fi nance in the long nineteenth century was, to use a technical 
term, chaotic. To borrow from a leading historian of the period, “old 
debts  were consolidated, deferred, reformed, and reactivated, but 
rarely paid.” 45 As usual, fi nancial mismanagement created a negative 
feedback loop. Not unlike many emerging markets in the late twen-
tieth century, Spain’s track record of bad debt and chronic defi cits in-
creased long- term interest rates, negatively aff ecting investment. This 
vicious circle was both a cause and a consequence of Spain’s duel with 
itself.
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Some Iberian economists argue that the relative openness of trade in 
the mid- nineteenth century and the loss of empire hurt modernization 
eff orts.46 Others disagree, estimating from admittedly imperfect statis-
tics that Spain’s small and poorly managed late nineteenth- century em-
pire was too small to have a defi nitive impact on development.47 Data 
strongly suggest that the only problem with open trade policies in the 
1860s and 1870s was that they  were rolled back as soon as the Bour-
bons  were restored.48 Ultimately Spanish development fell victim to a 
familiar misalignment of incentives: protectionist policies appealed to 
the ineffi  cient but po liti cally powerful agricultural sector. Meanwhile 
successive Bourbon governments imposed import taxes on cheap food, 
the so- called arancel, aiming toward food self- suffi  ciency in a country 
unfi t for the task.49

In short, a combination of agricultural backwardness, poor human 
capital management, dismal state fi nances, and protectionism explain 
the failure of Spanish modernization. The sole exceptions  were Cata-
lonia’s textiles and Viscaya’s metallurgy, largely in the hands of foreign- 
controlled fi rms like Rio Tinto. By and large, however, Spain lacked 
the impulse for a “takeoff  ” or a “great sprout”; protected industries  were 
not competitive for international markets, poor agricultural incomes 
limited the growth of the domestic market, and capital accumulation 
was simply insuffi  cient for industrial development. A government pe-
rennially in defi cit crowded out industry rather than encourage the move 
from consumer to capital goods.50 In another great line ahead of his 
time, de Larra had joked ironically that “Spanish credit” was buried at 
the Madrid stock exchange, wondering, “Like with the pyramids, why 
such a big building for a body so small?”51 And that was in 1836.

By the advent of the Second Republic, Spain was in a position of 
backwardness; educational attainment, industrial production, urban-
ization, and public health  were all de cades behind Italy and Germany, 
not to mention Britain and France. Indeed, some have suggested that 
by then Spain was “a colony of Eu rope.”52 Taking advantage of the fur-
ther economic dislocations produced by Spain’s ongoing duel with it-
self, one of the intervening powers in the looming Civil War would 
seek to make this “colony” primarily theirs.

In late 1930 an opinion piece by phi los o pher José Ortega y Gasset in 
El Sol captured the mood of the time. He argued that the Bourbons 
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lacked legitimacy: “The normality of civil  union between Spaniards is 
broken, the continuity of legal history is splintered.” He closed with a 
fl ourish worthy of Cato:53 “It is us, and not the regime, the people from 
the streets . . .  who must tell other citizens: Spaniards, your state is no 
more. Delenda est monarchia.”54

The Second Republic was meant to rebuild the state and put an end 
to polarization. It was to provide Spaniards with an outlet for dissent. 
It was to bring the social peace and po liti cal legitimacy intellectuals so 
desired. It was to end Spain’s “duel by clubs.” Briefl y it seemed that it 
might succeed. Neither Communists nor anarchists— nor monarchists 
for that matter— were included in the fi rst Republican Cabinet. But 
leaving aside extremes, it was a plural project. A former Bourbon sup-
porter, Niceto Alcalá- Zamora, led a Cabinet that included men from 
a surprising variety of backgrounds. A majority of them  were secular-
ists, yet both Alcalá- Zamora and Miguel Maura, the interior minister, 
 were practicing Catholics. The Ministry of the Navy went to future 
prime minister Santiago Casares Quiroga and the Foreign Ministry to 
Alejandro Lerroux, a corrupt politician who had long given up on the 
principles his Radicals  were supposed to espouse.55

It was said disparagingly of “National Economy Minister” Nicolau 
d’Olwer that, as an economist, he was “a great Hellenist.”56 It was in 
keeping with Iberian tradition not to have fi nancial experts in se nior 
government positions; d’Olwer was a choice meant to appease Catalan 
nationalists. Yet the Banque de France expressed confi dence in the 
new regime by extending a loan to the Republican Bank of Spain.57

The Socialists in the Cabinet accurately represented the ideology’s 
diverging strands. Justice Minister Fernando de los Ríos was a bour-
geois humanist. Labor Minister Francisco Largo Caballero, leader of 
the mighty Unión General de Trabajadores, was a proletarian through 
and through; he had worked in construction before joining the ranks 
of the Spanish Socialist Party in the aftermath of the particularly bloody 
1890 strike.58 He was often called “the Spanish Lenin,” an epithet he 
sought to live up to. And then there was Finance Minister Indalecio 
Prieto. Young and charismatic but less proletarian and pop u lar in the 
movement than Largo Caballero, Prieto had come into confl ict with 
the labor minister twice before. After the Great War Prieto had chosen 
exile rather than the imprisonment that Largo Caballero endured. 
During Primo’s dictatorship, however, when Largo Caballero chose 
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collaboration, Prieto remained aloof. Responsibility over fi nances 
would have been unenviable in any Iberian government, but it was par-
ticularly toxic during the Depression.

Perhaps the most interesting man in the Cabinet, however, was the 
minister of war. Born in the same town as Cervantes, Manuel Azaña 
was celebrated for his polemics and translations of Voltaire. “Enlight-
ened” is probably an anachronistic way to describe him, but then again, 
Azaña himself was anachronistic. Self- consciously ugly, he had a nat-
ural tendency toward seclusion. The unparalleled Miguel de Unamuno 
once said of Azaña that he would be willing to start a revolution if only 
so that his books would be read. During the Civil War he would re-
turn to letters, publishing a sarcastic dialogue while his country tore 
itself apart.59 But in 1931 Azaña’s star  rose unchallenged; he represented 
the liberal model of post- Bourbon Spain: progressive, secular, and wary 
of the army. The barracks  were not pleased.

If there was one demography that placed its hopes in the govern-
ment, that was long- suff ering peasants.60 According to the great Ibe-
rian historian Salvador de Madariaga, powerful landlords and their off -
spring, deridingly called señoritos, tried to impose conservative electoral 
choices among their poor workers when the Republic fi rst went to the 
polls. In one of the plantations of meager Andalusia, a peon had re-
fused to cast his vote for his señorito’s choice: “In my hunger, it is my 
choice.” 61

The new government introduced changes ranging from the foun-
dational to the fi gurative. A key priority was making religious educa-
tion optional; this was a long- held secular goal. Although the Vatican 
was willing to compromise, the Iberian clergy was not. Primate Pedro 
Segura violently attacked it in a pastoral letter, while also expressing 
nostalgia for the monarchy.62 “When the enemies of Christ’s kingdom 
advance resolutely,” he wrote, “no Catholic can remain inactive.” In a 
sermon he added, “May the Republic be cursed!” 63 The otherwise cen-
trist justice minister described the letter as “a frank assertion indicating 
the hostility of the Church to the Republican regime.” 64 Henceforth 
government intransigence toward the Church and its perceived non-
chalance toward church burnings escalated hostilities. The burning of 
Spanish churches was not strictly a Republican phenomenon: it sym-
bolized the proletarian, anarchist rejection of a Church all too prone 
to side with Spain’s Crown, aristocracy, and military. Otherwise peaceful 
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liberals came close to justifying it; for instance, renowned teacher José 
Castillejo once famously remarked, “The anarchists have destroyed 
many churches, but the clergy had fi rst destroyed the Church.” 65

Republicans  were well aware that if any rebellion  were to challenge 
their new order, it would not spring from the convents but from the 
barracks. Bloated and anachronistic, the army hierarchy remained in 
denial about decline. The fact that the army had approximately one 
general for every hundred soldiers in 1898 did not prevent its humili-
ating defeat in the Spanish- American War; it likely precipitated it. More 
recent military disasters in Africa, such as the battle of Annual in 1921, 
compounded diffi  culties. Those who had been hardened in the deserts 
of Morocco— commonly referred to as Africanistas to diff erentiate them 
from the cozier Peninsulares— saw the Republic with par tic u lar dis-
dain, fearing for their hard- fought African empire. But could Spain af-
ford that never- ending war? In the hands of Azaña, military modern-
ization meant cuts and civilian subordination. He made few friends in 
the army ranks. Some mea sures admittedly went too far: while it was 
sensible to cut back on automatic advancements by se niority, it was 
nothing short of bizarre for an army to do away with bravery promo-
tions altogether.

The government also restored the liberal “Himno de Riego” as the 
national anthem. Its strident lyrics oozed confi dence in the Republic’s 
daunting task: “The world never saw braver courage  /  . . .  soldiers, the 
fatherland calls  /  to prevail or die.” Yet the mirage of workable gov-
ernment quickly began to fade. On an otherwise tranquil Sunday 
morning in downtown Madrid, the simple exchange of shouts between 
two groups— liberals crying “Viva la República!” and conservatives re-
plying “Viva la Monarquía!”— somehow culminated in the burning of 
the offi  ces of Spain’s leading monarchist daily, ABC. The government 
was soon in the uncomfortable position of protecting the property of 
its staunchest po liti cal opponents. The threat of street violence loomed 
large. While the extreme left dreamed of revolution in mines and slums, 
the right plotted in palaces, churches, and barracks.

Episodes like the ABC burning help explain why neither the left- 
leaning Republican co ali tions under Alcalá- Zamora and Azaña between 
1931 and 1933 nor the conservative government between 1934 and 1936 
sustained by a right- wing alliance, the Confederación Española de Dere-
chas Autónomas (Confederation of the Autonomous Right, CEDA), 
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could successfully hold on to power. Facing a triad of thorny situations— 
Azaña’s military reforms, an edict allowing for more Catalonian au-
tonomy, and a bizarre incident in the sleepy town of Castilblanco where 
four civil guard offi  cers had been brutally massacred, seemingly by the 
 whole town66— monarchists conjured a coup. In the summer of 1932, 
aged, eccentric Gen. José Sanjurjo launched a pronunciamiento; it was 
successful only in Seville, and only for a few hours. Azaña later boasted 
that he knew about it well in advance, allowing it to happen just to 
watch it fail.67

The so- called Sanjurjada was disastrous for reactionaries. Amid the 
uncertainty, however, the economic situation deteriorated. Investment 
collapsed. Although rising Republican wages improved the incomes 
of the lower classes, theoretically increasing domestic demand, they im-
paired competitiveness. Declining exports put pressure on the balance 
of trade. Both co ali tion governments tried to enact deep reforms, only 
in opposite directions. Land reform was at the core of Republican 
politics— wholly unsurprising in light of Spain’s deep inequalities. The 
Instituto de la Reforma Agraria (Agrarian Reform Institute, IRA) was 
an essential project of the Azaña co ali tion. Even though Cortes ap-
proved its creation in 1932, conservative deputies packed the fi nal bill 
with amendments that undermined its implementation. So numerous 
 were the changes, in fact, that respected historians such as Preston have 
argued it was a mistake for the government to send it through Parlia-
ment in the fi rst place.68 Other goals included enforcing the forty- hour 
work week and improving the legal standing of landless peasants.

Unsurprisingly Spain’s landed aristocracy resisted, often resorting to 
the same violent tactics of the workers’ movement. Following the Re-
public’s 1934 elections, conservatives sought to end land redistribution 
by creating a complex bureaucracy at the IRA.69 The aptly named Law 
of Agricultural Counter- Reformation all but stopped redistribution.70 
Similarly conservatives halted the exclusion of Jesuits from education 
as well as the development of a lay school curriculum. They even re-
leased po liti cal prisoners, allowing fi gures like Sanjurjo to go abroad 
to resume their plotting.71 In spite of warnings from even their own 
parliamentary representatives, landlords also took the chance to slash 
wages and fi re activist workers. The strategy was shortsighted both eco-
nom ically, because it furthered defl ation, and po liti cally, because it in-
vited retaliation in the ballot box and beyond.



 T WO SPA IN S 29

Paradoxically the introduction of universal suff rage helped the right 
in the 1934 polls. Conservative politicians targeted fi rst- time female 
voters eff ectively. While the right stood squarely against radical changes 
to the status quo, the workers’ movement chastised the Republican gov-
ernment for not going far enough. Diff erent groups saw in the 1934 
results what ever they wanted: the right saw an opportunity to turn back 
the clock; Socialists saw a justifi cation for radical mea sures. To the dismay 
of demo crats, Socialist newspapers ran articles denouncing the Republic 
as no better than the monarchy it had deposed.72 At a meeting in early 
October, Largo Caballero burned bridges: “Our party is ideologically 
[and] tactically, a revolutionary party . . .  that believes this regime must 
disappear.” The “regime” was the Republic.

While Largo Caballero dreamed of living up to his nickname, the 
moderate left worried about José María Gil Robles. Founder and mas-
termind of the victorious right- wing CEDA alliance, Gil Robles ex-
pressed sympathies for Nazism and liked to be addressed as “Jefe” (lit-
erally, “boss”), in the tradition of Mussolini’s Duce and Hitler’s Führer. 
Iberian leaders enjoyed their foreign allegories. Echoing Italian slogans, 
one of Gil Robles’s electoral mottos was “All power to the Jefe.”73

Gil Robles was not among the CEDA members to join the Cabinet 
in 1934 because the president was reluctant to hand him power the way 
President Hindenburg had yielded to Hitler a year earlier. But he was 
not far away. In this context the far left had its shot at revolution. On 
October 4 miners in Asturias called a strike to protest against CEDA 
joining the government. In a region with a history of rebellion, the 
strike soon graduated into revolution.74 Armed with rifl es, dynamite, 
and plenty of fervor, miners set up committees and took over indus-
tries. Facing little re sis tance, they took over the regional capital, Oviedo. 
They proclaimed an “Asturian Socialist Republic.” The agenda involved 
the usual revolutionary fare: eradicating property, capitalism, landlords. 
From a traditional hotbed of Iberian anarchism, the most hopeful 
dreamed of marching on Madrid.75

Was this to be Spain’s Red October? Seeing this as an opportunity, 
the president of Catalonia, Lluis Companys, addressed Barcelona: “Cat-
alans, the monarchical and fascist forces that for a while have sought to 
betray the Republic have achieved their objective and launched a [vio-
lent] bid for power.” That was factually inaccurate, but his direction 
was obvious enough: “In this solemn hour . . .  the government [over 
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which] I preside assumes all faculties of power in Catalonia, [and] pro-
claims the Catalan state of the Spanish Federal Republic.” There was 
no such thing as an Iberian “federal republic” in 1934; indeed, it does 
not exist today. Yet Companys at least paid lip ser vice to Spanish unity 
by expressing the “hope to build a free and magnifi cent” Republic. 
Companys invited secession.

Madrid would have neither Asturian revolution nor Catalan in de-
pen dence. Diego Hidalgo, a far more conservative war minister than 
Azaña, was not keen on having conscripts repress in Asturias. To have 
Spanish youth fi ring against the Spanish proletariat would not sit well 
with Republican supporters, not to mention the press. So Hidalgo called 
on a precocious general who had made his name in North Africa. In 
order to take back Asturias, the government shipped troops from the 
war- seasoned Army of Africa, the so- called Africanistas. The solution 
devised by Gen. Francisco Franco did not shy from bloodshed.76

Among those shipped from Morocco  were members of Spain’s fi nest 
fi ghting force: the Foreign Legion. Modeled after its French equiva-
lent, it had developed an Iberian identity under the leadership of 
Lt. Col. José Millán Astray. Historical gravitas permeated the Legion: 
its formations  were deemed tercios after the Reconquista unit that had 
fought off  Moors in the sixteenth century. Millán Astray— who had 
lost an arm and several fi ngers in action— encouraged a cult of death 
that would acquire dark fame in the Civil War.77 His legionnaires called 
themselves “bridegrooms of death,” and their motto was no less disqui-
eting: “Long live Death!”78 Their presence in mainland Spain came as 
a shock.79 Although Catalonia did not put up military re sis tance, As-
turian miners received treatment previously reserved for Spain’s “civi-
lizing mission” in Morocco. Aerial bombing, torture, and thousands 
of casualties  were the result of the campaign that ended the revolu-
tion. Just as Sanjurjo’s pronunciamiento had failed in 1932, so did the 
Asturian miners in 1934.

And the two Spains fought on. The repression in Asturias gave the 
Republican left a powerful rallying cry against “October murderers.” 
By February 1936 the center- right co ali tion called for elections under 
the pretext of seeking a more comfortable majority. It was a gross mis-
calculation. Though lacking in ideological unity, the left came together 
to form a Pop u lar Front with Azaña at its head. The Front massed cen-
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trists, Socialists, and Communists— a rare occurrence in 1930s elec-
toral politics. Even usually apathetic anarchists went to the polls, eager 
to see their Asturian comrades released from prison.

There  were omens that this would be the Republic’s last election. 
Four weeks earlier Largo Caballero again toyed with revolution. “I 
want to tell the Right that if we win, we will collaborate with our allies 
[Azaña’s Front],” he wrote, “but, if the Right wins, our work will be 
double, collaborate with our allies within legality, but [also] we will 
have to go to declared Civil War.”80 His rhetoric suggested the time 
for subtlety was gone: “Let them not say we say things to say things— for 
we will accomplish them.”81 Would the Spanish Lenin deliver?

On February 6 the Pop u lar Front narrowly defeated a CEDA- led 
National Front. Azaña triumphantly returned to power. Largo Cabal-
lero stayed out of government, but Communists did join Azaña. This 
was a crucial diff erence between Spain’s and France’s Pop u lar Fronts. 
Wary of losing his hold of the proletariat, Largo Caballero’s rhetoric 
out of government veered closer to revolution. The government soon 
granted amnesty to po liti cal prisoners, just as the right had done two 
years earlier.82 This time it benefi ted anarchists, but it did not buy their 
support for long.

On the streets, violence escalated. At a May Day parade a rumor 
spread that nuns  were giving poisoned candy to the workers’ children.83 
Before the day was through, an angry mob burned down a convent. 
Throughout Spain dozens of churches burned; a strike followed. Gil 
Robles taunted the Azaña administration: “The workers’ groups know 
perfectly well where they are headed: to change the existing social order, 
and whenever they can, to violently assault power, to exercise from 
above the dictatorship of the proletariat; but meanwhile, they go for 
the destruction, constant and effi  cient, of the system of individual and 
capitalistic production in Spain. . . .  [This] precipitates the collapse of 
our economy . . .  not for legitimate labor complaints, but rather with 
the purpose of killing capitalistic production.”84 Yet the right had al-
ready moved to another type of killing. Faced with Gil Robles’s reluc-
tance to rise up against the Republic, the ranks of an even more ex-
treme group multiplied.

The Falange Española, a rapidly growing proto- fascist group led 
by José Antonio Primo de Rivera, fi rst born of the former dictator, 
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emulated Mussolini’s blackshirts threatening to “march on Madrid.” 
If Gil Robles was the “boss,” then José Antonio was the fascistic phi-
losophe of Iberian reaction. He was a forceful orator obsessed with re-
storing the memory of his father—to whom, he maintained, Spain had 
been deeply ungrateful. In a momentous speech he disguised his au-
thoritarianism in Hegelian cloth: “The [Spanish] Fatherland is a 
transcendent synthesis, an indivisible synthesis, with its own goals to 
achieve.”85 Like any self- respecting reactionary, he directed many a 
diatribe against Rousseau. Though certainly no Burke, José Antonio 
blamed the French phi los o pher for the Revolution, and the Revolu-
tion for the “most notorious system of wasted energies”— his chosen 
epithet for democracy.86 Taking his cues from the “liberation” of fas-
cism, he asked rhetorically, “Why do we need the intermediate and 
pernicious element of po liti cal parties?” Perhaps the future would favor 
the Spain of this aristocratic proto- fascist over that of Largo Caballero’s 
workers. Yet for all his literary references, the Reconquista, and the 
“unmatched glory” of Iberian culture, José Antonio’s followers  were 
keener to terrorize than to attend literary gatherings. They  were an-
other group eager to tear the Republic apart to impose their Spain on 
the rest.

In the same North where Asturian revolutionaries had been freed, 
a general plotted. Negotiating with illiberal forces from Carlists— who 
still favored their diff erent branch of Bourbon pretenders—to José An-
tonio’s Falanges, Emilio Mola was deserving of his nickname, “the Di-
rector.” He amassed an antidemo cratic co ali tion in the shadows, ready 
to rise up against the Pop u lar Front. Mola imagined an army- led pro-
nunciamiento to succeed where the Sanjurjada and the Asturian revolu-
tion had failed. With Azaña now installed as president in the midst of 
a polarized country, his time had come.

In Madrid, meanwhile, the situation was so tense that Prieto asked 
the government to distribute weapons among workers. The Pop u lar 
Front government may have relied on Socialist and Communist votes 
to obtain electoral success, but the Cabinet had the liberal, Republican 
middle classes to answer to. Premier Casares Quiroga judged that arming 
the workers was a step too far; President Azaña agreed. The Second 
Republic was not ready to invite revolution for fear of rebellion. Prieto 
visited the premier’s bureau so many times that Casares Quiroga sar-
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donically reminded him it was not his offi  ce. Nor was it his ultimate 
decision.

In those tense hours a group of shady characters furnished with a 
false arrest warrant picked up a famous monarchist, José Calvo Sotelo, 
from his home. His captors appear not to have had a plan; under the 
infl uence of hatred likely mixed with alcohol, they sought revenge for 
the death of a Socialist guard, José Castillo, murdered in cold blood.87 
While the police car in which they drove Sotelo roamed the streets of a 
sleepy Madrid, a young Socialist in the backseat put a gun to the back of 
the prisoner’s head and pulled the trigger. Bearing a sly smile, the mur-
derer allegedly soon boasted, “One of Castillo’s [murderers] has fallen.”88

The shot that killed Sotelo was just another in the seemingly end-
less duel between the two Spains, yet it mattered more than most. One 
of the most brilliant and respected leaders of the Spanish right now lay 
dead; violence only escalated further in a July with over 200 po liti cal 
killings. At the height of the ensuing confusion, Largo Caballero warned 
his followers to refrain from collaborating with the Republican gov-
ernment. He believed the end of the regime was nigh. Meanwhile José 
Antonio waited in a Madrid prison for a reactionary coup to free him 
or, alternatively, for revolutionaries to fi nish him.89 In Burgos, Gen-
eral Mola hastened plans for a coup he had painstakingly planned, even 
though he was increasingly doubtful of its chances. After all, the late 
Sotelo was one of the potential leaders of the postcoup government. 
And many members of the military, including Franco of Asturian fame, 
now sent by the wary government to the Balearics, dithered about 
whether or not to join the conspiracy.90 When his brother Ramón vis-
ited Mola, he expressed doubts about their chances in Barcelona, a tra-
ditional hotbed of the left. “I do not doubt you know how to die like 
a gentleman,” Mola replied frostily.91 The Director knew his time had 
come: before the government would move against them, before Largo 
Caballero’s men would rise, before José Antonio could steal their 
thunder. “Men must endure,” King Lear’s Edgar would have it. “Ripe-
ness is all.”

For the third time in its brief half- decade of existence, the Republic 
faced an existential threat. The regime had failed to stop Spanish po-
larization: divisions in 1936, exacerbated by economic crisis,  ran deeper 
than ever. The country, however, was too poor and evenly matched 
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for a fratricidal war to have a quick resolution. In an unstable Eu rope 
the murderous climax of the two Spains triggered a new po liti cal crisis. 
Yet the ultimate outcome of the looming Spanish Civil War would be 
determined by decisions across the great power capitals of Eu rope, taken 
with remarkable synchronicity on a momentous day in the hot summer 
of 1936.



chapt e r  two

“TODAY IS SO FAR FROM YESTERDAY”

Este amor que quiere ser, This love that wants to be,
acaso pronto será; perhaps soon will be;
pero ¿cuándo ha de volver but when will return
lo que acaba de pasar? what has just been?
Hoy dista mucho de  Today is so far from
ayer  yesterday
¡Ayer es Nunca jamás! Yesterday is Never again

— Antonio Machado, “Consejos” (Advice)

n the years leading up to the Spanish Civil War, Dolores Ibárruri 
was known as La Pasionaria, or “Passion Flower,” a rather curious 
name for a revolutionary.1 A sly, zealous Communist with ties all the 

way up to Stalin, she had been thrown in jail more times than she had 
visited Moscow— three versus two— but that was precisely the type of 
achievement that gave early twentieth- century revolutionaries their 
credentials. Though moving, her words consistently seemed to incite 
violence. Her parliamentary orations became symbols of the polarized 
atmosphere of Republican Spain.2 Among the many speeches she de-
livered during her tenure at a demo cratic legislature she increasingly 
distrusted, her June 16, 1936, address encapsulates the abyss Spain stood 
before. That day La Pasionaria was in no mood to abide by procedure. 
The right, her usual target, was still shaken by the electoral defeat back 
in the February elections. Yet, as I have shown, violence had only in-
creased since then: “To avoid disturbances, not only should we make 
responsible of what may happen [in Spain] a man like Mr. Calvo Sotelo, 

I
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but also we must begin by incarcerating all those landlords who refuse 
to abide by the [Republican] government.” She was referring to gov-
ernment initiatives from the new ruling left- wing administration of 
President Manuel Azaña, fi ercely rejected by elites and conservatives, 
whom Sotelo represented. Ibárruri’s problem with the government 
was that they did not dare go far enough: “And when this work of 
justice has begun, there will be no government with stronger sup-
port . . .  than this, for the pop u lar masses of Spain will rise against 
those forces that, for decorum, we should not even tolerate having sat 
 here [in Parliament].” Uproar ensued.

La Pasionaria was not merely challenging the right; she was also 
pushing Azaña farther left. Her Communists remained out of govern-
ment, believing power would be theirs when the demo cratic charade 
came to an end. In the meantime they pressed for the type of radical-
ization that cemented the reactionary opposition. In the following days 
the right would blame Ibárruri’s words, among others, for the blood 
spilled on the streets in a recurring cycle of violence and vendettas. One 
such cycle ended with Sotelo’s murder.

When she campaigned for the Pop u lar Front, La Pasionaria was 
merely abiding by the Soviet decision to join forces with Socialists in 
elections. The strategic goal was avoiding the electoral atomization of 
the left that had contributed to Hitler’s salient electoral per for mance 
before the Nazi seizure of power.3 Moscow’s tactics notwithstanding, 
La Pasionaria never abandoned her innermost conviction: the Spain of 
tomorrow had little to do with constitutions and everything to do with 
revolution. A few weeks later, when Nationalist forces fi rst threatened 
to overtake Madrid as revolution and civil war spread across the country, 
it was her radio address that rallied re sis tance. In what soon became 
the key cry of the left, La Pasionaria said over the airwaves, “They shall 
not pass!” 4

But who  were “they”? The army offi  cers that led the coup d´état 
launched on July 17, 1936, had the support of key members of the Spanish 
Armed Forces— though most defi nitely not all— and a plethora of re-
actionary groups subscribing to ideologies as dissimilar as Catholic tra-
ditionalism and José Antonio’s fascistic Falangismo. On their side was 
a peculiarly Iberian agglomeration of monarchists, consistently nostalgic 
for Philip II’s old imperial glory but in deep disagreement about which 
royal  house was best fi t to deliver the country from democracy. There 
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 were those who favored the exiled Bourbon king, Alfonso XIII— aware 
of coup preparations— and those who supported the Carlist contender, 
Alfonso Carlos. A considerable section of the Spanish middle classes 
eventually sided with this eclectic group because they feared the very 
revolution Largo Caballero and La Pasionaria dreamed of leading. And 
indeed it was the revolution that materialized in Republican territory 
in the aftermath of the failed coup.

At fi rst it seemed “they” would indeed not pass. An extended con-
frontation seemed tilted in favor of the Republic and not its reactionary 
opponents.5 In spite of General Mola’s planning, the uprising was badly 
synchronized. Owing to disor ga ni za tion and bad communication, the 
coup began in Morocco on July 17, but it took until July 21 to reach 
certain parts of northern Spain. A delay of over fi fty hours all but de-
stroyed the element of surprise in the cities where military offi  cers chose 
to “declare” for the rebellion a tad too late. There  were those who dith-
ered until the last minute. Prominent offi  cers in the armed forces had 
upheld their oath of allegiance to the Republican government, so the 
military was immediately divided. It was not without reason that Azaña 
and the government had been promoting and reshuffl  ing military leaders 
for months, based on conspiracy reports.6

Local authorities across Spain had managed to stay in control with 
the support of revolutionary urban militia that government offi  cials had 
armed, not always reluctantly. Arming workers had been Largo Ca-
ballero’s price for supporting the Republic on the eve of the revolt, which 
in hindsight undermined the power of the Republican state. Militias, 
as would soon become clear,  were often volatile and sometimes un-
predictable; hatred of the Nationalists notwithstanding, their allegiance 
to Madrid was questionable at best.7 Yet this Faustian pact was neces-
sary for the government: it was in no small mea sure thanks to mobi-
lized trade unions— Largo Caballero’s Socialist Unión General del Tra-
bajo, the anarchist Confederación Nacional del Trabajo, and the 
Federación Anarquista Ibérica— that the coup failed swiftly in Spain’s 
most populous cities. It was only briefl y successful in Barcelona and 
never gathered momentum in Madrid. Large cities  were, for the most 
part, in “antifascist” hands. (Not so some smaller cities and rural areas.) 
The net eff ect of this was plainly visible in the numbers: by July 21, 
240,000 square miles remained loyal to Madrid, as opposed to 110,000 
to the scattered Nationalists. Signifi cantly the Republican government 
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or workers’ militias maintained tight control over strategic industries 
in urban surroundings, including steel, chemicals, and explosives.8 Aza-
ña’s Republic had a clear strategic advantage.

Faced with the prospect of vengeance and reprisals, many owed their 
allegiance to the location in which the coup had found them. The air 
garrison in Barcelona, for instance, included many monarchists who 
remained dutifully loyal to the government only because they found 
themselves in a sea of Catalonian anarchism. If one thing was clear in 
the chaos of a divided country, it was that the uprising was far from the 
clear- cut success that Mola had hoped for.9 (His brother Ramón com-
mitted suicide when the uprising collapsed in Barcelona.)10

Access to friendly neighbors like France as well as the resources to 
pay for war supplies also, in theory, contributed to the Republican ad-
vantage. It may seem odd that the Republic’s fi nancial standing was 
sound, particularly given the revolutionary outbursts that soon threat-
ened Madrid’s grip on its own territory. Yet the Bank of Spain had the 
fourth largest bullion reserve in the world, sitting undisturbed in an 
underground Madrid vault, largely accumulated during World War I.11 
Meanwhile the control of the state apparatus allowed—in theory— for 
the continued infl ux of taxes and levies. Outside the gold standard, bul-
lion reserves had survived the constant strains of Republican fi nances 
since 1931. Madrid controlled most (if not all) local governments in its 
jurisdiction, along with the civil ser vice. By contrast, leaving aside the 
wealth of prominent aristocratic backers, the Nationalists had almost 
no hard currency in the country, to say nothing of precious metals.12 
And most of the industries and export production capacity  were in Re-
publican hands. Unlike in the U.S. Civil War, Nationalists had no cen-
tral bank to speak of, so they remained reliant on Republican money 
circulating in the areas under their control.13 The revolt was therefore 
in an inauspicious fi nancial position from which to start a protracted 
civil war, notwithstanding some key moneyed backers.

The Nationalists  were also at a geo graph i cal disadvantage, with their 
territories cut in two by a strongly Republican core. Given that the 
government decisively suff ocated even the hint of rebellion in the navy, 
Director Mola and the rebellion’s commander in Morocco, Francisco 
Franco— a decidedly late addition to the cause— could not transport 
the best forces in Spain from North Africa to the mainland.14 Nation-
alists thus lacked even access to the troops that could lead a military 
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off ensive akin to the retaliation against Asturian miners in 1934. From 
loyal Catalonia, the Republic also controlled the two railway links into 
France, where Prime Minister Léon Blum’s own Pop u lar Front gov-
ernment had been in offi  ce since June 6.15 France’s ideological alle-
giance clearly lay with Spain’s legitimate, constitutional government. 
Strategically as well as fi nancially the Republican situation was thus 
auspicious.

And yet, on July 29, ten Junkers Ju52s— the glittering new trans-
port airplane of the German air force, the Luftwaff e— landed in Mo-
rocco to airlift General Franco’s Foreign Legion, Spain’s most experi-
enced ground forces. Also that day twelve Savoia- Marchetti 81s from 
the Italian air force, the Regia Aeronautica,  were sent from Sardinia 
to join in the task. (Although Mussolini often boasted about his state- 
of- the- art air force, three of the fi rst batch of planes sent to Spain did 
not make it due to technical complications.)16 These German and Italian 
planes may not have had an immediately decisive impact on the war in 
the mainland; the dawning war, after all, would last three long years. 
But they reversed a key initial Nationalist disadvantage: according to 
certain sources, on July 20 the Nationalists had only forty planes, as 
opposed to 173 available to the Republic.17 More important, despite 
Republican pleas, no similar planes came from Paris, London, Wash-
ington, or Moscow until a full two weeks later.18

The importance of planes in mid- twentieth- century warfare had al-
ready been established not only within military hierarchies but also in 
the public sphere. The Great War had suggested a central role for air-
craft in any future confl agration. But when the Spanish Civil War began, 
there  were only around four hundred aircraft in the  whole country, 
including about fi fty fi ghters, a hundred reconnaissance aircraft, and 
thirty light bombers. They  were mostly French and over a de cade old.19 
A contemporary observer kindly referred to the Republican air force 
as “old coffi  ns.”20 In this context the pristine German and Italian air-
craft symbolized the crucial tilting factor in the Spanish Civil War: fas-
cist intervention.

The poor and polarized character of Spain by mid-1936 made aid 
from abroad not only useful but essential for Civil War victory. Barely 
ten days into a war that would span years, the strategic choices of great 
power diplomacy— interlocked and largely taken within twenty- four 
hours— had already planted the seeds of Republican defeat. Having 
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detailed the key issues in Iberian po liti cal economy and society, this 
network of Eu ro pean decision making established the foreign context 
in which Hitler’s “shadow empire” came to be. For Azaña’s Republic, 
Machado’s lines  were tragically fi tting: one day above all others— July 
25, 1936— marked a fateful break with the past.

Spaniards of all po liti cal leanings expected a challenge to the constitu-
tional order in mid-1936. Two of those who worried most  were Con-
stancia de la Mora, niece of a former conservative minister, and her 
husband, Ignacio Hidalgo de Cisneros, deputy head of the (humble) 
Republican air force. From his position Cisneros knew as well as 
anyone the state of the air force; it was not reassuring. De la Mora later 
wrote in her diary, “Madrid was on tenterhooks. . . .  [Ignacio and I] 
sat up many a night beside the telephone, waiting for the terrible 
news that a Madrid garrison, or some other garrison, had risen against 
the Republic. . . .  Ignacio would go off  to the War Ministry and beg 
his immediate superior, the War Minister and Prime Minister . . .  
Casares Quiroga, to act. But Casares would laugh. ‘You are an alarmist, 
Cisneros.’ ”21

Cisneros was a realist. The latest accounts suggest the government 
had known a coup attempt was forthcoming since the Cabinet meeting 
of July 10 at the latest. Yet it decided to emulate the successful strategy 
of 1932: let the military try, and fail. But 1936 proved to be very dif-
ferent from 1932. When the coup materialized, Prime Minister Casares 
Quiroga submitted his resignation. President Azaña asked Diego Mar-
tínez Barrios to form a new government, in the hope that he could 
form a national unity one with union backing. It was to no avail; gar-
risons all over Spain continued to rise, unsynchronized, against the 
Republic while workers once again set off  strikes with revolutionary 
pretensions. Though Largo Caballero had long prophesized it would 
happen thus, he remained intransigent about entering the government 
in July; this could not but undermine Republican institutions. All over 
Spain the seeds of an extended confrontation  were being sown. Para-
doxically the military rebellion actually triggered the revolution it pur-
ported to prevent.

Azaña then off ered the premiership to José Giral, a demo crat, former 
minister, and friend. His task was Herculean: to persuade Mola and 
the other generals to give up the coup, while simultaneously preparing 
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to fi ght them.22 Contacts with the military began immediately, and, 
in order to prepare for the worst, Giral knew exactly where to turn. In 
his fi rst foreign communiqué as prime minister, he wrote a personal 
note to his French peer, Léon Blum. The tele gram, not even encrypted, 
was as succinct as it was grave: “We are surprised by a dangerous mili-
tary coup. [I] beg you arrange assistance with arms and planes. Frater-
nally, Giral.”23 It was fi tting for the new premier to sign the message 
so informally; surely he expected nothing short of full cooperation from 
Blum’s Pop u lar Front across the border.

Upon receiving the tele gram on the morning of July 20, Blum was 
saddened but not surprised; Giral’s was old news. Two days earlier, on 
the afternoon of July 18, Blum was meeting with a delegation of trade 
 union teachers at Hôtel Matignon. The regal setting probably seemed 
like an incongruous location for a Socialist prime minister, but it had 
been the setting of key achievements for Blum’s government in his tu-
multuous fi rst weeks of offi  ce.24 As Blum struggled to pull off  another 
victory with the trade  unionists, an urgent tele gram from the French 
ambassador in Spain, Jean Herbette, interrupted the meeting. “[Last] 
night, it became apparent to Madrid that a military revolt had taken 
place in Melilla [Morocco],” wrote the conservative ambassador. “The 
government could neither contact commander Romenales, the [mili-
tary] chief of East Morocco, nor the civilian commander of Morocco.”25 
Blum became visibly upset as he read. Rumors of instability in Spain 
 were ubiquitous. Yet that very morning he had met with a Spanish ju-
rist who had assured him the situation was “excellent.” Little did his 
guest know that before dawn garrisons in Spanish Morocco had risen 
against the Republic. Even on the afternoon of July 18 Blum was late 
to fi nd out the news. His trade  union guests at Hôtel Matignon  were, 
for their part, surprised the prime minister was unaware of the Spanish 
crisis; Paris- Midi had already printed a report of what was then described 
as a “military” uprising. Blum’s fi rst words after digesting the tele gram 
suggest he sensed how central the issue would become for the conti-
nent, for his government, and for himself: “If we succeed, no one will 
be able to say that we  were helped by the circumstances!”26

Blum could be forgiven for his acidity; his had not been an easy path. 
As a young militant during the (in)famous Dreyfus case, he had come 
into contact with Jean Jaurès, a legendary Socialist and antiwar leader 
many Frenchmen considered the best orator since Mirabeau.27 At 
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L’Humanité they became close, and when a young nationalist shot Jaurès 
on the eve of the Great War, Blum became his po liti cal heir. At the 
trial of Jaurès’s murderer, Blum eulogized his mentor: “For him, so-
cialism was the republic of things extending the republic of persons.”28 
No doubt their Socialism was idealistic. Patient and prolifi c, Blum aimed 
to achieve the one thing Jaurès had not: power. For a de cade he edited 
Le Populaire, the party broadsheet. Slowly but steadily he became a fi x-
ture of the French left and, eventually, its leader.

Not only a pacifi st but also a Jew, Blum was the bane of the Gallic 
right. Only weeks before the crucial 1936 election, he had been beaten 
almost to death by a gang of Camelots du Roi, a fringe royalist group 
close to Charles Maurras’s Action Française.29 They  were the types who 
avidly read the vitriolic editorials in L’Echo de Paris penned by Henri 
de Kérillis. As it happened across the Pyrenees, the spike in violence 
could be interpreted as a sign of reactionary desperation ahead of the 
parliamentary polls. At least in France the integrity of the Republic 
was never openly challenged. But that did not always seem to be the 
case. French conservatives  were scattered and unable to create a viable 
alliance to counter the Front Populaire, amassing together Blum’s So-
cialists, the Radicals, and, for the fi rst time, the Communist Party. A 
month before the French elections, de Kérillis worried about the Ibe-
rian elections: “The parallel between the situations and the po liti cal 
structures of the two countries is striking,” he wrote as he saw Azaña 
march on to victory. “Spain today is our guinea pig, and everything 
that unfolds there constitutes a supreme warning for us.”30 For once, 
Paris looked to Madrid.

In contrast to the splintered right, Blum’s Pop u lar Front had pro-
duced a clear reform agenda. Po liti cally it promised the nationaliza-
tion of war industries, the dissolution of fascist leagues— then so active 
that they had almost killed the Socialist leader— and the extension of 
obligatory schooling. But it was its economic program that attracted 
most voters. Blum promised a reduction of the workweek, a program 
of proto- Keynesian public works (not unlike Hitler’s, even though 
French Socialists invited comparisons with Roo se velt’s New Deal in-
stead), and the establishment of a national unemployment fund. Though 
not explicitly stated, a central policy goal was to reverse defl ation, pre-
cipitated in France by restrictive monetary and fi scal policy in the De-
pression.31 Many of these reforms would eventually become staples of 
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the French welfare state. Playing with the long- established French dis-
trust of fi nanciers, Blum also pledged reform at the central bank, the 
Banque de France, in order to increase its dependence on the central 
government and reduce the infl uence of the “200 families”— France’s 
richest, stockholders at the Banque—on monetary policy. It was, to say 
the least, an unorthodox electoral platform.

On the night of the election, May 3, Le Populaire prepared a historic 
headline: “After the Electoral Triumph, Power!”32 On the streets So-
cialists chanted the “Internationale.” And at a café in downtown Paris, 
author- cum- aviator André Malraux sat with his wife and other prom-
inent left- wingers. Malraux was increasingly attracted to Communism, 
so much so that he had penned a proto- existential novel on Shanghai’s 
failed revolution, La Condition Humaine (1933), which won him the Prix 
Goncourt. In it he describes Socialism in words that echoed Blum: 
“men struggling to become more than men.” As results  were announced, 
mass celebrations erupted and a stranger approached the author’s party: 
“Are you happy now, Malraux?”33

The left was elated, but Blum trod carefully; like Azaña, he feared 
reaction as well as revolution. His refusal to take power before it was 
constitutionally due angered part of his electoral base. One of his most 
zealous supporters challenged him: “In our place, do you think the Fas-
cists would have hesitated for a minute?” Yet Blum did not give in, lest 
haste bring about chaos. As the fi rst Jew and fi rst Socialist to become 
prime minister of the Third Republic, he knew there  were outcomes 
to be avoided at all costs: po liti cal uncertainty, the very fears of revo-
lution that could create the self- fulfi lling prophecy of reaction, and crip-
pling capital fl ight. “No,” Blum acknowledged. “But the point is that 
we are not Fascists.”34

His fi rst weeks in offi  ce before the Spanish crisis  were successful, 
but only in retrospect. Bitter electoral defeat had revitalized the right, 
which was at its most eff ective in frightening elites and inducing 
refl exive fears of economic crisis. Conservatives criticized Blum’s eco-
nomics and his origins, betraying a veritable sense of French social in-
stability. During the pre sen ta tion of the Cabinet, Paul Reynaud 
wondered out loud if the increased social spending would not hurt 
French exports without a devaluation. Extreme right deputy Xavier 
Vallat was incendiary: “I have a special duty to say aloud what everyone 
is thinking. . . .  To govern this peasant nation of France it is better to 
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have someone whose origins, no matter how modest, spring from our 
soil than to have a subtle Talmudist.”35 The Banque de France’s reserves 
had suff ered, while traders tested its ability to maintain the gold stan-
dard. Workers opted not to wait for Blum to pass legislation but to take 
what they wanted: they occupied factories. France was paralyzed.

In early June, though, Blum consolidated power. On June 7 he bro-
kered the Matignon Agreements— named after his offi  ce— that put an 
end to the strikes. The wage hikes the agreements implied contributed 
to reversing defl ation. Even the head of the Communist Party, himself 
outside the government, wrote in L’Humanité, “One must know how 
to fi nish a strike at the moment that the main points have been ob-
tained.”36 It was a victory for labor, but a bigger one for the prime min-
ister. Thereafter reforms fl ew through the National Assembly. On June 
20 it passed paid vacations; a day later, the forty- hour workweek; on 
June 24, the legalization of collective bargaining. In a matter of days 
the French left achieved milestones it had sought since before the 
Great War. Some even dared to dream Blum’s government would last 
a full parliamentary term— a considerable achievement in the Third 
Republic.37

A few weeks later, back at Hôtel Matignon, Blum pondered the con-
sequences of the Spanish coup. Ambassador Herbette’s tele gram had 
given him a few days to meditate on his fi rst true foreign policy test, 
but now he faced Giral’s. Blum was convinced that the fates of the Pop-
u lar Fronts in Madrid and Paris  were intertwined; after all, hadn’t they 
come to power demo cratically, within weeks of each other, and through 
the vote of analogous constituencies? Now that his rule in Paris seemed 
at last to stabilize, Blum saw his own worst fears materialize across the 
Pyrenees. If reaction prevailed in Spain, France would be surrounded 
in the continent by hostile, militaristic regimes. The Spanish rebels 
could also inspire the likes of Maurras to give up on democracy once 
and for all. Given Blum’s (legitimate) worries about Germany’s newly 
assertive foreign policy, the international dimension to the crisis cannot 
be understated.

Faced with the choice, the French prime minister decided that the 
danger of not doing enough to support the Spanish Republic was greater 
than that of acting. Madrid needed planes and weapons; Paris could 
aff ord to supply them. So Blum would sell them to the legitimate gov-
ernment of Spain, to be paid from its sizable gold reserves. The plan 
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was discussed at a meeting held on July 20 and attended by all relevant 
Cabinet members: Foreign Minister Yvon Delbos, Defense Minister 
Édouard Daladier, Air Minister Pierre Cot, and Minister of Finance 
Vincent Auriol. Legally Blum’s plan was workable: a 1935 accord be-
tween the conservative government that preceded Blum’s and the sim-
ilarly minded CEDA co ali tion in Spain allowed for the legal sale of a 
sizable amount of weapons. There seemed to be little re sis tance at the 
meeting. With some creative accounting, French aid could be escalated 
further. Almost immediately Cot began working on it with his direct 
subordinate, Jean Moulin.38 Deputy Minister Moulin, a staunch anti-
fascist and future eminence of the Résistance, could soon be found 
smuggling weapons for the Republic. He also involved a trusted friend: 
Malraux, who once expressed his conviction that “when man faces 
destiny, destiny ends and man comes into his own,” was not one to pass 
up such an adventure.39

But when Blum met the Spanish ambassador, Juan de Cárdenas, early 
on July 21 to discuss Giral’s tele gram, he encountered the fi rst of many 
obstacles that would doom his best intentions. Cárdenas was an aristo-
cratic diplomat whose posting dated from the Bourbon era. It there-
fore comes as no surprise that his allegiances lay closer to the Nation-
alists than to Azaña’s Republicans. He was the type of public servant 
who undermined the Spanish Republic from within.40 Madrid was well 
aware that a monarchist held the strategic embassy in Paris and had de-
cided to replace him with a reliably left- wing author. Unfortunately 
for the Republic, however, the ambassadorial switch had been sched-
uled for August 15. Meeting Blum, Cárdenas bid for time. At a time 
when delays could only erode Republican legitimacy, he suggested 
waiting for a more detailed list of required materials before proceeding 
with any sale.

The morning after their meeting, two loyal air force offi  cers deliv-
ered such a list from Madrid. Giral’s shopping list was modest: twenty 
modern Potez 540 bombers, a thousand Lebel rifl es, and a quarter mil-
lion machine- gun bullets, among other items.41 Cárdenas was now in 
an awkward position: if he delayed further, he risked being found out 
as a Nationalist sympathizer. The duplicitous ambassador relayed the 
list to Blum, but he knew the sale could not yet be fi nalized; there  were 
more bureaucratic hurdles to surmount. Blum nevertheless pledged to 
deliver on his promise. That same day Minister Cot confi rmed to the 
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premier and a new Spanish chargé d’aff aires loyal to Madrid, former 
minister Fernando de los Ríos, that most supplies would be ready to 
ship as soon as the Cabinet signed off . Despite the conservative lean-
ings of most private weapons factory own ers in France, Cot’s threats 
of nationalization had worked wonders on their desire to sell to the 
Spanish Republic.42 French aid therefore hinged on explicit approval 
from the Cabinet, but that would have to wait. There was a trip the 
prime minister was unwilling to skip.

Despite the stabilizing domestic situation, Blum could not arm the 
Spanish Republic in a diplomatic vacuum. Early on July 23 he accom-
panied Foreign Minister Delbos across the En glish Channel for a con-
ference on the future of Anglo- French relations with the Third Reich, 
unambiguously the Entente’s chief foreign policy concern since the so- 
called March crisis.43 Back on March 7 Hitler had marched unopposed 
on the Rhineland, and in so doing wrecked yet another pillar of the 
Versailles Treaty. Though technically German territory, by international 
law the area was supposed to remain demilitarized.44 The aggressive 
move revived in Paris and London fears of a new continental war, yet 
neither French nor British armed forces had mobilized. Both govern-
ments had shown themselves just as unwilling to enforce the demili-
tarization of the Rhineland as they had the prohibition of conscription 
in Germany (reintroduced by Hitler) and strict limits on rearmament 
(plainly ignored by the Nazi government). The democracies’ armies 
 were unready, they argued; their electorates and governments, un-
willing. Hitler’s Rhineland bet, daring as it was, has since been revealed 
as a most successful bluff . “The forty- eight hours after the march into 
the Rhineland  were the most nerve- racking in my life,” Hitler would 
later declare. “If the French had then marched into the Rhineland we 
would have had to withdraw with our tails between our legs, for the 
military resources at our disposal would have been wholly inadequate 
for even a moderate re sis tance.” 45

At the time, however, French intelligence had not relayed such in-
formation to Paris. Perhaps more important, the government had not 
felt confi dent in British support.46 The administration that preceded 
Blum’s struggled to elicit even a vague statement from the British for-
eign secretary, Anthony Eden, linking French and British security in-
terests. It was not much, but it was all that was forthcoming from 
London.47 Constrained by his own National Co ali tion politics, ever 
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since Blum’s election British Prime Minister Stanley Baldwin had fur-
ther hedged his bets, refusing to meet with his Socialist French peer 
ahead of the scheduled July conference.48 Hence Blum decided to head 
to London with Delbos while his government fi nalized plans for sending 
war supplies across the Pyrenees.

Although the Spanish coup d’état was not formally on the 
agenda— and apparently was not explicitly discussed— the fi nal London 
communiqué stated that the fi rst priority of “the nations of Eu rope [was] 
the consolidation of peace.” 49 Considering the havoc in Spain, the state-
ment was not without irony. Against the art deco backdrop of Clar-
idge’s Hotel, Eden approached Blum privately to inquire about the 
weapons sale to Spain; news had traveled swiftly across the Channel. It 
has been suggested that Cárdenas or one of the pro- rebellion Spaniards 
in Paris had told the British ambassador, hoping 10 Downing Street 
would act as a conservative bulwark to halt Blum’s activism.

Another diplomat who worked against the French premier was 
Charles Corbin, the French ambassador in London. Not quite the traitor 
Cárdenas was, Corbin was so staunchly Anglophile that in the higher 
echelons of French diplomacy, offi  cials jokingly addressed him as the 
“En glish ambassador to the Court of St. James.”50 Moreover public ser-
vants at Quai d’Orsay, home to a Foreign Ministry far more conservative 
than Blum, also worked to limit the premier’s freedom of action. The 
following morning they published a sour reminder to eager Minister 
Cot: “No sale of arms to a foreign country can be made without the 
formal agreement of this [Foreign Ministry].”51

According to Blum’s later deposition, when he told Eden of his in-
tention to honor Giral’s request, the Briton’s reply was almost ste reo-
typically cold: “It is your aff air. But I ask you one thing: be prudent.”52 
An experienced diplomat like Eden probably sensed such a carefully 
worded warning would plant seeds of doubt, whereas an outright 
threat might move the Frenchman into action. Eden would eventually 
come to regret such admonitions.53 Before fl ying home Blum met a 
French journalist who also inquired about “planes for Spain.” His in-
tentions had leaked to the press. The reporter remarked that Baldwin’s 
National Co ali tion government would disapprove, further straining re-
lations with France’s closest ally against Hitler’s ascendancy.54 Yet Blum 
continued to prioritize his initial instinct over Entente diplomacy: 
“Possibly, but I know nothing about it and in any case we are going to 
do it.”55
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But would he? Back in France, Blum saw the fi rst sign of trouble 
even before deplaning: the deputy prime minister waited on the runway. 
In the few hours of Blum’s absence the mood in Paris had changed dra-
matically. A member of the French Cabinet had told the German am-
bassador, Count Johannes von Welczeck—an aristocratic, old school 
German diplomat with enviable contacts in Paris— about Blum’s de-
sire to arm the Spanish Republic.56 Although it is impossible to pin-
point who was to blame, more than one of Blum’s ministers shared 
Eden’s reservations.57 This was most likely due to an association of the 
Republican cause with revolutionary Socialism, a confusion that the 
Baldwin government would later knowingly and willingly  exacerbate.58

Left- leaning French dailies made Spain look like a country with the 
dubious honor of suff ering both revolution and fascist reaction; con-
sidering the armed workers and the feeble institutional arrangement in 
Madrid, it was not a wholly inaccurate repre sen ta tion. Regardless of 
what was accurate, this media spin only exacerbated domestic opposi-
tion to Blum’s eff orts, adding to the international pressures. In fact on 
July 24 a headline on the cover of the L’Intransigeant read, “By Special 
Airplane [l’Intran] Reports To night the First Photos of the Revolution 
in Madrid.”59 The newspaper worried more about La Pasionaria’s rev-
olutionaries than Mola’s rebels. Welczeck also reported Blum’s plans to 
his superior in Berlin, Hans Heinrich Dieckhoff , as fait accompli: “I 
have learnt in strict confi dence that the French Government declared 
itself prepared to supply the Spanish Government with considerable 
amounts of war materiel during the next few days. . . .  Franco’s situa-
tion is likely to deteriorate decisively especially as a result of the sup-
plying of bombers to the Government.” 60 Welczeck had topped his dip-
lomatic move with a more informal one: he divulged details to the 
French reactionary press. The French High Command can also be sus-
pected of leaking government plans.61 Hungry for ammunition after 
Blum’s successes, the right- wing press jumped on the news. On the pages 
of L’Echo, de Kérillis was harsh, but L’Action Française topped him. De-
nouncing the two Spanish Air Force offi  cers who had brought Giral’s 
list to Blum, its editorial page asked, “What do they want? Money? 
Guns? Planes? What ever it is, the French people forbid the Jew Blum 
to give it!” 62

Deputies in the National Assembly complained and did so loudly.63 
Furthermore, André François- Poncet, who had the unenviable duty of 
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being French ambassador to the Third Reich in the late 1930s, sent an 
urgent tele gram to Paris that afternoon, which arrived an hour before 
the Cabinet meeting was due to begin. His message could not be clearer: 
“It is considered  here that [France], which has always upheld the no-
tion of non- intervention in the internal aff airs of other peoples, will 
create a terrible pre ce dent . . .  [with the sale].” 64 At this point President 
Albert Lebrun had had enough; calling on Blum ahead of the Cabinet 
meeting, he reprimanded him, arguing that his actions  were pushing 
France to war.65 Some accounts suggest the president even shed tears. 
Lebrun made another point: if the French government had not mobi-
lized when Hitler marched on the Rhineland, how could it risk con-
tinental war over a coup in another country and against a diff erent gov-
ernment? He may as well have called it “a quarrel in a far- away country 
between people of whom we know nothing.” The president was far 
from alone; two other important domestic stakeholders agreed with this 
interpretation: the French Armed Forces under Maurice Gamelin sided 
with the conservative Foreign Ministry of Delbos, wary of both aiding 
“revolution” in Eu rope and alienating London.66 The French High 
Command held the view that the rebels had better odds than they ac-
tually did at that juncture;67 at least later Gamelin would admit his per-
sonal sympathies always lay with the “dedicated and clear- headed pro-
fessional” Francisco Franco, an emergent “Francophile” leader in the 
Nationalist camp.68

Thus began the July 25 Cabinet meeting that would set the frame-
work for French involvement in the Spanish Civil War. Predictably Cot 
urged the government to honor Giral’s request.69 Yet Delbos and Dala-
dier sided with Lebrun and the reactionary press.70 It was just too dan-
gerous, they argued, and their Cabinet support was wider than Blum 
had foreseen. The debate dragged on, and eventually the premier 
yielded. He seemed willing to put the question to the National As-
sembly itself, but his advisors agreed it would likely mean the end of 
his government. Not even the Republican envoys in Paris wanted to 
run such a risk.71 The government released a communiqué announcing 
it would decline Giral’s request as well as guarantee that all private sales 
to Spain included no arms. It must have come as a terrible surprise to 
de los Ríos and other Republicans in Paris. No sooner had the an-
nouncement been released than conservative French diplomats began 
to lobby other foreign diplomats for a concerted nonintervention 
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agreement for Spain, which would eventually turn into the infamous 
Committee of Non- Intervention. Meanwhile Foreign Minister Delbos 
rushed to hold a press conference. Though Giral’s was a legal request 
from a legitimate government, Delbos claimed the French Cabinet “did 
not wish to give any pretext to those who might be tempted to furnish 
war materials to the insurgents.”72 A truer statement would have 
explained that Blum had ultimately chosen to prioritize his admin-
istration’s hard- won stability, domestically and internationally. Yet 
Blum’s passionate conviction to help had been kept anything but 
private; German diplomats needed only to pick up a copy of L’Action 
Française or L’Echo to fi nd all the “pretexts” for action they could have 
wanted.73

In the next thirty- two months of war, France would never fully re-
verse its July 25 decision to forbid military material from being shipped 
across the border. The most glaring exceptions to this policy  were Cot’s 
smuggling and Malraux’s missions to Spain, as well as some selective 
help to future Republican administrations. The air minister actively 
participated in the clandestine sale of weapons, though it was very prob-
lematic for Malraux, Moulin, and Cot to go around offi  cial supply chan-
nels. Most of the businessmen who went to the inexperienced de los 
Ríos to off er supplies for the Republic did so for selfi sh reasons that, in 
aggregate, cost the Republic too much money and eff ort.74 These  were 
often old and defective supplies, much inferior to what the French gov-
ernment itself could have provided— particularly after Cot’s national-
ization of these industries.75 At the governmental level France would 
never truly intervene in the Spanish Civil War, a choice that only fur-
thered the strategic weight of fascist intervention.76

Protective of his government and on the defensive about Spain, Blum 
would remain loyal to this nonintervention framework even when It-
aly’s and Germany’s breaches of the agreement became blatantly ob-
vious.77 Lacking a change of tack from London, Blum’s successors would 
also embrace this policy.78 Aside from short and marked exceptions, 
French railway borders would remain closed for military aid, which 
a few months later would start pouring into Spain from other sources.79

Had Blum reacted more conservatively at fi rst or followed through 
on the intentions fi rst publicly laid out in London, the end result for 
the Republican war eff ort would have likely been better. As it stood, 
however, it was “fraternal” Giral and his moderate Republicans who 
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suff ered the most from the intricate decision making in London and 
Paris that reached their climax on July 25. Devoid of French aid, the 
Republic would have to turn elsewhere for help.

The traditional British strategy of balancing against any continental he-
gemonic power did not require a military presence in Spain in 1936 as 
it had in 1808, when Wellington fi rst faced Napoleon’s armies. The 
1930s called for a more tactful approach. Seen from London, where 
appeasement was on the rise, the Spanish Civil War was a nuisance in 
the path to hedging continental polarization between Soviet Moscow 
and Nazi Berlin. At the time, anti- Communist worries  were running 
high.80 In this context the Spanish crisis was a hindrance, preferably to 
be ignored or brushed aside, lest it move the French to precipitate a 
continental war that was— from a British perspective— neither wanted 
nor winnable.81 Hence the British warnings to Blum, both offi  cially 
and unoffi  cially, during his crucial trip to London.82

Diplomatic documents suggest Foreign Secretary Eden heard about 
the rebellion in Spain at least as early as the French premier did. British 
Ambassador Henry Chilton, another conservative career diplomat who 
leaned toward the rebellion, had written a succinct tele gram about it: 
“Report has reached me which is confi rmed by local military authori-
ties that the Foreign Legion in Morocco has revolted against the ré-
gime.”83 It arrived in London at 19:25 on July 18 from San Sebastián, 
the traditional elite summer resort on the Basque coast. As the days 
unfolded, however, no policy emerged from Eden’s Foreign Offi  ce, save 
caution. Priorities clearly lay elsewhere. The Entente meeting on July 
23, which brought Blum to London, amounted to Prime Minister Bald-
win’s best hope for Germany and Italy to agree on a general Eu ro pean 
settlement; it would not be the last such attempt. One of the possible 
goals of the conference was “another Locarno,” a reference to the 
series of treaties that had stabilized continental tensions a de cade earlier, 
in 1925.84 In mid-1936 “the chief concern of British policy- makers” 
was peace with the fascistic dictators, so as to focus on Communist 
worries.85 As most other Eu ro pean capitals prepared to make crucial deci-
sions in the wake of the Iberian crisis, Eden sent long tele grams to his 
envoys in Berlin and Rome late in the eve ning of July 24 that refl ected 
how important Spain was in the national government’s foreign policy 
calculations: the Iberian coup was mentioned not once. Eden focused 
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entirely on how to fi nd reassurances for a great power arrangement that 
would satisfy Hitler and Mussolini.86

The foreign secretary did not go unsupervised. Premier Baldwin may 
not have cared much about foreign aff airs, but the prospect of alien-
ating the fascist dictators concerned him. Ever since the 1935 general 
election, the focus on British rearmament had been diminished, a policy 
that answered to the electorate’s choices and opposition from both Lib-
erals and Labour. This implied military parity with the dictators’ rear-
mament had given way to deterrence.87 A few weeks after the remili-
tarization of the Rhineland, Baldwin had said privately, “With two 
lunatics like Mussolini and Hitler you can never be sure of anything. 
But I am determined to keep the country out of war.”88 This was tried 
and tested British electoral strategy.

The portrayal of the spreading Spanish war in the Eu ro pean press as 
a battle between revolution and reaction was a contributing factor to 
the pressure Baldwin exerted on Eden. The foreign secretary seemed 
to share the prime minister’s reluctance to become heavily involved, a 
view invariably infl uenced by the British desire to avoid complications 
with its Gibraltar base and strategic access to the Mediterranean.89 This 
fi ts the well- established view that before mid-1937 Eden worried far 
more about Communism than he did about fascism.90 On July 22 
the government of Portuguese dictator António de Oliveira Salazar— 
 not only a rebellion supporter but also an avid anti- Republican 
propagandist91— asked a rather biased question to Eden’s Foreign 
Offi  ce: What would Britain do to “stop the spread of communism in 
Spain”?92 The “oldest ally” replied in a way that surely pleased the Por-
tuguese dictator.93 Assistant Undersecretary Victor Wellesley responded 
that “what ever the situation” Britain would not intervene militarily; 
the justifi cation was po liti cal: “The Government . . .  would not have the 
support of public opinion.”94 The Fascist government made a similar— 
 but, interestingly, less overtly biased— inquiry a few days later, to which 
the Conservative chief whip replied that British interests favored a re-
bellion victory, yet the government could not aff ord anything but strict 
neutrality: “This is the only possible way to counter labor agitation.”95 
A freer and more aggressive Rome noted the po liti cal constraint on 
any further British action.96

The Labour opposition— far stronger within the trade  union move-
ment than in Parliament— still found a way to attack the national gov-
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ernment, the chief worry of the Tory whip. Despite their traditionally 
antiwar stance, Labour leader Clement Attlee pledged “all practicable 
support” for the Spanish Republic as early as July 20. Rhetoric aside, 
there was little he could do. It remains unclear how much Labour would 
have actually done diff erently in offi  ce, particularly when one considers 
1935 campaign statements by Attlee himself. Winston Churchill, a Tory 
out of the government, was later said to have urged “an absolutely rigid 
neutrality” from the start.97 In private correspondence to Eden, how-
ever, Churchill had been far more explicit than that. On August 9, 1936, 
he demonstrated an acute understanding of the situation on the ground. 
“The Spanish business cuts across my thoughts,” he wrote in between 
references to books exchanged with the secretary. “It seems to me most 
important to make Blum stay with us strictly neutral, even if Germany 
and Italy continue to back the rebels and Rus sia sends money to the 
government. If the French government take sides against the rebels it 
will be a god- send to the Germans and pro- Germans.”98 An astute 
point, to be sure, but one that underscored the Republic’s international 
isolation.

Downing Street’s orders to the Foreign Offi  ce  were nothing short 
of adamant. Baldwin later confi ded to his friend Thomas Jones, “I told 
Eden yesterday [on July 25] that on no account, French or other, must 
he bring us into the fi ght on the side of the Rus sians.” Perhaps the 
prime minister’s fear of Moscow was more pressing than his fear of 
Rome or Berlin. “I reminded him of the prophecy,” Baldwin continued, 
“made to me two months ago that Moscow looked forward for a Com-
munist government in Spain in three months.”99 At least some quarters 
of the Foreign Offi  ce agreed.

Another character vying for Eden’s attention in the aftermath of the 
prime minister’s warning was the Spanish ambassador, Julio López Ol-
iván. From the Regency- style mansion on 24 Belgrave Square— 
purchased during the easy money days of the Primo dictatorship— López 
Oliván worked to undermine the Azaña government; not unlike his 
peer in Paris, he sympathized with the rebellion.100 Two days after the 
July 25 warning, the ambassador penned a private note to the foreign 
secretary, suggesting he and his wife join him for “lunch or dinner, 
alone, at the Embassy, on any day that is con ve nient to you.”101 It was 
a pressing request for time alone. Vaguely López Oliván professed a de-
sire to discuss “urgent matters connected with recent events in Spain.” 
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He also tried to leverage their past relationship: “I am aware this is not 
perhaps the most correct form an Ambassador seeks . . .  a quiet con-
versation with a Foreign Secretary, . . .  but I am hoping that as a friend 
you may fi nd it possible to forgive this procedure.” Less than a month 
later Eden’s professed “friend” offi  cially resigned his embassy in open 
support of the Nationalists.102

Like Blum, Baldwin and Eden shaped their Iberian policies within 
the delicate balance of their own domestic co ali tion politics, an intri-
cacy of democracy the dictators did not have to contend with. But the 
British Cabinet never changed their professed view as starkly as Blum 
did. The original, cautious British stance was neither abandoned nor 
substantially altered; if anything, the anarchist- led, bloody reprisals 
against “reactionary” prisoners in Republican prisons exacerbated the 
British distrust of the Republic, along with that of other diplomatic 
emissaries.103

Baldwin’s opposition to rearmament had arguably granted him vic-
tory in the 1935 general elections, even if it implicitly jeopardized Brit-
ain’s chances against a rapidly rearming Third Reich.104 Churchill, ever 
the warmonger from the perspective of appeasers, never forgave Bald-
win for “putting party before country.” Years later, in characteristic 
Churchillian fashion, he would say of his pre de ces sor, “I wish Stanley 
Baldwin no ill, but it would have been much better had he never lived.” 
The policy with regard to Spain could be considered complementary 
to Baldwin’s antiwar view, along with his preference for hedging his bets 
with left- leaning France. His successor, Neville Chamberlain, would 
not be much diff erent; seen from Paris, London was an ever unreliable 
ally.

By fi ercely upholding a policy of nonintervention while Italy and 
Germany blatantly disregarded it, Britain avoided having to side with 
fascism or Communism on the continent. Applied to the Spanish ques-
tion, this dichotomy had existed in Eden’s mind at least since Bald-
win’s July 25 warning. The foreign secretary, however, would eventu-
ally come to realize the balancing act did not appease Hitler but actually 
encouraged him. This would be the cause for his resignation in Feb-
ruary 1938, by which time Chamberlain was prime minister and the 
Munich Agreement loomed. “It is with the great democracies in Eu-
rope and America that our national affi  nities must lie,” he would then 
write in a moving but much delayed resignation. “We must stand by 
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our conception of international order, without which there can be no 
lasting peace.” If only Azaña’s Spanish Republic had qualifi ed back on 
July 25, 1936.105

Another key British actor deserves mention. Shortly after the rebel-
lion, First Sea Lord Ernle Chatfi eld apparently declared to a guest, 
“Franco’s was a much nobler cause than that of the Reds.”106 A similar 
perspective was relayed to French admiral François Darlan when he 
visited Chatfi eld, inquiring on Blum’s behalf for support for the Re-
public; this view made it back to the French premier around the time 
he changed his original position on aiding the Republic. With Chat-
fi eld’s opinion dominating its ranks, it is rather unsurprising how un-
neutrally the British Navy behaved thereafter. Without any authoriza-
tion from London on record, Spanish rebels had been allowed to use 
phone lines at the Gibraltar base to contact their allies in northern Spain 
and Morocco, as well as their agents in Rome and Berlin.107 This British 
position was not merely the result of Chatfi eld’s conservatism, even 
though he held considerable sway within the navy.108 British strategists 
worried— and would continue to worry throughout the Civil War— 
about the fate of its Gibraltar base, a crucial strategic asset in the Medi-
terranean.109 Everyone knew that Mussolini’s Italy fervently desired a 
larger role in the Mediterranean, which the British resisted. The fl ag-
ship of the Royal Navy, HMS Hood, was eventually deployed off  Spain’s 
northern coast— a useful reminder of British naval preeminence.110 A 
domestic Iberian issue also seems to have factored into early naval stra-
tegic calculations. As early as July 19, amid the badly synchronized coup 
that had already taken over in Morocco, Giral encouraged Republican 
sailors to execute their offi  cers at sea before they could change sides 
and provide Franco with the transport he so needed. The purge fur-
ther alienated the powerful navy establishment— and it had very tan-
gible consequences.111 Less than a week later the British Navy refused 
Republican refueling requests in Gibraltar.112

Last but not least, commercial relations should not be overlooked. 
Before the Civil War Britain had been the main foreign direct investor 
in Spain.113 After two centuries of commercial preeminence in Spain, 
Britain controlled no less than 40 percent of all foreign investment on 
Iberian soil.114 Yet, as we shall see, economic dislocations created by the 
Spanish Civil War and, at least in part, Britain’s “neutrality” allowed 
for another great power to move in. London would honor its historic 
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Iberian ties by opening trade negotiations with Franco’s Nationalists al-
most as soon as their considerable Spanish investments— mostly in the 
strategically crucial mining sector— became Hitler’s spoils of war.115

Considered holistically Britain’s formal neutrality and informal fa-
vors to the Nationalists evidently worked against Republican interests. 
It would later be profi table to orchestrate a rapprochement with Franco, 
who eagerly welcomed it.116 From a strategic perspective, it seems clear 
British policymakers always considered the Spanish Civil War a sec-
ondary concern to the much larger issue of continental stability. Hence 
the bitter irony of the July 24 communiqué about a prospective great 
power conference that had so worried Baldwin, which explicitly ar-
gued for “the consolidation of peace in Eu rope” even as Spain descended 
into a fratricidal war.

Soviet military aid to the Republic, as well as the or ga ni za tion of the 
international brigades throughout the Civil War, has been hailed for 
de cades as the key reason why the Republic— isolated by Britain and 
France— held on as long as it did.117 Rus sia was the only great power 
that armed the Republic with the weapons, planes, and men it needed 
to sustain a true war eff ort, even if Stalin was known to complain about 
the overly “defensive” attitude of a republic that often seemed too feeble 
from within to prevail on the battleground. In recent years, however, 
some sources have cast serious doubts on the prices charged for Soviet 
aid. The specifi cs of this ongoing debate are beyond the scope of this 
study. What matters most is that Stalin did provide aid to the Spanish 
Republic— and it was certainly not free.

Available evidence may be limited, but it is possible to discern that 
on July 25, 1936, Gaston Monmousseau, the chief of the Eu ro pean of-
fi ce of the Communist Trade Union Or ga ni za tion (Profi tern), directed 
a joint meeting with the Soviet equivalent of the Nazi Auslandorgan-
isation (Comintern) to decide how to aid the besieged Spanish Republic. 
The  unions then decided to send 1 million francs to Madrid; it was a 
pop u lar collection for the Spanish comrades. In Spain a Communist 
committee, including La Pasionaria and Largo Caballero, would be in 
charge of managing the funds. For President Azaña, Soviet aid was a 
mixed blessing from the start. It was well- known that some of those 
administering Rus sian aid expected nothing short of revolution to 
follow the defeat of the Nationalist rebellion. In a way, the Western 
democracies’ nightmare of a “Red Spain” came close to materializing, 
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if anything exacerbated by their lack of strong action; infi ghting 
within Republican ranks throughout the war— involving Republi-
cans, nonrevolutionary Socialists, Moscow- inspired Bolsheviks, Cata-
lonian anarchists, and the odd opportunist— only intensifi ed while 
garrisons around Spain declared for the Nationalists. Respected histo-
rians from Preston to Viñas describe in painstaking detail the revolu-
tionary outbursts, dangerous from the perspective of international 
opinion.118 The entry of Communists into the Republican govern-
ment in September— a desperate move by a besieged Azaña— only ex-
acerbated these tendencies.

A few days before July 25 the offi  cial Soviet propaganda machine, 
mainly through Pravda, began celebrating the Iberian struggle against 
fascism, which contributed to the Eu ro pean media’s characterization 
of the war along Marxist lines. In government circles weary of “Reds,” 
this approach only weakened the Republic’s international standing. 
French Radicals such as Daladier and Delbos  were particularly con-
cerned about helping “the Reds” win a war that would bring about a 
Soviet regime in the Iberian peninsula.119 This dynamic unsurprisingly 
played to the dictators’ hands, at a time when both Hitler and Mus-
solini engaged in extensive, public diatribes against Bolshevism. The 
British prime minister, as we have seen, was similarly inclined. Yet—
as some Iberian historians have argued— this remained a self- fulfi lling 
prophecy: the democracies’ lack of support for Madrid pushed the gov-
ernment closer to Moscow and weakened the more moderate elements 
in its leadership. This tragic dynamic did not go unnoticed among strug-
gling moderates in Madrid.

Despite the fi nancial soundness that extensive gold reserves furnished, 
the Republic quickly faced tremendous diffi  culties making use of its 
wealth. Resources that are impossible to mobilize, after all, can hardly 
count as such.120 The Republican government was soon forced to or ga-
nize the largest weapons- smuggling operation in modern history, one 
very hard to disguise in countries with a free press and without the help 
of state apparatuses. Men like de los Ríos in Paris  were constrained by 
limited knowledge, cunning weapons dealers, closed borders, fascist 
intervention aiding the rebellion, and, if that  were not enough, the 
Non- Intervention Pact.121 This pushed their activities to the shadows, 
the very opposite of the contemporaneous fascist strategy.

On October 25, when Franco’s Foreign Legion fi rst threatened Ma-
drid, a new Republican minister of fi nance, Juan Negrín, and Giral’s 
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successor to the premiership, Largo Caballero, decided to ship their gold 
to Stalin’s Rus sia.122 The Soviet government insisted on keeping on Rus-
sian soil the Spanish offi  cers who accompanied the huge shipments by 
sea, but reaching a fi nal count of the gold seems to have been chal-
lenging for the Kremlin, since the Spaniards  were not freed until two 
years later.123 According one of his closest confi dants, Aleksandr Orlov, 
Stalin or ga nized a banquet to celebrate the gold’s arrival in late 1936, 
where he was inspired to make a sarcastic toast over vodka: “The Span-
iards shall never see their gold again, just as one cannot see one’s own 
ears.”124 And yet the offi  cial receipt claimed that the Spaniards would 
be able to re- export the gold at any time they wished.125

The quote may be apocryphal, but the point stands nonetheless. The 
gold—as well as what it paid for— remains an issue of heated debate. 
Ronald Radosh, along with others, claim Stalin’s men ex post tweaked 
both currency conversion tables and, eventually, history books to over-
state their aid to the Republic. In this analysis the Soviets overcharged 
items by more than 100 percent and Soviet books overstated sent aid 
by at least 25 percent, thus magically matching fascist support to Franco. 
For generations thereafter it was possible for Soviet historians to argue 
their government had done all they could to prevent a Republican de-
feat. Howson’s analysis of planes yields a similar conclusion about over-
charging, at least for air supplies. These seem indicative of overcharging 
elsewhere.126 But Viñas has recently challenged Radosh’s calculations, 
claiming the nonconvertibility of the Rus sian ruble (and its multiple 
exchange rates) had something to do with the price discrepancies, and 
that Stalin— unlike Hitler and Mussolini— went out of his way to seek 
Republican approval of what was being charged to Spain. In most sold 
items Viñas failed to fi nd evidence for a “betrayal” of the Republic, to 
borrow Radosh’s terminology.127

Beyond this academic debate, the abandonment of the Eu ro pean de-
mocracies implied that the Spanish Republic had basically no choice 
but to turn to Moscow for help, as Largo Caballero himself acknowl-
edged in a missive to an agent of Moscow’s in December 1936. Without 
shipping the gold, it is unclear that Rus sia would have helped the way 
it did.128 The “Spanish Lenin” soon realized this did not strictly ben-
efi t his personal agenda. Yet the resulting rise of Communist infl uence 
in Madrid was most problematic for President Azaña, who had no al-
ternative but to allow Communists in the Cabinet as of September— 
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beginning with Largo Caballero, who became prime minister. This 
dynamic only worsened certain foreign perceptions of the Republican 
government. Such was the self- fulfi lling prophecy 10 Downing Street 
had feared all along— and its domestic policies as well as pressures on 
France only helped to materialize it.

With the doors slammed shut in London and Paris and Stalin’s self- 
serving strategy being implemented in Moscow, there was one more 
potentially saving source of help for the Spanish Republic: the United 
States. Yet the relationship between Madrid and Washington had long 
been a problematic one. Although there  were considerable and rising 
commercial exchanges in the interwar period, relations had not deci-
sively moved beyond 1898; the brief but bitter Spanish- American War 
weighed on both national consciousnesses.129 In Spain that war repre-
sented the most obvious symbol of its imperial downfall. The once great 
empire was great no longer; it could not even hold on to Cuba, then 
its most profi table possession.130 Yet the crisis had also sparked renewal, 
empowering an enlightened generation of writers, the Generación del 
’98, of which Ortega y Gasset, Unamuno, and Machado  were promi-
nent members. Eager for cultural renewal, their writings denounced 
the stale Iberian monarchy. The war’s eff ect on the United States was 
the diametric opposite. The formation of an “anti- imperialist” league 
notwithstanding, the decisive American victory illustrated its anti- 
imperial rhetoric in the ser vice of a decidedly imperial foreign policy. 
Eight de cades after its formulation, the Monroe Doctrine proclaiming 
“America for the Americans” had fi nally become a tangible reality ninety 
miles off  the coast of Florida.131 And that was leaving aside the Amer-
ican success in the Pacifi c theater, extending American control all 
the way to former Spanish outposts in the Philippines and Guam. 
The Spanish- American War had slain one empire and given birth to 
another.

In the de cades that followed, the countries remained far apart, save 
perhaps for cultural exchanges and rising American investments in the 
Iberian economy, with the International Telephone & Telegraph Com-
pany as the most prominent among them. Such ventures  were sym-
bolic of American commercial ascendency in what had been traditional 
British- dominated markets.132 Beyond that, however, Spain mattered 
little to the United States. As the two Spains drifted to war in 1936, 
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President Franklin D. Roo se velt campaigned for his (fi rst) reelection. 
With polls scheduled for November 3, 1936, the focus remained squarely 
on domestic recovery, having only briefl y emerged from the Great De-
pression. On the campaign trail, Roo se velt’s key promise was peace at 
all costs, consistent with the growing consensus on Capitol Hill, made 
into law through the Neutrality Acts. Passed in July 1935, the fi rst of 
these prohibited the export of “arms, ammunition, and implements of 
war” to any belligerent nation. There was a caveat: they applied only 
once the president had declared a “state of war.” It also required arms 
manufacturers in the private sector to apply for specifi c export licenses 
for weapons. On February 29, 1936, Congress renewed the act for 
1937 and added a loan prohibition, so that the government could not 
fi nancially sustain other nations at war through loans. Though Roo-
se velt was never too keen on congressional constraints, he largely agreed 
with an electorally promising antiwar strategy. Barely a week after the 
Spanish coup he would famously declare in a landmark speech in 
Chautauqua, New York, “I have seen war. . . .  I hate war.”133 As it had 
for Britain’s Baldwin, the strategy— together with FDR’s popularity 
and the moderate economic recovery— paid off : FDR won 523 electoral 
votes against a mere 8 for Republican Alf Landon. It was the most lop-
sided election in U.S. history.

As early as July 14 the U.S. ambassador in Spain, Claude Bowers, 
had written a long memorandum on the fragile po liti cal situation in 
Madrid from San Sebastián, where he summered alongside other dip-
lomats. An intellectual and a liberal, Bowers was perhaps the most avid 
supporter of the Republic among great power envoys in Spain. His 
memo to Washington was straightforward: “Unless the [Republican] 
Government acts energetically, to enforce the respect for law and order, 
its position may become untenable.”134 After Calvo Sotelo’s murder, 
Bowers argued to Washington that Azaña’s Republic ought to act force-
fully against both left and right, particularly considering the danger of 
escalating reprisals. “The po liti cal situation is made particularly serious, 
aside from the [Sotelo] death,” he summarized, “by the fear on an at-
tempt on the part of Fascists and other reactionary elements to over-
throw the Government itself.” And yet, accurately predicting how much 
the State Department would care about the issue, he dispatched the 
memo by mail rather than tele gram. It did not reach Washington until 
July 27, at which time war was a reality.135
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On July 18, however, as the Spanish government contacted U.S.- 
owned IT&T to stop all outgoing calls from Madrid in the hopes of 
blocking rebel communications, Bowers cabled an urgent note to Wash-
ington: “[Embassy offi  cial] Wendelin in Madrid telephones by special 
permission coup d’état planned for noon today.”136

Despite the affi  nity for the Republic of American intellectuals like 
Ernest Hemingway and Cabinet members ranging from Trea sury Sec-
retary Henry Morgenthau to Interior Secretary Harold Ickes, the pres-
ident was in no mood for international activism. He sided with the more 
cautious Secretary of State Cordell Hull. Their careful impartiality and 
focus on trade freedom was not only respectful of Congress’s Neutrality 
Acts, but it also spoke to the “Bolshevik key,” with which American 
diplomats saw Eu ro pean events. It was an approach that resembled Brit-
ain’s at the time.137 Though Bowers became increasingly critical of Fran-
co’s fascistic tendencies, this did not seem to upset the State Department. 
At this stage, like Eden, Hull still considered fascism, dangerous as it 
was, to be a viable bulwark against Russia- sponsored Communism.

According to the U.S. diplomatic dispatches in those crucial July 
hours, the only issue that interested Washington aside from the safety 
of its citizens was the protection of its commercial fl eet and assets on 
Moroccan coasts, where Franco was desperately trying to mobilize his 
forces.138 On July 21 the U.S. consul in Tangier asked for advice from 
Washington, for “[the] question of fueling Spanish war vessels in the 
Tangier bay [is] causing a menacing situation. General Franco threatens 
bombardment of ships in the harbor if supplies are furnished.”139 Al-
though Franco’s planes bombed ships, including the U.S. steamer Ex-
mouth, Hull explicitly ordered Blake on July 22 to remain uninvolved: 
“In the interest of international cooperation for the avoidance of com-
plications, [Washington] would not be disposed to support American 
nationals in Tangier in any eff ort to furnish supplies for either side to 
the present confl ict.”140 Neutrality had to be preserved.

A debate regarding the Spanish Civil War soon fl ooded the U.S. press, 
with the left being far more active in pushing for aid to the Republic. 
So much so that on August 11 the German ambassador in Washington, 
former Reichsbank president Hans Luther— ostracized from Berlin in 
curious circumstances— sent a memorandum to Berlin detailing the 
pop u lar outrage in America regarding “Germany’s alleged intentions 
to intervene” in Spain. He dutifully enclosed a selection of “protesting 
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tele grams that the Embassy has receiv[ed] . . .  from pacifi st and Com-
munist organizations.”141 While America’s intellectual establishment 
called for Republican support, Soviet involvement and the Republic’s 
anticlericalism became objects of scrutiny in government circles and 
among Catholic groups.142

The North American democracy that most involved itself in the 
Spanish Civil War was Mexico, a left- leaning republic since its own 
revolution in the 1910s. Despite its limited fi nancial resources, the Mex-
ican government did all it could to deliver weapons to the Republic 
and would eventually become the home (and resting place) of the Re-
publican government- in- exile.143 In a stark contrast, in a thinly veiled 
reference to Spain, the U.S. Congress expanded the Neutrality Acts to 
cover sales to countries undergoing civil wars. When FDR proposed a 
“cash- and- carry” provision to make room for trade, he suff ered a hum-
bling defeat on the Hill.

In the private sector allegiances  were unsurprisingly tilted in favor 
of the rebellion: Texas Oil had a contract to supply oil to the Republic, 
which it canceled unilaterally as soon as the war broke out. According 
to an unconfi rmed yet telling story, Henry Ford once told Texas Oil 
president Torkild Rieber, “With my trucks and your oil, we are pre-
venting Communism in Spain.” What we do know is that years later, 
on April 1, 1954, Rieber received the Isabel la Católica award for “ser-
vices to Spain” from Franco’s regime. It is estimated that during the 
war this company provided the Nationalists with 1,886,000 tons of 
fuel, almost all on credit and without any collateral.144 Bowers’s protests 
meanwhile fell on deaf ears. Staunch neutrality remained the offi  cial 
U.S. government policy, though in the context of other great power 
decisions, as well as the actions of private U.S. interests, it only further 
impaired the Republic.145

Thirty blood- soaked months after July 1936, Roo se velt asked Bowers 
to the White House. It was a strange invitation, particularly since Bowers 
had long retired from public ser vice to return to teaching at Columbia 
University. Before the ambassador had taken a seat in the Oval Offi  ce, 
an unusually somber Roo se velt looked at him in the eye and addressed 
his administration’s policy on Spain: “We have made a mistake. You 
have been right all along.”146 It was too late. Most U.S. investments 
had been protected, yet there was no Republic left to protect. A week 
earlier Franco had marched on Madrid. On  horse, as the later Donatello- 
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style statue would have him, he is rumored to have mocked La Pasion-
aria: “We have passed!”

The strategic decisions in Paris, London, Moscow, and Washington 
stand in radical opposition to those taken by the fascist powers in sup-
port of “the other Spain.” If ephemeral Republican Premier Giral sent 
his fi rst tele gram to Paris, it was only fi tting for Nationalists to contact 
Rome fi rst. It was a decision rooted not only in ideological coherence 
but also in Italy’s past foreign policy.147 As the latest Iberian research 
on the issue clarifi es, it also answered to existing contractual arrange-
ments between a par tic u lar set of anti- Republican conspirators and 
Rome.148 Loyal to the monarchy, tolerant of the Church, militaristic, 
and as of late decidedly imperial, Italian Fascism had opposed the Second 
Spanish Republic arguably since before its inception. It was therefore 
natural for the Nationalists to count on Fascist support; paradoxically 
it was Mussolini’s previous foreign policy commitments that somewhat 
delayed the Italian intervention in July 1936.

Always desirous to expand his infl uence in Eu ro pean aff airs, Mus-
solini had close relations with Spain during the Primo de Rivera dic-
tatorship. The two dictators simply got along. King Alfonso XIII had 
famously introduced Primo de Rivera to his Italian peer as “my Mus-
solini.” Yet King Vittorio Emanuele III had something that Alfonso 
XIII did not: Mussolini, an enthralling speaker and tireless egomaniac 
who saw in his relationship with his people shades of both Napoleon 
and Jesus Christ. He blended a rejection of democracy with romantic 
nationalism little updated from Verdi’s operas and D’Annunzio’s po-
etry, a con ve nient anti- Communist support for heavy industry, and a 
futurist spin on Roman imperial legacy.149 Although he looked up to 
his authoritarian neighbor in Rome, Primo de Rivera had no similar 
syncretic ideology; he was closer to an old- fashioned caudillo than the 
uomo nuovo of Fascistic dreams.150

Predictably the advent of a Second Republic brought cooler rela-
tions between Rome and Madrid.151 Yet Spain still fi gured prominently 
in Mussolini’s Mediterranean plans. Rome kept close tabs on the Re-
public basically since the regime change; during the Decennale— the 
bombastic tenth anniversary of Fascist rule— close contacts with Ibe-
rian monarchists were established. But in March 1934 plans moved 
further. Iberian monarchists traveled to Rome looking for il Duce’s 
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support, moral and otherwise, for a coup against the Republic. Their 
plan was to release General Sanjurjo and establish him as head of state. 
At il Duce’s bequest, the Italian government delivered fi nancial aid in 
the form of hard currency, gold, and weapons ranging from machine 
guns to grenades. Conditions  were simple enough: Sanjurjo’s regime 
need only be “monarchist and of a corporative and representative na-
ture.”152 But neither Antonio Goicoechea nor General Emilio Bar-
rera, the two leading monarchists who traveled to Rome, managed to 
garner enough support back home. With the conservative CEDA pre-
vailing in the 1934 elections, many of the Republic’s opponents hoped 
reaction could be attained without another pronunciamiento.153 After all, 
Primo de Rivera’s collapse had brought disgrace to the Spanish Army, 
and a return to the monarchical order seemed farfetched in light of the 
ebullient social mood in favor of the new regime. The plans  were post-
poned, but not canceled. And Mussolini never got a refund.

Two years and a Pop u lar Front victory later, the situation had changed 
signifi cantly. We now know that early on July 1 four contracts  were 
signed in Rome detailing war material to be supplied to Iberian rebels. 
A fi rst contract, to be fulfi lled in July, stipulated the sale of twelve Savoia- 
Marchetti 81 transport aircraft, precisely what the conspirators would 
need in Morocco to move troops to the mainland. Banker Juan March, 
long rumored to have supported the uprising fi nancially, allegedly pro-
vided the funds, contracting directly with Italy’s state- sponsored com-
panies. Other contracts stipulated the sale of Fiat fi ghter planes, more 
transport aircraft, weapons, and explosives.154 This has led respected 
Iberian historian Viñas to speculate that Rome must have known about 
the date of the uprising.155

Whether Franco knew about these contracts between conspirators 
and Rome remains unclear; as we have seen, he declared late for the 
rebellion and was in Morocco, geo graph i cally and logistically far from 
the key monarchist conspirators. What we do know, however, is that 
as soon as the unsynchronized coup materialized, Franco sent an agent 
to Rome directly. Though the rebellion was barely a day old, Luis Bolín 
had already proven his worth. As the London correspondent of a prom-
inent monarchist newspaper, it had fallen to him to rent a plane in the 
United Kingdom to fetch Franco from the Balearic Islands, where Pres-
ident Azaña had sent him so that he would be kept “farther away from 
temptations,” an unsubtle way to refer to a possible coup.156 Bolín had 
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disguised the operation by bringing two women along for the  ride on-
board the Dragon Rapide bimotor, with whom he delivered Franco from 
the Balearics, where he was commander to Morocco; there the gen-
eral had taken control of the Foreign Legion and the Army of Africa.157 
Many of those war- seasoned men  were the same ones Franco had led 
against Asturian miners in 1934; by late July 1936 they prepared to march 
on mainland Spain yet again. According to the grandson of the plane’s 
British pi lot, none other than March— also known as the “pirate of the 
Mediterranean”— funded the operation.158 This makes sense given 
March’s role in the August contracts. With a mission akin to Premier 
Giral’s, Franco ordered Bolín to “En gland, Germany, or Italy” on his 
behalf in a desperate search for supplies.159

In order to establish his credentials, Bolín made a stop in Portugal 
fi rst, so that Sanjurjo could add his signature to Franco’s, requesting 
aid for a coup against the Republic. The almost illegible order may well 
have been the old general’s last, for he died shortly after in a bizarre 
plane accident apparently precipitated, of all things, by the heavy suit-
cases he had packed for his triumphant return.160 Arriving in Rome, 
Bolín liked to say he headed straight to Piazza Venezia, setting of 
Mussolini’s long orations and home to his private offi  ce. According to 
his pompous (and disputed) autobiography, Bolín was direct with the 
palace ushers: “I want to see il Duce.”161

Rather than Mussolini, it was Count Galeazzo Ciano who received 
him. Not merely Eu rope’s most precocious foreign minister but also 
Mussolini’s son- in- law, Ciano had spent his childhood in Argentina 
before moving back to Italy to join the Fascist Party that his father had 
cofounded with Mussolini.162 Thereafter Ciano had married his way 
into il Duce’s closest circle. In conversation with Franco’s agent, Ciano 
proceeded to celebrate the rebellion’s cause with a heavy porteño 
accent. “We must end the communist threat in the Mediterranean,” 
he allegedly said, clearly associating the Pop u lar Front with Moscow.163 
Anti- Bolshevism, both rhetorically and eff ectively, was on the rise in 
fascist capitals. Yet in a regime as pharaonic as Mussolini’s, intervention 
would require the approval of il Duce. Franco’s envoy would have to 
wait.164 And regardless of the July contracts, such support did not come 
for several days.

Bolín sensed the hours  were crucial; what he had seen in Franco’s 
Morocco was anything but encouraging. Nor  were press reports alluding 
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to French plans. Yet Mussolini was noncommittal—at least until July 
25. Did Mussolini question whether to honor the July contracts? On 
July 24 the seasoned conspirator Goicoechea arrived in Rome, where 
he explained to Ciano the connection between the plotters of 1934 
and 1936.165 The names may have changed, but the goal remained un-
altered: Delenda est Republica. Yet it would take more than the inter-
connectedness of the reactionary plots to mobilize Mussolini. On July 
25 he got further confi rmation of fi nancial and monarchical backing 
for the rebellion, which seemed to confi rm it would not be as swiftly 
asphyxiated as Sanjurjo’s. According to some (disputed) sources, Juan 
March also arrived in Rome in order to off er hard currency for the 
transport aircraft Franco so desperately needed in Morocco. This seemed 
to complement his role in the July contracts. Without the transport air-
craft, there seemed to be no way for Franco to move his seasoned troops 
to the mainland; even if by dubious means, the Republican govern-
ment had succeeded at crushing revolt within naval ranks. Some sources 
even claim March went as far as to purchase a considerable stake in 
Italian aircraft maker Savoia- Marchetti.166 In any event, it is now clear 
that Mussolini approved the fulfi llment of the crucial July 1 contract 
to supply Iberian rebels; support went to a Franco desperate to move 
his troops. Italian aircraft  were soon to become a fi xture of the clear 
Iberian skies.167

As if that  were not enough, il Duce also received a call from an old 
acquaintance. King Alfonso XIII telephoned him from exile in the Met-
ternich Palace in Austria urging support for the uprising. For someone 
as obsessed with status as Mussolini, it was perhaps piquant that the 
call was placed from the home of the mastermind of the Congress of 
Vienna and for half a century Eu rope’s foremost strategist.168 As is the 
case with France, international considerations must not be overlooked: 
in the days since Bolín’s landing in Rome, the Fascist press had begun 
emulating French right- wing newspapers in printing reports about 
Blum’s convictions and “looming” French intervention. As with any 
Fascist policy, the perception element cannot be overlooked: How would 
the world see Italy if it did not at least match French force? Mussolini— 
unlike Blum— was unconstrained by parliamentary queries or, for that 
matter, the reaction across the Channel.169 In the complex game of 1936 
Eu ro pean diplomacy, London worried about not alienating Rome far 
more than Rome worried about alienating London.170
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With the order to send twelve Savoia- Marchetti 81s from Sardinia 
to Morocco to aid Franco, Fascist intervention in the Spanish Civil War 
began in earnest. In the coming months, despite the policy of nonin-
tervention, Italian military support for the Nationalists became so ex-
tensive that some scholars called it an “undeclared Italian invasion of 
Spain.”171 In light of the fact that Italy provided around seventy- fi ve 
thousand troops, six hundred planes, and a thousand artillery pieces to 
the Nationalist war eff ort, the characterization is not farfetched.172

Yet Italian intervention in Spain must also be contextualized with 
regard to a newfound ally. Though feeble, the boycott sponsored by 
the League of Nations that resulted from Mussolini’s imperial venture 
in Ethiopia in 1935 opened an unexpected door to an old adversary: it 
led to Berlin. It was collaboration in the Spanish Civil War that brought 
the old adversaries closer together and eventually played a central role 
in the formation of the so- called Rome- Berlin Axis. As we shall see, 
there  were powerful reasons beyond ideology for both Germany and 
Italy to intervene on behalf of Franco. Yet only one of the fascist part-
ners was able to truly profi t from the arrangement.

By the time the Civil War broke out in Spain, Hitler had tasted only 
success in foreign policy.173 By mid-1936 the Third Reich was getting 
away with rearmament on a scale that made a mockery of the Treaty 
of Versailles, not to mention mandatory conscription, abandonment of 
the League of Nations, and the eff ective end of the reparations pay-
ments that had so burdened the Weimar Republic. More recently, on 
March 7, Hitler had successfully bluff ed his way into remilitarizing the 
Rhineland.

The attainment of such goals was nothing short of unthinkable be-
fore the Nazi seizure of power in early 1933. Yet Hitler had achieved 
them, along with a strong rebound of the German economy. Granted, 
the Nazi regime had its weaknesses, including the confl ict with churches 
and the feebleness of its fi nancial standing, but by 1936 few could chal-
lenge Hitler’s grip on power.174 The remilitarization of the Rhineland 
seemed like the peak of the German “rebirth” Nazi propagandists  were 
so keen to proclaim; the Eu ro pean balance of power was now obvi-
ously altered. Yet the surprise military crossing of the Rhine was also 
the closest Eu rope had come to another continental confl agration since 
1918.175 The chancellor, it turns out, was well aware of both triumph 
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and doubt.176 Would moderation follow success? As the Spanish war 
ran its course from July 1936 to May 1939, the Führer’s foreign policy 
would become only more centralized, more assertive, and more ag-
gressive. Yet that was not yet established on July 24, 1936.

The fi rst Nationalist request for German support was not directed 
to Hitler. On July 22, a day after Bolín arrived in Rome, Franco’s deputy 
in Morocco, Juan Beigbeder, sent a “very urgent request” to the German 
military attaché in Paris asking for “ten transport aircraft with max-
imum seating capacity.” The goal was clear enough: airlifting the ex-
perienced troops into the mainland.177 But Beigbeder never received a 
fi rm reply. In the North, Director Mola, now in the National Defense 
Junta, also attempted contact with German private companies through 
the German legation in Lisbon.178

That same day the aged Nazi Party leader in the minuscule Tetuán 
legation, Adolf Langenheim, and a failed, overweight Prus sian busi-
nessman who had lost his small fortune in the 1929 stock market crash, 
Johannes Bernhardt, met Franco. Unlike Mola, Franco was not part of 
the rebellion’s National Defense Junta.179 With its troops trapped in Mo-
rocco, little ammunition, and next to no hard currency, the rebellion’s 
status was dire, particularly when facing the prospect of an extensive 
war. Likely sensing an opportunity, a younger Bernhardt was 
 passionate enough to talk his way onto the trip: Franco and the generals 
needed all the help they could get.180 They would need far more, and 
Franco must have known it. Bernhardt was then handed a personal 
letter for the Führer’s eyes only; years later he would claim not only to 
have read it but also that Franco’s missive was “infantile in style.”181 Like 
much Bernhardt later claimed, there was a sizable element of self- 
aggrandizement. What is beyond dispute is that the Germans and a 
young Spanish offi  cial requisitioned a Luft Hansa mail plane to deliver 
the letter as fast as possible, having seized the only aircraft in the vicinity 
capable of reaching Berlin.182 Avoiding bad weather and Republican 
forces, it would take them no less than three days to reach Germany.183

If it had been up to the Reich’s diplomatic ser vice, Franco’s emis-
saries would have received the same response Beigbeder and Mola got—
or lack thereof. Writing on July 25, Hans Heinrich Dieckhoff , acting 
head of the Reich Ministry of Foreign Aff airs,184 wrote a cautious mem-
orandum: “There arrived in Berlin yesterday [ July 24] by Luft Hansa 
plane at Tempelhof [Berlin airport] two offi  cers of the Spanish rebels 
bearing instructions of General Franco to negotiate with our authori-
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ties for the purchase of planes and war materials. . . .  It is necessary that 
at this stage German governmental and [Nazi] Party authorities con-
tinue to refrain from any contact with the two offi  cers. Arms deliv-
eries to the rebels would become known very soon. All government 
authorities should remain completely aloof.”185 On the original docu-
ment, “Yes” and “Correct” appear in the handwriting of Dieckhoff  ’s 
superior, Foreign Minister Konstantin von Neurath, the aristocratic dip-
lomat in charge of the Wilhelmstraße and who had, up until then, re-
sisted pressures to join the Nazi Party.186 But both of them had been 
kept in the dark. The career diplomats— far from the inner circle of 
Hitlerian decision making— were unaware that on July 25 the Führer 
himself had chosen a diff erent German strategy with regard to the na-
scent confl ict. And it was anything but “aloof.”

The head of the foreign section of the Nazi Party, the Auslandor-
ganisation, Gauleiter Ernst Wilhelm Bohle, had become aware of Fran-
co’s emissaries traveling to Germany. Rebuff ed by the Foreign Offi  ce, 
Bohle had contacted the deputy head of the Nazi Party, Rudolf Heß, 
through his brother Alfred.187 Heß then arranged for his personal plane 
to pick up the visitors in Berlin and bring them to Thuringia, where 
he vacationed at his parents’ summer retreat, for a meeting.188 Bohle 
seemed reticent at fi rst, yet after a lengthy discussion featuring an old 
school mate of the Heß brothers in the diplomatic ser vice, Rudolf 
thought it pertinent to place a phone call directly to the Führer.189 At 
the time an “old fi ghter” like Heß had Hitler’s ear as did few others. It 
was through the Auslandorganisation that a meeting with Hitler was 
arranged for the eve ning of July 25.

The Führer was then at the Bayreuth Festival, the yearly Richard 
Wagner extravaganza he never missed. Arriving in Bavaria, Langen-
heim and Bernhardt did not know what to expect. The eve ning fea-
tured a stirring per for mance of Sieg fried conducted by Wilhelm Furt-
wängler.190 Late that night, usually his most productive hours, the Führer 
was in a fi ery mood and eager to discuss international politics. We cannot 
but assume he had already been briefed on the inauspicious situation 
of the Iberian rebels. A report from the German embassy in Madrid 
early that morning presciently predicted that the failed coup d’état would 
trigger a full- scale civil war. It also argued that a Franco- Soviet alliance— 
formally a reality since 1935— would be strengthened by a Repub-
lican victory, since the ensuing regime would certainly be left- leaning 
and perhaps even revolutionary. According to Adm. Erich Raeder’s 
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memories, Hitler had expressed a desire for caution a few days before, 
eager to avoid a German naval presence in Spain for fear of triggering 
an international confl ict.191 This suggests that Hitler’s initial thoughts 
on Spain— rarely a feature of his Eu ro pean strategic calculations— 
were close to Britain’s and France’s offi  cial policy after July 25. But 
that was before the post-Siegfried meeting.

War Minister Werner von Blomberg, Adm. Wilhelm Canaris, then 
commander of the German intelligence offi  ce (Abwehr), and Hermann 
Göring, the ubiquitous Luftwaff e head  were also at the meeting.192 Even 
though he was at Bayreuth, Propaganda Minister Joseph Goebbels ap-
parently did not attend; perhaps he had already retired for the eve ning. 
Canaris knew Spain better than anyone  else in the room; he had vis-
ited repeatedly in the 1920s as an envoy from the Weimar Republic.193 
In fact a key prototype of the German Navy (Kriegsmarine)— then il-
legal under Versailles terms— had been built in Cádiz under Canaris’s 
direct supervision, eagerly welcomed by the Spanish king. Given our 
lack of precision on who exactly was there, it is unsurprising there is 
disagreement about the discussion that eve ning. Yet the end result is 
unequivocal. Hitler ordered to send Franco more supplies than he had 
originally requested: twenty Junkers Ju52 transporters, six Heinkel 
He51S fi ghters, artillery, and more. The supplies would be sent with 
airmen, mechanics, and even a medical unit.194

The importance of this decision cannot be overstated: Hitler’s Wag-
nerian choice not only began his fi rst foreign military adventure but 
also directly challenged the Anglo- French desire to build “a new Eu-
ro pean peace” that occupied the Wilhelmstraße and the London con-
ference hosted by Eden in those very hours. In a move that drove Di-
rector Mola to contemplate the same fate of his brother Ramón, Hitler 
also decided to supply Franco— and only Franco. In so doing the 
Führer immediately and irrevocably altered the dynamics of the re-
bellion’s leadership, completely disregarding the Spanish junta struc-
ture in place since a few days before. It is indeed very hard to argue that 
Franco would have so easily monopolized power within the uprising 
so early in the Civil War had it not been for Hitler’s steadfast vote of 
confi dence. Langenheim and Bernhardt proved their worth.

As early as July 26 the Luftwaff e was given a new special unit, Sonder-
stab W, to recruit “volunteers” and dispatch weapons to Spain. The 
codename for the operation— allegedly Hitler’s idea— paid homage to 
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the decision’s Wagnerian roots: Unternehmen Feuerzauber (Operation 
Fire Magic) referred to the ring of fi re Siegfried courageously faces in 
order to free the fallen Valkyrie, Brünnhilde, and fulfi ll his destiny. 
Beyond the historiographical debates about the eve ning, the personal 
role of Hitler’s decision stands out.

Although four of the fi rst batch of Junkers Ju52s lost their way and 
ended up in Seville, German aircraft  were airlifting Nationalist troops 
from Morocco as early as July 29, aiding Franco in the key task of 
overcoming the Republican naval blockade. Mussolini would soon be 
speaking publicly of a “Rome- Berlin Axis,” but the closer relationship 
with Italy was not at the core of Hitler’s overruling of his diplomatic 
offi  cers.195 The Führer’s strategy was subtler than il Duce’s; there  were 
elements of anti- Communism, a desire to test new German weapons 
(as Göring would later boast), and at least some limited sense of “fascist 
solidarity” in the face of a Communist threat in Spain.196 But there was 
also something  else.

Under Bernhardt’s direction, a Spanish monopoly company (Com-
pañía Hispano- Marroquí de Transportes, HISMA) would be established 
a few days later to buy equipment from a German peer (Rohstoff e- 
und- Waren- Einkaufsgesellschaft, ROWAK), which bought from 
German weapons producers. As we shall see, Bernhardt’s business was 
an instant success— and would become a vehicle for German infl uence 
on Iberian soil. Although no minutes of the Bayreuth meeting survive, 
the synchronicity of military and commercial moves suggests Bernhardt 
did not set up HISMA unsupervised. From the very beginning, if only 
as an afterthought, the commercial side of the venture was a product 
of Hitler’s Wagnerian bravado on July 25.

With Eu ro pean public opinion still convinced that Blum’s govern-
ment would aid the Republic, Hitler’s interventionism would become 
more nuanced and far more profi table. Unlike Blum or Baldwin, Hitler 
did not have to worry about parliamentary opposition or public opinion; 
his decisive volte- face on July 25 was a matter of Gleichschaltung.197 His 
early, daring bet on Franco is a perfect illustration of his growing and 
very personal role in German foreign policy decision making, taken 
explicitly against the directions of the Reich’s career diplomats.198 Von 
Blomberg did not even bother to communicate Hitler’s Iberian policy 
to von Neurath when they met at the Munich  horse races on July 
26.199 Von Neurath and Dieckhoff   were simply briefed on the new 
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government policy days later, a harbinger of centralization around the 
fi gure of the Führer that would contribute to the Anschluß and the 
Sudeten crises in the next two years. The Nazi project in Spain was to 
become not only the Third Reich’s fi rst foray into foreign war but also 
a unique project of informal empire.

By mid-1936 Spain was eco nom ically backward, socially volatile, 
and po liti cally explosive. After a rebellion’s coup failed and with a 
dawning civil war on their hands, it was unsurprising that the two 
Spains sought supplies from the great powers to make up for their 
defi cits in armaments and technology. Foreign supplies  were, as of the 
coup, a necessary—if not suffi  cient— element of victory in the dawning 
civil war. But only one side received the decisive support that allowed 
it to overcome its initial material, territorial, and fi nancial inferiority, 
and it was not the side that had the initial economic, geographic, and 
strategic advantage. Eventually fascist intervention allowed Franco to 
undertake another Reconquista, cleansing Spain not of Moors but of 
Reds. In the thirty- two months of protracted war, all powers would 
somehow change their original strategic stance toward the “Spanish 
question,” but not enough to alter the strategic decisions at the dawn 
of the confl ict. The course of great power diplomacy was dictated, 
through a web of interlocked and synchronized decision making, on 
a momentous day: July 25, 1936.

Intentions notwithstanding, Premier Blum ultimately gave in to do-
mestic and foreign po liti cal pressures by declining Giral’s “fraternal” 
aid request and choosing to preserve his own Front Populaire at the 
expense of the Spanish one. This sequence of events proved harmful 
both in terms of fact and appearance. The French did not supply the 
Republic but provided plenty of excuses for others to arm the Nation-
alists. Britain’s formal neutrality fi t its policy objective of localizing the 
war in Spain while containing po liti cal and naval strategic consider-
ations. The “continental arrangement” sought by Eden’s Foreign Of-
fi ce would not come, yet appeasement of the dictators with an eye to 
Moscow had already fundamentally altered Britain’s centuries- old 
strategy of balancing continental hegemons. Through offi  cial inaction 
and selective favors to the Nationalists, the British too undermined the 
Republic. A similar conclusion can be reached about the behavior of 
the United States: FDR’s government prioritized the protection of its 
investments in Spain, choosing a middle path that only further isolated 
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moderate Republicans. The Soviet Union did sell war material to Ma-
drid, but Soviet involvement often contributed to important rifts within 
the Republican government. All in all, Moscow ultimately contrib-
uted less to the Republican cause than originally believed. Foreign in-
vestors understood the implications of these diplomatic decisions very 
early in the war, and, fearing both Republican defeat and Communist 
victory, lacked trust in the Republican peseta for the remainder of the 
confl ict.

After the fateful July 25 the two decisive intervening powers in the 
Spanish Civil War  were therefore Fascist Italy and Nazi Germany. Hitler 
and Mussolini decided on intervention in favor of Franco’s National-
ists in de pen dently, yet within hours of each other. Their analogous an-
swer to the Spanish question would bring them closer together; but 
whereas Mussolini merely continued his foreign policy objective of 
ending the left- leaning Spanish Republic, Hitler challenged his tradi-
tional Reich diplomatic ser vice by betting on Francisco Franco.

It would prove to be a lucrative gamble. The following chapters ap-
proach these interventions individually, focusing on the rise and fall of 
Hitler’s shadow empire on Iberian soil. The contrast between the two 
interventions will serve to highlight the uniqueness of Nazi designs. 
As will become clear, fascist intervention was not driven by ideology. 
While Italian leadership worried primarily about international appear-
ances, the Germans— often ruthlessly— played their hand diff erently, 
obtaining concessions fully compatible with their domestic economic 
needs. In a matter of months Spain would move decisively toward be-
coming an informal German colony. Unlike the Führer’s daring for-
eign policy, Germany’s grand economic strategy did not originate with 
Hitler— who was uninterested and largely incompetent in fi nancial 
aff airs— but with a man who was, at the time of the Civil War’s out-
break, his most in de pen dent and powerful minister: Hjalmar Schacht.



chapt e r  th ree

THE RISE AND RISE OF HJALMAR SCHACHT

If the German people are going to starve, there are going to be 
many more Hitlers.

— Hjalmar Schacht, October 30, 1930

itler’s decision on July 25, 1936, to back Franco was not the only 
one he took while at the Bayreuth Festival that shaped German 
involvement in the Spanish Civil War.1 Two years before, on 

July 26, 1934, he had summoned Dr. Hjalmar Schacht, president of 
Germany’s central bank, the Reichsbank, to Bayreuth for a private 
audience. The chancellor could ill aff ord to immerse himself in 
Wagner; the strains of a foreign exchange crisis had almost claimed 
the life of Minister of Economics Kurt Schmitt, who had suff ered a 
stroke while delivering a speech.2 Schmitt’s subsequent leave of absence 
extended beyond the necessary recovery time; it appears that he was 
eager to fi nd a way out of a seemingly impossible job. If this was so, 
one cannot blame him. Few within the Nazi regime liked the former 
head of insurance giant Allianz. They derided him as a symbol of out-
dated conservatism, a bulwark against the populist revolution so many 
Nazi “old fi ghters” hoped for. The paramilitary SAs (Sturmabteilung), 
for instance, sang sarcastically, “The stockbrokers are party members  /  
and capital’s protector is Herr Schmitt.”3 Meanwhile Hitler and his 
Cabinet pressured Schmitt to deliver on their economic priorities. By 
mid-1934 only a few economies had begun pulling out of the Depres-
sion. German growth and employment  were improving from the eco-

H
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nomic trough, but exports languished. During a publicized national 
tour, Schmitt called this a problem of “export fatigue”; he promoted 
“exports as national duty”— even if that involved “dumping” or selling 
abroad below cost.4

The macroeconomic quandary was anything but straightforward. Al-
though employment had seen a marked improvement since early 1933, 
with such depressed exports in the context of low international trade 
it seemed impossible to reduce the large (and growing) trade defi cit.5 
The problem was compounded by two interwoven, po liti cally driven 
obsessions: maintaining the international value of the Reichsmark and 
resisting infl ation, lest it remind the German public of bleaker Weimar 
days. At the time Germany’s closest trading partners  were competing 
to see how swiftly they could abandon the “fetters” of the international 
gold standard of pegged exchange rates, gaining world export market 
share through cheaper currencies. If there was ever a currency war, this 
was it.6

Yet international markets did not buy Nazi promises; they expected 
a Reichsmark devaluation against the U.S. dollar and British sterling. 
It was neither the fi rst nor the last time they would be disappointed.7 
There was no way around it: in the summer of 1934 Nazi Germany 
faced a fi nancial dilemma.8 Summoning the successful president of the 
Reichsbank to Bayreuth was part of Hitler’s plan to solve the crisis so 
that he could focus on other pressing po liti cal issues. A few weeks ear-
lier, he had unleashed the Gestapo on his own SAs and other po liti cal 
rivals, including a former chancellor.9 The bloodbath, in what became 
known as the “Night of the Long Knives,” gave Hitler more power, 
while pleasing the conservative armed forces, the Wehrmacht.10 Yet 
managing the domestic and international backlash required the chan-
cellor’s full attention.11 With Schmitt out and the fi nancial crisis unre-
solved, it was time for a new face: at Bayreuth Hitler off ered Schacht 
the Economics Ministry.

In his unashamedly unapologetic autobiography, Schacht claimed he 
already foresaw the dangers inherent in Hitler’s unchecked power, yet 
the evidence suggests that, if he did, Schacht did not let it interfere with 
his accumulation of power.12 He wanted the new portfolio to comple-
ment his second coming at the Reichsbank, and it is plausible that he 
had been working behind the scenes to oust Schmitt, a man he never 
considered his intellectual equal.13 But then again, who was? The 
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Reichsbank president was not known for his humility. It was Schacht 
who was credited internationally for pulling Weimar back from hy-
perinfl ationary chaos in 1924; it was Schacht who had given legitimacy 
to many a German delegation in 1920s and 1930s international eco-
nomic conferences; it was Schacht who was a member sine qua non of 
the transatlantic fi nancial establishment. The press lauded him as the 
“the wizard of international fi nance,” an epithet that he embraced 
 wholeheartedly.14

The result of the Bayreuth meeting was the fi nancial equivalent of 
the papal  union of temporal and spiritual power: henceforth Schacht 
wielded unpre ce dented power over both monetary and fi scal aff airs. 
Within months foreign media began addressing him as “Germany’s eco-
nomic dictator,” while expressing confi dence in his able management. 
Markets agreed, reacting positively to his appointment.15 The do-
mestic media was no less exultant. But given the many constraints on 
Depression- era German economics, which path was right? The answer 
had escaped Schmitt and his pre de ces sor, Alfred Hugenberg.16 To Schacht, 
however, it seemed clear: the Reich’s salvation required the emphatic—
or, rather, ruthless— application of nationalist economic principles he 
had developed throughout his meteoric career. Schacht was not the only 
successful economic nationalist in the Depression. Yet it was his eco-
nomic framework that changed the face of the German economy, its 
foreign economic relations, and eventually drove the type of foreign 
intervention the Nazis brought to warring Spain.17

Hjalmar Horace Greeley Schacht had never been just another German; 
by some accounts, in fact, he was not even one. Born to a traditional 
family from Schleswig- Holstein in 1877, Schacht grew up in a region 
Prus sian Chancellor Bismarck acquired for the Hohenzollern dynasty 
through the 1864 Danish War after de cades of the type of argument 
that allegedly led Lord Palmerston to say, “Only three people have ever 
really understood the Schleswig- Holstein business— the Prince Con-
sort, who is dead— a German professor, who has gone mad— and I, 
who have forgotten all about it.”18 The acquisition of the duchies was 
one of Bismarck’s many brilliant moves in the long pro cess leading to 
German unifi cation.19 Schacht’s parents had recently returned from sev-
eral years in New York, where his father had emigrated for a job.20 
Though they had not managed to fare l’America—as Italian immigrants 
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called fi nding success in the New World— the seemingly endless pos-
sibilities of the American republic fascinated the Schachts, so much so 
that they wanted to name their son Horace Greeley.21 The reference to 
the New York Tribune editor was symbolic of the reformist, liberal Amer-
ican ideal the Schachts so admired.22 Yet the maternal grandmother re-
sisted such an aff ront to the family roots, insisting her grandson should 
have a proper Danish name, even though she was now a subject of the 
Kaiserreich.23 To be sure, the boy with a partly American name, Danish 
blood, and German citizenship had mixed roots, but his years at the 
reputable Gelehrtenschule des Johanneums school in Hamburg bred a 
proud German nationalist. Surrounded by shipping scions, he was keenly 
aware of his modest origins.24 Yet it was not for nothing that the Kai-
serreich’s educational system in the late nineteenth century allowed for 
a degree of meritocracy unknown elsewhere: intellect and dedication 
trumped connections and family name.25

While his father moved from failed business to failed business, Schacht 
moved through Germany’s fi nest universities, reading medicine in Kiel, 
literature in Berlin, and fi nally economics in Munich.26 By the turn of 
the century, back at Kiel, he was pursuing a doctorate under the su-
pervision of Professor Wilhelm Hasbach. Although none of Schacht’s 
biographers seem to have looked into the issue in detail, Hasbach had 
been particularly active in the confl uence of philosophy, politics, and 
economics that had shaped the growing fi eld of economics in the pre-
vious three de cades.27 In the tradition of German proto- economists such 
as Friedrich List and Friedrich Hegel, Hasbach had been most inter-
ested in issues of moral philosophy, the pre de ces sor to what we today 
call “economics.”28 During his tenure Schacht’s supervisor wrote ex-
tensively on the German infl uences on two of the intellectual pillars 
of the growing fi eld: François Quesnay and Adam Smith.29 He had also 
published on contemporary po liti cal economy issues, drawing from his-
tory and theory to inform policy. Schacht’s supervisor was a “histor-
ical” economist through and through.30

The so- called Historical School of economics, more infl uential in 
Germany than perhaps anywhere  else, was a branch of economics that 
prioritized the study of empirical evidence (History) as distinct from 
the mostly theoretical and increasingly mathematical frameworks pre-
ferred by the proponents of the discipline in Britain. This preference 
pitted the historicists against the best- known successors of Adam Smith, 
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men like Stanley Jevons and Alfred Marshall, credited with the founding 
of neoclassical economics.31 The historical approach deplored the the-
oretical and mathematical turn in nineteenth- century British economics, 
epitomized by the birth of Homo economicus and its strictly rational 
preferences. They questioned its ability to provide eff ective answers 
to policy questions. Rather than mathematical modeling, they argued, 
economics was best served by studying policy in the context of history, 
pursuing the so cio log i cal study of peoples— the nation- state was the 
preferred unit of analysis— while taking into consideration customs 
and cultures.32

Historicists expected policy recommendations, almost by defi nition, 
to vary greatly based on experience, a cultural variable far too com-
plex to account for mathematically. Abstractions and models, so pop-
u lar with Marshall and his followers,  were for them only of secondary, 
limited value.33 Unsurprisingly, therefore, the moral philosophy of the 
German historicists did not chiefl y concern itself with theoretical con-
structs: it sought to address the social tensions created by Germany’s 
rapid industrialization, evolving from the micro Ökonomie into the 
macro, internationally focused Wirtschaft.34 This skeptical tendency in 
German economic thought toward neoclassicism would famously be 
highlighted in John Maynard Keynes’s introduction to his General The-
ory’s fi rst German translation in 1936. In it Keynes went so far as to 
hypothesize that because of this intellectual divergence, Germans would 
be far more receptive to his ideas than  were his own British contem-
poraries.35 Like his peers, Schacht’s advisor remained drawn to quali-
tative comparisons with the British system, but they  were fi rmly 
grounded in German arguments and German policy concerns.

The interests of the teacher evidently infl uenced the student. In 1900, 
ten years after the publication of Marshall’s Principles of Economics and 
under Hasbach’s supervision, Schacht submitted a doctoral dissertation 
addressing “the theoretical content of En glish mercantilism” (“Der the-
oretische Gehalt des englischen Mercantilismus”). The few biograph-
ical accounts that even mention the study focus on its thoroughness 
and “typically German” dispassion.36 Given the evolution of “Schachtian 
economics” in the 1920s and 1930s, the thesis deserves a closer look. 
Intellectually subtle, it ponders whether the mercantilist framework con-
stitutes “a complex of systematically developed opinions, which, aimed 
at a common goal, can and should be addressed as an ‘economic 
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system.’ ”37 Schacht then sets out to analyze the foundational texts of 
British mercantilism to judge the construct as a  whole. The thesis fi nds 
that the staple positions of mercantilist thought— namely the emphasis 
on the accumulation of bullion, the planned promotion of exports, and 
state control of imports— emerged not from a coherent logical system 
but rather through a series of pamphlets aimed at addressing the con-
straints of British imperial trade policy. Unlike the adherents of Mar-
shall’s Principles, Schacht does not conclude that this mercantilism, 
lacking a theoretical framework, is to be declared intellectually bank-
rupt. On the contrary, he argues that the mercantilist ideas represent a 
rational, eff ective response to the conditions of international trade and 
fi nance faced by the British state during the eigh teenth century. For 
Schacht, therefore, mercantilism is a response to the needs of British 
imperial policy.

Although the origins of mercantilism are traced back to Elizabethan 
England— “We must always take heed that we buy no more from 
strangers than we sell to them, for so we should impoverish ourselves 
and enrich them,” reads a tome from 1549— the school had avid fol-
lowers in Germany. It was pop u lar among historicists, including Adam 
Müller and List, even Hegel.38 List, a key German thinker heavily in-
spired by Alexander Hamilton’s arguments during a sojourn in the young 
United States, subscribed to selectively protectionist ideas in the do-
mestic arena and aggressively expansionist concepts abroad.39 In List’s 
eyes, Germany had an inherent “territorial defect,” which in truth was 
more of a territorial defi cit. In order to properly compete with other 
empires— namely Britain’s dominions and the vast internal U.S. 
empire— List advocated a “metropolitan- colonial protective system.” 40 
That was the ultimate goal of his “national economics”: a vehicle for 
German imperial strength to be projected abroad. More mainstream 
mercantilist theory essentially considered foreign trade to be of central 
importance for national (and imperial) strength, a point also made by 
pre- Smithian economists in France and Austria.41 Beyond bullion, mer-
cantilism sought a positive trade balance and consequently a positive 
net international investment position.42 From a philosophical standpoint, 
this considered trade closer to a zero- sum game than the mutually ben-
efi cial activity that mathematically inclined neoclassicists favored.

Schacht’s choice of dissertation topic is interesting in and of itself. 
He focused on the economics of empire at the very beginning of his 
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career by analyzing the intellectual background of British mercantilism. 
His dissertation therefore suggests a strong association with German his-
toricists against Britain’s economists, at a time when in government cir-
cles Bismarck’s successors advocated for a German empire to rival Brit-
ain’s. From the Wilhelmine perspective of the early years of the twentieth 
century, the preeminent goal was to access within an exclusively German 
sphere of infl uence the natural resources that routinely pushed the em-
pire’s trade balance to negative territory; in short, it was a time of as-
pirational colonialism for strategic reasons, underpinned by economic 
theories.43 The debate was not about whether imperialism was a worthy 
goal, but rather was about what kind of imperialism Germany should 
pursue.

Schacht’s argument about the inherent pragmatism of mercantilist 
thought prefi gured one that would be made more forcefully during the 
1930s by Marshall’s most brilliant student, Keynes. He would argue 
that the mercantilist preoccupation with gold bullion came not from 
worship of gold as the ultimate commodity but from a rational appraisal 
of its ability to provide the national economy with liquidity and a 
common medium of exchange.44 From an economic point of view, it 
is a valid contention: in the absence of reliable international fi nancial 
markets that can alleviate liquidity constraints, the provision of liquidity 
falls back on central bank reserves. As the British Empire expanded, 
the maintenance of gold reserves became more and more central to 
the unhindered operation of colonial trade. Gold— later replaced by a 
gold- convertible pound sterling— acted as the ultimate lubricant of 
international trade. Perhaps more interesting, as Schacht was careful 
to note, it was not out of conviction but in response to their circum-
stances that British mercantilist policymakers sought to accumulate 
the contemporary equivalent of foreign exchange “reserves.” More than 
three de cades later and during an epoch of crumbling internationalism, 
Schacht would not hesitate to seek a comparable solution to Germany’s 
dilemmas.

Schacht’s thesis synthesized the main tenets of a mercantilist tradi-
tion that had evolved and adapted over time. First, there is the ac know-
ledg ment of a bias in what kind of trade is conducted: “The gain in 
export goods is greater, when they are pro cessed goods, rather than 
raw materials.” This is a point that “de pen dency theorists” would re-
vive, with varying degrees of eff ectiveness, in the 1970s.45 More im-
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portant, however, was the role of po liti cal infl uence in furthering eco-
nomic preeminence. “Of the greatest advantage,” Schacht wrote, “is 
the trade with such countries over which one maintains po liti cal in-
fl uence, or which one holds as colonies in complete de pen dency.” And 
then there was the role of the state apparatus in turning po liti cal ad-
vantage into trade preeminence: “Only planned state intervention can 
give trade the form in which it will benefi t the country.” Finally, he 
underlined the importance of an inherently virtuous cycle of power in 
mercantilist theory: “The po liti cal infl uence is also increased as a con-
sequence of a higher economic infl uence.” 46

It was this blend of economic and po liti cal choices that would come 
to infl uence Schacht’s policymaking in both domestic and foreign arenas. 
His “statism” in the 1930s would completely transform the German 
economy, and yet his choices also can be synthesized as a partial return to 
the mercantilist principles inherent in his doctoral work. Ultimately the 
mercantilist system does not pass Schacht’s test as a “cohesive theoretical 
construct,” but there is nothing to suggest that he was not supportive 
of its policy implications. In fact much of the language is supportive 
and adaptability was a central pillar of the historicist construct.

With the new century Schacht entered the workforce. First he worked 
at the Offi  ce for the Preparation of Trade Agreements. Later, in the 
private sector, he became a Dresdner Bank “economist,” though his 
role involved mostly public and press relations. Flawless En glish and 
respectable French allowed him to get involved in international issues. 
At one of Germany’s universal banks in the (fi rst) age of globalization, 
he became acquainted with the main features of global fi nance.47 Con-
fi dence and hard work paid off : by 1908 he had been promoted to deputy 
director.48 As Schacht  rose through the ranks in the elite world of 
Wilhelmine banking, Eu ro pean politics came to a sudden halt. The guns 
of August, however, did not halt Schacht’s meteoric ascent; in fact they 
furthered it.

Though exempt from military ser vice, Schacht took a detour from 
the private sector following the “Rape of Belgium,” Germany’s bloody 
invasion of its neighbor that brought Great Britain into the Great War.49 
He left the Dresdner to advise the German Army on the economics of 
occupation. Working under a former Reichsbank executive, he was 
given power to turn the economic ideas he had been developing in a 
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variety of publications into policy.50 The fi nances of occupied Belgium 
 were complicated. Faced with an uncooperative central bank with no 
foreign reserves, what Schacht encountered in Brussels was not unlike 
what he would have to deal with at the Reichsbank a de cade later. The 
Belgian government had transferred all reserves to London shortly be-
fore following their bullion into exile. So Schacht came up with a prag-
matic solution: outstanding loans and payments in kind between Bel-
gians and the occupying Germans would henceforth guarantee currency 
issuance. It was a solution that went back to the future of monetary 
theory; Schacht saw barter as a viable way to compensate for the lack 
of hard currency.51 What could be described only as heterodox policy 
worked on the ground, at least initially; it allowed payments to pro-
ceed with a new exchange rate to benefi t German forces. Schacht would 
later justify these war time mea sures by claiming they  were the only 
viable answer to the exigencies of war.52 German occupation eventu-
ally deteriorated into disastrously high infl ation, but by then Schacht 
had returned to Germany due to disagreements with his superior.

Back in the private sector, Schacht joined the Danatbank. Granted, 
it was a humbler home than the Dresdner, but the Danat gave Schacht 
a board position that allowed for a fl exible schedule. This gave him time 
to write and develop contacts.53 From a now secure fi nancial position, 
Schacht watched the Second Reich unravel. The literature on the ef-
fects of defeat and revolution on Germany is extensive; for our pur-
poses, suffi  ce to say the pain of the Kaiserreich’s downfall, a period of 
po liti cal dithering between revolution and reaction not unlike Spain’s 
in the 1930s, and ultimately the experience of hyperinfl ation all had a 
profound impact on the banker, both personally and in his economic 
thinking. In short, they worked to strengthen his nationalist leanings.54

As was true for many of his contemporaries, for Schacht postwar hu-
miliation had a proper name: Versailles. A Carthaginian peace to say 
the least, the negotiations in Paris in 1919 had profound internal con-
sequences for the young Weimar Republic. The domestic eff ects of the 
peace are perhaps best illustrated by the stab- in- the- back legend (Dolch-
stoßlegende), a populist theory that claimed the military had been “stabbed 
in the back” by the politicians who signed the armistice and subsequent 
peace. Versailles had negative consequences far beyond Germany. As 
British prime minister David Lloyd George once said, it was hard to 
be “between Jesus Christ and Napoleon Bonaparte” at the negotiations, 
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referring to the idealistic U.S. president Woodrow Wilson and the in-
transigent French premier Georges Clemenceau. Yet even Lloyd George 
obliged the public mood with his “Hang the Kaiser” campaign.55 This 
view played with a public used to propaganda like Rupert Julian’s hit 
fi lm The Kaiser, Beast of Berlin (1918). Punishment of the vanquished 
deepened existing rifts between the victorious powers, which only has-
tened America’s withdrawal into postwar isolationism.56

For a nationalist like Schacht, the result was a debacle. He would later 
open a book on reparations for Anglo- Saxon audiences with a pithy line: 
“What is called the peace treaty of Versailles is no treaty, and it has not 
brought peace.” Reasoning along the most reactionary of lines, he con-
tinued, “[It] was presented to the Germans, and they  were compelled, 
under threat of force, to sign it. . . .  It was an act of dictatorship . . .  [and] 
it was erected upon a gross breach of an international compromise.”57 
One of the key unstated goals of Versailles—at least from a French 
perspective— was to arrest German growth, so strong in the late nine-
teenth century; Clemenceau pressed for restrictions that would mostly 
lapse in 1925.58 This was meant to remove the impetus for German 
continental hegemony and empire that had led the German High 
Command to gamble for “preventive war” while they “could still more 
or less pass the test” in 1914.59 So Versailles rid Germany of its merchant 
marine, three quarters of its iron ore and a third of its coal supplies, its 
(relatively minor) African empire, and over 16 billion Marks of foreign 
assets. And that does not include the 132 billion Marks reparations 
bill set in 1921, totaling around 83 percent of pre-1914 German gross 
national product (GNP)— a considerable part of which had disappeared. 
Some leading historians have suggested Versailles ought to be mea sured 
against the “draconian” peace the Second Reich had imposed on 
warring Rus sia in the short- lived Treaty of Brest- Litovsk that sealed 
German victory in the Eastern Front.60 Regardless of the frame for 
comparison, however, it cannot be disputed that Versailles reparations 
foresaw payments of up to 2.5 percent of GNP per year scheduled for 
no less than seven de cades. Importantly the payment was denominated 
in gold- linked hard currency, which made it impossible for the Weimar 
Republic to infl ate it away.61

This tally was far beyond what Keynes had estimated Germany could 
possibly pay in his Economic Consequences of the Peace, the tome that made 
a famous commentator into an international celebrity. In the following 
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years Keynes’s “maximum amount” oscillated between 20 and 22 bil-
lion, but a fraction of the Versailles total.62 The peace had also severely 
constrained German access to key industrial imports, since the feeble 
republic had to maintain a trade balance positive enough to make rep-
arations payments. The star Cambridge economist remained skeptical; 
seeing no hope for an international loan or payment in kind, Keynes 
focused on the “transfer problem”: basically Germany after Versailles 
was required to run a current account surplus into the distant future 
with newly constrained resources, opening itself up to the possibility 
of destabilization if its trade relations worsened. Keynes’s insightful 
commentary posed an unavoidable question: Could Weimar possibly 
stabilize?

One possibility, of course, was that it simply could not. Burdened 
with reparations Keynes (and Schacht) thought unpayable, deprived of 
colonies, geo graph i cally partitioned, internationally ostracized, and 
under the yoke of both reparations and postwar social expenditure, the 
Weimar Republic in the early 1920s descended into rampant hyperin-
fl ation. Of the myriad analogies devised to describe it, perhaps one of 
the fi rst remains the fi nest: if one  were to chart the German Mark to 
U.S. dollar exchange rate using a scale in which 10 Marks equal an 
inch, the prewar curve would have corresponded to four- tenths of an 
inch— representing a quote of largely 4 Marks to the dollar at prewar 
gold standard prices. By November 1923 the position of the curve would 
have been 160 million miles from the base, equaling almost a round 
trip to the sun.63

It has been convincingly argued that Weimar politicians and busi-
nessmen conceived of infl ation as part of a po liti cal strategy to prove 
the burdens of Versailles  were both unsustainable and unpayable, even 
when they could have put an end to it by stabilizing government fi -
nances. There is, however, a question about how po liti cally viable that 
was.64 Ultimately the “always and everywhere monetary phenomenon” 
materialized: the German elite took the road that led to po liti cal and 
economic ruin.65 Regardless of who was ultimately responsible, there 
is no doubt hyperinfl ation left behind profound social fi ssures.66

As Schacht would later write, “even fi nancially sophisticated people 
often assume that Germany gained a certain advantage from the fact 
that her internal loans  were wiped out [by infl ation].” What Keynes 
pop u lar ized as the “euthanasia of the rentier” did not really apply to 
Schacht’s Germany, at least in the banker’s view: “The same pro cess 
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wipes out the capital of the citizens [savings] and the citizens . . .  are 
just so much the poorer.” 67 Hyperinfl ation amounted to a radical ex-
periment in wealth redistribution. Furthermore Schacht acknowledged 
a deeper consequence that Keynes had only indirectly touched upon: 
po liti cal humiliation.68 In his words, “[Infl ation] hurt still more, be-
cause it made our helplessness so evident, to watch the foreigners from 
the Army of Occupation [in the Ruhr] onwards, buying us out with 
their better money throughout this infl ation period. They bought our 
goods cheap and robbed us of the value of our labor; they bought our 
 houses, and stock in our businesses, for the cost of a sandwich.” 69 (That 
does not sound so diff erent from what the German occupation authority 
had imposed on Belgium during the war.) Not even the ruin of some 
speculators caught on the wrong side of the trade helped: “It was only 
slight consolation that so many of them, speculating on our currency, 
themselves suff ered losses.”70 Yet it was this collapse of the German cur-
rency and ensuing hyperinfl ation that gave Schacht his fi nest career 
opportunity.

As billions of Marks turned into trillions, Weimar Food and Agri-
culture Minister Hans Luther approached Schacht to off er him a job: 
currency commissioner. He was not Luther’s fi rst choice; two others 
had already turned down what was perhaps the least appealing job in 
the government.71 As at Bayreuth a de cade later, Schacht did not hesi-
tate. Run from an offi  ce that had previously been a wardrobe, the new 
task welcomed him on November 13, 1923, with a challenging agenda:72 
stabilizing the Mark, putting an end to secondary currency issuance— 
which, through nongovernment currencies, exacerbated the hyperin-
fl ationary spiral— and speeding up bud getary balancing across central 
and regional (Länder) governments.73

Schacht was as intransigent in crisis- ridden Berlin as he had been in 
war time Brussels. He oversaw the introduction of a new currency, the 
Rentenmark, promising it would not behave like the devalued Mark. 
After all, over 99 percent of the Marks in Germany by the end of 1923 
had been put into circulation in the previous thirty days.74 Eff ectively 
this meant that Schacht and the Reichsbank apparatus would not allow 
the government to fi nance defi cits by running the printing presses.75 This 
contributed to a monetary “regime change” ultimately rooted in the 
fact that public consciousness caught up to the printing presses; expec-
tations needed to change for hyperinfl ation to be arrested. The new 
currency’s name had a raison d’être: real estate collateral technically 
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guaranteed issuance. It was a somewhat fi ctitious construct, given how 
hard it would have been to ensure delivery, but the asset- backed quality 
of the paper appears to have added to its credibility. It was as good a 
regime change as could be attempted given the circumstances.76

At such a dire stage in the hyperinfl ationary spiral, however, con-
trolling the quantity of money was necessary but not suffi  cient to ar-
rest hyperinfl ation; Schacht had to induce people to slow the velocity 
of money as well. After all, during such an episode, it is entirely rational 
to spend as fast as possible so as to maximize one’s swiftly decreasing 
spending power, which builds an expectation of further depreciation 
into daily behavior. In short, the government needed to replace the 
vicious cycle of distrust with one allowing for stability.77

The new Rentenmark was “nominally” linked to gold, yet it was 
not convertible. Not that there was an alternative: lacking foreign re-
serves in the context of Versailles, any type of convertibility as had been 
fashionable before the Great War was out of the question.78 It was not 
entirely down to Schacht; with almost all the country’s printers at the 
ser vice of a Reichsbank running empty of credibility, the government 
had no alternative but to contemplate a fi scal tightening. Tired of a 
losing game against infl ation, Germans wanted stability. The end of 
1923 therefore brought a change in fi scal laxity: civil servants, railway 
workers, and postmen  were laid off  and expenditures cut.79 Perhaps this 
rationalization a few years before would have avoided the hyperinfl a-
tionary collapse altogether, but that was the path not taken.80

Schacht’s routine involved endless hours in his tiny offi  ce. “Did he 
read letters? No, he read no letters. Did he write letters? No, he wrote 
no letters,” his secretary later said. “He telephoned a great deal—he 
telephoned in every direction and to every German or foreign place 
that had anything to do with money. . . .  And he smoked.”81 The Rent-
enmark, along with the government’s change and Schacht’s obstinate 
refusal to allow any exceptions, gained ac cep tance. At the core of this 
pro cess lay no miracle: the Reichsbank was no longer allowed to dis-
count government bills, which meant it could no longer monetize the 
defi cit. The fact that Schacht refused to accept informal, nongovern-
ment money— what the so- called Notgeld corporations had issued— led 
to considerable losses for international speculators and select domestic 
conglomerates. Monetarily it was another sign of stabilization. Where 
others had failed, Schacht managed to create a positive feedback loop 
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closely associated with his stewardship; a new face allowed for new cred-
ibility. This was a collective eff ort of the administration aided by in-
fl ationary exhaustion, yet the press gave the new commissioner all the 
credit.82 Some accompanied the accolades with musical tunes that surely 
massaged Schacht’s ego: “The Rentenmark has saved the day, our hero 
Schacht has shown the way!”83

Before Christmas, Chancellor Gustav Stresemann put Schacht’s name 
forward to succeed the late Reichsbank president Rudolf Havenstein. 
Although hyperinfl ation forever tarnished his reputation, Havenstein 
had run Germany’s central bank diligently since 1908, through the Great 
War, the Weimar Republic’s diffi  cult birth, and into the chaotic 1920s.84 
When his advice went unheeded, Havenstein had behaved like a loyal 
subject, innovating in war fi nance and occupation management.85 In 
old age he had yielded to infl ation as the only po liti cally palatable path 
for the Weimar Republic. A week before his passing, the threat of 
Weimar social instability was painfully illustrated by a putsch in Ba-
varia.86 The coup failed, but the plotters—in par tic u lar a former pri-
vate of Austrian origin with a talent for public speaking— gained no-
toriety. “Either the German revolution begins to night and the morrow 
will fi nd us in Germany a true nationalist government,” a young Adolf 
Hitler threatened, “or it will fi nd us dead by dawn!” As it turned out, 
neither was the case, but his putsch represented the gravest threat against 
the Weimar Republic since the failed Communist revolution of 1919.87 
Infl ation had taken its social toll.

Schacht was inaugurated as president of the Reichsbank against the 
backdrop of the failed coup and Havenstein’s death. If hyperinfl ation 
had subsided, perhaps there was a future of democracy in Germany, 
allowing the country to return to economic growth and international 
respectability.88 The only meaningful opposition to Schacht’s appoint-
ment came from within the Reichsbank, where directors used to Ha-
venstein distrusted a man surrounded by media accolades but lacking 
in most other credentials. Successful as he had been, Schacht had been 
commissioner for barely a month and his private banking career had 
been mostly devoted to public aff airs.89

With astonishing speed, however, Schacht turned into an interna-
tional interlocutor for the Weimar Republic. Amid the bitter negotia-
tions surrounding the Dawes and Young Plans that amended Versailles, 
he became an irreplaceable member of German delegations.90 In a time 
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of turmoil he cultivated critical personal relationships with men like 
Montagu Norman, the autocratic governor of the Bank of En gland.91 
According to a British journalist writing in 1924, “Today he [Schacht] 
is Germany’s most prominent man, not only at home, but also, though 
he has never held a diplomatic post, in international relations. He is 
the only German who holds the ear of British and American fi nance.”92 
With notoriety grew his thirst for power. According to banker and U.S. 
vice president Charles Dawes, Schacht’s “pride is equaled only by his 
ability and his desire for domination.” What is more, “[Schacht] frankly 
insinuated that as long as he was President of the Reichsbank, he was 
the Reichsbank.”93 The authoritarian tendencies Dawes identifi ed would 
only grow in the years ahead.

From the Reichsbank Schacht sought to restore access to foreign mar-
kets closed off  to the Weimar Republic. If German exports did not 
thrive, Keynes’s “transfer problem” would only be exacerbated, making 
it all the more diffi  cult to honor reparations.94 After the Dawes Plan, 
total German debts  were eased and Schacht’s currency stabilization was 
given international backing. Thereafter Germany became a preferred 
destination for U.S. capital. This suggested a second possible answer to 
Keynes’s question about how to pay for reparations. But could more 
liabilities be piled on Germany’s already gargantuan debt pile?

The ultimate source of capital, for one, was eager. The United States 
had remained po liti cally isolationist throughout the presidency of Calvin 
Coo lidge, a pragmatist who interpreted Republican electoral fortunes 
as rejection of Wilson’s involvement in world aff airs. The Senate had 
never ratifi ed Wilson’s brainchild, the League of Nations, which left 
the United States out of the international system it had helped set up 
in Paris.95 Successive Republican administrations remained introspec-
tive, yet the country had a considerable capital surplus and American 
bankers enjoyed the newfound benefi ts of preeminence over their com-
petitors across the Atlantic. Britain— home to Walter Bagehot’s Lom-
bard Street, once the “greatest combination of eco nom ical power and 
eco nom ical delicacy that the world has ever seen”96— faced a diffi  cult 
de cade of slow recovery and tense relations with its empire, not to men-
tion its disgruntled Entente ally. Indeed Britain managed a return to 
the gold standard only in 1925 and only after intense lobbying by Bank 
of En gland governor Norman. Against the orthodoxy Keynes argued 
for loose money to fuel the recovery, famously deeming gold a “bar-
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barous relic.”97 Yet Norman seduced an ambitious (but fi nancially in-
experienced) Chancellor of the Exchequer, Winston Churchill, arguing 
that gold convertibility would return Britain to the stability of the prewar 
years and its role at the core of the international fi nancial system. He 
promised to make Churchill “the golden Chancellor.”98

Reality was far less glamorous than that. What amounted to an over-
valued exchange rate pushed Britain back into recession, adding defl a-
tionary pressures on prices and wages. Britain had its own onerous war 
debts, which Americans refused to write off  as war expense.99 Defl a-
tion only made them harder to ser vice by shrinking GDP and there-
fore increasing the relative weight of the debt. Norman was mistaken: 
the second- order consequences of a return to the gold standard further 
eroded Britain’s role as the “world’s banker.” In this context American 
bankers— led by J. P. Morgan and Kuhn, Loeb— generously extended 
credit abroad while their British and French competitors struggled. 
During a 1924 discussion about German stabilization, for instance, 
banker Paul Warburg, then a Federal Reserve advisor, worried that “[the 
United States] may miss this quite unique opportunity for putting 
America’s discount market [money market] on the map and complete 
our position as world bankers.”100 Schacht’s newly respectable Weimar 
Republic became a preferred destination for U.S. surplus capital. The 
Dawes loans had given the German government breathing room; 
the country remained dependent on foreign funding but was compara-
tively developed and impressively productive. In short, it was cheap 
enough to be attractive and in need of huge amounts of capital to 
rebuild.101

The infl ow of U.S. capital inherently tied the German economy to 
U.S. prosperity through short- term loans that linked, via reparations 
and Anglo- French debts, back to Wall Street.102 Schacht would later 
write, “The danger in these short- term credits is thus not a danger for 
foreign countries [i.e., the United States], but for Germany.” It was a 
line of reasoning he would hold on to during the Nazi regime. “For 
imagine what it would mean for an industrial country,” he continued, 
“dependent upon the sale of the products of its working men, if sud-
denly its supplies of raw materials had to be utilized to pay off  its short- 
term debts. . . .  [The resulting reduction in available foreign exchange 
for trade] would have catastrophic consequences upon German eco-
nomic life.”103 An interesting Brookings Institution study at the time 
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detailed the sizable profi ts made by U.S. banks from selling German 
loans. Writing in the aftermath of a 1932 Senate hearing, German stat-
istician Robert Kuczynski concluded that the U.S. banks had made net 
profi ts of around $50 million from the sale of no less than $1.289 bil-
lion in gross German loans in a few years. The eventual losses for buyers 
of such loans, however, would turn out to be more substantial than Kuc-
zynski had envisioned.104

Schacht’s personal relationship with the governor of the Bank of En-
gland was nothing short of essential for the establishment of the Gold 
Discount Bank (Golddiskontbank) that allowed for a new Reichsmark 
to succeed the Rentenmark. The Bank of En gland provided the liquidity 
reserve for the new currency to be viable.105 But even if Britain’s cen-
tral bank provided the bullion for Schacht’s new currency, it was Amer-
ica’s private capital that oiled the German economic machine.106 Yet 
Schacht believed that the combination of a vast foreign debt and social 
instability made Germany’s standing inherently precarious. This bleak 
outlook distanced him from a fellow nationalist who came to symbolize 
an “Atlanticist strategy” in German politics: Chancellor Gustav Stre-
semann.107 In 1923 Stresemann had had a central role in Schacht’s ap-
pointment to the Reichsbank. But Schacht doubted Stresemann’s careful 
diplomacy could prevent a crisis. What he saw at international gather-
ings was anything but promising. Although the Allies had written off  
some of the original reparations and relaxed rules through the Dawes 
Plan, Germany had no consistent access to foreign exchange and no 
meaningful reserves of its own.108 Schacht worried there was no way 
to ensure the necessary imports for Germany’s economy to thrive. The 
currency was now viable but utterly dependent on the state of its foreign 
payments and bud get balancing, always a hard act in light of Weimar’s 
deep social fi ssures. Meanwhile new short- term debts piled up on top of 
old ones.

German industry needed foreign raw materials to function, and other 
developed economies, to which Germany was increasingly indebted, 
could at any time raise trade barriers against her exports. As long as 
trade fl owed freely, this would not be an issue. In Schacht’s thinking 
the core of the problem, once again, lay in Versailles: the expropria-
tion of colonies meant that Germany’s highly developed industry could 
have accessed crucial inputs— among them iron ore, foodstuff s, rubber, 
and other industrial raw materials— without employing now sparse for-
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eign exchange. After 1919 this “closed system” route was no longer 
available, which deepened Germany’s need for short- term foreign cap-
ital without providing long- term solutions to its imbalance.109 Foreign 
commentators rightly pointed out that Wilhelmine Germany had not 
developed its colonies extensively, to which Schacht retorted that what 
was accessible in international markets during the golden age of trade 
before the Great War was no longer so in the 1920s. Indebted as it was, 
Germany depended on open access to world markets to sell its exports 
and purchase raw materials. Then again an eco nom ically constrained 
Germany had been a purposeful consequence of Versailles. One cru-
cial known unknown emerged: What if trade  were to collapse, making 
it much harder to ser vice foreign debts? A dichotomy emerged in 
Schacht’s mind: either Germany was given unhampered access to mar-
kets for raw materials or  else reparations would have to be revisited far 
more comprehensively than the Dawes Plan had allowed. Liberals, how-
ever, would have called it a false dichotomy.

Given both his academic roots and the Reichsbank actions, Schacht’s 
pseudo- mercantilist belief in the economic weight of empire was per-
haps best synthesized in a 1926 speech he delivered to the German Co-
lonial Association. It is a surprisingly obscure document, ignored by 
Schacht’s biographies, even if it was the Reichsbank presses that pub-
lished it.110 The Colonial Association had been one of the most infl u-
ential institutions in late Wilhelmine Germany. Closely associated with 
private industrial conglomerates and the German East Africa Company, 
it advocated for a central construct of German imperialism: Weltpolitik.111 
Interestingly enough, in the late 1920s the Association would become 
closer to a populist fringe po liti cal party, at fi rst sight distant from the 
or ga ni za tion’s elite roots: the Nazis.112

There  were essentially two intellectual strands in German imperi-
alism. The fi rst, Weltpolitik, favored a preeminently economic perspec-
tive on empire, arguing for the use of po liti cal infl uence to access new 
markets and provide a positive feedback loop on strategic infl uence at 
the world stage. It was a position advocated by both leading historicists 
and students of mercantilism, drawing heavily from late nineteenth- 
century British experiences with “informal empire.”113 During World 
War I these perspectives garnered much attention in the public sphere. A 
symbolic proponent of this idea was Friedrich Neumann, a pastor and 
infl uential politician who penned the instant best- seller Mitteleuropa 
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(1915), arguing for a discrete economic community in central Eu rope 
under German control.114

The outcome of the Great War shattered the dreams of all Wilhelmine 
imperialists. But in its aftermath proponents of economic- focused Welt-
politik had to contend with a new rival and rising trend in German im-
perialism: Lebensraum. Literally meaning “living space,” the construct 
traced its roots back to the work of the Ober Ost, the military man-
agement agency that administered the occupied territories in the East 
and, following the Treaty of Brest- Litovsk, the ephemeral Rus sian ter-
ritorial concessions to Wilhelmine Germany.115 If briefl y, the Kaiser’s 
conquests during the Great War included the Baltic states— Estonia, 
Lithuania, and Latvia—as well as large swaths of Ukraine, eff ective con-
trol of Poland, and the promise of no Rus sian interference in Finland. 
During the interwar years, however, defeat turned what had been 
occupation lands (Land) into space (Raum). This semantic change under-
scored an important change of meaning: Raum was, to quote a leading 
source on the issue, “triumphantly ahistorical, biological, and ‘scien-
tifi c.’ ”116 Supporters of these views did not see geography as impartial; 
“geography” would be the study of space at the ser vice of the state, 
creating the necessary consciousness for a formal Germanic empire in 
central Eu rope.117 In the Weimar Republic many such centers of “geo-
graphic” study opened their doors. A rising po liti cal movement would 
soon appropriate these Völkisch themes, intertwining them with other 
themes in the tradition of Blut und Boden, namely the open celebration of 
a pseudo- scientifi c racial connection between a people and their land.118

By contrast Weltpolitickers traced its roots back to thinkers preoccu-
pied with the international projection of the “national economy.” Or-
ganizations like the Colonial Association supported “spheres of infl u-
ence” for the ascendant Second Reich, namely Mitteleuropa in Central 
Eu rope and a Mittelafrika in Africa, concepts that had become pop-
u lar in prewar Germany.119 One such theorist was Karl Goering, who 
exerted great infl uence on Germany’s relatively liberal 1892 tariff .120

Weltpolitik resonated with Schachtian thought on two main accounts. 
First, his educational roots and historicist training, culminating with 
his doctoral work on mercantilism. Second, supporting the projection 
of informal infl uence abroad implied a way out of Germany’s in-
herent— and in his view unsustainable— economic imbalances. This was 
precisely what his 1926 speech to the Colonial Association argued. 
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Facing a friendly audience, Schacht began diplomatically: “It may seem 
at fi rst a bit strange that the [Reichsbank president] should express his 
views on the colonial problem.” Yet there was a purpose. “I say nothing 
of the po liti cal reasons which may have induced the victorious Powers 
[Britain, France, United States] to rob Germany of her colonies,” he 
said diplomatically, “but I propose to show that their action in taking 
away these Colonies was an economic mistake which, if not corrected, 
must inevitably have po liti cal consequences.” Thereafter Schacht trod 
on controversial ground for a central banker of such international re-
pute: he argued that the Great War ought to be blamed, ultimately, on 
Eu ro pean overpopulation, for “the economic necessities of the Eu ro-
pean peoples  were hampered by the traditional po liti cal framework” 
that existed before the war.121 In Malthusian terms, nationalists argued 
that the only possible solution to Germany’s demographic “problem” 
was more space. Yet Schacht’s conception of “space” diff ered from that 
of the Lebensraum supporters; race and sovereignty mattered less than 
infl uence and market access.122

Protectionism in the form of trade barriers remained a particularly 
problematic enemy for an economy so reliant on foreign capital: “The 
principal diffi  culty in connection with the reparations payments is not 
in the collection of the required sum, but in their transfer to Allied 
recipients. . . .  Germany is putting her surplus production in the world 
market . . .  but the Allies can never desire such deliveries to anything 
like the amounts which are in question, whether on their own home 
markets or on the outside markets to which they have to look for their 
own exports.”123 Here Schacht was borrowing a page from Keynes’s 
“transfer problem.” Such rhetoric essentially made explicit Schacht’s di-
chotomy: without colonies, Germany would fi nd it eco nom ically un-
feasible to attain the balance of payments surplus required to honor rep-
arations payments.124

As for how colonies should be managed, Schacht believed in “big, 
privileged, Colonial companies, operated by private enterprise.” His 
audience approved; the Association had had close contacts with state- 
sponsored conglomerates in Africa. Yet in this speech and elsewhere 
Schacht publicly expressed his belief in state- sponsored private enter-
prise as a fi tting “third way” between capitalism and communism.125 To 
Schacht “the victory of the conceptions [of free enterprise] underlying 
the Dawes Plan represents the victory of an enlightened individualist . . .  
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and capitalist view over nationalist imperialism on the one hand, the 
path which leads to the battlefi eld, and Bolshevist socialism on the 
other hand, the path of which leads to the wilderness.” The sly banker 
illustrated this point by evoking the experience of the North Amer-
ican Mayfl ower, a rhetorical move that catered not only to a potential 
international audience— the speech, after all, was translated by the 
Reichsbank— but also to those in the audience who leaned toward a 
“late British” imperial conception of empire.126 Schacht tracked Welt-
politik thinking closely.

The banker seemed to care very little, if at all, about racialist ideas. 
Even his examples featuring Germanic settlers  were devoid of the ele-
ments characteristic of the Lebensraum world view and its Blut und Boden 
conceptions. Foreign exchange weighted more than own ership and the 
myth of German soil: “In Cameroon, Togo, in German South- West 
Africa and in all the German settlements in the South Seas, the German 
Mark was the prevailing currency down to the war. . . .  That meant 
that all Germany’s colonial enterprises—in spite of the complete eco-
nomic in de pen dence of the Colonies as regards trade policy— could 
be carried on in Germany’s own currency without any question of ex-
change risks or the necessity of procuring foreign currency.” The im-
plication was obvious: “It was on the rock of the German currency that 
the economic and fi nancial demands of the forced Peace of Versailles 
eventually made shipwreck.” “We must get back as soon as possible to 
the Colonial fi eld,” Schacht concluded; the “result will be to facilitate 
German payments to foreign countries, and to open for Germany her-
self economic prospects in the future which will ensure the possibility 
of lasting amicable understanding with her neighbors.”127 This was not 
the fi rst time the president of the Reichsbank had referred to an “ami-
cable understanding” with the Allies, if only to make the alternative 
clear. Nor would it be the last.128

Schacht was not the only member of the Weimar government to ad-
dress the colonial issue. Despite his Atlanticist strategy, Chancellor Stre-
semann also sought a return to colonialism.129 Stresemann’s vision was 
theoretically attainable: Article 22 of the League of Nations covenant 
stipulated that any “advanced” country was to be allowed the same ac-
cess to mandates in the developing world.130 “When we shall again pos-
sess our own colonies I cannot say,” Stresemann said while trying to 
appease the Reichstag in 1925, “but there is no doubt that the re- 
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acquisition of the colonies is an aim, and an acute aim, of German 
policy.” Playing with the covenant’s language, he added, “If there are 
‘advanced nations’ then we belong to the advanced nations.”131 Some 
sources argue that Stresemann was at the time under a “Schachtian spell” 
on the colonial issue: the nationalist rationale made po liti cal sense, but 
the economic rationale was a matter of “survival.”132 Yet the British 
and French shunned all German foreign economic overtures, from Asia 
to its former colonies in Africa.133 The destiny of Tanganyika, once the 
heartland of German East Africa, was symbolic of Anglo- French in-
transigence: to the dismay of Stresemann’s administration and the 
Reichsbank, Tanganyika joined a customs  union with British Kenya 
in 1927. Henceforth, from the perspective of Berlin, “League mandates” 
seemed little more than additions to the British Empire by another name, 
essentially “to be colored red on the map.”134

Despite a roaring growth rate in the late 1920s, the domestic situation 
in Weimar Germany remained fragile. Trade defi cits  were large; con-
sequently its net international investment position deteriorated further. 
Po liti cally dependence on the United States made logical sense to Chan-
cellor Stresemann: if all loans led back to Wall Street, it was better to 
depend on Washington than on bitter Paris or diminished London. But 
the United States remained adamant on not writing off  British and 
French war debts. So the debt cycle continued, turning short- term loans 
into higher yields for Wall Street. How long could it hold? Though 
history books often refer to Stresemann’s period as a “honeymoon,” 
his Atlanticist strategy did not achieve its ultimate goal of giving the 
Weimar Republic long- lasting stability. The onerous debts  were still 
there.135 From his Reichsbank offi  ce, Schacht became ever more ap-
prehensive, privately and increasingly publicly. He ran a campaign 
against “unproductive borrowing,” publicly berating cities for spending 
on “stadiums, swimming pools, public squares, dining halls, conven-
tion halls, hotels, offi  ces, planetariums, airports, theatres, museums,  etc., 
and the purchase of land.”136 He also got into a very public newspaper 
row when he publicly criticized the 14 million Reichsmark redecora-
tion of the Berlin State Opera.137 According to his later autobiography, 
in those years he “did not hesitate to point out [he] had publicly and 
consistently opposed Germany’s excessive foreign indebtedness.”138 
Around this time he also began to openly criticize Versailles.139
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Easy money also found its way to the Berlin stock market, pushing 
up valuations and encouraging risk taking. In 1927 Schacht became con-
cerned about the buoyant market, so he pushed for a limit to credit 
extension in sectors he saw linked to stock market exuberance, including 
lending for leveraged investments. This endeared him to neither the 
press nor most Weimar politicians.140 On May 13 this stance contrib-
uted to what newspapers baptized “Black Friday” at the Berlin stock 
exchange; it can be argued that he attempted what the U.S. Federal 
Reserve failed to do a year later: to burst the bubble.141 The reputable 
Frankfurter Zeitung, however, called Schachtian policy “an unexampled 
attempt at regimentation, a planned economy action of the fi rst rank.”142 
Wittily playing with language, the self- assured banker responded by 
arguing that “profi ts so easily made on the stock market” did not go 
into business, as learned journalists  were wont to point out, “but rather 
into hotels and fancy cars.”143 Nevertheless the Zeitung’s point about 
Schacht’s desire for control was not misplaced.

As Reichsbank president, Schacht was ultimately responsible for credit 
creation. Ever since changes to the institutional architecture of the 
Reichsbank in 1922 “strongly suggested” by the Allies, the bank had 
enjoyed unpre ce dented in de pen dence from po liti cal infl uence. This au-
tonomy was, at the time, extremely rare and comparable only to Nor-
man’s tenure at the Bank of En gland.144 Schacht used this power freely, 
to direct credit to the areas of the economy he thought most produc-
tive. His benefi ciaries included large cartels and export- oriented in-
dustrial sectors. The inspiration for this top- down credit dirigisme has 
been traced back to the work of a Romantic proto- economist that pre-
ceded even Friedrich List: Adam Müller, a pioneer in the German pre-
occupation with its “national economy.”145 More infl uentially Joseph 
Schumpeter’s 1911 masterpiece, Theory of Economic Development (The-
orie der wirtschaftlichen Entwicklung), another product of the historicist tra-
dition, argued for a direct linkage between credit and growth. By 
Schacht’s time the idea had permeated into the German intellectual mi-
lieu, and had even infl uenced calls for state management of credit during 
the Great War.146

In strict monetary terms, Schacht ascribed to the “real bills” theory 
of money rather than the quantity theory advocated by Yale’s Irving 
Fisher.147 His monetary goals  were therefore achieved through a com-
bination of quantitative and qualitative mea sures; though the Reichs-
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bank had its discount rate, eff ectively much depended on “credit rec-
ommendations” from the bank. This often entailed Schacht calling 
bankers to his offi  ce for interrogation and admonishment. One could 
call it “personal supervision.”148 The degree of bank oversight was also 
unusually high; in this context it is unsurprising that commentators lik-
ened his Reichsbank to a “second government.”149 Yet the behavior of 
government at regional and central levels as well as foreign capital re-
mained beyond the bank’s purview. In Schacht’s view the unpre ce dented 
power of the 1920s Reichsbank was actually not quite enough. Not 
only did he need more power, but he also needed to oversee an economy 
without the structural defi ciencies that had plagued Germany since 1919.

In April 1929 Schacht led the German delegation to a preparatory 
international conference in The Hague. The goal of what would be-
come the Young Plan was to revisit reparations once and for all, even 
if yet another Republican administration, one led by President Her-
bert Hoover, had not changed the long- standing U.S. position on war 
debts.150 During these discussions Schacht’s emergent nationalism cul-
minated in an infamous tele gram. In it, and echoing some of his Co-
lonial Association reasoning, he argued that Germany could not aff ord 
any further reparations payments unless its colonies, along with the 
Polish Corridor that cut the republic in two,  were restored.151 The 
argument was nothing new: Germany’s businesses needed guaranteed 
access to raw materials to manufacture the industrial goods at the core 
of its economic architecture. Yet the Corridor betrayed motives that 
transcended the strictly economic; it was nakedly driven by an appeal 
for German “territorial integrity.”152 Wasn’t Schacht too ingenious to 
overplay his hand so blatantly in a room fi lled with Anglo- American 
diplomats? Perhaps it was time for an exit. Unsurprisingly his autobio-
graphy glances over this shocking tele gram and subsequent resignation, 
focusing instead on his role in the creation of the Bank of International 
Settlements (BIS).

Perhaps Schacht’s fi nest international brainchild, the BIS was estab-
lished in the context of the Young Plan as the ultimate guarantor of 
loans to Germany.153 For the pragmatist at the Reichsbank, the BIS 
would go beyond its goal of expediting remittances through interna-
tionally guaranteed fi nancing; it would also serve as a promoter of co-
operation. Schacht would later write, “My BIS remained the fi nest pro-
paganda item for the Young Plan.”154 The or ga ni za tion also delivered 
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a nationalist goal by eff ectively replacing the reparations agent, whom 
so many Germans considered a “viceroy” in Berlin.155 Yet his tele gram 
on the colonial issue achieved the seemingly impossible in interwar di-
plomacy: it enraged London even more than it enraged Paris. Com-
mitted to Atlanticism, Chancellor Stresemann publicly disowned his 
central banker. What Schacht wrote might have resonated with the 
chancellor in private, but how could he have backed a banker seriously 
advocating such radical changes in such a vitriolic tone? This leads one 
to wonder whether Schacht had played a careful hand, furthering his 
appeal in other po liti cal quarters. Unsurprisingly the internationally re-
pudiated tele gram endeared him to more extreme German nationalists.

The next Young Plan meeting was no less problematic. This time 
around, however, it was the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Philip 
Snowden, who shocked the world. “The Yorkshireman,” as Time was 
fond of addressing him, took advantage of the need to pass the agree-
ment unanimously to demand a larger share of reparations for Britain. 
Versailles remained divisive not only with respect to Germany but also 
among the victorious powers. Snowden complained that German 
payments “in kind”— one of Schacht’s ways to get around any deteriora-
tion of currency reserves— constituted trade dumping, which in turn 
hurt British trade.156 Keynes had long pushed payment in kind, arguing 
a de cade before that it was a logical reason the British government would 
not insist on German reparations for too long. No change of policy 
was imminent, however. Snowden, eager to defend a sagging British 
economy, wanted cash with which to pay its own debts. The British 
recovery continued to lag even though Benjamin Strong’s Federal Re-
serve did what it could— and perhaps too much—to support Norman.157 
Snowden enjoyed cross- party support for his international position; the 
staunchly Tory Morning Post praised the Labour chancellor: “We are 
delighted that there is no nonsense about internationalism in the line 
that he [Snowden] has taken, and that he stands fi rmly upon the British 
interest.” Even Churchill supported him from the opposite Westmin-
ster bench: “I think Snowden is opposing the Young Plan not on per-
sonal or party grounds but solely as an En glishman who wants fair 
play!”158 Internationalism was showing cracks.

During the impasse Schacht discovered that he had been kept from 
negotiations between his government and Poland, which culminated 
in a clause by which Germany waived her claim to compensation for 
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all property and land ceded at Versailles. This eff ectively meant the Cor-
ridor would remain forever Polish. Around the time the news of Wall 
Street’s 1929 crash stole the headlines, Schacht wrote a vicious memo-
randum directed toward his own government. He sent it to the Cab-
inet and leaked it to the press. Surely with some delight he would later 
acknowledge it “came as a bombshell.”159 With his Reichsbank days 
numbered, Schacht intervened to stop one last U.S. loan, which Finance 
Minister Rudolf Hilferding—of Das Finanzkapital (1910) fame160— had 
laboriously arranged to keep the German economy afl oat. Hilferding 
immediately resigned, complaining about the “interference of the Reichs-
bank’s president in . . .  national policy.”161 Schacht followed him out of 
offi  ce.

His timing—by chance or choice— could not have been better.162 
The coming years of Depression would be an ideal time to be freed 
from a truly unenviable menu of policy options. There remains vig-
orous debate about the ultimate causal relationships surrounding the 
economic downturn after the 1929 crash, which a young Ben Bernanke 
once described as the “holy grail of macroeconomics.”163 It is by now 
established that a wave of bank failures and misguided monetary strat-
egies aimed at avoiding gold outfl ows severely contracted monetary 
supply in the United States and around the world.164 A period of dele-
veraging led to defl ationary pressures that created a vicious cycle linking 
a deepening slump with higher unemployment. Sticky wages made it 
hard to lower labor compensation equilibrium, deepening domestic im-
balances, even if, as Keynes argued, it remained hard for specifi c groups 
of workers to successfully bargain with employers at a time of deep 
slump.165

The end of globalization was compounded by the international gold 
standard of pegged exchange rates that Britain’s Norman was so wedded 
to.166 Although U.S. protectionism long predated the (in)famous Smoot- 
Hawley tariff , it was this bill’s debate in the U.S. Senate— with its hun-
dreds of amendments— and eventual enactment in 1930 that spread 
panic around the world and escalated an all- out trade war.167 Like seven 
de cades later, the 1929 market crash in New York was the spark that 
lit a global fi re.

The initial, sharp spike in risk aversion started the domino eff ect 
beyond U.S. markets.168 With unemployment soaring and government 
popularity ratings in free- fall, electorates moved squarely to the po liti cal 
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fringes, where both reactionary and revolutionary politicians argued 
against free trade and for protection. Schacht was increasingly attracted 
to such arguments. Given that countries tied to gold could not resort to 
the “best” beggar- thy- neighbor policy of competitive devaluation— due 
to the fi xed exchange rates that characterized the gold standard— they 
had to enhance trade protection as a “second best” alternative.169 The 
goal was nonetheless the same: to remain competitive at the expense of 
one’s trading partners, a practice that could only further undermine the 
international system. It was soon painfully clear that protectionism— 
like a bank run— constituted a self- reinforcing phenomenon. It is 
important to remember that such policies  were not emanating from 
authoritarian dictators; rather they emerged from demo cratic polities: 
far from resisting the end of globalization, Britain, France, and the 
United Sates sought to advance their individual positions to the det-
riment of their partners. It was a global sauve qui peut, implemented by 
politicians but driven by demo cratic forces and misguided economics. 
The worse the economic situation became, the harder it was to vote 
for the hard choices, even if they  were “eco nom ically preferable” in 
the theoretical sense.170 In dictatorships and democracies alike, nation-
alistic pop u lism was the strongest currency around.

As Schacht had forewarned, the implosion of the world economy 
hit debt- shackled, export- reliant Germany particularly hard. Amid 
plummeting global trade and a current account defi cit that was “struc-
tural” in nature— exacerbated by Weimar’s payments abroad for short-
  and long- term debts— the German economy faced a painful squeeze.171 
As is usual in these types of crises, the fi nancial sector was hit fi rst, 
exacerbating the precarious capital position of banks large and small. 
The great Berlin banks  were soon on the brink.172 For de cades histo-
rians have debated the relative importance of the gargantuan debts and 
the currency pressures on the 1931 German banking crisis, but for our 
purposes the trigger is beside the point. After the failure of Schacht’s 
fi rst private employer, the Danatbank, the crisis led to government cap-
ital injections into the banks. The result was an unusual degree of gov-
ernment control over the German banking sector.173 Years later this 
would become a vehicle for a dictatorial reordering of the German 
economy, with Schacht once again at the helm.

Since late March 1930 a new chancellor, Heinrich Brüning, had im-
plemented what economic orthodoxy prescribed. His Defl ationspolitik 
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has since become the most controversial decision in German economic 
history, if only for its connection with Hitler’s ensuing electoral suc-
cess.174 Brüning’s government implemented a brutal program of eco-
nomic defl ation, slashing prices and salaries. The 1930s austerity in Ger-
many required government by decree; with the backing of aged Weimar 
president von Hindenburg and selective acquiescence from Social 
Demo crats, Brüning’s objective was to counter the loss of competitiveness 
that resulted from policy responses to the Depression.175 Abroad many 
respected the ascetic technocrat implementing hard adjustments in Ger-
many.176 Within the country, however, the social cost spiraled. As Schacht 
moved toward the po liti cal fringes, so did the Weimar electorate.

Why did Brüning not choose a path of devaluation of the Reichs-
mark and new spending, amounting to what we could anachronisti-
cally call countercyclical fi scal policy? Some scholars have accused the 
administration of choosing defl ation in order to achieve a Pyrrhic vic-
tory, showing the world that German debts could not possibly be paid 
back.177 The latest evidence suggests that this counterfactual is deceiving. 
Brüning’s Cabinet knew all too well that Reichsmark devaluation would 
only make it harder for Germany to ser vice gargantuan debts denomi-
nated in foreign currency. Even in 1932 considerable debt forgiveness 
remained out of the question for Germany’s creditors, not least the 
United States.178 Yet this was not Brüning’s only reason. “It would be 
unthinkable to infl ict another infl ation on the German people,” the 
chancellor argued during a Cabinet meeting on October 2, 1931. Even 
then, fears of infl ation outweighed even a harrowing banking crisis. 
“It would also be impossible to maintain the currency on a level 20% 
below the current one,” he added, warning about a possible spiral of 
devaluation. Brüning did not trust the regime’s credibility was enough 
for a small devaluation.179 Both the domestic and the international in-
telligentsia worried that devaluation— and in par tic u lar a German de-
valuation, less than a de cade after the hyperinfl ation— would prove un-
stoppable. If Brüning had any plausible alternative to defl ation, it was 
visible neither to him nor to his closest advisors.

Economic historiography has since made Brüning’s defl ationary 
strategy into anathema, though governments today still resort to vari-
ations of the defl ationary theme to maintain currency pegs.180 The 
Reichskanzler’s drastic reduction in government expenditure furthered 
the vicious cycle linking plummeting demand and lower output; not 



102 HI T LER’S SH A DOW EMPIR E 

only  were Germans and foreigners spending less, but the government 
was retrenching simultaneously, trimming the welfare extended by ear-
lier Weimar administrations.181 Four rounds of defl ation between 1930 
and 1932 depressed the domestic economy, pushing up unemployment 
and spare capacity to record levels. Thus Germany followed the dic-
tums of the gold standard toward the social abyss.182

Brüning was not po liti cally deaf; accurately reading the social reac-
tions of the crisis, he greatly escalated nationalist rhetoric. In foreign 
economic policy, he pushed for a customs  union with Austria. His 
government was never deeply pop u lar, yet his policy of ever- closer 
 union with Austria marked a clear break with Stresemann’s more careful 
international balancing.183 Unsurprisingly such a proposal was partic-
ularly unpalatable in Paris. In light of their gold hoarding, French op-
position to Brüning had profound fi nancial consequences during the 
banking crisis in 1931.184 This rising nationalism exacerbated capital 
fl ight at a time when investors  were already withdrawing rapidly for 
strictly fundamental reasons.185 Brüning’s became the “hunger dicta-
torship” for good reason.186

Out of offi  ce but not out of sight, the “bellwether” Schacht worked on 
his international reputation. In mid-1930, like his parents before him, 
he left Germany for a sojourn in the United States. Barely a couple of 
months after the passing of the Smoot- Hawley Tariff , he argued that 
trade restrictions— and not the rise of reactionaries— were the true en-
emies of stabilization. “Germany’s economic system and her credit are 
not menaced,” he held, “by the success of National Socialists, but only 
by the way we are oppressed by other countries.”187 The Nazis  were, 
in his view, the demo cratic product of a general lack of prospects. This 
pointed to dangerous relativism, but for a pragmatist like Schacht, this 
was no anathema. Brüning’s policies gave someone of his repute and 
out of offi  ce plenty of room to be populist. On a speaking tour Schacht 
took this reasoning further. When asked if Germany was headed to-
ward a “Hitler revolution,” Schacht’s response made it to Time under a 
fi tting headline, “Schacht Shocks.” “If the German people are going 
to starve,” he said cheekily at Yale, “there are going to be many more 
Hitlers.” Reaction had been a de cade in waiting. “You must not think 
that if you treat a people for ten years as the German people have been 
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treated they will continue to smile,” he said. “How would you like to 
be kept in jail for ten years? Tell your people that.”188

Released from his central banking duties, Schacht also became more 
po liti cally active domestically. As recession gave way to Depression, he 
fl irted with right- wing groups sympathetic to his positions on repara-
tions and imperialism. In open opposition to the government, he re-
sumed his love aff air with the media. With the  whole German banking 
system on the brink of collapse, he publicly criticized the Reichsbank’s 
leniency on capital requirements.189 But when the Reichsbank did re-
strict domestic credit—as it attempted to do in July 1931— the ensuing 
panic created a full- blown banking crisis with global ramifi cations.190 
The government ended up with majority positions in two of the fi ve 
universal German banks, including the Dresdner, and that was after 
the spectacular failure of the Danat.191

As part of this media blitz Schacht also published a controversial book 
entitled The End of Reparations, in which he viciously denounced Ver-
sailles.192 The argument was familiar reactionary fare, but it came from 
a highly respected source.193 Schacht’s position on colonies, meanwhile, 
remained intact. Imperialism mattered less as an issue of “geopo liti cal 
equality” and more as a way to address Germany’s resource constraints. 
Imperialism, in one way or another, had the power to yield sources of 
raw materials within Germany’s economic system.194

A “Hitler revolution” drew closer. Schacht had been introduced to 
the po liti cal sensation at a dinner thrown by Mrs. Hermann Göring 
in February 1931. Joseph Goebbels, future minister of propaganda, and 
Fritz Thyssen, of the eponymous industrial empire, also attended.195 The 
banker had fl irted with several reactionary groups, but his approach to 
the Nazis was not based merely on a strategic assessment of their strength. 
Schacht’s “stout, placid,” and reactionary wife, Louise, was particularly 
taken by National Socialist politics after her husband’s involvement in 
the short- lived Harzburg Front.196 Among reactionaries and populists, 
by 1931 Hitler had developed a powerful electoral apparatus of his own, 
putting him in a unique position to deliver.

Soon enough Schacht would fi nd himself introducing Hitler to in-
dividuals who would become staples of Nazi policymaking. Among 
them was Walther Funk, a former fi nancial reporter bound for Goeb-
bels’s ministry. Although Schacht initially failed to be in de pen dent of 
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Wilhelm Keppler’s “circle”—an early point of contact between German 
business and the Nazis— the banker enjoyed relative freedom to ma-
neuver.197 At a meeting on June 20, 1932, Hitler declared himself to 
be “no doctrinaire” on economic issues.198 Although he later denied 
ever being part of it, one of the circle’s members remembered vividly 
Schacht’s “eulogy” (Lobrede) following Hitler’s speech.199 The banker 
seems to have been taken by such pragmatic politics, so much so that 
in 1932 a “special offi  ce” bearing his name, Arbeitsstelle Schacht, was 
set up to centralize heavy industry support for the Nazi electoral eff ort 
and pave the way for Hitler’s entry into government.200

A few months earlier, in the spring of 1931, a progressive American 
journalist interviewed Schacht. Dorothy Thomson asked him directly 
if he would ever join a Nazi administration, in so doing providing it 
with the international economic legitimacy that Hitler utterly lacked. 
“The Nazis cannot rule,” Schacht responded decisively, “but I can rule 
through them.”201 The Nazis could therefore serve as the ultimate ve-
hicle for Schacht’s personal ascendency, one so far, so fast that it seems 
almost devoid of setbacks— unlike the many that plagued his Father-
land. And it began with a second coming.



chapt e r  fou r

“GIVE ME FOUR YEARS”

The Nazis cannot rule, but I can rule through them.

— Hjalmar Schacht, 1931

n the immediate aftermath of his seizure of power, Hitler did not see 
much of Hjalmar Schacht. Yet he was not far; when it mattered, 
Schacht was there. He “happened to be in the room with a mere 

handful of his entourage when Hitler made his fi rst radio speech, be-
ginning ‘Give me four years [and you will not recognize Germany].’ ” 
The new chancellor would deliver on this promise: four years hence 
Germany would be radically diff erent. The Nazi propaganda machine 
would soon admit as much, and there can be no doubt that Schacht 
was at the heart of this transformation. Politicians often talk about 
seeing into their peers’ inner selves; so did Schacht: “Seeing [Hitler’s] 
soul served to strengthen my hope that it would be possible to guide 
[him] in the path of righ teousness.” At the Nuremberg trials he would 
assert he had joined the Nazis not as a vehicle for personal advance-
ment or allegiance to a party he cared little about but merely as a 
ser vice to the Fatherland. “I would have preferred if [Chancellor] 
Brüning had asked me in July 1931 [to return to the Reichsbank],” he 
later wrote. Yet that had not happened, rather unsurprisingly consid-
ering Schacht’s vociferous criticism. With Hitler, however, something 
was diff erent: “Since I was now given the opportunity of ending unem-
ployment for six and a half million persons, all other considerations must 
give way.”1 Was this confi dence? Delusion? Or was it hubris?

I
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From Hitler’s perspective, Schacht’s appointment made sense. The 
foreign press noted that Hitler had been seeking “fi scal advice” from 
Schacht for over a year.2 Although the Party was critical of the Weimar 
elite to which the banker belonged, fi ghting the record levels of un-
employment in 1933 Germany was sound electoral strategy—at least 
for as long as elections  were needed. In parliamentary elections the Nazis 
promised “Arbeit und Brot” (work and bread). Yet they also had a third 
slogan: “Freiheit.”3 The Nazi conception of freedom meant liberation 
from the Versailles system; it implied rearmament. A choice would even-
tually have to be made between guns and butter— but not in early 1933. 
Hitler needed someone in charge of monetary aff airs who was not only 
cooperative but also creative, so as to deliver on his promise of trans-
forming Germany. He also needed an interlocutor respected abroad. 
The fi scal situation the chancellor inherited was inauspicious at best. 
Burdened with a large fi scal defi cit and crisis across regional and local 
governments, Hitler had little room for maneuver.4 The Reichsbank 
was diff erent, if only its leadership shared Nazi goals.

At fi rst Hitler tried for continuity and approached the sitting Reichs-
bank president Hans Luther.5 His message was not strictly about jobs; 
it was also about guns. Yet Luther did not quite get it. After listening 
to a long, typically Hitlerian tirade about the strategic rationale for large- 
scale German rearmament, Luther pledged 100 million Reichsmarks 
to help the task. This would have equaled around £7 million or $23.8 
million at the time, less than 0.25 percent of GDP. To say it was far 
from what Hitler envisioned was to put it mildly. “For a moment,” Hitler 
later recounted, “I thought I must have misunderstood him, for I did 
not think it possible that a fi nancier should have so little knowledge of 
the fi nances involved in the policy of rearmament.” The conversation 
was over: “Further comment was obviously superfl uous, so I simply 
asked the President of the Reich [von Hindenburg] to remove the man 
from his offi  ce.” 6

It was not so simple; in 1933 Hitler was far from the omnipotent 
dictator he would one day become. With the Weimar constitution in 
place, the chancellor could not just sack the central bank president.7 
Yet Hitler found a way to be persuasive: he off ered Luther the Wash-
ington embassy and— though this contention remains unsupported by 
Reichsbank fi les— allegedly heeded Luther’s request for 50,000 Reichs-
marks added to his pension.8 “I can see him still, his eyes modestly 
downcast,” Hitler would say, “assuring me that it was pure patriotism 
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which caused him to fall in with my suggestions!” Money talked. “So 
I had to pay good money to open the way for the appointment of a 
man of international reputation to the Presidency of the Reichsbank— Dr. 
Schacht.”9 In his memoirs Schacht naturally chose to focus on Hitler’s 
desire to “furnish what ever will be necessary to take the last unem-
ployed off  the streets.”10 Yet there was a clear price for Schacht’s second 
coming: it involved abandoning the central bank in de pen dence he had 
so zealously defended years before.

As of March 17, 1933, just over a month into Hitler’s government, 
Schacht was back at the offi  ce where he had made his reputation. Yet 
1933 was a world away from 1924. In between lay half a de cade of exu-
berance and cheap credit, followed by the painful hangover of market 
collapse, bank failures, unemployment, and the implosion of the in-
ternational fi nancial system. It was this shipwreck of globalization that 
allowed Schacht a degree of freedom for unilateral action that would 
have been unthinkable before 1929. In the context of crumbling glo-
balization, this “freedom” would fi rst be applied to Germany’s inter-
national liabilities and then to its economic architecture. And it would 
ultimately lead to a strategy of foreign power on Iberian soil.

The fi rst two years of the Depression had seen a veritable explosion 
in trade protectionism. Symbolic of this trend was the passage of the 
Smoot- Hawley Tariff , best remembered by its nine hundred diff erent 
tariff s and twenty pages of congressional debate on tomato duties. Con-
temporaries could see its inherent danger; as Thomas Lamont, man-
aging director at J. P. Morgan, put it at the time, “I almost went down 
on my knees to beg Herbert Hoover to veto the asinine [bill].” In fact 
120 economists urged Hoover not to sign it.11 But po liti cal calculation 
trumped economic sense. As we have seen, from bad duties to worse 
quotas, countries engaged in a shortsighted attempt to shield their in-
ternal markets in ways that damaged the international system. In game 
theory terms, the unilateral action made everyone in the system worse 
off , yet the individual incentive for seeking relative advantage prevailed. 
Like the mythical Ouroboros, protectionism fed on itself, pushing global 
trade into a vicious cycle of ever more closure and ever less exchange. 
And then the banking crisis hit.

By most mea sures Creditansalt was a prestigious Austrian fi nan-
cial institution: founded by the Rothschilds in the 1850s, it had be-
come Austria- Hungary’s leading bank, lending generously to Austrian 
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eminences like Prince Metternich and the central Eu ro pean aristoc-
racy.12 In the spring of 1931, however, it was brought to its knees in 
part due to the purchase of a smaller bankrupt competitor, underwritten 
by none other than the central bank.13 On May 11 the bank’s failure 
spread panic across the Austrian fi nancial system. Bank runs multiplied. 
International contagion followed, soon engulfi ng Germany, where the 
Brüning administration was forced to provide unpre ce dented support 
to the fi nancial system.14 The Weimar Republic suff ered from “twin 
crises,” one challenging its banking sector leading to bank runs and 
the other, a po liti cal crisis, challenging the Weimar commitment to the 
gold standard.15 Amid the capital fl ight the Reichsbank imposed con-
trols, eff ectively limiting convertibility.16 The 1931 banking crisis 
turned a domestic recession into the Great Depression.

It is usually forgotten that it was none other than the Republican ad-
ministration across the Atlantic that sought to arrest the panic.17 This was 
the objective when Hoover introduced a proposal for a debt moratorium 
on June 20, 1931, following a “strong suggestion” by J. P. Morgan’s 
Lamont. It aimed at halting debt repayments from Britain and France 
to the United States in exchange for a temporary freeze on German 
reparations payments.18 Eventually a moratorium materialized— but 
not without its diffi  culties. The State Department neglected to notify 
Paris; neither Prime Minister Pierre Laval nor Emile Moreau’s Banque 
de France had been informed in advance of Hoover’s proposal. A later 
standstill agreement dealt with shorter- term debts, giving Germany 
breathing room for trade but still demanding considerable short- term 
payments.19 The German private sector that had so worried Schacht 
at the Reichsbank—in par tic u lar agricultural banks, iron and steel 
fi rms, and department stores— now faced default.20 Domestic crisis 
deepened.

This sauve qui peut attitude in London and Washington and infl ex-
ibility in Paris fueled competition where there once had been coop-
eration.21 The French hoarded reserves, modifying their gold coverage 
ratio; this led to a “shortage” of reserves that prima facie benefi ted Paris 
but in truth weakened the  whole system.22 Less than a week before, 
the French ambassador in Washington had made a prescient toast at an 
embassy party in the presence of high- ranking U.S. offi  cials: “In the 
brief moment that has left us between the crisis and the catastrophe, 
we might as well grab a glass of champagne!”23
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By September 1931 the debt and banking crisis had morphed into a 
currency crisis. Philip Snowden, the Chancellor of the Exchequer who 
had shocked his interlocutors at Young Plan negotiations, unilaterally 
took Britain off  the gold standard. “It is safe to predict Monday Sep-
tember 21st will become a historic date,” led the Economist. “The sus-
pension of the gold standard in Great Britain marks the defi nite end of 
an epoch in the world’s fi nancial and economic development.”24 It was 
a move that would have seemed inconceivable only months earlier. By 
“amending” Churchill’s Gold Standard Act of 1925, a new national gov-
ernment ended the historic peg to gold in the hopes of furthering do-
mestic recovery.25 Although there was no panic in Britain, the pound 
plummeted; soon Scandinavia and the Dominions followed suit.26

Such a blatant, unilateral abandonment of the international mone-
tary system by its historical architect had second-  and third- order con-
sequences. It eff ectively meant the resumption of “economic hostility” 
on both sides of the Atlantic.27 Indeed an internal memo at the British 
Trea sury acknowledged the impact devaluation would have in the in-
ternational economic arena, even if it made domestic po liti cal sense: 
“No country ever administered a more severe shock to international 
trade than we did when we both (1) depreciated the £ [and] (2) almost 
simultaneously turned from free trade to protection.”28 A few months 
later the Economist acknowledged, “The abandonment by Britain of the 
post- war gold standard, despite all the manifest shortcomings in both 
that standard and its working, has set in motion forces which have had 
lethal eff ects on the world’s monetary and commercial activities.”29 From 
the viewpoint of trading partners outside the British Empire, “old 
authorities and rules on economic policy  were shattered.”30

As the pound devalued, Britain gained a price advantage over France, 
the United States, and Germany. Regardless of its positive domestic 
eff ects, this was the very defi nition of beggar- thy- neighbor policy. 
Snowden’s successor, Neville Chamberlain, sought to further divert 
trade toward the British Empire by embarking on trade mea sures that 
built on devaluation. At the 1932 Ottawa Imperial Conference he pro-
posed an “imperial preference system.” For Chamberlain it was a per-
sonal struggle, for none other than his father had started the campaign 
for tariff  reform two de cades earlier.31 Although he acknowledged some 
of Keynes’s monetary insights— chiefl y the need for lower eff ective rates 
in severe recessions— what Chamberlain sold as “imperial free trade” 
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amounted to an abandonment of Britain’s traditionally open policies.32 
If free trade was exclusive to the empire, then it was not all that free. 
These policies compounded the problem for the empire’s trading part-
ners, which saw themselves limited in terms of not only price (British 
goods  were now cheaper) but also access (Chamberlain promised “im-
perial quotas”). British policy prioritized domestic needs over the longue 
durée of the international fi nancial architecture.33

In early 1933, following a domestic bank panic, new U.S. president 
Franklin D. Roo se velt emulated Britain: he unpegged the dollar from 
gold.34 Roo se velt’s devaluation was a bid for domestic recovery at all 
costs, infl uenced by a Demo cratic Party eager for better export prices 
and concerned with rural stability.35 British inability and American un-
willingness to or ga nize the international system  were therefore rooted 
in domestic electoral choices.36 At the preparatory discussions for the 
World Economic Conference in London, dollar devaluation took over 
as the key discussion topic. And where central bankers wanted to col-
laborate, it was politicians who refused— and they did so looking at 
their electoral calendars.37 To paraphrase a modern take, they knew what 
to do but not how to get reelected after doing it. To borrow Kindle-
berger’s famous terminology, no willing and able fi nancial hegemon 
was to be found on either side of the Atlantic.

Hope was not immediately lost; after much negotiation the U.S. del-
egation in London agreed to a temporary deal with Britain and France 
to halt competitive devaluations. It implied that the great powers could 
eventually fi nd a way to return to gold convertibility at a lower rate, 
preserving the globalized fi nancial architecture. In the United States 
infl uential fi nanciers like Bernard Baruch and rising foreign policy ex-
perts such as Dean Acheson backed it.38 Yet Roo se velt sent a tele gram 
that shunned even his own delegation: “The fetishes of so- called in-
ternational bankers are being replaced by eff orts to plan national cur-
rencies with the objective of giving those national currencies a con-
tinuing purchasing power.” No wonder it became known as the 
“bombshell tele gram.”39 It confi rmed the administration’s unwilling-
ness to stabilize the dollar, snubbing even the semblance of interna-
tional cooperation. Roo se velt’s path may have been eco nom ically pref-
erable for the United States, but what remained of the international 
system was all the weaker for it. Schacht, for his part, complained the 
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strategy “provided benefi ts solely for Anglo- Saxon countries.” 40 Such 
was the shipwreck of globalization.

By this time Hitler and Schacht  were in power. In the context of 
Roo se velt’s bombshell, an uncouth announcement by Alfred Hugen-
berg, Hitler’s fi rst economics minister, that Germany must return to 
colonialism to help end the Depression did not garner much attention.41 
Had Britain, France, and the United States achieved stabilization, then 
Hugenberg’s move would have hurt Berlin’s standing further. But they 
had not; in fact the Economist opined that the conference conveyed “the 
uncomfortable impression which is created [at] an operatic per for mance 
when there is a hitch in the raising of the curtain [and] the conductor 
has to repeat, in a grimly per sis tent da capo, the concluding passage of 
the overture.” 42 Yet Hugenberg’s memorandum still gave Hitler an 
excuse to replace him with Kurt Schmitt.43 The appointment of the 
former Allianz head was a conciliatory move toward a rival group in 
the Nazi Cabinet led by aristocratic Foreign Minister von Neurath.44 
This internal battle between non- Nazi nationalists only augmented 
Hitler’s power over them.45

Meanwhile Schacht’s policymaking infl uence grew. With the great 
powers disunited, his main task was to provide a monetary framework 
for Hitler’s goals. Although he had questioned Luther’s “overly accom-
modative” monetary policy months before, Schacht pledged Reichs-
bank support for both the fi ght against unemployment and for rear-
mament.46 With the economy depressed, the goals  were temporarily 
one and the same.47 As Hitler’s later utterances underscore, however, 
work creation was not his overarching priority: “[Schacht] understood 
at once that it would be ridiculous to think of launching any rear-
mament program unless we  were prepared to vote many billions 
 [of Reichsmarks] for its implementation.” 48 Though Schacht’s autobiog-
raphy mysteriously omits it, minutes note that he was part of the Cab-
inet meeting on June 8, 1933, when a rearmament program amounting 
to 35 billion Reichsmarks to be spent over the next eight years was ap-
proved. This was approximately 6 percent of German GNP.49 This doc-
ument singlehandedly undermines the view that the fi rst years of Nazi 
rearmament  were “mild.” Indeed the best available data confi rm that 
only 1933 can be described as such in terms of military spending. Even 
so, four months into the Nazi government, plans had been laid for a 
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gargantuan expansion over the next half- decade. Even allowing for 
generous domestic and international growth— a prospect that hardly 
seemed in the cards then— this plan foresaw a military sector in excess of 
10 percent of the economy, necessarily changing Germany’s economic 
structure. Comparisons with the Weimar era  were pointless; as Tooze 
pithily summarized, “the annual military spending by the Weimar Re-
public was counted in millions, not billions.”50 These fi gures  were also 
high when compared to Eu ro pean bud gets during the cold war.51 The 
program was so large that when a delighted War Minister Werner von 
Blomberg told Finance Minister Lutz Graf Schwerin von Krosigk about 
it, the latter allegedly fainted.52

Although he was not yet formally part of the Cabinet, Schacht was 
there for a reason: Reichsbank support was nothing short of crucial for 
many of these initiatives.53 The “motorization” of the economy and 
the building of the Autobahnen was— just like incipient rearmament— 
monumental; it was a scheme close to Hitler’s heart, involving the cre-
ation of an interconnected network of highways as well as the popu-
larization of the car as a civilian mode of transport.54 Implementation 
of such goals was not left to old Party fi ghters but rather to traditionally 
trained men. It was like having Schacht rather than a Party parvenu at 
the Reichsbank. When Hitler allegedly asked the banker for his choice 
between engineer Fritz Todt and Gottfried Feder, a Party “theorician,” 
to lead the Autobahn project, Schacht favored the former. “Do you 
know Herr Todt?” Hitler inquired. “No, Chancellor,” he replied with 
characteristic sarcasm, “but I know Herr Feder.”55 Schacht had little 
respect for the anticapitalist Feder and his radical, anti- Semitic ideas. In 
contrast, Todt was an engineer with more moderate views. Schacht’s 
choice was representative of the more eco nom ically conservative— yet 
no less nationalistic— tone of the new government. Todt got the job. 
Often by choice, and otherwise by force, big business was a partner 
in the young regime’s eff orts. From the central bank Schacht advanced 
a cause that was capitalistic in nature, if driven and directed by the 
state.56

In the midst of Goebbels’s bombastic propaganda, Todt began his 
work; the formerly unemployed marched with shovels as placeholders 
for rifl es. Hitler hailed the “tremendous task” ahead: no less than 6,500 
kilometers of roads, to be fully appreciated only “in the course of fu-
ture de cades.”57 “Cooperation” had been required for “will to turn into 
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reality”; he omitted to mention the private sector, but clearly signaled 
out Schacht’s activist Reichsbank.58 Indeed the banker was present and 
was acknowledged explicitly in the introduction. After required men-
tions of Volksgemeinschaft, Hitler fi lled a wheelbarrow with shovelfuls 
of dirt for the viewing plea sure of Goebbels’s cameras.

The highway project employed many at relatively low cost, in par-
tic u lar blue- collar construction workers— victims of the Depression and 
prime Nazi electoral targets.59 And it worked wonders for the 1934 ref-
erendum on Hitler’s leadership.60 At fi rst Todt’s administration mini-
mized use of machinery to provide the greatest number of jobs in geo-
graphic areas worst hit by the crisis.61 But the project also served a 
strategic rearmament purpose: the Wehrmacht conceived of the Auto-
bahnen system as an effi  cient tool to mobilize divisions speedily should 
Germany again have to fi ght a two- front war. And then there was al-
ways tourism.

This Autobahnen project has taken up much academic ink as an ex-
ample of a Keynesian aggregate demand boost before Keynes had pub-
lished his General Theory in 1936.62 In the same German introduction 
where Keynes argued his ideas might potentially be better received there 
than in neoclassical Britain, he also made a controversial claim that 
his theory of aggregate production “can be much more easily adapted” 
to the conditions of a totalitarian state (“eines totalen Staates”).63 Con-
temporary sources believed these Nazi projects made a major diff er-
ence to the German economy. Yet the latest estimates suggest Nazi fi scal 
defi cits  were too small to provide the multiplicative eff ects of Keynesian 
demand stimulus.64 Rather, a cyclical recovery after the 1932 bottom 
began to deliver jobs and improve the fi scal situation.65 This benefi ted 
whoever was in power, suggesting an interesting counterfactual if Hitler 
had not accessed power in early 1933. Furthermore Ritschl’s data sug-
gest the weight of the rearmament, approved by Schacht and the Cab-
inet in early 1933, was crucial to growth as of 1934, earlier than previ-
ously assumed.

The necessary complement to Autobahnen was motorcars, a sector 
where Germany lagged.66 In this respect Hitler’s regime pushed ahead 
against established businesses in the pursuit of mass production.67 It was 
another grand project, best exemplifi ed by the support for Ferdinand 
Porsche’s Volkswagen, the aggressively priced “car of the people” that 
moved many to save without hopes of actual delivery until after World 
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War II. These  were examples of the state leading the way of structural 
investment through direct funding, subsidies, and guarantees. Schacht’s 
Reichsbank underwrote the Autobahnen. Back in power and amid col-
lapsing internationalism, his economic nationalism required a level of 
heterodoxy that quickly exceeded Roo se velt’s New Deal.

Given Hitler’s fi scal constraints, only having someone like Schacht 
at the Reichsbank made fi nancing for work- creation projects and re-
armament possible. The latter had to be kept from international eyes 
for as long as possible. Yet both involved credit creation and, ultimately, 
the kind of activist monetary policy that would eventually lead to in-
fl ation. By defi nition, funds spawned from a supposedly in de pen dent 
Reichsbank to, as it  were, kick- start the economy risked price stability—
if not immediately, at least in the medium term. The relative merits of 
a kick- start against a cyclical rebound are beside the point  here: in 1934 
Schacht came up with an off – balance sheet system to funnel credit into 
work projects and rearmament well beyond offi  cial targets. Both infl a-
tion hawks and international eyes made stealth a necessity.68

Thus Germany’s largest industrial conglomerates jointly set up a new 
“private” company, the Society for Metallurgical Research (Metallur-
gische Forschungsgesellschaft). The fact that the backers— Siemens, Krupp, 
Rheinstahl, and Gutehoff nungshüte— were champions of heavy in-
dustry closely involved with military contracts should have been sus-
picious to outside observers.69 Indeed this was no run- of- the- mill joint 
venture and involved no research whatsoever; rather it was a vehicle 
for monetary stimulus.70 The company issued IOUs, so- called Mefo 
bills, well beyond its capital base. These  were then discounted by 
Schacht’s Reichsbank, eff ectively creating credit for rearmament.71 
Through Mefo bills— a Schachtian concoction— monetary expansion 
could be concealed to appease traditionalists at home and go unnoticed 
abroad. Between 1933 and 1936 Mefo bills fi nanced a considerable 
portion of public defi cit spending.72

In theory the government would eventually compensate the Reichs-
bank for Mefo advances. Yet “temporary” central bank advances have 
a way of becoming permanent, particularly when fi scal and monetary 
responsibilities are blurred. Nowhere was this more blatant than in 
Schacht’s Germany.73 The multiplicative eff ects of credit creation with 
the backing of the lender of last resort  were considerable. This off – 
balance sheet invention was an important illustration of Schacht ex-



 “G I V E ME FOUR Y E A R S” 115

ceeding his strict monetary priorities to attain the government’s goals.74 
In 1934 heavy industry and the Wehrmacht  were pleased with the in-
fl ow of orders, and the Nazis did not shrink from pressuring businesses 
to accept the Reichsbank- discounted bills whenever necessary.

Although there is plenty of historical debate about Germany’s eco-
nomic per for mance in the early years of the regime, from the means 
(Mefo bills) to the ends (rearmament and work creation), Schacht was 
at the heart of policy.75 GDP revived vigorously from the Depression 
lows, with unemployment declining by a third during Hitler’s fi rst year 
in power.76 It was a phenomenon at the very least aided by a cyclical 
rebound, but the ultimate source of growth mattered less to the Nazis 
than to future historians: Hitler took all the po liti cal credit. Within 
the government Schacht was increasingly regarded as the architect of 
recovery— and he would be rewarded handsomely.

On the very same day that the gargantuan rearmament program was 
approved, the Cabinet gave Schacht carte blanche to announce a fur-
ther moratorium of Germany’s foreign debts. The synchronicity be-
trays the priorities of both chancellor and central banker: Nazi Ger-
many found money for its rearmament but not for its foreign liabilities. 
As we have seen, foreign indebtedness had been a key concern of 
Schacht’s in the late 1920s.77 The debt policy he implemented during his 
“second coming” amounted to an offi  cial repudiation of the Dawes and 
Young Plans he himself had helped negotiate and was the fi nal nail in the 
coffi  n of Stresemann’s Atlanticist strategy. So after the failure of the 
World Economic Conference, Schacht announced that only 50 percent 
of debt ser vice would be paid in foreign currency, the rest coming in 
scrip, which through the intervention of his Reichsbank would reduce 
eff ective payments by 25 percent.78 The new vigor in domestic state 
planning— from work creation to rearmament and labor relations— was 
therefore matched with newly aggressive foreign economic policy.79 But 
how would the world react?

Back in 1923 French and Belgian troops had occupied the Ruhr when 
the Weimar Republic ceased reparations payments amid hyperinfl a-
tion.80 If anything, Germany’s debts in 1933 dwarfed those of 1923, 
since the net decrease in reparations payments in the public sector was 
more than matched by a rise in private and regional (Länder) debts.81 
The French could ill aff ord a repeat of their response: they had suff ered 
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diplomatically and fi nancially a de cade earlier. And they lacked British 
backing.82 This time around there was no Ruhr occupation. Through 
Schacht’s tactics, Germany’s trade partners  were divided, lessening 
their ability to curtail the newfound economic assertiveness.

Despite the British and U.S. devaluations, Hitler was as unwilling 
as his pre de ces sors to devalue; he associated his reputation with the value 
of the currency even amid global devaluations. So Schacht found a way 
to turn his unilateral 1933 “debt moratorium” into a tool to help German 
foreign trade and have someone  else foot the bill.83 First he sped up 
short- term debt repayment to present the bleakest possible picture to 
creditors, a fact that did not go entirely unnoticed abroad.84 Then, at a 
conference with international creditors in June 1933, he presented them 
with a “new system” that, though no one dared call it such, amounted 
to selective debt default. Indebted German fi rms would continue to 
deposit Reichsmarks at the Reichsbank in order to honor their foreign 
debts, but those accounts would not be freely convertible.85 Schacht’s 
Reichsbank argued that Germany— low in foreign reserves after having 
canceled a loan with his brainchild, the BIS, earlier that year— could 
not aff ord such capital mobility. Of course the government promised 
that debts would be converted back to freely movable foreign currency 
when the balance of payments had recovered, but 1920s current ac-
counts clearly suggested that was not forthcoming. Schacht called it a 
mere “transfer problem,” pretending it did not involve an actual loss 
for creditors.86 Beleaguered creditors disagreed. Yet without any cred-
ible enforcement mechanisms and a disunited foreign community, 
Schacht could eff ectively avoid retaliation.

To be sure, trade protectionism and economic nationalism  were on 
the rise everywhere. But Germany was diff erent: it was increasingly 
directed from an assertive central bank that centralized economic de-
cision making like never before; indeed it can be argued that Schacht 
personally engineered many policies to be emulated elsewhere.87 Fol-
lowing the default and capital controls, newspaper articles began re-
ferring to Schacht as the “debt dictator of the Third Reich.”88 It was a 
well- earned epithet: in order to protect the (nominal) convertibility of 
the currency and his central bank’s paltry reserves, Schacht introduced 
draconian capital controls. By January 1937 there would be no fewer 
than seventeen diff erent kinds of Reichsmark accounts, each with its 
own par tic u lar set of allowances and permissions.89 The new system 
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had bureaucratic consequences: through the new trading schemes, 
Schacht had constructed the institutional framework that enabled him 
to adjust the level of German foreign trade down to a product-  and 
producer- specifi c levels. Expanding far beyond his (already extensive) 
1920s powers, this system for import oversight gave the Reichsbank 
an unpre ce dented level of control over Germany’s trade. Henceforth 
Schacht could pick winners and make losers. Con ve niently for his re-
emerging mercantilism, however, Germany’s creditors  were “free” to 
use their hostage wealth to purchase industrial goods domestically. This 
furthered investment into the domestic economy. Nazi Germany’s cen-
tral banker, it was now clear, did not shy away from economic authori-
tarianism, far less resisted in the 1930s than in the 1920s.

In macroeconomic terms Germany’s problem lay at the intersection 
of foreign trade and foreign exchange. The recovery would only in-
crease the need for foreign raw materials, meaning more imports. Key 
trading partners like Britain, France, and the Netherlands threatened 
trade war against Germany in retaliation for the Reichsbank’s debt 
policy. Schacht had been blaming protectionist walls erected across the 
world for German falling exports since the advent of the Depression.90 
What he omitted was that Germany’s exports suff ered the consequences 
of its main partners going off  the gold standard and therefore regaining 
competitiveness, a policy road at least in theory also open to Germany. 
Fewer exports meant more than sluggish growth and higher spare ca-
pacity, particularly in a trade- geared economy like Germany’s. Fewer 
exports also jeopardized the main source of the Reichsbank’s foreign 
reserves: without an improvement of the current account, Germany’s 
foreign reserves situation could not grow.91

Yet the regime had to contend with Hitler’s convictions on the cur-
rency, as well as the cultural legacy of infl ation— against which the Nazis 
had in part built their power.92 As Brüning has experienced years be-
fore, there  were marginal benefi ts to remaining on gold: foreign cur-
rency commercial debts  were eff ectively reduced by devaluations else-
where. Yet that did not aff ect gold- denominated debts. The much- cited 
gold coverage ratio that had been at 45 percent in 1930 was at 8.5 per-
cent by December 1933. By June 1934 the situation had reached a crit-
ical level: after a large late 1933 redemption, the Reichsbank foreign 
exchange reserves had plunged to only 100 million Reichsmarks— 
barely enough to cover a week’s worth of imports.
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Schacht also expanded a debt buyback operation into the largest buy-
back in history to that date; Nazi Germany geared the system to ben-
efi t its goals.93 Under Reichsbank direction, German exporters  were 
encouraged to buy distressed German debt in foreign markets and get 
paid closer to face value within Germany, thus off setting their uncom-
petitive, overvalued exchange rate.94 Reichsbank- controlled export pro-
motion allowed German exporters to eff ectively mark down their over-
priced goods abroad by allowing payment in German debt. This helped 
reverse the Reichsmark’s overvaluation, at least for those sectors with 
Reichsbank backing. It was also an unpre ce dented level of economic 
micromanagement. In this system foreign buyers could purchase German 
debt trading at approximately a 50 percent discount on face value and 
use it to pay the face- value cost of (overvalued) German goods. This 
way the foreign importer partly off set the cost of Germany’s overvalued 
currency, the exporter was able to sell abroad, and the Reichsbank re-
tired debt.

German debt traded at a heavy discount in New York when com-
pared to Berlin, underscoring a tangible diff erence of opinion on whether 
the debt would eventually be paid back.95 Foreign observers initially dis-
trusted Nazi economic management enough to expect an implosion.96 
In this context a German policymaker who knew no full default was 
forthcoming could therefore repurchase debt and reduce total indebt-
edness. Germans  were so keen on debt buybacks that some continued 
until 1944, shortly before Nazi Germany’s fi nal downfall. On April 
23, 1933, Hitler made clear to his Economic Policy Committee that 
he did not intend to fully renege on German debts but did intend, 
through the Reichsbank, to take advantage of the situation. This implied 
no sudden, full exit from the world economic system as well as support 
for Schachtian management.97 The goal was simultaneously debt reduc-
tion and export promotion.

Since Schacht’s return to the Reichsbank at least some buybacks  were 
carried out in secret. As of 1934 they increasingly focused on sover-
eign debt. This furthered the potential advantage from information 
asymmetry in the market. And it worked best through proxies. A re-
tired British offi  cial, Lt. Col. Francis Norris, bought so much debt in 
the autumn of 1933 that the press began calling him “Col o nel Law-
rence of fi nance.” The Reichsbank denied any connection, but a year 
later Scotland Yard and the French Sûreté revealed that Norris had acted 
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as a front to fi ll Nazi Party coff ers. None other than Schacht’s nephew 
informed the Bank of En gland that as much as 300,000 Reichsmarks 
had been used in this operation, repurchasing 550,000 Reichsmarks of 
debt. These tricks added to the existing buyback policy. Modern neo-
classical economic research suggests that debt buybacks do not repre-
sent a transfer from debtor to creditor, but an econometric analysis of 
Germany’s historical experience suggests net gains at the expense of its 
foreign creditors.98 Expectations eventually made it into the risk premium 
of German debt trading abroad, but not before annoying British Prime 
Minister Ramsay MacDonald. In a “bitter mood about Germany,” Mac-
Donald complained to the German ambassador that Berlin was talking 
up default to talk down debt price— only to buy it back on the cheap.99 
The Reichsbank objected. Yet Hitler would eventually vindicate Mac-
Donald: years later he gloated in private about the success of the scheme 
and, in spite of their falling out, credited Schacht for it.100 To borrow 
from Keynes’s biographer, this use of buybacks was an act of “Schachtian 
dev ilry.”101

Se nior economic policymakers, including Economics Secretary Hans 
Posse and Finance Minister von Krosigk, resisted many of these het-
erodox, authoritarian turns. Yet Schacht prevailed, supported by the 
War Ministry and the Wehrmacht. Courtesy of the Nazis’ debt dic-
tator, it was the country’s creditors that footed the bill for some of its 
authoritarian monetary innovations.102 This would help increase ex-
ports that, according to foreign observers, had suff ered greatly at the 
expense of inward- looking agricultural policies escalated by the Nazis.103

Within Germany another battle dawned. Though far from an ad-
vocate for free trade, Schacht was by no means interested in taking the 
German economy out of what remained of the international trading 
system. Aggressive and cynical as they  were, operations like the Reichs-
bank’s foreign exchange monitoring  were designed to help sustain trade, 
not close off  the country entirely. Nonetheless Schacht’s vision of global 
trade had little to do with the laissez- faire tradition of Anglo- Saxon 
neoclassical economics. It was up to the state and not the market to direct 
the country’s goals when engaging with the outside world. In Schacht’s 
view Germany’s fundamental economic strength lay in what he bap-
tized as “repro cessing”: turning raw materials, primarily of foreign prov-
enance, into capital goods that could be exported to its global trading 
partners.104 This double reliance on foreign trade rendered Germany 
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especially vulnerable to the trade wars, as the Depression had laid bare. 
The state therefore ought to mediate.

According to Schacht, then, Germany need not be fully cut off  from 
world markets to be powerful; indeed absolute in de pen dence would 
make it impossible to capitalize on the spoils of infl uence beyond its 
constrained borders. Yet within the regime there  were advocates of full 
Autarkie, the concept of economic self- suffi  ciency that the Economist de-
rided as “the modern nationalistic policy of a poor thinge but my owne.”105 
The Depression had also furthered this ideal among right- wing politi-
cians. How exactly this “full autarky” was to be implemented remains 
opaque, not least because of the dubious economic expertise of those 
who advocated it. These “theoreticians” maintained close ties to the 
most racist strands of Nazi ideology, which simplistically argued that a 
“superior” Germany could not rely on others for sustenance.106

In a June 1933 article titled “Principles of German Foreign Trade 
Policy,” Werner Daitz, director of the external trade division in the 
Party’s Foreign Policy Offi  ce, defi ned autarky “as the vital right of every 
people and every nation to set up their economy in such a manner, so 
that she may be a fort [Burg] to them, so that they may not starve and 
thirst because of trade or monetary politics, or even in the case of war. 
The extent of [what we mean by] autarky should emerge out of this 
image.”107 It should come as no surprise that agrarian classes— represented 
in Party hierarchy by an idologue in charge of the Agriculture Min-
istry, Walther Darré, and his deputy, Herbert Backe— spearheaded the 
push toward self- suffi  ciency.108 Darré was a leading exponent of Blut 
und Boden racialist ideas, so much so that he had penned a book advo-
cating eugenics to improve the race, combining pseudo- science with 
romantic nationalism.109 This telling Burg analogy contradicted not only 
the  whole edifi ce of liberal trade theory but also the British imperial 
experience with mercantilism that Schacht followed. Darré and Backe 
 were even more extreme than Daitz, as expressed by myriad pamphlets, 
pseudo- scientifi c books, and of course the policy of their ministry. Backe 
had even put his name on a book entitled The End of Liberalism.110 Yet 
their conception of liberalism’s “end” was radically diff erent from 
Schacht’s.

Schacht kept close tabs on the proponents of Autarkie, a fact evidenced 
by the Reichsbank’s meticulous account of all press mentions of the 
word.111 By 1934 the popularity of the cause had risen to an all- time 
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high; the preceding years of misery  were at least partly to blame. When 
the international system crumbled in the Depression, Germany suff ered 
greatly; for instance, between 1929 and 1932 annual imports of iron 
ore plummeted from 17,000 tons to under 3,500.112 The fact that the 
decline coincided with Brüning’s successive defl ationary drives— which 
would have made imported iron ore much more attractive than the 
lower- quality domestic variant—is a further indication of the German 
industry’s strong dependence on world markets.

Examined from this perspective, it should not come as a surprise that 
Germany’s leaders  were looking for every way to reduce foreign de-
pendence. This was fertile ground for the advocates of radical Autarkie. 
At fi rst the Nazi regime promoted a strikingly uneconomic eff ort to 
produce substitute raw materials domestically, in eff ect stretching Ger-
many’s lower- quality resources to produce expensive end products. It 
was not ideal; domestically produced iron ore, for example, contained 
less than half the iron of the imported material and was far costlier to 
pro cess. Similarly the extensive research on and development of syn-
thetic fi ber and fuel  were examples of the power of the autarkic ideals 
among Nazi leaders.113 Factions of the Wehrmacht and Göring, a man 
always eager to expand his responsibilities, also selectively favored it, 
particularly when thinking of scenarios that involved war. Autarky 
might have been an economic concept, yet it lay at the heart of a po-
liti cal framework driven by ideology. Its proponents did not advocate 
immediate closure since the defi ciencies in Germany’s resource archi-
tecture  were obvious enough. Going back to Party scripture, Hitler’s 
Mein Kampf, these men wanted Germany closed off  so that it could con-
centrate on integrating an appropriate Lebensraum (“living space”).

Talk of such economic introversion was anathema to Schacht, who, 
as we have seen, favored a rival conception of foreign infl uence and 
empire. Speaking before representatives of the American Chamber of 
Commerce in Berlin, Schacht warned that Germany’s dire fi nancial 
straits would only embolden autarkists: “Everyone keeps claiming that 
Germany is turning toward autarky; what we are seeing today vindi-
cates my explanation: it is not Germany who is turning toward autarky, 
but rather the meaningless debt policy against Germany that forces us 
into autarky.”114 This was one way of looking at the issue, and a con-
ve nient perspective at that; indeed Schacht would routinely repeat these 
arguments at the U.S. embassy.115 Yet the logic could be turned around: 
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“How could it be reasonable for an indebted but export- driven country 
to attain complete agricultural autarky, preventing the cheaper agri-
cultural commodities traded on the world markets from drastically 
raising the German living standards?”116 Despite his extensive powers, 
Schacht’s control of the German economy was limited by intense 
competition within what has often been described as a polycratic 
administration.117

In the context of these battles within the regime, the “debt dictator” 
pressed for yet more power. And in mid-1934 Hitler was willing to 
give it. Chancellery archives suggest that when the Reichsbank presi-
dent approached Hitler at the height of the foreign exchange crisis, in 
late June 1934, he sought personal control over the Reich Chamber of 
Commerce (RWK).118 The RWK had been created in February 1934 
by Schmitt’s ministry as a (nominally) in de pen dent or ga ni za tion, de-
signed to coordinate the work and provide a venue for corporate con-
fl ict resolution.119 The more liberal Schmitt did not seek the formal-
ization of cartels or their absolute subordination to the state.120 Even 
accounting for the fl uidity with which Nazis treated institutions, handing 
over the RWK to the Reichsbank was not straightforward. Appointing 
the Reichsbank president to run an or ga ni za tion subordinate to the Eco-
nomics Ministry would only further blur the lines separating mone-
tary and fi scal policies. Faced with the choice, Hitler decided to do away 
with the lines altogether.121 At Bayreuth he gave Schacht “acting con-
trol” of the ministry. For the next three years, “acting” or not, Schacht’s 
control over the German economy would be second to none.122 And 
it would only deepen his centrality in the task of “transforming” 
Germany.

When discussing the blurred lines between fi scal and monetary 
policy, in modern days we usually assume that fi scal power takes over 
monetary aff airs, generally to pursue cheaper credit. Yet in Nazi Ger-
many the opposite was true: after years advocating for power and in-
de pen dence at the central bank, Schacht’s system involved the central 
banker taking charge of fi scal matters, delivering an unpre ce dented level 
of control. Hence the banker got more than he bargained for at 
Bayreuth—or more likely that was his goal all along. After all, extreme 
concentration of power in German politics was in vogue during the 
summer of 1934. On August 2 the aged president of the Republic, Paul 
von Hindenburg, passed away. The Reichskanzler wasted no time: within 
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an hour of Hindenburg’s death, the Chancellery announced plans to 
do away with the offi  ce altogether, transferring all its duties to the Führer 
and disposing of the last vestiges of legal rule under the Weimar Con-
stitution.123 Meanwhile, with control over the Ministry, Schacht now 
had a formal Cabinet position and could interfere directly with busi-
nesses to re orient the German economy as he saw fi t. His standing was 
further strengthened by Finance Minister von Krosigk’s lack of real 
power within the Nazi hierarchy.124

Upon returning to Berlin Schacht asked one of his more liberal op-
ponents, Secretary Posse, whether he enjoyed music. Puzzled by the 
question, Posse replied that he was indeed very interested but was no 
expert on the subject. “Neither am I,” replied Schacht in a rare display 
of humility, soon to be corrected, “but I was at Bayreuth this weekend.”125 
The implication was obvious: Schacht had Hitler’s ear and Posse did 
not. When the government announced the fulfi llment of Hitler’s ab-
solute dictatorship in the offi  ce of the Führer, Schacht’s appointment to 
the economics portfolio was the next one on the list. It made the morning 
papers as an adjunct to the completion of Hitler’s Machtergreifung—
seizure of power. It was a telling sign of the banker’s power over German 
economic aff airs.

The Financial Times devoted but a short paragraph to the news, 
stressing that the new “economic dictator” would use his power to focus 
on the “knotty issues of foreign exchange and imports.” Given the crisis, 
it was an understatement.126 It goes without saying that not many other 
than Hitler  were addressed as any kind of “dictator” in Nazi Germany. 
With Schacht’s own seizure of power complete, foreign investors gave 
him the benefi t of the doubt: German debt rallied on the appointment.127 
Thereafter the wizard- cum- dictator pressed on with his agenda of do-
mestic centralization and aggressive foreign expansion. He declared that 
Germany would henceforth be unable to pay even the coupons for the 
Dawes and Young Plans, previously excluded from the debt morato-
rium due to their (implicit) preferred status.128 In an interview with 
the New York Times, providing further details about this new aff ront to 
international creditors, Schacht described how economic decisions  were 
now taken in Nazi Germany: “We handle all matters within my prov-
ince as director of the economic life of Germany, right in my offi  ce— all 
matters that pertain to trade, industry, commerce, and banking.” Only 
with regard to labor did Schacht admit to “confer[ring] with the [Labor] 
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Minister.”129 Finance Minister von Krosigk was nowhere to be seen. 
And the “acting” economics minister did not sound at all temporary.

Not for the last time, increased effi  ciency was the nominal justifi ca-
tion for dictatorship. Yet Schacht’s statements betray a par tic u lar dis-
taste for plural decision making: “Everything works very smoothly and 
speedily [in Germany], much more than when we had politicians talking 
about everything under the sun and knowing little or nothing about 
anything, as we had  here in the days of the old Reichstag.” This al-
lowed Schacht to nonchalantly declare Germany the “most demo-
cratic country in the world.” When the Times asked for his thoughts on 
economic freedom, the banker— outwardly still a liberal, if tempered 
by pragmatism— became philosophical: “Economic freedom is abuse.”130 
He could have added that his personal control was better.

Publicly Schacht justifi ed centralization as an operational necessity 
rather than the ultimate objective of his designs. Even twenty years later 
he would justify his “system” as the only way for Germany to “go on” 
amid the shipwreck of globalization.131 But unpre ce dented success and 
power further exacerbated authoritarian managerial tendencies that, as 
we have seen,  were there all along. From the ministry the Reichsbank 
president developed a comprehensive system of state control over im-
ports that depended on his staff ; his excuse was that the state needed 
information to prioritize the “right” imports so as to avoid squandering 
limited foreign exchange.132 Although Schacht was by no means the 
only individual in the Nazi hierarchy who determined import 
prioritization— with the Wehrmacht steadily rising in prominence—
he was at the heart of the system, both by design and by execution. 
Indeed when foreign countries complained, they had to approach 
him— and nobody  else.133

A new Reich bureaucracy with extensive access to business infor-
mation developed executive power over foreign trade, in so doing al-
tering the type of information businesses shared with government. These 
changes originated in tendencies started during the Great War and, to 
an extent, continued in the Weimar era.134 Domestically an all- powerful 
Schacht deepened state oversight of industrial groups, cartels, and 
companies— all forced to register under this new system of government- 
controlled statistical reporting.135 In the Third Reich, it was now clear, 
not all imports  were created equal. The selective squeeze that followed 
hurt consumer products the most, threatening the recovery in civilian 
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sectors such as textiles and small manufactures. Imports for expendi-
tures held on, chiefl y insofar as they  were attached to armaments and 
select heavy industries such as IG Farben’s synthetic fabrics and fuel pro-
grams, favorites among Autarkie- loving ministers.136 It should have come 
as no surprise: Schacht’s system was modeled on war management plans 
enacted during World War I to sustain the war eff ort in the midst of 
the eff ective Anglo- American naval blockade.137 This was yet another 
case of Schacht “innovating” in the sense of taking up an existing pro-
gram and refi tting it to his authoritarian needs.

Eventually these policies  were baptized Neue Plan (New Plan). Yet 
in stark contrast to Roo se velt’s New Deal, Germany’s priorities lay not 
in civilian development but rather in rearmament, which, I have shown, 
was at the heart of the recovery.138 The Neue Plan was Schacht’s brain-
child. From his perspective it made sense: only from a position of rela-
tive strength could Germany achieve a change in its point of engage-
ment with other powers. In the trade balance the policy worked: in 
1935, 1936, and even 1937 Germany posted (small) surpluses that would 
have been unthinkable only years before. Much of this was due to the 
selective curtailment of imports, but Schacht’s export promotion mat-
tered signifi cantly.139 The balance of payments, of course, was another 
matter.

Stresemann’s Atlanticist strategy was long gone in the foreign sphere. 
The idea of trading with those to whom Germany owed war debts in 
the hope that they would eventually come to appreciate the unsustain-
ability of the Versailles system did not survive long in the Nazi era, 
though, as we have seen, a shift had been in the making—in no small 
part due to Schacht— since the late Weimar years. The Depression rad-
ically changed the foreign economic landscape. It can be argued that 
Schacht implemented an “anti- Atlanticist strategy.” Having ceased for-
eign debt payments, Germany sought decoupling from its main trade 
partners. So Schacht’s authoritarian system led to a considerable re-
orientation of German trade.

The message for mass consumption was diff erent. In his August 1934 
New York Times interview, Schacht had argued that, in trade terms, the 
ball was in the Americans’ court: “It is up to the United States to see 
what can be done to promote the purchase of more German goods.” At 
a time when the devaluation of the dollar made German imports hope-
lessly overvalued, what would happen if German exports to America 
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did not grow substantially? “If the United States does not buy more, 
we will see to it that she sells us less.”140 Such trade controls led to a 
diversion of trade away from Britain and the United States, at a time 
when the British  were increasing their regional trade with the Domin-
ions through the imperial preference system and the U.S. protectionist 
withdrawal behind the devaluing dollar was still the only game in 
Washington.

The economic benefi ts of following this neo- Weltpolitik strategy could 
always be off set by po liti cal complications; they therefore required swift 
and decisive foreign economic diplomacy. First Schacht signed bilateral 
deals with the Dutch and Swiss, both of whom depended heavily on 
German industrial supplies but  were also large export markets for 
Germany.141 Then, and against all odds, he successfully persuaded 
Britain, his former ally in the heyday of cooperation with Norman’s 
Bank of En gland, to abandon the united front with Washington over 
defaulted German debts. In a move that managed to outrage both pol-
iticians in Washington and fi nanciers in New York, in 1934 Schacht 
secured a Payments Agreement with London that boosted German ex-
ports to the empire. For a time at least the United States was left alone 
in its opposition to Schachtian foreign economic policy.142

Seen from London— particularly from Threadneedle Street, the Bank 
of En gland’s historic home— Schacht seemed far more preferable than 
the racialist, autarkic elements in the Nazi regime.143 Meanwhile the 
banker’s aggressive off ensive continued. His staff  brokered agreements 
with countries in the Balkans and Latin America to replace the sources 
of raw materials no longer purchased from Britain’s empire.144 As less 
developed countries promised Germany goods for its industries in 
exchange for its industrial produce, Schacht saw trade “decoupling” 
from the democracies as Germany’s best way forward. The banker’s 
fi nest biographer essentially agrees on this point; he goes so far as to 
call this strategy in the corners of Eu rope an “informal empire,” 
adding that they could make Germany “embargo- secure” in the event 
of world war.145

Contemporary Anglo- Saxon commentators certainly noticed the im-
perial strand in Schacht’s policy, but the democracies stood paralyzed 
as Germany made forays into the Balkans, striking deals to circum-
vent both the precarious state of Reichsbank fi nances and the margin-
ality of the Reichsmark in the global fi nancial system.146 Undercutting 
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its competitors, Germany off ered discounts of as much as 50 percent 
below cash prices for (nominally overpriced) manufactured goods, pro-
vided the less developed countries  were willing to pay for them in raw 
materials. Given the fresh memory of an international fi nancial system 
crippled by currency and tariff  wars, the local regimes  were happy to 
oblige. This neomercantilist barter allowed manufactures to be exported 
to new destinations to replace old markets, while taking clear advan-
tage of Germany’s rising po liti cal clout. This was the essence of 
neo-Weltpolitik.

Yet the historiography has been short- sighted in limiting the appli-
cation of this strategy to the Balkans.147 Schacht’s strategy was global 
in scope, even if it was adopted most readily in the less developed cor-
ners of Eu rope. A further instance that illuminates the alternative in-
ternational trade sphere Schacht was seeking to create was the case of 
Brazil. The authoritarian government in Rio took advantage of its 
renewed trade ties with Germany to default on its foreign debt and re-
lease itself from FDR’s vision of hemispheric free trade. Getúlio Var-
gas’s administration would even attempt weapons purchases from Nazi 
Germany.148 One could hardly get more disrespectful to the American 
Monroe Doctrine, and such policy was possible only because of close 
ties with resurgent Berlin. It was a point not lost on Secretary of State 
Cordell Hull, in those days the lone gunman of trade liberalism in the 
Roo se velt administration. Hull would seek to reverse the relative loss 
of U.S. infl uence through the 1934 Reciprocal Trade Agreements 
Acts.149

In its simplest terms, therefore, Schacht’s overarching goal was to 
continue state- directed domestic growth while diverting German trade 
toward less powerful countries that could serve as markets for indus-
trial output and a steady source of raw materials. This way he could 
circumvent powerful former trade partners and expand Germany’s eco-
nomic clout even while lacking formal cronies. Developing countries 
would come into Germany’s trade sphere on terms far more benefi cial 
to the Third Reich than to its developed rivals, whether it was the United 
States with its internal empire or Britain with its formal one. And there 
would be no question about Germany’s now defaulted foreign debts. 
With “frankness bordering on cynicism which is characteristic of him,” 
Schacht told the American Chamber of Commerce, “If Germany does 
not pay her foreign debts, she will not lose credit for that. . . .  If I  were 
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permitted to compare small things with large ones, I might recall that 
Latin America was found worthy of credit after three or four succes-
sive failures.”150

At a time when, as we shall see, Nazi Germany’s fi rst foreign mili-
tary foray— the Spanish Civil War— was becoming an increasingly 
economic endeavor, Schacht was touring the Balkans to announce the 
wonders of his policies for the beleaguered region. In Belgrade he talked 
about the attractive symbiosis between German industry and the 
Eu ro pean periphery, and how it would (eventually) help develop the 
latter. “It would be quite wrong for the industrial states to set themselves 
against gradual industrialization of the agrarian countries,” he said while 
trying to ingratiate himself with his audience. “The nature of agrarian 
exports would gradually change,” he added, suggesting the progressive 
industrialization of the Eu ro pean periphery.151

Regardless of whether such a bright future materialized, in the mean-
time the primary production from the periphery would be safest if placed 
within the German economic sphere. What is more, po liti cal trends 
seemed to favor Schacht’s strategies: “With a Radical Cabinet now ruling 
France,” wrote a reporter for Time magazine in an article about German 
trade, “conservative or reactionary Balkan regimes look increasingly 
to Berlin.” Ultimately “French heavy industry, which used to have 
Yugo slavia eco nom ically in its pocket, is gradually being frozen out.”152 
Across the world other ambitious powers such as Japan emulated Schacht’s 
strategies. If not the sole innovator, therefore, Schacht was the most 
successful exponent of this strategy— and with power over monetary 
and fi scal aff airs he was at the very center of German economic 
policymaking.153

Government control under the “economic dictator”  rose hand in 
hand with the relative importance of armaments in the German “eco-
nomic boom.” Although some scholars have called 1935–1936 “the re-
spectable years” of the Nazi dictatorship, the relative importance of re-
armament in the recovery only grew during the period.154 And it did 
so considerably: between 1935 and 1938 armaments accounted for al-
most half of output growth, meaning it was crucial to lowering Ger-
many’s rate of unemployment. The original 1933 rearmament bud get 
was greatly expanded between 1934 and 1936, to the benefi t of Göring’s 
Luftwaff e and Adm. Erich Raeder’s Kriesgsmarine. By choice or ne-
cessity, such was the quid pro quo in Schacht’s bid for power.
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In mid-1935, defying all estimates of what was eco nom ically pos-
sible for Germany, Hitler announced that the peacetime Wehrmacht 
would now have fully mechanized divisions featuring the state- of- 
the- art Panzer to follow the dictums of Heinz Guderian’s “fast war-
fare” tactics.155 The fundamental revision of the Versailles system con-
tinued unhindered between the collapse of internationalism on the one 
hand and the rise of appeasement on the other— facilitated by “Schachtian 
economics.”156 Germany would reengage the world from a position of 
power, but not necessarily one of isolation.

Although authoritarian control over the economy could ensure ef-
fi cient use of scarce foreign exchange and international lobbying helped 
re orient foreign trade, a permanent supply of raw materials still eluded 
Schacht. German resource scarcity had been a structural feature of the 
Versailles system.157 For a manufacturing behemoth without its own 
high- quality raw materials, a reliable and effi  cient global trade system 
was essential not just for growth but for the mere maintenance of living 
standards. Even before joining Hitler, Schacht had argued that this fea-
ture of the Versailles system all but assured a German backlash; the ques-
tion was not if, but when. Now he was at the heart of such a reaction. 
As he put it to the Leipzig Spring Fair in 1935, “It is an error to speak 
of exact methods and immutable laws in economics. The economist 
must make possible what seems impossible.”158 Schacht was using his 
training and expertise at the ser vice of Hitler’s goals.

Yet a wider continental war was not necessarily the solution to Ger-
many’s shortage of raw materials—or so Schacht argued. He had been 
re orienting German trade not only to supply German industry with 
much- needed raw materials— everything from foodstuff s to compen-
sate for ineffi  cient agriculture to heavy industrial minerals to sustain 
industrial production— but also to exchange German industrial pro-
duce, underwritten by leverage Germany simply lacked in dealing with 
Britain or the United States. The ultimate rationale for this strategy 
was the increase of Germany’s foreign power, which Schacht was know-
ingly funding through unpre ce dented military spending.

If Germany sought to challenge a Versailles system underwritten by 
Britain, France, and— eff ectively if not formally— the United States, it 
could not do so while depending on the United States and Britain for 
key imports and export markets. Throughout Schacht’s career his vi-
sion of empire, as we have seen, was driven by an economic rationale. 
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As we have seen, this student of British mercantilism cared little about 
formal sovereignty. Rather the point of colonies in the post-1929 world 
was to procure raw materials without furthering dependence on trading 
partners via foreign exchange. This would solve the drain on reserves. 
At the very least, import growth would be kept in check. And in so 
doing Germany would create a “virtuous cycle” in foreign policy: pro-
jecting infl uence would further economic advantage, opening more 
markets and conferring it “power status,” that unattainable goal in the 
Weimar years.

At the height of his power Schacht returned to the issue of colonies 
in ways far more tactful than Hugenberg. The central banker had been 
focused on the issue since well before the advent of the Nazis. Throughout 
he remained one of the most vocal advocates of returning Germany to 
its colonial “status”—so vocal that the issue had arguably cost him the 
Reichsbank once before.159 Schacht seems to have had a more active 
role in economic foreign policy than the current historiography ac-
knowledges.160 The archival record suggests he was actively pursuing 
colonial policies from within the Party machine. In early 1935, at the 
zenith of his power, the offi  cial technically responsible for colonial 
policy, Gen. Franz Ritter von Epp, asked none other than the “eco-
nomic dictator” to produce an economic policy paper in support of Ger-
many’s claims to colonies.161 Schacht was more than happy to oblige. 
He penned a four- page paper supporting the view that colonies  were 
the only way for Germany to achieve reliable access to raw materials 
without sacrifi cing its foreign exchange, meaning that these colonies 
would be brought within Germany’s economic sphere, allowing either 
for barter or the circulation of German currency there. Interestingly 
Schacht attached a copy to a personal letter directed to the Führer, pre-
sumably to remind him of the signifi cance of the issue. This is all the 
more surprising because Schacht’s paper attacked the Lebensraum policy 
framework directly, a tenant of Hitler’s Mein Kampf, claiming it would 
be “po liti cally impossible” for Germany to expand to the east and dis-
place the local populations.162 Schacht’s informal or economic imperi-
alism, however, off ered an alternative. The challenge helps delineate 
the sharp po liti cal rift between Schacht’s vision for Germany as a more 
traditional imperial power, a neo- Weltpolitik strategy that would have 
been familiar to Wilhelmine imperialists, and the more radical com-
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bination of autarky, racial ideology, and pseudo- anthropology that was 
to underscore Germany’s Lebensraum and its “drive to the East.”

A Party policy paper published in 1934 further highlights this con-
trast. Simply titled “Colonies” and— importantly— signed by Hitler 
himself, the document was intended to instruct lower level party mem-
bers of the party line on the issue of colonial expansion. Its trumpeting 
of Lebensraum politics could not have been starker: “More important 
than the importation of overseas products [from colonies] is the ability 
to feed the German people in Central Eu rope from their own ground 
and soil [Grund und Boden].”163 In attacking such Party principles, Schacht 
was leading the way in believing, like other pragmatic Nazis and in-
ternational observers, that when the Party’s more dramatic ideological 
overtures clashed with economic feasibility, the latter would prevail. 
Had that not been the outcome before? Eventually Schacht was vindi-
cated.164 On March 28, 1935, the Führer acknowledged receipt of the 
paper with gratitude, while instructing his offi  ce to forward the letter 
to the Ministry of Propaganda, addressed to Secretary Funk, a rising 
character who none other than Schacht had introduced to Hitler.165

The policy battle within Hitler’s Cabinet would go on, but until the 
late summer of 1936 it looked as if Schacht had prevailed— and deci-
sively so. His justifi cations for Germany’s return to colonial status as a 
worthy price to pay for peace in Eu rope found their way into policy 
well beyond his “dual mandate” at the Reichsbank and Economics Min-
istry. In fact they made it as far as the lectern of the ambassador to En-
gland, Joachim von Ribbentrop, who, despite his extreme views in other 
areas of policy, delivered a speech in December 1936 to the Anglo- 
German Fellowship on the issue. Its title succinctly summarizes the 
argument: “A Reasonable Colonial Solution Lies in Everyone’s Interest: 
Germany Does Not Wish to Pursue Full Autarky.” Ribbentrop essen-
tially parroted arguments underwritten by the Schachtian economic 
framework being implemented back home.166 Lebensraum, it follows, was 
not the preordained path of Nazi rule. In fact by the beginning of 1936 
it was neo- Weltpolitik—as pushed and advocated by the “economic 
dictator” above all others— that dictated policy.

Colonies  were not merely about acquiring raw materials without sac-
rifi cing foreign exchange in an age of protectionism. The symbiotic 
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relationship between Germany and less developed countries had to go 
both ways: the developing country would have to generate demand for 
the goods the German economic rebound was producing. Problem-
atically, much of Nazi Germany’s new output was in the form of rear-
mament, a traditionally nonexport sector. As we have seen, the rela-
tive importance of rearmament in economic activity had grown 
signifi cantly since 1933, a policy that Schacht underwrote. So Germa-
ny’s economy was increasingly reliant on an industry that required for-
eign exchange to procure raw materials but failed to return it by ex-
porting fi nal products. It could therefore hardly be self- suffi  cient. The 
result was a progressive deterioration in Germany’s overall terms of 
trade, indeed one that made the country’s trade position unsustainable 
in the long term. In short, rearmament delivered jobs, but it could not 
deliver long- term stabilization without exports. Could it then force an 
eventual reordering of priorities?

Granted, it was Schacht who approved and funded Hitler’s fi rst re-
armament plan, yet these plans had been revised upward repeatedly 
since. Other Eu ro pean governments had also moved to achieve full em-
ployment by similar means, providing further justifi cations for more 
armaments expenditure. By 1935 the 4.3 billion Reichsmark alloca-
tion that Schacht had agreed to fi nance only a year before had already 
been exceeded by at least 20 percent.167 Escalation was to continue. Per-
haps the most striking case is that of aircraft production. In the words 
of one Luftwaff e historian, the industry was “a child of the Nazis.”168 
Technically Hermann Göring but more realistically bureaucratic mas-
termind Secretary Erhard Milch oversaw what can only be described 
as an explosion of German plane production: while the sector repre-
sented 0.2 percent of domestic GDP in 1933, it had risen to 1.6 per-
cent by 1936.169 It had grown by a factor of 8.

Around the time when Hitler decided to intervene in the Spanish 
Civil War, Germany’s aircraft industry overtook automobiles in terms 
of total labor input. It employed 124,878 workers, a fi gure that  rose 
rapidly from quarter to quarter.170 It was almost entirely state- supported. 
In fact at times the Air Ministry took charge directly: Milch did not 
hesitate to remove Hugo Junkers from the direction of his eponymous 
company when they disagreed.171 Around this time Willy Messerschmitt 
designed the impressive but costly Messerschmitt Bf 109 fi ghter. Even 
though he was also on bad terms with Milch, the design was so good 
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that it won the ministry’s prize in 1936; so infatuated was the Führer 
that he immediately ordered it into mass production.172 So when Hitler 
announced a “new” Luftwaff e in 1936, over eight hundred new war-
planes  were already on active duty, a fi gure far beyond anything even 
the most war- mongering nationalist could have dreamed of before 1933.

By mid-1936 and in spite of Schacht’s careful balancing, it was clear 
that such feverish rearmament could not be sustained forever, lest it com-
pletely destroy the careful economic rebalancing. To be sure, German 
industry was not facing an imminent growth crisis: every branch of 
the Wehrmacht could be relied upon for ever- increasing expansion. But 
the strain on both the government books and the Reichsbank’s for-
eign exchange reserves was severe. Something had to give. Weaponry 
could do little to strengthen the country’s export position within what 
remained of the international trade system. A Germany openly ex-
porting weapons to its few allies was not practicable. Thus Schacht was 
stuck with a structural net importer as the economy’s prime growth 
sector; before long he would need to reconcile the regime’s per sis tence 
of rearmament with the realities of economic management. The pro-
duce of Hitler’s Sparta would have to pay for itself.

All in all, economic policy in the fi rst years of Nazism was built on a 
cyclical rebound that predated the regime and went on to achieve full 
employment. Yet the recovery remained heavily dependent on arma-
ments at the expense of consumer sectors, including some traditional 
pillars of the German economy. Both internally, through authoritarian 
control, and externally, under the Neue Plan and the import- oversight 
system, the German economy was becoming increasingly state- sponsored 
and state- directed. Hjalmar Schacht was at the core of this pro cess; 
indeed, as of 1934, and in terms of all monetary policy, trade strategy, 
and microeconomic management, Schacht was the main architect of the 
economic transformation of Germany.

Once in a position of strength, Schacht believed, a formidable Ger-
many could capitalize on trade on its own terms. For their part Ger-
many’s competitors did not off er a united front against Schacht’s second 
coming, thereby allowing his policies unpre ce dented success. Germany’s 
new economic policy broke decidedly with the Atlanticist strategy of the 
Weimar era, seeking to return to a neo-Weltpolitik strategy. Schacht was 
certainly not the only neomercantilist in power in the Great Depression, 
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yet it is hard to argue that he was not the most eff ective. His Germany 
was able to get away with such policies in the context of a lack of in-
ternational coordination and cooperation. Of course causality could be 
argued the other way around, as he himself would later do: it was the 
international context that “forced” these policies onto Germany. Yet 
Schacht’s second coming did not change the nature of his policies; 
their authoritarian direction and the projection of foreign economic 
power fi t the banker’s intellectual upbringing, work experience, long- 
term policy advocacy, and increasingly nationalistic tone.

In a way Schacht deserved his “wizard” (Zauberer) nickname: he had 
managed the alchemy of domestic industrial recovery, export promo-
tion, import controls, and the continued avoidance of devaluation—to 
the benefi t of Germany’s dictator, an eco nom ically illiterate man with 
whom he found unpre ce dented favor. What is more, the trade deals 
Schacht brokered allowed Germany to acquire raw materials without 
sacrifi cing the little foreign exchange it had available. This found a way 
out of the 1934 crisis that had almost literally claimed the life of his 
pre de ces sor. Schacht’s pragmatism therefore allowed the Reichsbank 
to survive with radically fewer reserves than had been possible before. 
Perhaps the historiographic focus on the latter years of the Nazi economy 
as well as Schacht’s defense at Nuremberg has helped obscure the cen-
trality of Schachtian power. But if nothing  else, Germany four years 
on from Hitler’s accession to power was a radically diff erent nation— and 
eco nom ically much of this had to do with the Führer’s “economic 
dictator.”

A few months after the remilitarization of the Ruhr and with ap-
peasement on the rise in London and Paris, Hitler’s increasingly self- 
assured regime embarked on its fi rst foreign military adventure. Within 
months it would morph from a small- scope military project into a fully 
fl edged colonial endeavor. Within the Schachtian economic system, it 
was crucial for Germany to fi nd trading partners with abundant raw 
materials and in relative economic backwardness to complement a do-
mestic economy running close to capacity but perennially short of 
inputs. Such partners would ideally be in need of the type of output 
Germany was so bent on producing at a time when the Nazi regime 
was not putting them to use. Sheer need could then allow for the fun-
damental goal of informal empire: allowing Germany to dictate the 
terms of its economic relationships. Where could that be achieved in 
mid-1936?
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chapt e r  f ive

DAWN OF INTERVENTION

Colonies are necessary to Germany. We shall get them through 
negotiation, if possible; but if not, we shall take them.

— Hjalmar Schacht, U.S. Embassy in Berlin, September 23, 1935

y most mea sures Hitler’s supper on July 7, 1942, was nothing special. 
It was served late, and the menu was characteristically spartan. The 
Führer enjoyed his afternoon sweet cakes but reserved scant 

military rations for supper, a display of humility that usually went 
unnoticed by the more pompous Party leadership.1 His guests went 
along; being invited to share the table with the most powerful man in 
Eu rope was a rare honor, even if not all in the Nazi establishment 
enjoyed the exercise in sycophancy it usually involved.2 The guest list 
that eve ning featured military heavyweights: the head of the Supreme 
Command of the Armed Forces, Wilhelm Keitel; his aristocratic 
deputy, Alfred Jodl; the head of military intelligence (Abwehr), Wil-
helm Canaris; and Ambassador Walther Hewel.3 It was a predictable 
lineup; Nazi Germany was then trying to defend the continental 
hegemony that Blitzkrieg had delivered. Perhaps victory did not yet 
seem unattainable to those who shared Hitler’s table, but the balance 
of forces was already unequivocal: Germany was pitted against Britain 
and its empire, Soviet Rus sia, and, ever since Pearl Harbor, the United 
States.4

Most crucially, the Eastern Front had turned. Unsurprisingly this was 
the preeminent topic of discussion in those days, the greatest vulnera-
bility of Hitler’s new po liti cal construct: Großdeutschland— Greater 

B



136 HI T LER’S SH A DOW EMPIR E 

Germany. Across a front that spanned hundreds of miles, the previous 
few weeks had been dismal for Nazi Germany. Field Marshall Wilhelm 
List failed to make progress against a larger, better- equipped Red Army. 
An enraged Hitler had since begun exercising his “leader prerogative” 
(Führerprinzip), which eff ectively meant personally calling even the 
smallest tactical shots of the eastern campaign.5 This caused consterna-
tion among Wehrmacht men like Keitel and Jodl; yet it was but the latest 
step in a decade- long pro cess of concentration of power that ultimately 
engulfed the military establishment that had once encouraged it.6

That eve ning Hitler’s mind drifted from the East. Before dinner he 
had delivered a long diatribe about archaeology and deforestation.7 
Like most of Hitler’s repetitive tirades, it would not have surprised a close 
reader of Mein Kampf.8 Though at the time he was responsible for the 
most vicious exercise in empire building since Genghis Khan— including 
a genocide perpetrated on an industrial scale— Hitler was bent on 
discussing the “cultural degeneration” that “start[ing] to cut down trees 
without provisions for reforestation” led to.9 He also decried the exca-
vations going on all around Germany in search of pre- Christian Aryan 
symbols— a pet project of racialist ideologues like Walther Darré and 
SS supremo Heinrich Himmler. For his part, Hitler could not “help 
remembering that, while our [German] ancestors  were making these 
vessels of stone and clay, over which our archeologists rave, the Greeks 
had already built the Acropolis.”10

Hitler then steered conversation toward Spain. A former ambassador 
to Franco’s Spain, Hewel, dwelled on how horribly poor Spain remained 
three years after the Civil War ended. He cited Franco’s soldiers without 
guns or rank badges. Keitel continued in the same vein: he hypothe-
sized that Hitler’s honor guard during his meeting with Franco in Hen-
daye had been equipped with weapons so rusty they could have served 
only for show.11 The entourage knew how to please their host. It was 
common knowledge in the Nazi hierarchy that Hitler had never for-
given Franco for failing to involve Spain militarily in the war, back 
when it seemed all but won.12

While others mocked Spain, Canaris remained silent. He could re-
member better times.13 He was the only dinner guest who (allegedly) 
had also been present on another eve ning devoted to Iberian aff airs, 
July 25, 1936, when, at Bayreuth and in the aftermath of a stirring Sieg-
fried, Hitler decided to intervene in the Spanish Civil War.14 The deci-
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sions of that momentous day all but determined the fate of the Spanish 
Republic; six years hence, in the throes of the world war, only disap-
pointment remained. “Franco and company can consider themselves 
very lucky to have received the help of Fascist Italy and Germany in 
their fi rst civil war,” Hitler reasoned. “For, as the Red [Republicans] 
Spaniards never cease explaining, they had not entered into coopera-
tion with the Soviets on ideological grounds, but had rather been forced 
into it . . .  simply through lack of other support.”15 It was an astute ob-
servation that fi ts the evidence.16 His central point was about some-
thing  else.17 “One thing is quite certain,” he continued, “people speak 
of an intervention from Heaven which decided the civil war in favor 
of Franco. Perhaps so— but it was not an intervention on the part of 
the madam- styled Mother of God . . .  , but the intervention of [Legion 
Condor chief of staff ] General von Richthofen and the bombs his squad-
rons rained from the heavens that decided the issue.”18

Blasphemy aside, who could disagree with the Führer? Though never 
in steady fl ows, men and supplies from Nazi Germany arrived at key 
times during Spain’s war, fi rst to prevent an early Nationalist collapse 
and then to drive them to victory. German intervention facilitated the 
transport of Franco’s men in Morocco, including the Foreign Legion 
and the Army of Africa, in late July and early August 1936, and the 
key 1937 off ensive against the Basques, whose eff ects on Guernica  were 
immortalized by Picasso, and ensured the success of the fi nal onslaught 
against Catalonia in early 1939. All in all, between ten thousand and 
fi fteen thousand men sported Nazi swastikas on Iberian soil.19 Even more 
signifi cant was the supply of war matériel: around 150 state- of- the- art 
Messerschmitt 109s fi ghters, 63 Junkers Ju52 bombers, 125 Heinkel 
He51s, and 93 Heinkel He111s entered into combat in the skies over 
Spain, along with two hundred tanks and over a thousand artillery 
pieces, most crucially the celebrated 88mm anti- aerial gun. To anyone 
acquainted with World War II fi gures that count planes in the thou-
sands and soldiers—as well as casualties—in the millions, these num-
bers may seem modest.20 Yet to illustrate their importance in the Spanish 
theater of war, suffi  ce to remember that when civil war broke out, there 
 were around four hundred working airplanes in the  whole country, most 
over a de cade old and only a handful fi t for military purposes. Spain 
was ill- prepared for any war, least of all one with itself.21
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In the context of such backwardness, Nazi supplies of weapons and 
men, combined with the more numerous but usually less eff ective Italian 
supplies,  were decisive to the outcome of the Spanish Civil War. 
Perhaps more important for our purposes, those amounts of weapons 
 were also sizable for the Third Reich to provide to an essentially broke 
Franco at a time when the German economy remained far from its 
pre- Depression trend output.22 Seventy years of historiography support 
the view that these supplies  were decisive. Yet a more essential question 
emerges: What was Nazi Germany’s motivation to deliver Franco’s vic-
tory “from the heavens”?

Answering that question requires bringing together the two hith-
erto distinct narratives of this study: Spain’s path to civil war and Nazi 
Germany’s road to recovery under the stewardship of Germany’s “eco-
nomic dictator.” Now that we are better acquainted with the economic 
and po liti cal situation in Germany in mid-1936, let us go back to the 
genesis of Nazi intervention. Franco’s two emissaries to Hitler, Adolf 
Langenheim and Johannes Bernhardt,  were fortunate. Though the 
Wagner festival at Bayreuth was always a highlight in Hitler’s calendar, 
1936 was special: it was not only the festival’s sixtieth anniversary but 
also the fi ftieth anniversary of King Ludwig II’s death. To mark the 
occasion Hitler personally funded a new production of Lohengrin, an 
opera in which Wagner has Heinrich utter, “Now it is time, to defend 
the honor of the Reich.” It was after Sieg fried, however, that Hitler met 
Franco’s emissaries.

Although there is still debate about who said what, it is possible to 
reconstruct not only Hitler’s ultimate decision but also much of what 
was discussed.23 If he was indeed there, Canaris knew Spain better than 
anyone in the room, Franco’s emissaries included.24 Perhaps there was 
another admiral present, but Canaris’s inclusion would have made sense. 
Some sources suggest someone mentioned the possibility of bases in 
the Mediterranean, an idea Canaris devised during his many trips to 
Spain.25 We know it was a key Italian goal and British concern, both 
in the Cabinet and the Royal Navy, throughout the confl ict.26 Göring 
would later testify at Nuremberg, “[I] urged [Hitler] to give support 
under all circumstances: fi rstly, to prevent the further spread of com-
munism; secondly, to test my young Luftwaff e.”27 This statement would 
dominate the historiography of intervention for de cades. Yet other 
sources suggest that Göring was cautious at fi rst.28 Göring’s chief pre-
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occupation at Nuremberg was to preserve his self- aggrandizement for 
posterity. Beyond that the “anti- Communist” key in Nazi foreign policy 
was not fully developed in July 1936; it would grow in the coming 
months as the Axis with Mussolini strengthened. Others have argued 
that the move was a “logical” extension of Hitler’s “quest for Leben-
sraum,” but such a view is problematic inasmuch as Spain was not only 
not part of the ideological construct, but also, as we have seen, foreign 
policy seemed tilted toward Weltpolitik over Lebensraum objectives.29

War Minister von Blomberg seems to have agreed with Foreign Min-
ister von Neurath’s careful approach, a stance immortalized by the Wil-
helmstraße memoranda Hitler chose to ignore.30 The German lega-
tion in Madrid had sent a confi dential report earlier that day predicting 
the rebellion would fail within days, if not hours.31 It also argued that 
a Republican victory would all but assure an alliance with Rus sia, as 
well as further strengthening Prime Minister Blum of France.32 This 
dispatch’s conclusion is very likely to have reached Hitler, who had been 
briefed on the situation. Von Neurath’s course of action was charac-
teristic of his conservative bent and would have produced a foreign 
policy reaction similar to Britain’s. Finally, given the speed with which 
matters surrounding economic exchange developed in the following 
hours, one could infer that someone, most likely Bernhardt, mentioned 
potential compensation for the matériel Franco had requested.33 We 
do know that in spite of his business failures in the previous de cade, 
Bernhardt was well acquainted with the import- export business. Ul-
timately a decision was made: “Support for the Generalissimo was agreed 
on in principle.”34 Thus began the Third Reich’s fi rst foreign military 
adventure.35

Wagner’s grandiosity permeated Hitler’s generosity: he provided 
Franco with more supplies than he had originally requested, including 
around twenty Junkers Ju52 transporters, six Heinkel He51S fi ghters, 
and artillery. This turned out to be the only initial shipment. In a move 
that almost drove the Spanish coup’s main architect, Director Mola, 
to suicide, Hitler also decided German supplies would be sent to 
Franco, and no other leader. At best this ignored the military junta cre-
ated under the leadership of Gen. Miguel Cabanellas hours earlier; Mola 
was part of it, but Franco was not.36 It hardly mattered— and it is safe 
to assume Bernhardt and Langenheim had some sort of impact on this 
choice.
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Hitler therefore immediately and irrevocably altered the internal 
dynamics of Nationalist leadership against the likes of Mola, Cabanellas, 
and Gonzalo Queipo de Llano, the eccentric rebel commander of Se-
ville.37 Ju52s  were to be found airlifting Nationalist troops from Mo-
rocco as early as July 29. These  were nothing short of crucial for 
Franco to overcome a Republican naval blockade weakened by internal 
rifts.38

Erhard Milch noted in a diary entry on July 26 that a special unit, 
code- named “W,” had been created within the Luftwaff e to oversee 
the dispatch of war matériel and “volunteers” to Spain.39 It is worth 
noting that Germans fi ghting in Spain would receive payment from 
the German government, never directly from Franco. In contrast, Franco 
would pay most of Italian soldiers’ wages. Yet this was not just a state 
aff air: upon returning to Morocco, Bernhardt set up a private com-
pany in Tetuán on July 31. The Compañía Hispano- Marroquí de Trans-
portes (HISMA), approved by the local consul, was to be owned by 
Bernhardt and a former navy commander, Fernando Carranza, on 
Franco’s behalf.40 Ipso facto, Bernhardt would be in control as the 
preeminent Nazi representative for the duration of the Civil War. The 
humble company with scant starting capital would soon seek to mo-
nopolize transfers from Spain to Germany.41 A few months later a com-
plementary company was registered in Berlin, the Raw Material and 
Goods Buying Company (Rohstoff e- und- Waren- Einkaufsgesellschaft, 
ROWAK); its goal was to purchase from German private fi rms and ex-
port into Spain through HISMA. The lack of formal complaints from 
the Nazi economic hierarchy— which at the time responded to Schacht—
at the very least suggests the setup was contemplated and likely agreed 
to in Bayreuth.

This system would quickly evolve into an eff ective dual monopoly 
on both sides of the trading relationship. It was a type of or ga ni za tion 
that fully fi t the idea of privileged national champions expanding 
German economic infl uence abroad. Within the state- overseen struc-
ture of Schachtian industrial activity, ROWAK acted as a conglom-
erate of individual producers who, under bureaucratic control, colluded 
to export to Franco’s Spain.42 This was precisely the same structure in-
troduced by Schmitt but radically reor ga nized by Schacht since his take-
over of the Economics Ministry in 1934. An October 1936 memo-
randum by the head of the German Foreign Ministry Economic Policy 
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Department explained the system neatly: “Both companies have a mo-
nopoly of purchases and sales. If, for example, a German exporter wishes 
to deliver to Spain, he has to sell to ROWAK, which then resells to 
HISMA. [Von Krosigk’s] Finance Ministry has extended ROWAK a 
credit of 3M Reichsmarks to start off . HISMA is said to have obtained 
Spanish credits.” 43 Credit creation, along with special terms of trade 
and hefty commissions, followed suit. Though meager, those initial 
loans kicked off  a new, radically diff erent bilateral relationship between 
Germany and Spain than had previously existed.44

Hitler— and the world— learned about Mussolini’s support for Franco 
through media reports detailing the destiny of crashed Savoia planes 
on the way to Morocco.45 On July 30 the Führer dispatched Admiral 
Canaris to Rome to discuss Iberian intervention; this further suggests 
Canaris’s close involvement in the project.46 Hitler wanted coordina-
tion with Rome; this would be the fi rst of many trips by Canaris in 
another growing bilateral relationship. Although Mussolini would soon 
be speaking about a “Rome- Berlin Axis”— forged in blood on Iberian 
soil— a closer relationship with Fascist Italy was not a Hitlerian pri-
ority when opting for intervention.47 Indeed causation must be reversed: 
the Spanish adventure brought the fascist dictators closer together, after 
an initial rapprochement a year earlier over Mussolini’s Ethiopian 
conquests. And in any event the Führer’s strategy was subtler than il 
Duce’s: there  were elements of rising anti- Communism, reactionary 
solidarity, and purely strategic considerations.

On the last day of July eighty- fi ve Wehrmacht men under Maj. Al-
exander von Scheele departed from a port in Hamburg aboard the Us-
aramo, headed to Spain. Time was of the essence.48 Along with them 
went sixteen planes, anti- air defenses, and ammunition. They would 
be followed by at least three more shipments in the next three weeks, 
which avoided the naval blockade by docking in Portugal. After all, the 
Oliveira de Salazar regime in Lisbon eagerly supported the rebellion.49 
Their goal was the fi rst major airlift in military history, one intended 
to prevent the collapse of the Nationalist war eff ort.50 At fi rst the 
Germans  were not allowed to fl y combat missions and would not let 
Spaniards ser vice their equipment.51 In keeping with the operatic tones 
of his post- Wagner decision to intervene, Hitler baptized the operation 
Feuerzauber (Fire Magic) after the third act of Die Walküre. At least the 
Führer’s themes  were consistent.
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In the context of Schacht’s economic model, intervention in the 
Spanish Civil War soon became a project driven by economic consid-
erations. Less than two weeks into the Spanish Civil War and while 
the democracies’ foreign offi  ces struggled under French leadership to 
agree on a framework for nonintervention, an or ga ni za tion favoring 
state- sponsored companies was put in place to oversee Ibero- German 
trade. It was a Party venture, run through the Auslandorganisation.52 
This development would soon create frictions between the Party 
apparatus—to which Bernhard belonged— and Schacht’s ministry. Those 
would be quickly overcome. More importantly, HISMA’s registration 
is evidence that only a few days following Hitler’s decision, there 
was a plan for compensation for fascist solidarity—in a way that took 
advantage of neo-Weltpolitik foreign expansion ideas.

For the time being shipments went in only one direction, from Ger-
many to Spain, and there was little to no discussion about payment.53 
How could the Nationalists ever pay? They had no foreign exchange 
and no bullion whatsoever, not to mention an initial strategic disad-
vantage that only recently—in good part thanks to German support— 
they had begun to reverse.54 On the Francoist side, dependence on 
German supplies was fully acknowledged. On August 19 the com-
mander in Seville, Queipo de Llano, imposed the summary death pen-
alty for smuggling or fraud, “including of course the export of cap-
ital.”55 The generals wanted to keep capital within Spain in order to 
avoid further peseta devaluation in international markets.56 Soon there-
after the fi rst Nationalist governing body, the Burgos Junta, extended 
Queipo de Llano’s decree to all their territories. It also began confi s-
cating private funds and bullion for the war eff ort; authoritarian Na-
tionalist management would be surprisingly eff ective in the fi rst two 
years of the war.57

More important, on August 27, in what a leading Iberian historian 
already saw as a product of early German pressures, the junta passed 
another decree, allowing Nationalist generals to seize minerals, indus-
trial production, and foreign exchange for “the cause.”58 Unsurpris-
ingly the mea sure targeted the production of raw materials from foreign- 
owned companies such as Rio Tinto, the large British- owned mining 
conglomerate, then squarely in Republican territory. Early in the Civil 
War Nationalist Spain therefore established an authoritarian control over 
its war economy that could be used to ensure the supply of matériel 
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from abroad.59 Beyond some affl  uent patrons like Juan March, there 
 were not many other sources of wealth to tap.60 But quite important 
for our purposes, as early as August 27, 1936, the Nationalists envi-
sioned using Spain’s natural wealth to sustain their war.61

While the generals focused on or ga ni za tion and the airlift, Spain’s 
legitimate government was in disarray. Though the coup itself had failed, 
Azaña’s Republic descended into internal chaos. Madrid was every-
where under pressure: regions like Catalonia nurtured unfulfi lled de-
sires of in de pen dence, while the revolutionary aspirations of anarchists 
and Communists hardly helped. Largo Caballero— still outside the 
government— toyed with supporting a full-on revolution.62 Madrid’s 
lack of control over the territory helped erode its initial advantage. 
Meanwhile left- leaning newspapers sought responsible parties for the 
“fascistic revolt”; on the fateful July 25 Barcelona’s El Socialista even 
claimed, “All epitaphs should read: Here lies a victim of March’s 
millions.” 63 As it turns out, they  were not all that far off .64

As we have seen, the short- lived Giral Cabinet attempted to 
purchase weapons abroad, repeatedly and in every way they could. 
Successive Republican administrations did so as well, including Largo 
Caballero’s when he acceded to becoming premier of an “all Pop u lar 
Front” government in October.65 It is indicative of their isolation and 
desperation that they even sought to purchase weapons from Nazi Ger-
many. The Republic asked the representative of the German airplane 
industry in Madrid to purchase “pursuit planes and bombers that are 
not too heavy.” 66 The German diplomatic service—at last catching up 
with Hitler’s interventionist mood— decided to delay and ultimately 
reject the proposal.67 The Republic would then be forced to support 
its war eff ort by a gigantic smuggling operation, or ga nized in Paris by 
de los Ríos. To have a jurist in charge of weapons procurement was a 
bit like the Hellenist in charge of the economics portfolio in the fi rst 
Republican administration. Ultimately Madrid became dependent on 
Rus sia for war matériel, falling prey to Stalin’s strategic interest— which, 
to say the least, was not aligned with the Republic’s.68

Admiral Raeder of the Kriegsmarine tried and failed to persuade 
Hitler that the rebellion was doomed.69 It did not matter that Raeder 
was the highest ranked navy offi  cer since the legendary von Tirpitz; re-
sis tance to Hitler’s Bayreuth decision was useless. At least the careful von 
Neurath managed to talk Hitler into adhering to the Non- Intervention 
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Committee (NIC) the French had been lobbying for before announcing 
a compulsory two- year military ser vice in the Reich, an obviously 
militaristic mea sure bound to further strain relations with Paris and 
London in the aftermath of the Ruhr remilitarization.70 According to 
some sources, on August 24 Hitler expanded his support for Franco 
beyond the airlift “as much as possible,” stopping short of allowing 
Germans to engage in combat; it was likely a reaction to rumors 
pointing to increased Soviet involvement.71

By then Franco’s men  were making such good use of their state- of- 
the- art German war matériel that on August 27 the German chargé 
d’aff aires in Madrid, Hans Voelckers, sent a tele gram relating that on 
the previous morning aircraft had conducted an “aerial attack on Ma-
drid and dropped bombs on the airports.” Fully aware of their origin, 
Voelckers added a plea: “Please arrange that at least as long as Lufthansa 
[air] traffi  c is maintained no Junkers planes raid Madrid.”72 At the Wil-
helmstraße Dieckhoff  received the tele gram alongside one from Lisbon, 
which proposed a logistical route involving Holland and Portugal so 
that the next batch of war matériel avoided all jurisdictions abiding by 
the NIC.73 In hindsight the agent worried too much; Realpolitik, bu-
reaucracy, and endless posturing would mire the eff ectiveness of the 
NIC for the next three years, not that it really mattered given British 
lack of interest.74 While Eu rope drifted to world war, nonintervention 
would become the façade for the democracies’ unwillingness to act 
against blatant breaches of international law.75 In any event, through 
the work of Franco’s brother Nicolás and others, Salazar’s dictatorship 
in Lisbon was providing safe conduit for seaborne German men and 
supplies.76 For all practical purposes, they  were disguised as Portugal- 
bound. By the time the fl ow decreased under eventual British pres-
sure, the Republican blockade of southern Spain was no longer eff ec-
tive. A direct maritime route for shipments had opened, soon to be 
patrolled by Italian vessels.77

By early September the airlift mission had been accomplished. But 
German men and planes remained in Spain; they now helped Franco 
consolidate in the South and plan a march on Madrid.78 Italian “vol-
unteers” and supplies also continued to pour in. The nature of the 
German intervention, however, began to change. This coincided with 
a visit from a representative of the Export Cartel for War Matériel, Eb-
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erhard Messerschmidt, who toured Nationalist Spain. The Export Cartel 
was one of the “civil” organizations now subordinated to Schacht’s min-
istry that also worked closely with the Reichsbank, then in absolute 
control of German trade. Messerschmidt also visited Lisbon, where 
Nicolás Franco, under the pseudonym Fernandes Aguilar, worked to 
procure weaponry.79 Messerschmidt’s report upon completing his trip 
began by expressing delight with the per for mance of German aircraft.80 
Technically superior to anything the Republic had been able to pro-
cure up until that point, the Junkers and Heinkels that worried Voelckers 
in Madrid dominated the Iberian skies. The opening read like Göring’s 
testimony at Nuremberg.81 Yet the thrust of the report was devoted to 
HISMA and Bernhardt. First it relayed complaints from the German 
military commander, von Scheele, over issues of military communica-
tion between German troops and Franco. Apparently the Generalísimo 
believed that Scheele was merely “an employee of Herr Bernhardt,” 
a statement suggestive of both Bernhardt’s likely “mandate” at the 
Bayreuth meeting as well as his own self- aggrandizement.82 More cru-
cially Messerschmidt noted the lack of adequate compensation for 
German supplies: “It should not be overlooked that we must demand 
some value in return for our gifts. [A German representative] . . .  
 induced Franco, over Bernhardt’s opposition, to make deliveries of copper 
to us to begin with.” Beyond any mirage of fascist solidarity, German 
long- term economic interest was very much present: “[Germans] must 
look ahead to our future interests, and I believe that now, while Franco 
is under certain pressure, is the moment for getting pledges from him 
with respect to our future economic and perhaps po liti cal infl uence.”83 
It was a novel suggestion, one taken directly from the neo- Weltpolitik 
book. The initial focus may have been copper, but what matters more 
is that the representative of the Export Cartel was thinking along 
Schachtian lines: German intervention could be leveraged to its trading 
advantage, bringing Spain into Germany’s trade sphere.

Perhaps better than any other German on Iberian soil, Messerschmidt 
sensed that the cost of intervention was rising. Once German involve-
ment had outgrown the fi rst batch of planes for airlift and morphed 
into a heavier, sustained operation involving regular bomber sorties and 
ground support, it became clear that German resources otherwise de-
voted to the domestic “defense” arsenal  were now to be diverted to 
Spain. As we have seen, rearmament had been at the core of Germany’s 
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economic recovery. Despite a spectacular growth impact of weapons 
production underwritten by Schacht’s Reichsbank, from a strictly eco-
nomic perspective the new arsenals amounted to “fi nal products.” They 
 were also hard to trade. “Gifting” them to Spain was an expensive ex-
ercise in solidarity. There was another way, and a particularly fi tting 
one given the structural shortages in the German economy that the 
Schachtian trade system worked to counterbalance. Messerschmidt’s re-
port ended on a suggestive note: “Now would be the moment to as-
sure ourselves [of ] a basic [trade] treaty . . .  which would lay down for 
a number of years to come what raw materials Spain is to deliver to us 
and to what extent Spain must buy manufactured goods from us.” The 
point was clear enough: the dislocations of the Civil War could allow 
for a degree of economic penetration not otherwise achievable for 
resource- constrained Germany in Spain. Existing Neue Plan trade 
structures could deliver it. There was one caveat: the system would work 
“provided that Herr Bernhardt is now prepared to give up his role of 
Santa Claus.”84

Such terminology did not go unnoticed in Berlin. In handwriting 
on a carbon copy of Messerschmidt’s report, Gen. Helmuth von Wil-
berg noted, “Who allowed M[esserschmidt] to go to Spain in the fi rst 
place? I did not want him there.”85 Yet as of September 1936, an im-
portant representative of Schacht’s cartelized economy was arguing for 
a pragmatic use of Franco’s utter de pen dency on Nazi support. In his 
view the domestic economic interest far transcended ideology. Despite 
von Wilberg’s opposition, the policymaking apparatus in Berlin would 
soon be devoted to implementing, almost word for word, what he had 
suggested. Men like Messerschmidt argued that an arrangement was 
needed in order to deal with the considerable amounts of supplies being 
shipped to Spain, in order to make sure that the expanded interven-
tion would no longer be a one- sided aff air. Indeed, after a meeting in 
Berlin, Bernhardt did stop behaving like Santa Claus. Going forward 
his or ga ni za tion would act as the main vehicle for German pressures 
that soon began resembling a decidedly imperial relationship.

Franco’s Nationalists utterly depended on German war matériel. 
Upon Göring’s request, Deputy Führer Rudolf Heß promised to put 
the “entire Auslandorganisation” to the ser vice of the cause. A major with 
Auslandorganisation links, Eberhard von Jagwitz, would perform so 
well in this capacity as managing director of ROWAK that he would 
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later be promoted to undersecretary at the Ministry of Economics.86 
At the outset his operation faced two key logistical problems: fi rst, sup-
plies needed to get to Spain; second, he required foreign exchange from 
Schacht’s ministry to be allocated for the operation. A fl eet— mainly 
out of Hamburg— resolved the former, while a formal agreement with 
Schacht’s bureaucracy addressed the latter. HISMA- ROWAK gained 
another seal of approval: as part of an internal agreement, the Economics 
Ministry refrained from sending a representative to Spain directly. This 
eff ectively allowed the privileged companies to operate in de pen dently 
and, eff ectively, in full repre sen ta tion of the state apparatus. Hence we 
can consider HISMA- ROWAK a “state- sponsored private duopoly,” 
if only with stronger or gan i za tional ties to the Party than Schacht’s tra-
ditional bureaucracy.87 Shortly I will look into the concurrent power 
battles in Berlin at the time; the main point  here is that the pressures 
 were being exerted through privileged state- sponsored monopolies fi t-
ting the foreign economic policy of Nazi Germany as engineered by 
Schacht. The system was subsequently expanded from its original role 
to achieve a straightforward goal: obtain tangible economic penetra-
tion in Spain in areas that benefi ted eco nom ically constrained Germany. 
Canaris devoted much eff ort in reassuring Italy that the Germans sought 
no po liti cal advantage.88 Economics  were another matter.

At this relatively early juncture, no diplomatic or military aspect of 
intervention inhibited the economic structures being set up on both 
ends of the Ibero- German exchange. A member of the Sonderstab W 
division, Lt. Col. Walter Warlimont, pleased the Führer with his idea 
to unify all German troops in Spain into one division so as to avoid 
operational interference from Iberian commanders. It was one thing 
to deliver “victory from the heavens” for Franco’s men, but quite 
another was to have Wehrmacht soldiers bossed around by Spanish com-
manders, whom, as a general rule, Germans did not respect. To be fair, 
Warlimont was a man of the Wehrmacht obsessed with power central-
ization and, eventually, Hitler’s “Führerprinzip.” After his September 
trip Warlimont recommended divorcing military leadership from re-
sponsibility for repayment and German economic penetration.89 In the 
military fi eld this led to the birth of the Condor Legion, which brought 
all German forces in Spain under a single command.90 Led by generals 
Wolfram Freiherr von Richthofen and Hugo Sperrle, the Legion swiftly 
became an or gan i za tional and military success for the Nazis; it has since 
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become inextricably associated with the bombing of Guernica, exe-
cuted by the Legion with Italian aerial support.91

To Nazis in Spain, including Bernhardt’s growing staff , their dual 
monopoly system had the potential to maximize the profi ts Germany 
could obtain from an utterly dependent Spain. In both German and 
Spanish archives some documents refer to the HISMA- ROWAK system 
as “temporary.”92 Yet it did not feel so on the ground. The focus of 
intervention had begun to change from a strictly military adventure 
to an operation where serious thought was devoted to compensation 
and integration into the growing German trade sphere.93 Not everyone 
agreed with the means. Indeed some Economics Ministry staff  resented 
the type of or gan i za tional in de pen dence HISMA achieved de facto 
under the stewardship of the Nazi Party and, more specifi cally, Göring’s 
men. “The Economics Ministry would have preferred it if its own plans 
had been realized,” wrote an offi  cer in October. “After having been 
confronted with an accomplished fact [the creation of HISMA- 
ROWAK], however, it will await further developments.”94 It may not 
have been their fi rst choice, but the ministry went with the system.

A key point, hitherto lost to the historiography focused squarely on 
developments in Spain without regard for German economic policy 
more broadly conceived, is that, regardless of who was ultimately in 
control, the HISMA- ROWAK system depended on Schachtian eco-
nomic structures applied to the foreign sphere. First and foremost all 
economic exchanges  were subject to governmental supervision through 
the close association between the state- sponsored “private” companies 
and the government. Moreover it eff ectively created a market for German 
industrial products, particularly but not exclusively war matériel, to be 
delivered in exchange for minerals, raw materials, and foodstuff s Ger-
many so desperately needed to maintain its industry. This came at the 
par tic u lar juncture when it could be argued that the Nazi recovery was 
complete; the main worry in the Nazi economic elite— one that surely 
did not include fi nancially illiterate Göring— was to avoid economic 
overheating and a rekindling of infl ationary pressures.

Germany’s challenge by late 1936 was that too much government 
investment had dampened individual demand while devoting indus-
trial production to fi nal goods (armaments) that spurred no further 
growth or activity. Spain was a key exception; hence the potential of 
economic penetration. The expansion of German infl uence in a rela-
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tively underdeveloped but resource- rich nation such as Spain could be 
achieved without sacrifi cing foreign exchange, just as in the Balkans. 
Last, but defi nitely not least, in Spain there would never be eff ective 
Spanish opposition to the “overvalued” Reichsmark and terms of trade.95 
The Spaniards did complain, as Abendroth and García Pérez have shown, 
about the generous commissions charged by HISMA. But little came 
of it.96 The Nationalists simply lacked leverage in the exchange— and 
the Germans increasingly played their cards in full knowledge of such 
dependence. This was not a relationship of equals.

As early as the fi rst days of September 1936, a Rio Tinto shipment 
of over two thousand tons of precipitate was redirected from London 
to Hamburg with the approval of the Nationalist leadership, the only 
caveat being that the receiving company neither requested it nor had 
the ability to pro cess it.97 This created some procedural complications 
in Hamburg, but the fact remained that Germany now had a new av-
enue for receiving much- needed foreign raw materials. And it did not 
require foreign exchange. It surely pleased Schacht’s Reichsbank, crit-
ical as it was of lower- quality, domestically produced iron ore that was 
favored by supporters of full autarky. A few weeks later, after a trip to 
Spain by a chemicals expert from Schacht’s chemicals supervisory of-
fi ce, a large- scale delivery system was set up through HISMA- ROWAK; 
almost immediately thereafter 200,000 tons of pyrites  were requisi-
tioned.98 This was another crucial industrial input for the 1930s German 
economy.

According to British fi les, there was even an attempt by the Ger-
mans to procure Nationalist foreign exchange, presumably to prop up 
Reichsbank reserves. It was a meager amount.99 But without foreign 
exchange, po liti cally shunned by democracies, and in dire need of for-
eign credit to sustain a civil war eff ort, Franco had no real bargaining 
power. HISMA- ROWAK steadily strengthened its position as the pre-
dominant vehicle of a type of German infl uence in Spain that fi ts the 
framework of an informal empire.100 This was a way to turn techni-
cally unproductive weaponry— the Third Reich’s industrial product par 
excellence— into the key tool of informal empire. Rather than choosing 
between guns and butter in the domestic sphere, as early as September 
1936 Spain took the opportunity to turn guns into butter.

By mid- October German aircraft had transported over ten thousand 
troops from Morocco, along with almost three hundred tons of supplies, 
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plus the operations in the southern war theater. By early November the 
bleakest days of Franco’s war eff ort had passed, in no small part due to 
German and Italian intervention.101 Not so Mola’s. Though both for-
eign ministries preferred to wait until Franco had conquered the cap-
ital before offi  cially recognizing his government as Spain’s “legitimate” 
one, Franco’s assault on Madrid did not prevail.102 The Nationalists did 
not pass—or at least not yet.

Franco’s strategy subsequently changed focus: he deprioritized the 
takeover of Madrid and, interestingly, aimed for the resource- rich 
northern coast.103 Despite the setback in Madrid, Rome and Berlin 
moved to recognize the Nationalists. This allowed for formal foreign 
relations to be established with Nationalist Spain. By the time offi  cial 
envoys  were sent, the Germans’ diplomatic mandate did not focus on 
po liti cal alignment; rather, it focused on economic penetration. The 
Third Reich’s fi rst offi  cial envoy to Franco, Gen. Wilhelm Faupel, told 
Hermann Sabath at the Foreign Ministry’s Economic Offi  ce on No-
vember 25, 1936, that he “had received instructions from the Führer 
to concern himself particularly with the extension of commercial rela-
tions between Germany and the new Spain.”104 Hitler was at the very 
least personally interested in the expansion of German economic pen-
etration in Franco’s Spain.

Germans saw this task as time- sensitive, for Faupel thought it es-
sential “to utilize the present favorable moment so that En gland, which 
was well provided with capital [Germany lacked], would not take the 
market away from us at a later stage.”105 The logic was clear: Germany 
ought to take advantage of the current window of opportunity to fur-
ther its interests and build Spanish dependence beyond the Civil War. 
Faupel also expressed his gratitude for the fact that an economic ex-
pert had been specifi cally sent to the Spanish delegation in Burgos to 
counterbalance Bernhardt’s infl uence.106 As early as September HISMA 
had been offi  cially elevated to the “representative of Germany’s eco-
nomic interests in Nationalist Spain.”107 In the context of Schachtian 
trade priorities in 1935–1936, these documents have an added weight: 
the focus on securing a constant and secure supply of raw materials for 
the purposes of heavy industry had found a new outlet. Although 
Schacht’s imperial argumentations had been thwarted across great power 
capitals, Germany could fi nd in Spain what Britain and France had de-
nied it elsewhere. And this strategy— allegedly emanating directly from 
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Hitler— followed neo- Weltpolitik preoccupations rather than the Leb-
ensraum framework. In this sense it seems consistent with the Schachtian 
policy on colonies, which was parroted by a wide variety of German 
government offi  cials at the time.

In the previous de cades and especially during the Weimar years, Ger-
many had found it particularly hard to compete with British capital 
exports to less developed nations.108 The British had remained the pre-
eminent foreign investors and own ers of Spain’s key assets, mainly of 
the mineral variety.109 Its wealth consisted of considerable supplies of 
iron ore (thus far in Republican hands), pyrites, mercury, and wolfram 
(essential for chemical industries). There was also wood and foodstuff s, 
of key importance for Germany. Britain was therefore the largest in-
vestor, with capital around $194 million, followed by France, with $135 
million, and then the United States, with $80 million. Germany lagged 
far behind with $31.1 million.110

In the midst of the Civil War, however, the situation changed ex-
traordinarily fast. The diplomatic constellation surrounding the Spanish 
Civil War made Franco dependent on German war matériel, and Ber-
nhardt’s HISMA and ROWAK in par tic u lar. Britain’s government was 
both a member of the NIC and its host.111 This helps explain why London 
put pressure on Lisbon to limit its help to Franco, while increasingly 
heeding calls from British capital for protection against the rising 
German economic clout.112 What Faupel had in mind— perhaps the only 
issue on which he saw eye to eye with Bernhardt— was that without 
sacrifi cing foreign exchange, Spanish repayment for delivered supplies 
could be turned into German foreign investment in Spain so as to se-
cure the kind of Iberian production the Nazi economy needed. It was 
a strategy that aimed at turning extraction of certain materials as pay-
ment into a longer- term investment project, one that could outlive the 
war. Far from simple compensation, this involved a long- term project 
for penetration with imperial overtones, if only informal rather than 
formal.113

The sectors to be targeted  were, unsurprisingly, those most com-
plementary to the burgeoning German economy: input products for 
capital goods and armaments— iron ore, pyrites, copper, wolfram114— and 
foodstuff s, an arena in which Germany was far from self- suffi  cient and 
in which there was a great need for expensive imported fertilizers.115 
The food sector’s defi ciencies had exacerbated disagreements between 
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Schacht and Darré, the racialist agriculture minister who was also a 
leading supporter of Lebensraum. Schacht often opposed devoting for-
eign exchange for imported fertilizers in order to prop up a largely in-
effi  cient sector, which Darré was set on reforming along ideological 
lines in a way that made little economic sense.116 Spain, in short, could 
be brought into an informal Reichsmark sphere. Spain’s decoupling from 
the democracies would therefore be not only po liti cal but also economic, 
materializing German hegemony in the Eu ro pean periphery in the 
pro cess.

The fact that Spain was not industrialized and, generally, eco nom-
ically backward actually made the terms of trade more benefi cial to 
Germany. Following the Schachtian trade model as applied at the time 
in Latin America and the Balkans, other industrial products could follow 
weapons into Spain.117 A clearing agreement had been signed with the 
Republic back in March 1936, and the infl ux of weapons for the Nation-
alists greatly benefi ted the end balance for Germany. In this context 
German diplomats and HISMA- ROWAK sought to continue with 
the status quo and avoid any Spanish attempt to actually balance the 
trade defi cit.118 Sabath’s boss at the Wilhelmstraße wrote that any future 
deal modifying the system should “give trade relations as favourable . . .  
as possible and to assure preference in the supply of those goods which 
are of special interest to them [Spaniards].”119 It was a euphemism 
for weapons. In the coming months eff ective German pressures on 
the Nationalist leadership would prevent meaningful changes to the 
HISMA- ROWAK system, contrary to what Spaniards like Francisco 
de Agramonte, former ambassador in Berlin, sought.120

In an ironic twist of fate, Ritter’s recommendation came right around 
the time the NIC began proceedings in London on the task of con-
trolling the infl ux of foreign personnel and matériel into Spain. Mili-
tary coordination with Rome notwithstanding, the idea of using war 
matériel as an eff ective tool of informal empire had already begun to 
take shape in Berlin power circles. At the time the reins of the eco-
nomic power in Berlin  were in fl ux, yet the project in Spain marched 
forward in strict adherence to Schachtian principles. The German 
weapons sent to Spain had begun to alter the direction of Spanish raw 
materials in favor of constrained Germany. Increasingly, on Iberian soil 
all other considerations seemed secondary.



chapt e r  s ix

THE PRECIPICE

There has been time enough in four years to fi nd out what we 
cannot do. Now we have to carry out what we can do.

— Adolf Hitler, secret memorandum, September 1936

round the time his preferred neo- Weltpolitik imperial strategies 
 were successfully deployed in warring Spain, Hjalmar Schacht’s 
“economic dictatorship” began to wane in Berlin. It was an ironic 

twist of fate for the man who had arguably done the most to “remake” the 
German economy, thus contributing to the consolidation of the Hitle-
rian dictatorship. His demise was the culmination of a Cabinet duel 
with one of the few men with a will for power more insatiable than his 
own: Hermann Göring.1 By mid-1936 Göring was deputy head of the 
Party, head of the almost defunct SA, air minister, commander in chief 
of the Luftwaff e, and prime minister of Prus sia, a title he was known to 
unwittingly shorten to merely “prime minister.” And, as if that  were 
not enough, he was also the highest authority on hunting and forestry, 
a responsibility he and the Führer took very seriously.2 Like Schacht, 
he was an operator abroad. Some called him Hitler’s erste Paladin (fi rst 
paladin). Within Hitler’s polycratic state—or, depending on one’s 
historiographic perspective, his “chaos state”— Göring had a hand in 
every pocket of Nazi power.3

There was one exception: the economy was beyond Göring’s reach. 
This was Schacht’s fi efdom, managed through a “dual mandate” at the 
Reichsbank and at the Economics Ministry, where his “acting” control 

A
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looked rather permanent. Back in 1931 the banker had fi rst met Hitler 
at a dinner party thrown by Göring’s (fi rst) wife. From questionable 
election fundraising to even more questionable rearmament of Ver-
sailles, Schacht and Göring collaborated for years in the ser vice of 
the same goal: consolidating Hitler’s regime.4 They both  rose with the 
Führer, but by the time the Civil War raged in Spain, a gulf had emerged 
between them.

As was true for so many others, Schacht had little respect for Göring, 
who he believed exhibited “a complete lack of understanding of eco-
nomics.” Göring did not necessarily disagree.5 Illustrative of their per-
sonal enmity is the chapter in Schacht’s autobiography devoted to his 
bitter rival, which is scathing in tone, save perhaps for one point: “The 
choice of [Göring’s] fi rst wife is a particularly strong point in his favor.” 6 
It was Karin who had made Göring wealthy, allowing him to devote 
time and funds to the Nazi Party. Yet power deformed him; Schacht 
thought Göring’s “ostentatiousness verged on the ridiculous. . . .  Not 
only did he collect precious stones, gold and platinum jewelry in vast 
quantities, but he also wore them.” The British ambassador agreed; at 
the time of Göring’s second wedding, he wrote sarcastically, “Göring 
would seem to have reached the apogee of his vainglorious career: I 
see for him and his megalomania no higher goal . . .  unless indeed it 
be the scaff old.”7

As Broszat and Mommsen have explained in detail, there  were many 
bureaucratic battles within the Nazi regime; indeed Hitler thrived in 
his role as the ultimate mediator. Yet this one mattered more than most. 
Though technically a matter of economics, the battle between Schacht 
and Göring is at the core of a decisive shift in the direction of the Nazi 
regime, a radicalization that not only changed the economic strategy, 
but also had profound implications for the regime’s foreign policy and 
its projection of foreign power.

Around the time of the Berlin Olympics in August 1936, Schacht 
began advocating a slowdown in armaments production. As we have 
seen, armament goals had been modifi ed several times beyond the (al-
ready gargantuan) June 1933 plan facilitated by his Reichsbank through 
what can only be described as “unconventional monetary policy.” In 
eff ect Schacht had only increased the subordination of the Reichsbank 
to po liti cal power, a pro cess that originated in the late Weimar Re-
public. The caveat was that in this case the central banker believed he 
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was in control of po liti cal power, not the other way around.8 For his 
work in advancing Nazi goals, “economic dictator” Schacht was given 
due credit. For instance, a display at the 1935 Nuremberg rally that Leni 
Riefenstahl captured in one of her documentaries, Tag der Freiheit (1935), 
celebrated the central bank and its president.9 It had been through 
Schacht’s economic program and his highly eff ective foreign economic 
strategy that the regime had the resources to achieve these rearmament 
goals, often masked as employment- boosting strategies. Such was the 
result of not only Mefo bills but also the Neue Plan, debt buybacks, radi-
cally overgrown industrial oversight, myriad controls, and export 
“schemes.”

Yet Wehrmacht revisions to the planned military bud gets only went 
upward, in a feedback loop closely associated with Hitler’s increasingly 
aggressive foreign policy. Like economic protectionism years before, 
however, this had strategic consequences: increased German military 
spending spurred others into action. By 1935 Britain, France, Soviet 
Rus sia, and the United States  were all increasing their military spending. 
On March 16, 1935, which Churchill judged to be a “momentous day,” 
both France and Germany announced expansion of conscriptions.10 
Necessarily this meant that Germany’s relative fi rst mover advantage 
was eroding, as others caught up with pro- growth eff ects of weapons 
spending and foreign policy posturing. The sheer scale of Nazi rear-
mament, however, was unmatched.

Once recovery was accomplished, Schacht worried about the amount 
of outstanding credit in the economy and its future implications for 
infl ation, a phenomenon far closer to public consciousness in Nazi Ger-
many than it is today.11 Of course Schacht had greatly contributed to 
credit growth in the 1930s, fi rst through central bank overt and covert 
balance sheet expansion and later from the direction of the economics 
ministry. But increasingly, long- term investments focused on only one 
area of the economy. Weapons  were “nonmarketable” goods that con-
sumed imports but would not help the current account balance through 
possible export. In other words, increased weapons production would 
lead to a decrease in exportable goods, which, ceteris paribus, would 
decrease Germany’s trade balance. The exception was, of course, Spain.12 
Eventually that would compromise the Reich’s living standards. The 
expansion of the weapons sector could not be carried on ad infi nitum. 
Unless, of course, Germany was prepared to make use of those weapons 
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militarily as well as diplomatically. There is only so much weaponry 
needed for determent.

With full employment achieved and the output gap closed, domestic 
infl ationary pressures  were on the rise.13 By 1936, in fact, the German 
economy was experiencing a shortage of skilled workers, leading to 
wage increases often concealed from the authorities. Three years into 
the regime, for instance, Darré’s ministry became very concerned about 
the wage diff erential between agricultural and industrial workers, which 
led to some anticapitalist proposals.14 What some have considered 
Schacht’s “conservatism”  here can only be ascribed to a more thorough 
understanding of economic forces than other members of the Nazi elite 
enjoyed; a tax on urban excess demand made little economic sense. 
Financial repression— through controls and taxation— could prevent an 
infl ationary crisis for some time, but not forever.15

Hence Schacht argued for a policy shift. Was there hope for such a 
change? With his dictatorship consolidated and his power absolute, 
Hitler had gone on the foreign policy off ensive in early 1936. He de-
fi ed the Locarno treaties and remilitarized the Rhineland. The German 
government couched remilitarization as a direct response to a Franco- 
Soviet treaty; excuses aside, the move caused deep consternation.16 Yet 
it elicited no military response from the democracies; indeed the British 
seemed disturbed not by the end but only by Hitler’s means. “[The 
German government] have thus not by that action produced a result, 
so far as the demilitarised zone itself is concerned, which we  were not 
prepared ultimately to contemplate,” wrote British foreign secretary 
Eden in a confi dential report to the Cabinet when the remilitarization 
was a fait accompli. “It is the manner of their action . . .  which we 
deplore”17— not the action itself. Eden did worry that Hitler’s gamble 
decreased Britain’s margin for maneuver ahead of discussions for a “gen-
eral Eu ro pean settlement”: “Such negotiations are now inevitable, but 
we shall enter them at a disadvantage.”18 Paris was anything but reas-
sured.19 Even a few months later former prime minister Lloyd George 
defended Hitler’s actions: “[In light of the Franco- Soviet Pact] . . .  if 
Herr Hitler had allowed that to go without protecting his country he 
would have been a traitor to the Fatherland.”20 Mussolini, too busy with 
his African campaigns, did not lift a fi nger to defend Locarno.21

The Rhineland remilitarization was Hitler’s greatest foreign policy 
triumph ahead of his intervention in Spain. “Great are the successes 
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that Providence has let me attain for our Fatherland,” he told an en-
raptured Reichstag on March 7, 1936. “In these three years, Germany 
has regained its honor, found belief again, overcome its greatest eco-
nomic distress and fi nally ushered in a new cultural ascent.”22 The im-
plication was clear: the Versailles humiliation was no more. The Führer 
also declared Germany’s “equality of rights” completed and renounced 
any further territorial claims. Rhetoric suggested there was at least some 
hope for a policy change.

The concepts of “equality of rights” surely pleased nationalists like 
Schacht; it fulfi lled their wildest Weimar dreams. And it was in this 
context that the “economic dictator” believed it necessary to cease ex-
panding armaments production, shifting growth to other economic sec-
tors that had lagged behind. The key was to produce goods that could 
be exported to Germany’s growing economic sphere of infl uence so as to 
address the country’s chronic foreign exchange weakness— a goal that 
concerned his Reichsbank directly. Such a shift would avoid making 
the economy too dependent on weapons and in the pro cess deescalate 
the international situation.23 There was a more immediate economic 
risk: a policy shift would also reduce the risk of a return of the damaging 
balance of payments crisis that had given him control of the ministry.24 
On Christmas Eve 1935 Schacht refused a raw materials request by the 
war minister while making his worries explicit: “It is of course far 
from my mind to modify the support I have given for years to the 
greatest possible rearmament, both before and after the seizure of power. 
It is my duty, however, to point out the economic limits that constrain 
any such policy.”25 The export of weapons to places like Spain could 
ease constraints but could not be easily replicated elsewhere, lest the 
regime armed potential adversaries. Perhaps it was not necessary to 
thwart existing plans— which in itself could trigger a severe fi scal 
contraction— but it was defi nitely necessary to cease adding further 
armaments- driven stimulation. In short, the economic dictator needed 
an “exit strategy” for unconventional monetary and fi scal stimulus.

Such was the context in which Schacht resisted a further expansion 
of rearmament, fearing more unproductive investments would exac-
erbate infl ationary pressures while eroding the hard- won advantages 
in the international trade sphere.26 “Germany’s rearmament had to fi t 
into the framework of the New Plan—or break it,”27 he would later 
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write. His authoritarian controls over the economy could do only so 
much to backstop the inevitable. Meanwhile profi ts on private balance 
sheets accumulated.28 Some of these  were being used to pay down debt 
through international buybacks, but the infl ationary threat was latent.29 
None other than the pliant Prus sian Finance Ministry complained as 
early as 1936 that “infl ation is already with us.”30 In light of unpleasant 
Weimar memories, a rise in prices threatened not only the stability of 
the Reichsmark but, potentially, the regime itself.31

In spite of Hitler’s statements and Schacht’s caution, the pace of re-
armament in 1936 showed no signs of slowing; in fact the opposite was 
true. In spite of his rhetoric, Hitler ordered the expansion of the Luft-
waff e to include more all- metal plane divisions, planned the beefi ng 
up of the Westwall French border defenses under Autobahn head Fritz 
Todt, and expanded Wehrmacht divisions yet again.32 Unsurprisingly 
the military establishment celebrated the moves.33 So did supporters 
of the Lebensraum school, for whom armaments signaled the possibility 
of crafting a formal empire for a new, expanded, Greater Germany. Not 
so Schacht. Internationally Hitler’s continued aggressiveness in the 
aftermath of the Rhineland remilitarization did not go unnoticed, and 
Schacht found the international community more hostile to the regime, 
with fewer new markets prepared to open up to Germany.34 And as 
checks on anti- Semitic outbursts during the Olympics gave way to new, 
Party- sponsored attacks, the delicate balance with Britain and France 
deteriorated further.35

Almost simultaneously discussions between France, Britain, and the 
United States gathered speed on an eventual stabilization of world cur-
rencies. The goal that had eluded the democracies since 1931 was sud-
denly in sight. Paradoxically this newfound willingness to engage was 
at least in part furthered by the po liti cal desire to contain Schacht’s 
Germany.36 The trade implications of a united front  were dire for 
Germany, a possibility lost neither on the Reichsbank staff  nor its 
president.37

Reservations and warnings  were the last thing a triumphant Hitler 
wanted to hear. At the time the Führer’s daring foreign policy was paying 
off  handsomely. Three months after the Rhineland episode, success fol-
lowed in Spain with the backing of the Francoist war eff ort, and so did 
a dawning alliance with Mussolini— all of which boosted Hitler’s con-
fi dence.38 With domestic power increasingly concentrated in his offi  ce 
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and competing bureaucracies “working toward the Führer,” Hitler’s 
focus was almost exclusively devoted to foreign policy. Enabled by dith-
ering in Paris and London, and in spite of rhetoric, the remilitariza-
tion of the Rhineland was only the beginning of Hitler’s challenge to 
the continental balance of power. Yet the man tasked with steering the 
economy toward strategic rearmament and recovery was now recom-
mending a change of focus to preserve the victories of his neo- Weltpolitik 
economic strategies.

Not so Göring. Though he was anything but an economist, he pro-
pounded what Hitler wanted to hear.39 He was, after all, an expert in 
the internal Party politics Schacht derided.40 Göring could not make 
substantive changes to Schacht’s economic framework other than re-
jecting the banker’s desire for a slowdown. But he had Hitler’s ear and 
a new area to add to his extensive portfolio. Consistent with Party ideo-
logues far more heterodox than Schacht, Göring held economics to be 
ultimately a matter of will: infl ation could be kept down by govern-
ment pressure and absolute control of prices and wages, expanding 
Schacht’s industrial oversight systems if necessary; heavy industry could 
be kept growing by guaranteeing profi ts for businessmen, or, failing 
that, outright coercion; and exports could be maximized, by force if 
necessary. Years later, when total war dawned, Reichsbank vice presi-
dent Kurt Lange synthesized it thus: “In an authoritarian state there 
can be no infl ation.” 41 What sounded good as subservient policy was 
not factually accurate; indeed, authoritarian states often suff er far higher 
infl ation rates than demo cratic states with more in de pen dent central 
banks.42

Göring’s plans involved no revolutionary insight from behavioral eco-
nomics; the ultimate purpose of “will” applied to the Nazi economy 
was to make policy consistent with the strategic goals of Lebensraum. 
In direct contrast to Weltpolitik advocates like Schacht, supporters of 
Lebensraum conceived of a “fi nal war” as inevitable destiny.43 This im-
plied a specifi c economic path: in spite of constraints and perhaps be-
cause of them, Göring favored further autarky as a path to ever increasing 
war preparedness. Reduced reliance on foreign markets would yield 
the necessary stability to weather the war that would give Germany 
control of the “world island” at the heart of Eurasia.44 “I do not ac-
knowledge the sanctity of any economic law,” he later declared, only 
Hitler’s will. “What the Führer has said is decisive: Economy must 
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always be the servant of the nation and capital must be the servant of 
industry.” 45

Simply put, Göring wanted Nazi Germany to be ready to create a 
formal empire. This was the “logical” justifi cation for his support for 
ever- rising expenditures in armaments and military infrastructure. It 
came in stark contrast with the goal of material well- being to be fa-
cilitated through a strong international position of power and economic 
imperialism through formal or informal colonies— the aim of Schacht’s 
neo- Weltpolitik designs. If the objective  were to prevail where Wil-
helmine Germany had so spectacularly failed, then the Schachtian eco-
nomic system was necessary, but not suffi  cient. Only Lebensraum could 
suffi  ce. Everything would have to make way for that goal— including, 
if necessary, Germany’s economic dictator.

A master of po liti cal maneuvering who had managed to survive the 
many purges of “old Party men”— more often than not because he was 
behind them— Göring moved fast.46 In April 1936 he obtained con-
trol over the procurement of raw materials and foreign exchange as “spe-
cial commissioner.” The result was increased internal competition, even 
if Hitler often chose the path of duplication of managerial responsi-
bilities. Though this represented an intrusion into Schacht’s fi efdom, 
the banker acquiesced, likely under the assumption it was a propaganda 
issue.47 “Friendly co- operation with the new agency was necessary and 
even possible,” Schacht told his staff .48 Göring’s military discipline could 
perhaps help a foreign exchange situation that remained dire. It could also 
put checks on Party corruption, an issue that long disturbed Schacht.49 
Soon the Nazi apparatus beamed with the sacrifi ces for the Commis-
sioner’s goals. “A little girl sent Göring a golden bracelet,” a syco-
phantic biography recounted. “It was her dearest and most precious 
possession, left to her by her mother who had died. The child wanted to 
give the best she had.”50

This was not enough. Behind Schacht’s back Göring commissioned 
reports on the economic situation, with implicit support from the mil-
itary and other heterodox voices like Wilhelm Keppler, who distanced 
himself from Schacht’s caution.51 One of the reports backfi red spec-
tacularly: Carl Goerdeler, a veteran of Defl ationspolitik and a leading con-
servative voice within the regime, sharply criticized Schacht’s economic 
management, only he did so from the opposite perspective.52 In a se-
cret, daring memorandum, he argued that Germany had a unique op-
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portunity to return to liberalism: it should drop Schacht’s Neue Plan, 
reapproach the democracies, devalue the Reichsmark, and trust that ex-
ports would recover. The devaluation strategy would necessarily put a 
check on rearmament, making Wehrmacht imports too dear.53 A se-
ries of internal Reichsbank studies at the time also recommended de-
celerating the rate of rearmament from within Schacht’s central bank, 
but Goerdeler’s was a far more orthodox adjustment than even the cen-
tral banker proposed.54 The Reichsbank did not call for an outright 
change in the authoritarian economic management— not least because 
of its control- obsessed president.55 The mere mention of such policy 
options was heresy in Nazi Germany; on his copy of Goerdeler’s mem-
orandum, Göring wrote vitriolic comments— “Nonsense”; “What 
cheek!”— and forwarded a copy to Hitler’s Berchtesgaden retreat.56 
Göring approved of Schacht’s economic authoritarianism; if anything, 
he wanted more of it, not a return to liberalism. Other reports  were 
more pliable.

Then Göring set up a parallel structure to the Economics Ministry 
with goals more extreme than those in Schacht’s methodical designs. 
He aimed to implement a Four- Year Plan.57 This involved Göring’s in-
terpretation of directives outlined in a top- secret memorandum on the 
gearing of the economy for large- scale war that Hitler dictated at Ber-
chtesgaden.58 Only four copies  were made and none of them en-
trusted to Schacht.59 To be fair, this new economic program did not 
imply a qualitative change in Nazi economic policy. After all, arma-
ments had been central to the recovery Schacht oversaw and, to a 
large extent, directed.60 Yet Hitler’s writing implied a key quantita-
tive leap against Schacht’s explicit recommendations: far from cooling 
off  armaments production, the Führer unleashed all constraints on 
the Wehrmacht.61

The document itself deserves a close look.62 Hitler began from his 
usual worldview, addressing the “struggle for existence” in Mein Kampf– 
reminiscent language: “Even the idealistic ideological struggles [Welt-
anschauungskämpfe] have their ultimate cause and are most deeply 
motivated by nationally [völklich] determined purposes and aims of life.” 
He went on to identify Germany’s “destiny” in the Western struggle 
against Bolshevism: “Germany will, as always, have to be regarded 
as the focal point of the Western world in face of the Bolshevist at-
tacks.” Save for Germany and Italy—an addendum that refl ected the 
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Axis— other states  were “infected” by the twin demons of Marxism 
and democracy.

Hitler now saw a Bolshevist showdown as inevitable and its timing 
unpredictable. It was an important ex ante assumption from which to 
drive economic policy. Because of the Manichaean nature of the looming 
confl agration, Nazi state management ought to adapt: “In face of the 
necessity of defence against this [Bolshevist] danger, all other consid-
erations must recede into the background as being completely irrele-
vant.” From that axiomatic premise fl owed unconstrained rearmament: 
“If we do not succeed in developing the German Wehrmacht within the 
shortest possible time into the fi rst Army in the world, in training, in 
the raising of units, in armaments . . .  Germany will be lost! . . .  All 
other desires must therefore be unconditionally subordinated to this 
task. For this task is life and the preservation of life. . . .  Nor will pos-
terity ever ask us by what methods or by what concepts . . .  we achieved 
the salvation of the nations, but only whether or not we achieved it.” 63 
It was an ominous preview of what was to come.

Moving onto economics, Hitler enumerated Germany’s familiar con-
straints: overpopulation, lack of resources and foreign exchange, im-
possibility of stockpiling ahead of war, a potential naval blockade. He 
also outlined the successes of the past three years in terms of rising stan-
dards of living. The aim was unequivocal: “The only solution lies in 
extending living space of our people and/or the sources of its raw ma-
terials and foodstuff s. It is the task of the po liti cal leadership one day 
to solve this problem.” 64 As we have seen, Schacht did not necessarily 
disagree with this goal. The question was how exactly this “solution” 
would be achieved: empire, to be sure, but what kind?

Hitler presented a clear dichotomy on private capital: “Either we pos-
sess today a private industry, in which case it is its task to rack its brains 
about production methods, or we believe that the determination of pro-
duction methods is the task of the State, in which case we no longer 
need private industry.” The Führer was therefore outdoing Schacht in 
terms of authoritarian control, favoring an extremely autarkic turn: syn-
thetics production would rise, domestic ore production would rise, and 
costs mattered less than will. Industry would have to follow.

And yet a point that is usually lost is that Hitler still understood that 
full autarky was not eco nom ically feasible: “I consider it necessary that 
now, with iron determination, a 100 per cent self- suffi  ciency should 
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be attained in all those spheres where it is feasible, and that not only 
should the national requirements in these most important raw mate-
rials be made in de pen dent of other countries but that we should also 
thus save the foreign exchange which in peacetime we require for our 
imports of foodstuff s. Here I would emphasize that in these tasks I see 
the only true economic mobilization.” The memorandum concluded 
with two connected “tasks”: “I. The German army must be ready for 
action [einsatzfähig] within four years. II. The German economy must 
be fi t for war [kriegsfähig] within four years.” 65

It is beyond doubt that members of the Lebensraum school generally 
and Göring specifi cally infl uenced Hitler’s drafting— and that the end 
product surely pleased them.66 When describing it in public, Göring 
proclaimed, “It is for your empire and for your country which you your-
selves have re- created and conquered. It is a question of the honor of 
Germany and the security of German life!” 67 Propaganda aside, this 
was the materialization of “Nazi will” in the economic sphere; it im-
plied that civilian well- being could not be a priority in the face of ex-
istential danger.68 “Economic life may remain free only so long as it is 
able to solve the problems of the nation,” the Führer would argue a 
few months later. “If it cannot do so then it must cease to be free.” 69 
Although he personally lacked a formal appointment, Göring and his 
Four- Year Plan or ga ni za tion redoubled eff orts to increase autarkic goals. 
In many areas they went far beyond what even Hitler had envisioned. 
His growing team began to focus on iron and coal as key ingredients 
to sustain not merely German industry in its “repro cessing role”—to 
borrow Schacht’s economic terminology— but to wage war.70 The ideas 
underlying the plan had been discussed during the summer of 1936, 
precisely around the time Hitler decided to intervene in Spain.

To put it mildly, Schacht saw this strategy as infeasible. When he 
heard about Hitler’s intention to talk about it at the 1936 Party Con-
ference, he approached Col o nel Georg Thomas, a pragmatic ally of his 
within the military hierarchy. “If we now shout out abroad our deci-
sion to make ourselves eco nom ically in de pen dent, then we cut our own 
throats,” he warned.71 Germany did not have the domestic resources 
for the kind of self- suffi  ciency envisioned by the Lebensraum school. Also 
many of the technologies Hitler praised in his memorandum could not 
achieve the required scale in the required timeframe. And of course any 
further moves toward autarky would jeopardize the existing realignment 
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of Eu ro pean trade he had carefully designed. This time, however, 
Schacht was alone; accurately reading the po liti cal climate, Thomas did 
not intercede.72 “The lack of understanding of the Reich Economics 
Minister and the re sis tance of German business to all large- scale [Großzü-
gigen] plans prompted me to compose this memorandum at Berchtes-
gaden [at the Berghof ],” Hitler told Armaments Minister Albert Speer 
when handing him a copy of the memorandum eight years later.73

New priorities dawned. Returning to Berlin from Berchtesgaden, 
Göring summoned a meeting on September 4, one he declared— with 
characteristic humility— “of greater signifi cance than any that had pre-
ceded it.”74 There he read Hitler’s memorandum out loud, “gloating 
over Schacht’s humiliation.” A ranking Prus sian offi  cial lamented that 
Herbert Backe at the Agriculture Ministry had missed the meeting: 
“Today we witnessed the most beautiful day in our economic history.” 
Another supporter of Lebensraum, Hermann Reische, telephoned his 
(and Backe’s) boss, Darré, a sworn enemy of Schacht’s. Reische told 
Darré that Göring had “read out a devastating letter . . .  [and] Schacht 
just sat there, baffl  ed and impotent.” Henceforth Schacht’s Reichsbank 
and his Economics Ministry would no longer be the unchallenged core 
of German economic policymaking. With this new strategy, issues that 
worried Schacht and his supporters— the interrelated threats of infl a-
tion, labor shortages, industrial constraints, stability of the currency, 
ineffi  ciency of synthetics production, and others— would all be con-
trolled by government suasion and, when necessary, direct state man-
agement.75 Hitler’s fundamental assumption was that economics could 
behave like foreign policy, where aggressiveness had forged a new 
reality.

For the purposes of posterity, Schacht would take credit for the plan’s 
positives. “What ever was successfully accomplished with the Four- Year 
Plan,” he would haughtily write, “was nothing but the continuation 
of mea sures I had inaugurated as Minister.” There was something to 
the claim, but the diff erence was crucial: “Now, however, everything 
was rushed and exaggerated.” As the plan developed under Göring, two 
problems dawned: sustainability and effi  ciency. “The extraction of ben-
zine from coal [synthetic fuel] had been or ga nized by me. . . .  The 
 wholesale cultivation of staple fi bers had been set on foot, thanks to 
the steps I had taken. . . .  The extension of mining operations, too, had 
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been tackled by me.” For once, however, the “wizard” had been po-
liti cally outmaneuvered.76

On these points Schacht echoed arguments from his traditional al-
lies: German business.77 Generally the heads of German industry  were 
anything but pleased with Göring’s desire to be personally involved in 
private production.78 This was not merely an issue of import oversight 
or goal setting.79 Following the expropriation model Milch had applied 
in the air industry with Junkers, Göring did not hesitate to push busi-
nessmen out of the way to achieve the plan’s goals. To an extent this 
was mandated by Hitler’s memorandum, but Göring took it upon him-
self to exercise the power. More often than not the main benefi ciary 
was Göring himself.80

That was the genesis of the Hermann Göring Works (Reichswerke 
Hermann Göring, RWHG), which in years to come would become 
the largest steel conglomerate in the world.81 Only a few months ear-
lier Göring had boasted, “My department is not economics. I have never 
been a director or on a board of directors and shall never be. Except 
for the fl ower pots on the balcony I have never cultivated anything.” 
Will, however, would provide. “But I am ready with all my heart and 
soul, and with fi rm belief in the greatness of the German nation [Volk] 
to devote all my energies to this mighty task [Four- Year Plan].”82 Schacht 
meanwhile despised the means as much as the ends: “RWHG always 
operated at a loss and was constantly demanding more credits from the 
Reich, none of which had the least chance of ever being paid back. . . .  
the thing swelled up to an enormous and utterly top- heavy growth, 
with stupidity, corruption, and fraud writ large all over it.”83

Schacht was down, but not quite out. The battle for economic power 
in Berlin would not alter the structure of a bilateral exchange that still 
answered to neo- Weltpolitik principles that underpinned Schacht’s for-
eign economic strategy. After all, why fi x something that was not 
broken?

Nazi business in Spain was anything but broken. The Party- sponsored 
company on the ground, HISMA, continued its advance through pres-
sures on the Nationalist leadership. It applied a program directly de-
rived from Schacht’s goals of trade diversion and informal empire. The 
adventure in Spain could not sit well with extreme autarky advocates; 
if anything it pointed to Germany exporting resources it would have 
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a hard time replacing. It did, however, point to a possible avenue for 
further continental expansion without forcing an existential struggle 
leading to large- scale war.

As German demands on the Spanish leadership  rose, underpinned 
by the in e qual ity of the relationship, challenges  were bound to arise. 
On January 12, 1937, the fi rst offi  cial envoy to the Franco regime, Wil-
helm Faupel, warned that German infl uence over the Nationalist lead-
ership might soon wane. Because he conceived of infl uence on a rela-
tive basis, Faupel worried about a recent escalation in the number of 
Italian troops in Spain. Indeed following Mussolini’s decision to hasten 
the end of the confl ict, there had recently been a true explosion of Italian 
Fascists on Spanish soil.84 The Germans continued to supply Franco, 
but Faupel worried the diff erence in commitments could translate into 
the po liti cal sphere: “The fear cannot be dismissed that our po liti cal 
infl uence . . .  will fall to a second place [behind Italy].” Perhaps aware 
of the interests in Berlin, his reasoning drifted to economics: “Our in-
terest [is] to conclude negotiations about economic and compensation 
questions before this [Italian] development has become clearly apparent.” 
In a note from the Reich Chancellery accompanying the document, 
none other than Hitler himself ordered that Faupel’s suggestion should 
be “acted on as soon as possible.”85 But when the German envoy dis-
cussed fi nancial matters with an Italian peer on the military side, he 
reported back to Berlin that the Italians had gotten nothing concrete 
out of Spain beyond extremely vague promises. This would become a 
defi ning feature of Italian intervention.86 What is more, Faupel esti-
mated the Italian government had already spent over 800 million lire 
on intervention, and at least 200 more would be required. As we shall 
see, this a gross understatement of total cost. But Germany, Faupel ac-
knowledged, had chosen a diff erent path: “We have obtained far more 
in this respect through HISMA.”87

It should not have been a surprise: the HISMA- ROWAK system cre-
ated eff ective pressures on the upper echelons of Nationalist leadership 
through direct contacts with Franco and his closest clique. These 
pressures  were eff ectively based on the unevenness of the bilateral 
relationship— and they paid off . As recent estimates make clear, German 
and Italian transfers made up almost the same amount the Republic had 
access to thanks to its vast gold reserves.88 What is more, through dra-
conian management and a peg, the Nationalists  were able to contain 
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infl ation in their zone— a rare feat in civil wars and in par tic u lar a stark 
contrast to Republican Spain, which had to pay for its foreign supplies 
in gold.89 According to some estimations based on company balance 
sheets, Rio Tinto alone provided between 16 and 24 percent of the 
total transfers of raw materials sent to Germany to compensate for sup-
plies.90 What is more, in early January 1937 HISMA communicated to 
local pyrites producers that German needs would amount to 1.2 mil-
lion tons for the year, a fi gure expected to rise going forward. This 
would drastically and invariably reduce shipments to other locations; 
no matter how one interprets the data, the main loser was Britain.

Unsurprisingly the British- owned conglomerate did not stand still. 
As they saw Nationalist Spain decoupling from its traditional depen-
dence on British capital, they warned London. Rio Tinto leadership 
complained repeatedly, urging action against creeping German eco-
nomic hegemony even as they fulfi lled Francoist orders.91 It should be 
noted that company executives understood very clearly how the 
HISMA- ROWAK dual monopoly worked.92 They furthered their eco-
nomic argument by pointing out what these minerals would turn into. 
Sir Auckland Geddes, chairman of Rio Tinto wrote to Eden’s Foreign 
Offi  ce, “The economic and strategic importance of these British- owned 
mines in Spain has not escaped the attention of the Spanish Insurgents 
[Nationalists] or their masters— Germany and Italy— all of whom are 
using every means to exploit and consolidate their present situation in a 
manner most detrimental to Great Britain.”93 His paper ended with a 
daring suggestion: if Eden’s diplomacy did not manage to stop these 
shipments to Germany, then the Royal Navy should. The implication 
was clear: the “masters” forced this decision upon the Nationalist leader-
ship. It was an astute reading of the situation.

An increasingly worried Foreign Minister Eden agreed with Geddes’s 
assessment at a Cabinet meeting on March 8, 1937. Eden suggested the 
navy be used to reassert British power and prevent the export of py-
rites to Germany. Yet First Sea Lord Chatfi eld opposed him, warning 
that this use of the navy might provoke war with the dictators.94 An 
avid Francoist, Chatfi eld still worried about the security of strategic as-
sets in Spain, not least Gibraltar. Amid the tension, Nicolás Franco 
agreed to give Rio Tinto a small foreign exchange allowance of £10,000 
every month; this assuaged some concerns even if it did not alter the 
re orientation of Iberian trade.95 The Francoist quid pro quo for support 
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required that the Nationalists assent to a new hegemonic economic 
power: Germany over Britain.

HISMA’s Bernhardt had clearly changed his ways since the days when 
Messerschmitt likened him to Santa Claus, with transfers agreed on 
principle and minerals already sailing to Hamburg. It remains an issue 
of contention whether the agent in Spain always intended to transition 
to a more exploitative system, yet as of late 1936 Bernhardt’s behavior 
fi t Messerschmidt’s neo- Weltpolitik suggestions.96 A memorandum pre-
pared for a February 1937 conference on German- Spanish economic re-
lations in Berlin confi rmed this point. It came in the context of a debate 
about whether to continue with the HISMA- ROWAK duopoly or give 
in to Spanish requests to broker a clearing treaty that could potentially 
limit German industrial penetration in the Spanish economy.97

Though the report acknowledged that “too much” pressure on 
Franco could become counterproductive, it recognized the “undeni-
able success of HISMA- ROWAK, which have succeeded through their 
relations with General Franco in placing Germany ahead of all other 
countries in Spanish trade and in directing raw materials available in 
Spain primarily to Germany.” Informal pressures worked. The Ger-
mans readily accepted that Franco’s Nationalists “would rather sell these 
raw materials to other countries against foreign exchange.” But they 
remained dependent on Nazi supplies, and leveraging this dependence 
in the trade sphere yielded tangible results. “To guarantee delivery of 
Spanish raw materials to Germany requires steady pressure on the Franco 
Government.”98 There was not even a semblance of equality in the bi-
lateral relationship.

This imperial, mercantilistic strategy could be eff ective only in the 
context of Germany’s new trade system, designed to disengage the coun-
try’s economy from Britain and the United States and replace them with 
less developed countries of the likes of Spain. Profi ting from the dislo-
cations created by the Civil War amounted to a neo- Weltpolitik strategy 
of informal imperialism. In this sense Bernhardt and HISMA- ROWAK’s 
behavior echoed Schachtian trade strategy in other undeveloped mar-
kets, from Latin America to the Balkans. Contemporaries  were not un-
aware of such connections.99 Schacht’s personal power struggle with 
Göring notwithstanding, everyone in Berlin was in agreement about 
Iberian policy. From the Foreign Ministry, Ambassador Karl Ritter re-
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ported, “President [of the Reichsbank] Schacht himself had fully agreed 
with the proposal [to maintain trade structures].” Despite previous hes-
itation, ROWAK’s Jagwitz took envoys from the Economics Ministry 
to Spain for negotiations regarding future concessions and further 
German penetration into the Spanish economy. This move de facto ac-
knowledged the role of Schacht’s or ga ni za tion in the setup of invest-
ments in Spain aiming to cement German hegemony beyond the Civil 
War.100 Never more clearly, the Schachtian foreign trade framework 
came together with Franco’s dire needs to maximize the potential ex-
tractive benefi t for the German economy, and all without sacrifi cing 
scant foreign exchange.

Because of his utter dependence on German supplies and war maté-
riel, Franco was therefore forced into rationally suboptimal foreign trade 
decisions— yet they  were the only sensible ones within the constraints 
of his po liti cal economy. While decisive victory over the Republic 
eluded Franco, in considerable part due to Rus sian supplies fl owing 
to the Republic, German infl uence over the Nationalists became 
hegemonic.

The Nationalists understandably wanted to preserve their raw ma-
terials for other markets where they could obtain dollars or pound ster-
ling. But the Germans made sure that did not happen: they wanted 
something in exchange for support. Schacht’s staff  at the ministry then 
agreed that there would be no clearing agreement with Spain. This does 
not suggest the Spanish “called the shots” of an inherently uneven bi-
lateral relationship.101 And as we shall see, this contrasted starkly with 
Italian behavior. Although it has been largely overlooked in the histo-
ries of the Third Reich’s economic and trade policy, German hege-
mony in Spain was far stronger than in the Balkans or Latin America, 
and the leverage was exercised to fullest eff ect in the supply of the 
weapons Franco so desperately needed. It was a textbook example of 
Schacht’s preferred imperial strategy.

While Franco’s troops continued a slow advance against the Republic, 
German diplomats sought to turn de facto economic hegemony into 
de jure benefi ts. This would entrench Germany’s hegemonic position 
beyond the Civil War. To that eff ect two key documents regarding fu-
ture Spanish- German relations  were signed in Salamanca in 1937. On 
March 20 Faupel and Franco signed a protocol that stated, “Both Gov-
ernments will constantly consult with one another on the mea sures 
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necessary to defend their countries against the threatening dangers of 
Communism.” Anti- Communist rhetoric notwithstanding, German 
commercial interests had a central place in the Concordat: “Both Gov-
ernments are agreed in their desire to intensify the economic relations 
between their countries as much as possible.” Though this fi rst line 
amounted to little more than usual diplomatic parlance, the deal be-
trayed German interest in Iberian raw materials: “In this manner [Ger-
many and Spain] reaffi  rm their purpose that the two countries shall 
henceforth cooperate with and supplement one another in economic 
matters in every way.”102 This rhetoric of complementarity and sym-
biosis had specifi c connotations for Spain: it meant that the relatively 
underdeveloped country would provide for the needs of German in-
dustry even if that  were not the most effi  cient trading partner. The simi-
larity with Schacht’s “peaceful penetration” strategy in the Balkans is 
striking.103

Meanwhile in Berlin the Four- Year Plan developed its own bureau-
cracy.104 Its goal was to change the direction of the German economy 
in the ser vice of the Lebensraum school of formal, racialist control rather 
than with the Weltpolitik tradition of economic hegemony and informal 
empire.105 In the context of Göring’s rising role in economic aff airs, it 
could still be argued— and indeed it has been argued— that German 
interest in Spain was primarily po liti cal, and not economic.106 A Fran-
coist victory had the potential to establish the type of united front against 
Communism that had been part of Hitler’s strategic calculation back 
in July 1936, strengthening the fascist grip on the Mediterranean and 
eff ectively surrounding a French Republic that was, at best, uneasy of 
its British ally.

Yet documents detailing negotiations in Spain between Nazi and 
Francoist offi  cials underscore the extent to which economic motives 
had eclipsed all others in the Spanish theater. Hitler’s support for Fau-
pel’s economic- focused strategy is telling. The centrality of economic 
concerns was particularly evident in the German reaction when Spanish 
delegates pressed for a trade treaty in mid-1937, eff ectively threatening 
to dislocate the HISMA- ROWAK quasi- monopoly.107 On May 13, 
1937, Economic Policy Director Ritter sent the Burgos Embassy a con-
fi dential tele gram arguing that it had become clear that the Spanish junta 
“[insisted] strongly upon the conclusion of a clearing agreement.” 
Clearing agreements  were nothing unusual at the time. Following the 
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collapse of the international trade system, states seeking to benefi t from 
trade without jeopardizing their current account position would con-
clude bilateral agreements on the quantities of commodities they  were 
willing to trade with one another.108 In fact Schacht had already used 
such agreements to promote barter trade with the less developed coun-
tries of southeastern Eu rope and Latin America. Such agreements played 
a crucial role in the Schachtian attempt to ensure German manufacturing 
could remain extrovert without diminishing minuscule foreign ex-
change reserves at the Reichsbank. As an added benefi t, they ensured 
that German trade could be expanded without relying on Anglo- 
American credit lines. A multiyear agreement to institutionalize bilat-
eral trade could have ensured that the present terms of trade  were ex-
tended beyond the end of the Civil War, thus not endangering Hitler’s 
nascent shadow empire. Given Franco’s dire need for war matériel, the 
conclusion of a clearing agreement on such terms was certainly well 
within the Wilhelmstraße’s room for negotiation. What is more, the 
nature of clearing agreements guaranteed a certain volume of orders 
over multiple years. The purchasing party could at any point recom-
mend an increase in the quantity of goods through further negotia-
tions, but it could not decrease its own exports unilaterally.

Spanish businessmen and Franco’s staff   were eager to get Bernhardt’s 
HISMA out of their way. No one could blame them; as dependent as 
Franco was on German support, he wanted to rid himself of the “im-
perial” agent on the ground. The conclusion of a clearing agreement, 
then, made ample sense: the Spaniards would rid themselves of HIS-
MA’s institutional control, Germany would assure its bilateral trade ties 
with Spain remained advantageous, and both sides could do without 
the unnecessary commissions HISMA- ROWAK charged to replicate 
preexisting government functions.

Yet the perception of German interest blocked any moves in the di-
rection of clearing. “We must have a guarantee,” Ritter demanded, “that 
big transactions in raw materials and essential foods are reserved to 
HISMA- ROWAK as hitherto.” He strongly recommended Faupel ex-
ercise pressure directly on Franco, treating the future dictator as little 
more than Nazi a puppet: “Call General Franco’s attention particularly 
to the fact that in the past few months it was only through the prefer-
ential use of the proceeds of Spanish exports through HISMA- ROWAK 
which made it possible to fi nance an important part of the Spanish orders 
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for war matériel in Germany.”109 Faupel toed this rather direct line 
with discernible imperial overtones. The document was even more ex-
plicit regarding whose interest was at stake in the dual monopoly: “We 
knew very well that HISMA- ROWAK was not very pop u lar with the 
Spanish exporters and importers . . .  [and] the same was true of German 
exporters and importers. They, too, assailed the present monopolistic 
position of HISMA- ROWAK. From the private business standpoint 
of these interests, this was to a certain degree comprehensible.” But 
Ritter— like other Nazi offi  cials— resisted changes: “We should reject 
the one- sided views of such special interests.”110 The state’s interest in 
Spanish raw materials was paramount— and it involved turning down 
Nationalists requests. So, contrary to what Franco’s Nationalists desired, 
the dual monopoly held on: it remained a key priority to preserve the 
hegemonic trade position that Francoist material dependence had 
created.

Po liti cal infl uence would maximize returns through the state- 
sponsored champion that could keep the Spanish market dependent on 
German capital goods, particularly those that allowed for conquest.111 
It was precisely what Schacht’s 1926 speech to the Colonial Associa-
tion had envisioned and his later policies as “economic dictator” had 
institutionalized— even if his enemy within the Cabinet, a man who 
instinctively favored a diff erent type of colonial endeavor, was ultimately 
in charge of the Party apparatus implementing the policies.

The hegemonic role in Spain’s economy mattered more to German 
offi  cials than sovereignty; the type of control exercised on Iberian soil 
was never formal, even if some Republican reports detailed German 
territorial ambitions in Morocco, most likely as a ploy to involve London 
or alienate Rome.112 Yet when compared to the formal Nazi empire, 
this informality of Nazi control in Spain made “imperial” pressures 
on Franco far cheaper and easier to manage than the alternative, hardly 
imaginable given the balance of power at the time. Ultimately, how-
ever, Schacht’s neo- Weltpolitik strategy had an important caveat: though 
informality made hegemony easier and attainable without triggering 
large- scale war, it also made it ultimately reversible, particularly if a 
quest for Lebensraum—as discussed simultaneously in Berlin— were to 
be unleashed.



chapt e r  se ven

THE SHADOW EMPIRE

Said Göring, give me four years, and you’ll see from the 
shackles of money I’ll set industry free.

— Schachtian rhyme, late 1937

n early 1937 Schacht penned an article for the prestigious Foreign Af-
fairs in which he outlined Germany’s colonial demands. It was not a 
novel argument; but it was timely. At a time of ever- rising conti-

nental tensions, it was a piece of German propaganda aimed at an Anglo- 
Saxon audience.1 It remains one of the best examples of the neo- 
Weltpolitik vision of empire. Although Schacht’s policymaking power 
was now openly challenged by the Four- Year Plan or ga ni za tion, the 
“economic dictator” still pushed his agenda to expand economic he-
gemony abroad. This vision, involving a Germany that would le-
verage its economic might rather than seek formal territorial expan-
sion, was losing infl uence within the higher echelons of Nazi 
leadership; ever since Hitler’s memorandum the previous September, 
supporters of Lebensraum had had the upper hand. Former allies in 
business and the military establishment abandoned Schacht when he 
argued for a slowdown in armaments production. Facing trouble at 
home, the banker turned abroad— just as he had done in the late 1920s.

Schacht’s argument began along familiar lines, laying out the essen-
tial confl ict between the aspirations of autarkists and global prosperity, 
even in a context of diminished international trade. “Before the [Great] 
war, Germany’s world investments  were in round fi gures 12,000 million 

I
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dollars, the profi ts of which could be used to buy raw materials all 
over the world. The markets where raw materials  were procured  were 
completely free. . . .  All the important countries  were on the gold stan-
dard, and this provided a sure basis for commercial calculations.”2 He 
was overstating how much Germany had actually profi ted from its col-
onies.3 And yet “all these elementary principles of international trade 
and intercourse have now disappeared.” In a world of protectionism, 
Germany was handicapped.

Such rhetoric was uncharacteristic of Nazi policymaking in one key 
respect: references to the prewar Wilhelmine era  were scant in the 1930s, 
particularly in such laudatory tones. “Commercial treaties are concluded 
only for brief periods, and in their place have come quotas and restric-
tions, to say nothing of constant increases in more eff ective tariff s.” 4 
In the aftermath of the Great Depression, international trade had de-
clined drastically, with severe consequences not only for high value- 
added exports but also for the supply of foreign raw materials. Schacht’s 
system had allowed Germany to recover and maneuver around inter-
national trade imbalances. The banker argued it was reasonable that 
the countries aff ected most— that is, the countries with fewer raw ma-
terial supplies in their homeland or within their trade sphere— would 
seek to mitigate their foreign dependence. It was a logical reaction to 
trade closure. At the time liberal voices saw autarkic behavior as self- 
fulfi lling and primarily the fault of aggressive movers like Germany. 
The banker’s reasoning also implied that those with extensive access 
to raw materials within their own “economic sphere” would be the 
fi rst ones to abandon the prevailing international fi nancial architec-
ture. After all, they had alternatives that his Germany did not.

Schacht’s targets  were the usual suspects: the unable (Britain) and 
the unwilling (the United States) fi nancial hegemons. “The British de-
valuation would never have had the success which it achieved if Great 
Britain had not been able to bring the monetary system of the Domin-
ions onto the same basis as her own,” Schacht reasoned. The point was 
that Britain did not have to face higher commodity prices because it 
could force its empire to accept a lower exchange rate within the ster-
ling system; the main victims of beggar- thy- neighbor devaluation  were 
competitors like Germany. A country with foreign debts that could not 
be devalued was in a particularly vulnerable position— and that was a 
feature of the Versailles system both Hitler and Schacht had worked 
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tirelessly to destroy. What is more, “France could never have used her 
colonial empire so successfully if it had not been administered under 
the same monetary system as the mother country.”5 Like in the late 
1920s, Schacht was attempting to legitimize German claims to colo-
nies as a pressing matter of economic and monetary policy, not sover-
eignty or race.

We can also see Schacht’s Foreign Policy article as a way to relegiti-
mize his position after Göring’s Four- Year Plan coup. It was not im-
mediately obvious that either his Cabinet position or the Reichsbank 
presidency qualifi ed Schacht to speak on matters of foreign policy, yet 
this was an arena where his international reputation made him infl u-
ential in ways that his Cabinet peers  were not. The banker’s demands 
followed his traditional reasoning that there be “territories under 
German management and included in the German monetary system. 
All the other questions involved— sovereignty, army, police, law, the 
churches, international collaboration— are open to discussion.” 6 This 
is clear evidence that he did not care about formal sovereignty in the 
same way as Haushofer, Darré, and other supporters of Lebensraum did.7 
It was trade that mattered most— and that would be the vehicle for do-
mestic stability and international power.

In early 1937, therefore, Schacht still conceived of a return to the 
colonial arena as a potential po liti cal safety valve: acquisition of mar-
kets for Germany would simultaneously check the pressure on Ger-
many’s eastern borders and provide another avenue for domestic growth. 
It would also allow Germany to develop the 1935–1936 Neue Plan trade 
system to impose hegemonic power in Eu ro pean markets, replicating 
and expanding existing trade deals in southeastern Eu rope and Latin 
America. This in turn could put a limit on the Four- Year Plan and its 
supporters. The connection between preferably informal empire and a 
more stable Germany is reinforced by Schacht’s stark warning at the 
close of the piece, one that— even if Hitler had never seen it— amounted 
to the neo- Weltpolitik answer to the Führer’s memorandum: “[The 
German colonial problem] is simply and solely a problem of economic 
existence. Precisely for that reason the future of Eu ro pean peace de-
pends upon it.”8

At the time the minister and Reichsbank president was not merely 
playing journalism. During these tense months of Berlin power politics 
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and trade negotiations, a series of secret reports by a Spanish Repub-
lican agent in France described conversations with Schacht across Eu-
ro pean capitals. In Paris, Stockholm, and Brussels their discussions 
directly addressed the economic nature of the German project in 
Spain— and did so in a way that directly addressed Schacht’s foreign 
economic concerns. The context was complex. The structure of con-
tinental alliances was fast- moving, with Hitler, Mussolini, Leon Blum’s 
Pop u lar Front, Stalinist Rus sia, and the British National Co ali tion 
shifting their positions. In London, Neville Chamberlain replaced 
Baldwin as prime minister in late May 1937.9 In Paris, Blum, who in-
stinctively (or quite rationally) distrusted Hitler, was stuck between a 
desire for assertiveness and vacillation across the Channel.10 As we have 
witnessed with regard to the July 25, 1936, decision not to arm the 
Spanish Republic, France’s foreign policy position was a conundrum.11 
Meanwhile the Soviet Union had greatly escalated its supplies to the 
Republic, though Stalin was extracting his pound of fl esh for it.12

On April 17, 1937, Schulmeister, a secret agent code- named after 
the celebrated Napoleonic spy, reported encouragingly to Madrid that 
Nazi support for Franco’s Nationalists seemed “to be on the descending 
curve.”13 It was neither the fi rst nor the last time Republican agents 
would advance such hopeful readings.14 Schulmeister argued that the 
cooling off  was a direct consequence of Franco’s re sis tance to further 
German economic penetration; this reticence had led Germans to back-
track on promises of military support. The agent claimed to have been 
privy to troop withdrawal discussions featuring Schacht and a well- 
connected American businessman, Norman Davies. The government 
in Madrid must have seen this as a particularly auspicious development 
considering Schacht’s standing and the fact that the internal disagree-
ments within the Nazi establishment remained, as far as we know, pri-
vate.15 Any reversal in Nazi support for Franco had the potential to 
change the balance of forces in the Civil War, in spite of recent Fran-
coist advances in the resource- rich Basque region.16 In the absence of 
the Condor Legion and Nazi supplies, Republicans could stop the Fran-
coist advance and, in the aftermath of a surprising victory in Guadala-
jara in March 1937, even stage a counteroff ensive.17

What transpired in Schacht’s subsequent meetings with Schulmeister 
seemed even more auspicious for Spain’s legitimate government. Ac-
cording to the Republican agent, Schacht appeared “happy to solve the 
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[Spanish] confl ict in an eco nom ically advantageous way [for Germany].” 
Schacht went even further: he expressed “willing[ness] to engage in a 
commercial agreement with Republican Spain.”18 Perhaps Franco was 
resisting further economic penetration too strongly, so much so that a 
strategic shift in German policy was conceivable. The alternative was 
that Schacht was attempting to craft his own foreign policy with re-
gard to Spain.

This document suggests that, aware as he was of Germany’s con-
straints and his own challenged position in Berlin, Schacht saw inter-
vention in Spain from an economic vantage point. Strategic concerns 
 were secondary, and ideology did not feature at all. According to the 
Republican agent, Schacht ventured that, “if things  were to be resolved 
well, Germany could absorb almost all [of Spain’s] agricultural produc-
tion.”19 At least in what he chose to share with the Republican agent, 
Schacht’s main interest was Spain’s continued contribution to the 
German economy. Importantly, however, he was less focused on raw 
materials for armaments production— such as the minerals HISMA’s 
staff  primarily pressed for— and more focused on the foodstuff s that 
cost his Reichsbank precious foreign exchange. As long as German eco-
nomic preeminence was respected, Schacht presumably did not care 
about the details of intervention—or even the ultimate outcome of the 
Spanish Civil War. This was a rather extreme claim on Schacht’s be-
half; any such fundamental change in foreign policy would have re-
quired Hitler’s explicit approval.20 Was he acting alone? It is impos-
sible to know for certain; yet these attempts at parallel diplomacy fi t 
squarely with the preoccupations of the envoys representing his min-
istry and, to an extent, the Auswärtiges Amt (Foreign Offi  ce): to main-
tain Germany’s newfound economic hegemony in Spain.

The foreign policy context of these discussions is especially instruc-
tive. Ever since August 1936— around the same time Göring became 
involved in the economy— Schacht had become personally engaged in 
bilateral negotiations with Blum’s government. These  were at the very 
least partially endorsed by Hitler. At their August 28, 1936, meeting, 
for instance, the French premier had expressed a desire to negotiate a 
commercial agreement with Germany. “I am a Marxist and a Jew,” Blum 
had said, “but we can arrive at nothing if we set up ideologies as insur-
mountable barriers.”21 Conversations  were tricky; Schacht insisted on his 
preferred mode of (economic) negotiation: bilateral over multilateral. 
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This was, it must be said, also Hitler’s preferred way to conduct for-
eign policy. But the French premier was open to an agreement that 
would address Germany’s perceived structural economic weaknesses.

France’s Entente allies  were not only aware of the meeting but  were 
also briefed in detail.22 In a long tele gram to Eden’s Foreign Offi  ce, 
Ambassador George Clerk complained from Paris that Nazi Germany 
“did not make use of normal [foreign policy] methods,” while acknowl-
edging Schacht’s domestic power: this was “not the fi rst time feelers of 
this kind  were put through Dr. Schacht.”23 What is more, Schacht had 
briefed and obtained approval from Hitler for his off ers in Paris, even 
if he lacked any “formal” foreign policy mandate.24 Working toward 
the Führer had always worked for him. The crucial point, however, 
was that Schacht saw a “Eu ro pean settlement” as dependent on eco-
nomic concessions for Germany and its access to raw materials.

When Blum argued that “it hardly seemed that the possession of a 
colony could be of such great importance to the German economy,” 
Schacht responded that “a return to the colonial sphere” was a sine qua 
non. From Schacht’s writings in the previous two de cades, we know 
that this “colonial sphere” concept did not depend on formal sover-
eignty. In exchange for those outlets, Germany could acquiesce to a 
reduction of armaments as well as a “general settlement” with Britain 
and France. While he saw a direct agreement with Rus sia as impos-
sible, Schacht envisaged practical ways to diff use tensions through “in-
direct guarantees.”25 It could not be denied the meeting with Blum 
went well. “I am ready to begin the conversation immediately,” he con-
cluded. This time around, the French  were forthcoming. A close con-
fi dante of Blum, André Blumel, later claimed negotiations advanced 
far more than was previously assumed.26

Yet an agreement never materialized. Eden refused to lend support 
to any colonial settlement along Schacht’s lines. In a personal note to 
“my dear Minister” Delbos, the British foreign secretary believed his 
Cabinet “colleagues” would not feel comfortable “carry[ing] these dis-
cussions further until they are in possession of a more complete and 
detailed appreciation of the attitude of the German government.”27 Eden 
insisted on offi  cial channels: “discussions . . .  through the diplomatic 
channel to prepare a Five Power conference.”28 Committed to the type 
of multiparty summit that had failed before (London) and would fail 
again (Munich), Eden rebuked Schacht’s unorthodox rapprochement. 
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His opposition ran deeper: Eden also alluded to a speech he had given 
in July at the Commons against too many concessions to Germany in 
the colonial sphere. If the point  were not clear enough, two weeks later 
Eden sent two communications in the same day to avoid “showing our-
selves too eager for agreement” with Germany, which “applied also to 
the initiative of Dr. Schacht.”29 Even before this letter, such intransi-
gence on German desires did not mean, however, the British govern-
ment was ready to fully abandon the strategy of economic appease-
ment.30 London’s support for German “moderates” was not without its 
limits.31

Eventually Hitler rejected Britain’s call for a new conference and Blum’s 
desire for multiparty talks.32 Increasingly, in the foreign sphere, “the 
Führer acted and the rest reacted.”33 Undaunted the Reichsbank presi-
dent returned to Paris in March 1937. Blum welcomed him once again.34 
It was presumably during this trip that Schacht met Schulmeister in 
person and discussed German intervention on Iberian soil. On May 
14, 1937, furthermore, in a technically off - the- record conversation be-
tween Schacht and a Republican emissary, the banker speculated on 
what it would take to get Germany out of Spain, linking an increas-
ingly eco nom ically focused intervention to a wider economic settle-
ment. He returned to the imperial framework that he had long advo-
cated: “In the fi rst place, colonies. And colonies where we can extract 
raw materials and in which our currency can circulate.”35 A few months 
later, with foreign policy tensions again running high, Schacht argued 
for a location where the economic power Germany wielded de facto 
in Spain could be awarded de jure and, one might add, with Anglo- 
French blessings.36 It was not as if the public in Britain or France was 
not used to such arguments; the polite 1920s Weimar- era discussions 
about colonies had given way to far more anxious debates. British and 
French audiences in the 1930s  were routinely bombarded with war- 
mongering literature. For instance, in the preface to the early 1939 
volume The Nazi Claims to Colonies, First Lord of the Admiralty Duff  
Cooper wrote, “Germany wants colonies for one reason and one reason 
only. She wants them in order to strengthen her strategic position and 
thus assist her to secure the dominion of the world.”37 Ultimately British 
intransigence on the colonial issue remained unchanged, dooming both 
Blum’s negotiations and Schacht’s hopes.38
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During these meetings with Republican agents, Schacht ventured a 
justifi cation for the German involvement in favor of Franco. “Nobody 
knows . . .  how we got dragged into this Spanish adventure,” he told 
Schulmeister with false naïveté. “We started simply as businessmen and 
providing war materials not only to Franco, but also to the other side.”39 
Such statements are dubious, particularly considering Hitler’s Wagner- 
inspired decision to supply Franco and only Franco within the Nation-
alist camp, of which Schacht and his bureaucracies (both at the Reichs-
bank and at the ministry) not only knew about but also explicitly 
approved.40 It may have been a purposeful lie, after all. After arguing 
that he had initially resisted intervention, just as the Foreign Ministry 
had, Schacht made a promise: “Germany will negotiate with France 
and Britain its full withdrawal from Spain, in exchange for very con-
crete concessions, mostly of [an] economic order.” 41 Preserved in Pres-
ident Azaña’s fi les, these documents underscore how much the primary 
goal of German involvement in Spain had changed since the eve ning 
of July 25, 1936. They also suggest a hitherto unknown Schachtian al-
ternative foreign policy path in Spain, one that would have maintained 
the focus on economic profi t.

By early 1937 the main driver of German involvement was economic 
in nature, linked to the Nazi regime’s domestic priorities. The HISMA- 
ROWAK dual monopoly remained beyond Schacht’s direct grasp even 
though it took advantage of a foreign economic strategy that he, above 
all others, designed and directed.42 Schacht’s desire for more oversight 
on the or ga ni za tion may well have rested on his po liti cal aims in Berlin, 
at a time when his power was being eroded. Bernhardt had eff ective 
operational in de pen dence on Iberian soil, meaning his fi nances  were 
opaque at best.43

The management style of HISMA operations in Spain collided with 
Schacht’s obsessive control.44 Not so Göring. The latter rarely missed 
a chance to abuse his position in order to expand his fortune; it was an 
issue that preoccupied him at Nuremberg, though little  else did.45 In a 
classic example, the Göring Fund for the Arts (Kunstfonds) was fi nanced 
by mandatory contributions taken from the wages of all the employees 
under his purview. This nonprofi t or ga ni za tion’s goal was art— only it 
would have been more fi tting to call it a “Fund for Göring.” After all, 
it set out to acquire artwork for the minister’s many homes, themselves 
often fi nanced by private companies and government bud gets.46 It was 
not merely top offi  cials who benefi ted from corruption: embezzlement 
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was rampant throughout Göring’s many fi efdom, and nowhere was this 
more apparent than in the or ga ni za tion that shadowed Schacht’s min-
istry. Although Göring, as Four- Year Plan plenipotentiary, banned black 
markets (an interesting theoretical concoction in and of itself ), his em-
ployees  were reluctant to enforce it because they profi ted from it.47 A 
few months after the occupation of Norway, for example, a German 
Relief Or ga ni za tion (Deutsches Hilfswerk) was set up in Oslo as a simple 
front for the transfer of loot to Party offi  cials.48 As we shall see, such 
thinly disguised looting would become a central tenet of the Nazi formal 
empire, in addition to standard corruption in the “civilian” adminis-
tration of occupied territories.49

It should therefore come as no surprise that HISMA- ROWAK, an 
exotic state- private hybrid in the Spanish theater, was reluctant to dis-
close the fi nal destination of its sizable profi ts. HISMA’s offi  cial auditor 
was convinced that Bernhardt was accumulating massive amounts of 
personal profi t from the company and dedicated his life to collecting 
evidence against him.50 Given Göring’s peripheral involvement in 
HISMA and the inherently corrupt nature of his organizations, it is 
certainly not a stretch to ascribe at least part of the po liti cal pressure to 
maintain the HISMA- ROWAK dual monopoly as personal rather than 
national economics. In any event, corruption was one of the issues that 
most irritated Schacht about the Party hierarchy generally and Göring 
specifi cally.

A likely reason Schacht’s negotiations with the Republic never pros-
pered was that, as had happened in late 1936, Franco gave in to German 
demands. In stark contrast to what his economic delegation had re-
quested in early 1937, the Nationalist leader duly withdrew the demand 
for a clearing agreement with Germany. He also stopped complaining 
about the HISMA- ROWAK dual monopoly that made German power 
in the Nationalist economy hegemonic. The reason is obvious: he simply 
could not do without Nazi war matériel. Under the strains of war, the 
symbiosis so favored by the Germans made sense to Spain’s National-
ists as well. Franco even went as far as to apologize for his delegates 
“exceeding instructions” in their arguing for the clearing agreement 
that would have undermined HISMA’s dominant role. In Spain it was 
business as usual.51

German demands on the Nationalist leadership multiplied. In mid- 
July 1937 Ambassador Faupel and Franco’s foreign minister, Gen. Fran-
cisco Gómez- Jordana, signed a secret protocol sealing the agreement 
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against Spanish interests; though, as per German desires, a trade agree-
ment was put off , the governments promised in “binding form their 
mutual endeavor to advance commerce between their countries . . .  [and 
their] earnest desire to assist one another to the greatest possible extent 
in the delivery of such raw materials, foods, semi- fi nished and fi nished 
products as are of par tic u lar interest to the recipient country.”52 The 
importance of this clause for the resource- constrained German economy 
is clear enough. This was a direct German imposition, brought about 
by imperial pressures. While weapons and men continued pouring in 
from Germany, Spain’s outstanding debt to the Reich soared. And 
through HISMA Spain’s Nationalist government relinquished a con-
siderable foreign exchange and, more important, its natural wealth and 
foodstuff s— high- quality ores, pyrites, and other minerals— for Ger-
many’s industrial needs.53

Back in Berlin, Göring’s Four- Year Plan or ga ni za tion did its best to 
contribute to economic growth; duplicating existing positions, its bu-
reaucracy grew exorbitantly.54 More than ever Schacht was convinced 
that Göring’s goals could not be reconciled with a stable economy. The 
program threatened to change from rearmament in the ser vice of eco-
nomic development to economic development only insofar as it funded 
rearmament. The logical conclusion of such policy was dangerous: Ger-
many would have to fi nd bigger outlets for its production than a lim-
ited civil war like Spain’s, where its policies of power projection and 
economic hegemony  were at the time quite successful.

All paths led to the Führer. Over the past few months Hitler and 
Schacht had had disagreements regarding the pace of rearmament and 
the birth of the Four- Year Plan. Since late 1936 Schacht had identifi ed 
the Four- Year Plan offi  ce as a bureaucratic enemy, instructing his staff  
not to take orders from it.55 This bureaucratic battle was elevated to 
Hitler repeatedly in late 1936 and 1937, around the time of Schacht’s 
failed negotiations with Republicans and in France.56 One of these dis-
cussions was featured in Albert Speer’s postwar memoirs; the Führer’s 
favorite architect remembered a day when Schacht and Hitler became 
entangled in a private discussion on the pace of rearmament. Speer 
counted it as one of the few times before the war when Hitler lost his 
self- control.57 He could hear them both from another room at Hitler’s 
Berghof retreat.58 “The dialogue grew increasingly heated on both sides 
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and then ceased abruptly,” Speer wrote. “Furious, Hitler came out on 
the terrace [of the Berghof ] and ranted about this disobliging, limited 
minister who was holding up rearmament.”59 Göring’s role must have 
come up. By then War Minister von Blomberg was sending increased 
funding requests for rearmament directly to Göring— not to Schacht.60 
Eventually Hitler managed to reassure Schacht, allegedly appealing to 
his ego and closing with a personal touch: “But Schacht— I’m fond of 
you.” 61 Far from making a choice, the Führer allegedly urged an un-
derstanding be found. Could one be found?62

On August 5, 1937, Schacht wrote to Göring that his Four- Year Plan 
priorities did not make economic sense. “You can’t bake bread or cast 
cannon from securities,” he wrote condescendingly. Schacht judged 
Göring’s plans to be highly ineffi  cient. He also asked his opponent to 
take over own ership of the results if he continued to insist on favors to 
his organizations and cronies: “I declared to you months ago that uni-
formity is indispensable in economic policy. . . .  I have previously stated 
that I consider your policy on matters of foreign exchange to be wrong 
and I am not able to share responsibility for it.” He also appealed to 
Hitler: “The excessive requisitioning of raw materials and labor for 
public buildings, armaments, and the Four Year Plan threatens to bring 
about a decline in our export trade.” Hitler knew that exports  were of 
crucial importance to the country’s fi nancial health— unless imports 
could be curtailed even further than they already  were under Schacht’s 
extensive internal control system. He also appealed to the Führer’s mem-
ories of the 1934 crisis, and implicitly the memory of Weimar’s hyper-
infl ationary chaos: “I wish to make it perfectly clear that if there is a 
decrease in foreign exchange accruing to us through exports, it stands 
to reason that the supply of raw materials will also slow down and this 
will lead to further gaps in our provision for buildings, armaments, and 
the Four Year Plan.” 63 This argument challenged Göring’s strategy of 
ever- increasing rearmament. In economics, unlike in Nazi politics, will 
alone did not suffi  ce.

While Schacht was fi ghting for his po liti cal survival, the economic 
penetration and commodity fl ow that German intervention had mate-
rialized in Spain was in demand in Berlin.64 In the larger context, how-
ever, preeminence in Spain and the Balkans was not quite enough if 
Schacht’s calls for a re orientation fell in deaf years. The Reichsbank 
president had come to believe the domestic economy was destined for 
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infl ation, collapse, or both. By late 1937, confronted with the reality 
of Göring’s grasp for economic power, however, Schacht worked to-
ward the Führer yet again. “There can only be one head of Economic 
Aff airs,” he wrote on October 8, 1937. “Who that head is to be, you, 
mein Führer, must decide according to the mea sure of your confi dence 
in the abilities and loyalty of the person appointed.” 65 Perhaps there 
was a reason Schacht placed abilities before loyalty in the letter.

With German business coming under further pressure to comply with 
Göring’s production goals, Schacht opted for the same path he had taken 
in the late 1920s: better an early exit than the collapse. Once again he 
explicitly warned of repressed infl ation in an economy tilted too far 
toward unchecked armament production. Shortages in both materials 
and labor  were by then obvious.66 This time around, Schacht closed 
his missive with a sardonic verse: “Said Göring, give me four years, 
and you’ll see / from the shackles of money I’ll set industry free / Here’s 
Schacht as hostage in the interim, / If I should bolt, you can strangle 
me.” In his note to the Führer he remarked pithily that the rhyme pre-
sented “a prospect which— speaking personally— fails to attract me.” 67 
It was hard to forget the fate of the regime’s purge victims.68

A few weeks later Schacht offi  cially lost control of fi scal matters. On 
November 28, 1937, Göring formally became (acting) minister of the 
economy and plenipotentiary of the war economy. It was the end product 
of what American prosecutors at Nuremberg appropriately synthesized 
as a “clash between two power- seeking individuals.” 69 But Schacht was 
not quite out. He retreated to being nothing more or less than presi-
dent of the Reichsbank; he also remained minister without portfolio.70 
He had furnished the man who now sidelined him with the structures 
and recovery that made rearmament, along with the Spanish adven-
ture, possible. Given Göring’s lack of fundamental understanding of 
economics, it is wholly unsurprising that changes in actual structure, 
rather than degree,  were not forthcoming.71 Schacht believed that Göring 
not only jeopardized economic sustainability but also risked a wider 
war. Paradoxically a key backer of Lebensraum had sidelined the most 
successful proponent of neo-Weltpolitik at a time when the imperial model 
favored by the latter conception of empire was tangible on Iberian soil. 
Upon entering Schacht’s offi  ce at the ministry, Göring allegedly asked, 
“How can one indulge in great thoughts in such a small room?”72 He 
then placed a call to the Reichsbank president: “Herr Schacht, I am 
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now sitting in your chair!” It was the kind of hubristic line that Schacht 
himself would have uttered to a humiliated opponent.

Göring’s Nazifi cation of the Economics Ministry did not change basic 
trade and economic policy structures; domestic authoritarianism con-
tinued, as did bilateral trade deals under the Neue Plan. In light of these 
developments in the po liti cal economy of the regime, the famous Hoss-
bach memorandum of November 1937— a key German foreign policy 
document outlining Hitler’s expansionism— can be read through a dif-
ferent lens, at least with regard to the Spanish Civil War.73 In atten-
dance  were the main military and economic decision makers save 
Schacht: Hitler, Göring, von Blomberg, Raeder, von Neurath, and Gen. 
Werner von Fritsch. The meeting outlined Hitler’s plans for formal em-
pire closely mirroring Lebensraum thought. The document also explic-
itly refers to the strategic advantage of a long war in Spain: Hitler di-
rectly argued that “[German] interest lay more in the prolongation of 
the war in Spain.”74 Both German and Spanish archives are fi lled with 
complaints, fi led around this time, in which Nationalist commanders 
protested through their ambassador in Berlin about Republican troops 
sporting German supplies.75 Could it be that, months after Schacht’s 
contacts with Schulmeister, the Nazis  were actually selling weapons to 
the Republic? The evidence is contradictory: Republicans did purchase 
German weapons, but Nazi offi  cials insisted it was only through a Dutch 
“weapons dealer.” The Spaniards, at least as far as the documents indi-
cate, believed them. It is unclear whether they had a choice.76 In truth 
the weapons seem to have been manufactured in Greece from a pro-
ducer with a German license.77

Ever the crowd- pleaser, Göring suggested at the meeting the “liq-
uidation of military undertakings in Spain.”78 But Hitler rejected the 
idea. A protracted war in Spain, in which Germany remained involved, 
would serve its interests strategically by diverting French and British 
interest. It is safe to infer that the continuation of hostilities would also 
serve to deepen German economic penetration in the Iberian economy. 
As we shall see, this contrasts starkly with concurrent Italian preoc-
cupations about their level of expenditure in Spain. But the German- 
Spanish trade system was then at its zenith, allowing Germans to pro-
vide weapons and get goods and assets in exchange. Dependence on 
the Third Reich was only bound to rise. The Hossbach conference also 
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specifi cally dealt with the German shortage of iron ore and food-
stuff s, the two key areas of focus in Spain.79 Spain alone would never be 
able to make up for all of Germany’s defi ciencies, yet informal em-
pire was making a key contribution. Yet Hitler moved in a diff erent 
direction; his eagerness to gamble and risk full-on confl agration is 
what led Gen. Ludwig Beck to say Hitler’s remarks  were “crushing 
[niederschmetternd].”80

Reading the transcripts critically, one could argue the conference 
may actually have vindicated Schacht’s more rational approach toward 
rebalancing the economy. In spite of the Four- Year Plan goals, Hitler 
had to face the fact that it was not possible to achieve Autarkie in food-
stuff s (given growth patterns and Darré’s policies) or ores (given ever- 
rising armaments production). These constraints have led some histo-
rians to argue that war in 1939 was necessary to hide the economic 
imbalances.81 Rather than changing course, Hitler pressed on. And in 
so doing he increasingly relied on men who, like Göring, believed in 
the triumph of will over economic reality. When von Neurath ap-
proached Hitler in January 1938 to discuss the strategy outlined in the 
Hossbach memorandum, the conservative diplomat argued that many 
of Hitler’s goals could be achieved, but only in time. Hitler’s response 
was that they had no more time: Germany was headed for war.82

The destiny of those who attended the Hossbach conference was in-
dicative of the regime’s internal radicalization.83 Only two months later, 
the messy “Fritsch- Blomberg aff air” sidelined the two highest- ranking 
Wehrmacht leaders, who  were accused of homosexuality and marrying 
a woman with a past, respectively.84 It was after this aff air that Walter 
Warlimont—of Condor Legion fame— altered the structure of the 
armed forces by creating the Oberkommando der Wehrmacht. Eff ec-
tively superseding the War Ministry and promoting generals less crit-
ical of Hitler’s rule, the OKW made military decisions more directly 
subordinate to the Führer.85

This fundamental shift at the core of the Nazi regime also trans-
lated into the foreign policy establishment. Radicalization permeated 
far and wide. On February 4, 1938, Hitler had von Neurath replaced 
by Joachim von Ribbentrop.86 Von Neurath— who, along with his 
deputy Dieckhoff , had been so weary of Franco’s pleas for help in the 
wake of the Civil War— had long wanted out of the Cabinet. Yet he 
had wished to leave his “anomalous and burdensome position to al-
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most anyone other than Ribbentrop.”87 The “former champagne mer-
chant,” as he was often referred to, was fervently devoted to Hitler. Ac-
cording to a pithy Goebbels, however, he had “bought his name, he 
married his money, and he swindled his way into offi  ce.”88 The con-
trast with his aristocratic, conservative pre de ces sor was stark. Mussolini 
later complained Ribbentrop belonged to the “category of Germans 
who are a disaster for their country,” for he “[talked] about making war 
right and left, without naming an enemy or defi ning an objective”— and 
that was coming from Mussolini.89 Schacht was not the only one on 
the way out; along with him went the last remnants of traditional con-
servatism from the Nazi Cabinet. Zeal remained.

Nazi internal politics had little bearing on the mechanics of inter-
vention in Spain. Nothing would alter the economic focus of the Spanish 
endeavor.90 With each Francoist conquest came more German- bound 
shipments of raw materials, from tungsten to iron ore, diverting trade 
away from Britain and France.91 HISMA’s corporate expansion was sim-
ilarly rapid: it opened branches in the major cities that fell to Franco’s 
armies, particularly when it came to the resource- rich North.92 Far from 
Berlin politics and close to the war front, an economic empire was taking 
root in Francoist Spain.

On November 4, 1937, the Burgos Embassy sent a secret memo-
randum to the Wilhelmstraße that outlined an important debate for 
the bilateral relationship.93 Dictated by Bernhardt himself, it complained 
about a new Spanish mining law limiting foreign own ership of Ibe-
rian mining assets to 25 percent of total capital.94 Bernhardt had been 
accumulating mining rights since the outbreak of the war, cleverly trans-
forming imports of German war supplies into direct investment in the 
Spanish economy. The means—as well as Bernhardt’s style— had often 
annoyed German government offi  cials, starting with Messerschmitt, 
but no changes  were made. When the Spaniards complained, they  were 
pushed aside. Bernhardt’s moves foresaw foreign direct investment 
without using foreign exchange or bullion, setting the bases of an in-
formal empire that transcended the trade dislocations of the Civil War. 
And mining rights, it must be noted,  were often taken directly from 
under the noses of the British and French, who had long delayed rec-
ognizing Franco’s government because of their governmental commit-
ment to nonintervention.95 Yet now Francoist authorities threatened 
to take it all away by reinstating national own ership over those assets.
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In all fairness the law was consistent with the nationalist and tradi-
tionalist ideology of a nascent Francoist dictatorship. It was also the 
closest Franco’s men had come to active re sis tance against German eco-
nomic hegemony.96 The terms of the report—as well as the formal and 
informal complaints elevated to Foreign Minister Gómez- Jordana and 
Nicolás Franco— illustrate the German reach in Francoist headquar-
ters. As per usual Bernhardt was clear about his objectives: “It is clear 
to us that the Montana project [German own ership of undeveloped 
Spanish mines, referring to the Spanish Montaña, literally ‘mountain’] 
constitutes the  whole aim and purpose of our assistance in Spain.” So 
much was, at this stage, clear. “The objective of our economic interest 
in Spain,” he continued, “must be the deep penetration into the main 
sources of Spanish wealth, namely agriculture and mining. Whereas 
the products of agriculture fall in the share of the German Reich more 
or less without eff ort, since the Spaniards are forced to fi nd a market, 
the mining problem is of tremendous importance in every respect.”97 The 
report spells out neo-Weltpolitik objectives as clearly as Schacht’s speeches 
did. The implication was that the only way to preserve German access 
to mining raw materials was to divert trade; given the international 
situation, prices, and foreign exchange, those materials would not go 
to Germany if the Spaniards  were allowed to trade freely. Most likely 
they would go to Britain, as had been the case before the Civil War.

No doubt Bernhardt worried about his role as an eff ective viceroy 
in Spain; a bad outcome in the negotiations, or indeed the success of 
rising British infl uence over Franco, could jeopardize his position.98 The 
tone of the attached description of the Montaña project, originally in-
volving own ership of no fewer than seventy- three mines all over Spain 
and Morocco, was even more confrontational: “[Germany] must make 
it evident to the leading fi gures in Nationalist Spain that Germany is 
engaged in an economic war and thus is also at war.” Bernhardt there-
fore borrowed from the regime’s rhetoric and concluded on a disin-
genuous comparative note: “Just as Germany immediately sent her help 
to her Spanish partner . . .  Germany has a claim to immediate deliv-
eries by Spain for her own economic war.”99 Through own ership, pref-
erably executed without using foreign exchange, he could assure that 
Spanish natural wealth continued to go to Germany in the aftermath 
of war, regardless of which market was ex ante preferable to Spain. 
HISMA would remain at the core of the Iberian economy. But unlike 
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on previous occasions, the disagreement over Montaña escalated. 
Throughout 1938 the mining own ership issue would come close to mo-
nopolizing German- Spanish relations.100

Almost simultaneously HISMA underwent an internal transforma-
tion aimed at diversifying its operations, becoming the Sociedad Fi-
nanciera Industrial Limitada (SOFINDUS).101 This German- controlled 
Iberian venture was meant to provide the sort of umbrella vehicle for 
all assets acquired during the Civil War that served German needs at 
home; acting as a holding company, it sought to own not only mines 
but also farming, trucking, and even clothing businesses. The farming 
sector was interestingly diversifi ed: hides, wool, furs, even wine. Even-
tually it would also be proposed to expand SOFINDUS into banking 
to cement its power in a future Francoist reconstruction; it would have 
amounted to a Nazi- sponsored development bank for German informal 
empire in Spain. In this sense HISMA evolved into a fully fl edged state- 
sponsored imperial company set up to operate freely and profi tably once 
the war in Spain had ended.102

When Faupel’s replacement, Ambassador Eberhard von Stohrer, met 
with Franco in Burgos on July 6, 1938, he had promising news. De-
spite relatively calm statements from London and Washington, tensions 
ran high in Prague and Paris in the aftermath of the Anchsluß. Con-
sistent with his Hossbach strategy of lengthening the Spanish Civil War, 
the Führer had approved a comprehensive restocking of the Condor 
Legion. These  were supplies Franco had been begging for, almost lit-
erally.103 Yet von Stohrer did not limit himself to delivering that news. 
He also took care to bring up German intentions of owning the mines 
that, under the new law,  were to remain domestically owned. He did 
so in language that reminded Franco of his dependent position.104 Franco 
also dutifully promised to make exceptions for German own ership as 
soon as he could.105 But he did not stop there. He also labeled as “un-
bridled enemy propaganda” the claims that his Nationalist war eff ort 
was dominated by the fascist powers.106 In light of his behavior, it is 
not diffi  cult to imagine why “enemy propaganda” spread those views.

After over two full years of civil war, Franco was nearing victory.107 
Some of the most respected historians of the confl ict have claimed that 
he was delaying victory in order to eliminate his enemies and further 
his personal power.108 German interests, as understood by Hitler, did 
not necessarily oppose a longer war. Yet Franco managed to annoy 
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Berlin on an issue beyond mine own ership: po liti cal alignment. Afraid 
of a late British and French intervention in a war that still raged on, 
Franco rushed to declare Spain’s neutrality hours before the hastily or-
ga nized Munich Conference in September 1938.109 It fell to Marquis de 
Magaz, Franco’s verbose ambassador in Berlin, to endure the ensuing 
complaints. Although Hitler had mentioned on at least two occasions 
his strategic desire to maintain Spain “benevolently neutral” in the event 
of war, in the aftermath of Munich the German diplomatic hierarchy 
chastened Franco’s rushed neutrality announcement.110 In order to pre-
vent further alienation, Magaz suggested that the Generalísimo write 
a letter explaining himself to Hitler directly. After all, “although these 
men make diplomacy with guns, they are quite susceptible to fl attery.” 
Magaz mentioned this idea to his superiors on at least three occasions, 
but nothing came of it.111

When negotiations for more war supplies resumed, however, German 
offi  cials no longer tried to conceal their primary concern: economic 
penetration.112 Far from asking for further ideological alignment, they 
brought up mine own ership yet again. During a private meeting State 
Secretary Count Ernst Weizsäcker obliquely told Magaz that Germany 
“expect[ed] Spain to show us its gratitude with some compensation of 
economic character we have been awaiting for some time.” This led 
the ambassador to conclude a report to Franco on a gloomy note: “I 
do not know what kind of economic prerogative he had in mind, though 
you can be sure they will be ambitious.”113

Bernhardt even traveled to Germany to press on the mining issue. 
“The visit to Berlin of Mr. Bernhardt to negotiate the deliveries of war 
materiel may have put this  whole issue around the compensation to 
HISMA,” wrote Magaz. “I would not be surprised if he wanted this 
or ga ni za tion to continue after the end of the war, and that he brought 
up the mining question again, so intrinsically related to HISMA.” Some 
days later, in a meeting with Condor Legion commander von Rich-
thofen, Magaz wrote to Madrid, “The root of this retrospective in-
dignation is economic and what Richthofen expressed is the cause of 
present disinterest.” Even the Condor Legion leadership understood the 
economic prerogative. Only after the economic discussion did Rich-
thofen mention “a moral cause [going back to the neutrality declara-
tion], more or less justifi ed, that we must vanish.”114
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In the aftermath of Munich, Schacht’s Reichsbank tried once more 
to change the direction of German economic policy. Perhaps it was 
the banker’s swan song from the upper echelons of Nazi power.115 In a 
momentous internal memorandum, the Reichsbank described a plau-
sible new path for German economic policy: from unbridled rearma-
ment to more balanced growth, eff ectively the transformation from the 
“current war economy to a peacetime economy.”116 The alternative was 
dangerous: monetary expansion for ever- higher rearmament led to the 
“infl ationary creation of money,” labor squeezes furthered wage pres-
sures, and exports once again languished. Echoing a warning from 
Schacht to Hitler a few months before, the Reichsbank worried about 
a potential balance of payments crisis that would also handicap for-
eign policy; the internal stability of the regime would no longer be 
guaranteed.

Rather than further undermining it, it was now imperative to have 
the Reichsbank “underpin not an expansive power politics, but a policy 
of peaceful reconstruction.” The central bank could taper its interven-
tion in the economy; it could carefully withdraw excess liquidity and 
redirect credit while a reduction in “nonmarketable goods”— a euphe-
mism for armaments— shifted demand away from the state and into 
other sectors. This would avoid a hard landing. Po liti cally too this would 
have implications: it would sideline the Four- Year Plan and Göring’s 
aggressive autarkic goals that had unbalanced Schacht’s constructs. “This 
task is diffi  cult . . .  however, it is also possible,” the report concluded.117

Schacht made the argument for rebalancing publicly on October 15, 
1938, even though the Reichsbank continued to fl oat long- term gov-
ernment bonds to fi nance rearmament. In his view informal empire, 
projected through economic power and implemented through trade 
deals and aggressive diplomacy, remained far preferable to the possi-
bility of war. What he did not know, however, was that the day before 
Göring had approved a new “gigantic [armaments] program compared 
to which previous achievements are insignifi cant” at an Air Ministry 
conference.118 The plan followed Hitler’s personal directives; the new 
orders only further turned up the dial on rearmament. Far from ap-
peasing Hitler, the actual consequence of the Munich Conference was 
a further radicalization of Nazi rearmament aims.119 Closely averting war 
did not mean peace. Rather the economics of German war readiness 
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made confl agration into a logical policy conclusion. Though this pro-
foundly worried Schacht, it did not bother Göring. For the acting 
minister, competition for continental resources made war a matter of 
when, not if. A month later, on November 29, Schacht gave a speech 
crediting economic policy for the German foreign policy that had 
delivered the Sudetenland and Anschsluß.120 Even then hubris was 
powerful. Privately, however, Schacht would reiterate these rebalancing 
arguments in early 1939, including at a conference with Hitler and 
through Reichsbank reports urging a change in policy direction. But 
his private worries fell on deaf ears.121

At that time no less than 30 percent of German fi nal economic output 
was in the armaments sector. Spanish raw materials would be instru-
mental to these designs. But would they come? At the time steady sup-
plies from HISMA seemed secure. With the continent still at peace and 
Spain still at war, German hegemony in Spain was intact. Franco soon 
yielded to Nazi demands. In a memorandum on December 19, 1938, 
the Spanish Foreign Ministry formally accepted German own ership in 
fi ve companies that went far beyond what the Nationalist mining law 
formally allowed.122 These ventures controlled almost all of the mining 
developments originally known as the Montaña project, and all Spanish 
nationals involved  were mere representatives of German capital and, 
consequently, of Hitler’s interests. Four of the companies would be lo-
cated in mainland Spain and a fi fth one, Mauritania, in resource- rich 
Morocco. This implied that the wealth of Spain’s last colonial outpost 
would also be put to work to German benefi t. To call this a “voca-
tion” for empire is an understatement.

Some scholars have focused on the mines’ relatively small absolute 
size and that none were wholly owned by Germany. Yet own ership 
percentages hardly mattered from the perspective of resource extrac-
tion. In a truly colonial setting, as long as laws  were written with ex-
ceptions to accommodate German desires, there was no need for full 
own ership.123 In fact as early as July 9, 1938, Bernhardt had written in 
a secret note that Germany could control all relevant mining exports with 
capital participation as low as 40 percent.124 On most of the ventures, 
therefore, the Germans had achieved more than was strictly necessary to 
assure their produce would be directed toward the economic hegemon 
and nowhere  else.
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HISMA’s structure was embryonic for a reason: Spanish debts would 
allow Germany to compensate for the fact that Anglo- French invest-
ments in Spain had been considerably larger than Germany’s before the 
Civil War and would grow HISMA into the largest vehicle of invest-
ment and extraction in the country.125As part of the payment for the 
outstanding debts with Germany, the Nationalist government also 
agreed to provide local funding for the launch of operations by the new 
HISMA- controlled companies, which complemented state funds trans-
ferred from Berlin to Bernhardt. This allowed for certain compensa-
tion for Germany’s relative fi nancial weakness, Schacht’s long- standing 
chimera now formally inherited by Göring. Consequently not even the 
establishment of directly controlled companies to exploit Spain’s nat-
ural wealth would require the use of German foreign exchange; such 
was the extent of Spain’s dependence. There was no choice but to 
oblige.126

HISMA had therefore turned into a German off shore investment ve-
hicle. By late 1938 SOFINDUS had been moved from Portugal to Spain 
and planned further expansions far beyond mining: from winemaking 
(Hermanos Scholtz in Málaga) to vertically integrated transport (Trans-
portes Marion in Salamanca) to logistics (Nova in Salamanca). Tensions 
between Bernhardt and offi  cial Foreign Ministry representatives not-
withstanding, Ambassador von Stohrer sent a rather self- congratulatory 
year- end report to Berlin. At times the document reads much more like 
a corporate quarterly fi ling than a foreign policy report. In it von Stohrer 
outlines how virtually every single issue of contention in the previous 
year had ultimately been resolved according to German wishes. It stands 
to reason this self- congratulation described a bilateral relationship that 
resembled the type of German economic de pen dency hitherto ascribed 
only to the Balkans and Central Eu rope. Of all of the German embas-
sies, the Burgos Embassy was one where matters progressed, sooner or 
later, to the Third Reich’s economic benefi t.127 Could anything alter 
the pattern of economic penetration by Germany into the Spanish 
economy?

As it turns out, it could. Yet before turning to the world war pe-
riod, another intervention highlights the uniqueness of the German eco-
nomic designs and execution in Spain. Franco was dependent not only 
on German intervention but also on Italian support. Fascist support for 
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the Spanish rebellion predated the failed coup d’état that triggered civil 
war. And Mussolini spent far more resources than Hitler in his very 
own Spanish adventure. Yet none of the hegemonic benefi ts material-
ized in the context of Schacht’s foreign economic strategy translate to 
Italy. Particularly when contrasted with Germany’s, Italy’s adventure 
in Spain was an expensive way to keep up a façade— that of Italy as a 
great power.



chapt e r  e ight

“HATEFUL TO GOD AND TO HIS ENEMIES”

Incontanente intesi e Forthwith I comprehended, 
 certo fui  and was certain,
che questa era la setta that this the sect was of the 
 d’i cattivi,  caitiff  wretches
a Dio spiacenti e a’ hateful to God and to His
 nemici sui.  enemies.

— Dante, L’Inferno, III, 61–63

fter almost two de cades in power, Benito Mussolini’s inner circle 
had witnessed many a crisis by 1939. But few  were more taxing 
than the months between the Munich Agreement in September 

1938 and a second Czech crisis the following March. Despite il Duce’s 
bombastic role as “peacemaker” in Munich, continental politics did not 
progress as he expected. Nazi belligerence only escalated further and 
“Eu ro pean peace”— a concoction that necessarily ignored the ongoing 
Spanish Civil War— seemed increasingly like a precarious mirage. In 
March 1939 Count Galeazzo Ciano, Mussolini’s son- in- law and Italy’s 
precocious foreign minister, was particularly anxious even while 
surrounded by positive news.1 In Spain Franco prepared to march on 
Madrid, a goal that had eluded him for two years. In Ethiopia the 
Italian “civilizing mission” moved forward.2 Ciano did not lose sleep 
over Italy’s many continental antagonists— France, Britain, the Soviet 
Union, or even the dwindling Republic— but was anxious about 
Germany, unequivocally its closest ally.3

A
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The anxiety was well- founded. On March 14 news reached Palazzo 
Chigi, the imposing home of Ciano’s ministry overlooking Marcus Au-
relius’s imperial column, that Hitler’s Wehrmacht had marched into Bo-
hemia. Czech o slo vak i a was no more, and with it went Chamberlain’s 
delusion of “peace in our time.” “The Axis functions only in favor of 
one of its parts,” Ciano complained privately, “which tends to acquire 
overwhelming proportions, acting entirely on its own initiative, with 
little regard for us.” 4 Italy had been kept in the dark. The situation hardly 
changed when Prince Philip of Hesse, Hitler’s personal go- between 
with Mussolini, arrived to make excuses.5 Hesse cited Czech refusals 
to demobilize and incriminating contacts with Stalin. “Such pretexts 
may be good for Goebbels’s propaganda, but they should not use them 
when talking to us,” Ciano wrote scathingly. “[We] are guilty only of 
dealing too loyally with the Germans.” 6 Mussolini stiff ened when Hesse 
warned against any “large action” in response— a euphemism for an 
Italian annexation: “In case of war with France we shall fi ght alone, 
without asking Germany for a single man.”7 Later Ciano refl ected, “It 
is useless to deny that all this concerns and humiliates the Italian people.” 
So a further annexation was the answer: “It is necessary to give them 
[Italians] satisfaction and compensation: Albania.” As soon as the Spanish 
Civil War came to an end, the Fascist leadership would deliver it.8

When Hesse left, “unhappy and depressed,” Mussolini confessed his 
reluctance to relay the news even to the sycophantic Fascist press. “Ital-
ians would laugh at me,” he worried. “Every time Hitler grabs a country 
he sends me a message.”9 By eve ning depression had given way to res-
ignation. “We must, after all, take the German trick with good grace.” 
Mussolini then turned to Dante’s immortal verses to justify his volte- 
face: Italy could not aff ord to be “a Dio spiacenti e a’ nemici sui [hateful 
to God and to His enemies].”10

Il Duce had a point. After the League of Nations drama over the 
invasion of Ethiopia, Italian- German intervention in the Spanish Civil 
War, the formation of the Axis and the anti- Comintern Pact, his ac-
quiescence to the Nazi takeover of Austria (Anschluß) in March 1938 
and Munich in September, Mussolini had thrown Italy’s lot in with 
Hitler’s Germany. The following June the Italian dictator would double 
down on that gamble when, seduced by the spoils of seemingly un-
stoppable Blitzkrieg, he declared war on France and Britain. In the long 
run, however, the strategic choice would doom his Fascism.
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If Ciano was right about one thing, it was that the Axis did not work 
equally for its partners. A similar conclusion could have been drawn 
from the experience of the two countries’ fi rst alliance, the one sealed 
over their decisive intervention in the Spanish Civil War. In stark con-
trast with Germany’s self- serving and eco nom ically driven goals, Italy 
shed more blood and trea sure in Spain. Yet it got little in return. As is 
the case with German intervention, it is hard to argue against the im-
portance of Italian involvement in Franco’s war eff ort.11 Italian supplies 
may have been less cutting- edge than Germany’s, yet what it did not 
provide in quality, Italy more than exceeded in quantity: over six hun-
dred planes and a thousand artillery pieces.12 No fewer than seventy 
thousand Italian men, formally “volunteers,” saw action on Spanish soil 
in what came to be known as the Corpo di Troppe Voluntarie (CTV).13 
Given that scale of intervention, it is unsurprising that scholars talked 
about an “undeclared Italian invasion” of Spain.14

Shortly after the end of Fascism, Mussolini’s former ambassador to 
Spain, Roberto Cantalupo, published a melancholic memoir of his mis-
sion. Regretting the lives lost, he argued that Italy had become trapped 
in a vicious cycle of Iberian loss and escalation.15 The historiography 
of the Civil War agreed with this argument, arguing for the primacy 
of ideology for Mussolini.16 Thomas supports this view by citing the 
private reasons Mussolini gave his wife, Rachele, as well as his ideas 
about “shaping” Fascist character through confl agration: “When the 
war in Spain is over, I shall have to fi nd something  else.”17 A classic 
Puzzo study implicitly agrees, reinforcing the importance of Fascist 
troops for Franco.18 In 1975 John Coverdale published an illuminating 
volume that saw intervention as a bid for international status as well as 
continuation of Mussolini’s long- standing anti- Republican policy. Italy 
sought to defend Fascism in Spain, even when they did not see Franco 
as an ideal vehicle for it.19 Economic considerations  were secondary at 
best.

The intervention in Spain did become a rare point of agreement be-
tween two opposing schools when Italian historiography undertook a 
reassessment of the Fascist era.20 Despite their deep diff erences, Alex-
ander de Grand and Renzo de Felice agree on the scant advantages de-
rived from Mussolini’s adventure in Spain.21 As a corollary to the un-
productive German alliance, De Grand devotes but a short paragraph 
to the “minimal . . .  short- term” economic benefi ts in Spain, ultimately 
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failing “even to serve as a stimulus for further Italian rearmament.”22 
In 1993 Vincenzo Giura published a more thorough analysis, drawing 
from unpublished Italian documents but failing to link the interven-
tion to wider Fascist policy and the German alliance.23

The purpose of contrasting German and Italian interventions is to 
underscore the uniqueness of the Nazi project on Iberian soil. Not un-
like the German commitment, Fascist involvement in Spain spiraled. 
Although Mussolini always chose to prioritize the mirage of Italian im-
perial largesse, there  were men within his administration who tried to 
make Italy benefi t eco nom ically from its transfers to Spain, or at least 
recoup the investments. Among them Filippo Anfuso and Felice Guar-
neri, the chief of staff  at Ciano’s ministry and the minister of foreign 
exchange, respectively, stand out. Yet their eff orts  were generally weak, 
uncoordinated, and late. Ultimately intervention in Spain not only 
brought Italy closer to Germany but also tied the Fascist government 
to a larger, better developed, and increasingly aggressive “partner” that 
rarely behaved as such.

An Italian “invasion of Spain” would have been unthinkable when 
Benito Mussolini was born.24 Around the turn of the century parlia-
mentary democracy had developed into an oligarchic system dubbed 
“Giolittian reformism” after Prime Minister Giovanni Giolitti, who ar-
gued for gradualism in the aftermath of a “unifi cation” pro cess that had 
actually resembled a conquest.25 Giolitti ruled over a demographic rev-
olution, characterized by rapid urbanization and a “great sprout” in 
manufacturing. He maintained power with a careful balance of author-
itarian control in the South and protective tariff s to buy off  industrial 
elites. In foreign aff airs Italy pursued a “case- study of dishonesty” to 
avoid static alliances.26

Bourgeois aspirations found outlets in nationalism and imperialism.27 
Benito Amilcare Andrea Mussolini fi rst followed his father into the So-
cialist ranks, where he became devoted to overthrowing Giolitti’s 
system.28 Yet an early passion for war distanced him from traditional 
pacifi sts. Irreverent, impassioned, and intellectually restless, he argued 
for intervention in World War I as editor of the Socialist outlet L’Avanti. 
Forced out, and fi nanced by pro- war industrialists, he soon reappeared 
as the founder of Il Popolo d’Italia, a newspaper that became the seedbed 
for his nascent ideology. Torn between the Leninist aspirations of mil-
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itant Socialists and the trumped expansionist dreams of nationalists, the 
Giolittian system crumbled. The forces of revolution and reaction  were 
unleashed; as in Restoration Spain, reaction would prevail and do so, 
paradoxically, through a former Socialist.29

The key backing for Mussolini’s Fascio di Combattimento did not 
come from cities but from agrarian organizations in the depressed coun-
tryside.30 It was therefore a constituency analogous to that which lent 
Hitler its earliest electoral support.31 The Fascist movement soon grew 
into an amalgam of disillusioned war veterans, nationalistic students, 
and reactionary landowners.32 A year later, and with fi nancial backing 
from industrial elites weary of Socialism, Mussolini orchestrated a 
masterful public relations coup: he marched on Rome and into 
government.33

Once in power Mussolini strengthened the executive and developed 
a personal myth. Everything from needless memoranda to key policy 
programs required the characteristic M scribbled on them for approval. 
His movement underwent a profound transformation when the quasi- 
revolutionary aspirations of the agrarian right  were abandoned for It-
aly’s traditional pillars of power: crown and galero. Long gone  were 
the anticlerical and republican promises in the streets of Milan, where 
Socialists like the young Mussolini had promised to “hang the last Pope 
with the guts of the last King.”34

Fascism had no ex ante economic platform.35 As part of a maneuver 
to secure industrial support, Mussolini made Alberto De Stefani fi nance 
minister.36 His classically liberal program, which brought rapid growth 
and international respect for the authoritarian regime, was far removed 
from the policies we associate with fascist economic management today. 
In a momentous speech at the Fascist Congress in Naples, De Stefani 
expressed his belief in capital accumulation and bud get balancing as 
the way to make up for emigration and further develop Italian industry. 
He proposed a “productivistic” approach toward business, which ef-
fectively meant leaving it alone.37 Spending was cut, mainly by fi ring 
almost a hundred thousand public sector employees, and some taxes 
 were axed. To implement a program of “economy, work, and disci-
pline,” Mussolini got more powers from Parliament.38 In his Italy po-
liti cal dictatorship and economic liberalism seemed like viable bedfel-
lows. Yet in the mid-1920s the prospect of a Weimar- like hyperinfl ation 
haunted a regime cut off  from international capital markets.39 Despite 
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public spending limits, De Stefani’s rapid industrial development com-
bined high growth with high infl ation. In the po liti cal sphere, the as-
sassination of the young, charismatic Socialist leader, Giacomo Mat-
teoti, moved the regime further from the rule of law. It also silenced 
opposition.40 It was a harbinger of totalitarianism.

In the economic sphere change came from within, with banker and 
industrialist Giuseppe Volpi replacing De Stefani.41 A new economic 
program involved tighter controls on state spending, more trade pro-
tectionism, and the seduction of foreign investors— particularly Wall 
Street—to refi nance Italy’s (already) sizable foreign debt.42 The following 
October a landmark deal was struck in Washington to refi nance World 
War I debts and access markets in an issue fl oated by J. P. Morgan.43 
The next step in the path to pre– World War I fi nancial normality was 
reestablishing gold convertibility.44 Two late 1920s policies became sym-
bols of Fascist economic management: the Rocco laws and the “Quota 
90.” The former, named after an obsequious justice minister whom 
Mussolini called “the legislator of the Fascist revolution,” eff ectively 
outlawed po liti cal dissent. Lockouts and strikes became illegal, while 
Fascist trade  unions  were now responsible for “representing labor.” In 
theory this was a step toward Fascist “corporatism,” where top- down 
control promised better or gan i za tional outcomes than unbridled com-
petition between labor and capital. Rocco argued that Fascism did “not 
abolish the individual . . .  but subordinates him to society, leaving him 
free to develop on lines that will benefi t [his] fellow men.” 45 In its third 
way between capitalism and Socialism, the regime promised to spawn 
a “new breed of men,” a concept that had almost negligible racial im-
plications, at least in the 1920s. In practice Fascist principles applied to 
industrial or ga ni za tion meant labor was oppressed— and ruthlessly so.

The so- called Quota 90 involved an aggressive revaluation of the 
Italian currency, the lira: 90 lire to the British pound. Its goal was 
boosting credibility and alleviating high infl ation. Since a speech in 
Pesaro announcing the “battle of the lira” on August 18, 1926, Mus-
solini had intertwined Italy’s currency with his popularity: “From this 
square to all the world I say I will defend the lira to the last breath, to 
the last drop of blood.” 46 Rhetorical fl ourish aside, an overvalued ex-
change rate became a symbol of government status just as it did in Britain 
a year before. And, like in Britain, the economic consequences of such 
policies  were disastrous. Despite the benefi ts it could accrue in terms 
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of foreign debts, Italy’s trading partners, creditors, and even the cen-
tral bank opposed the revaluation; the peg was simply too high, making 
the country helplessly uncompetitive in international markets.47 Growth 
suff ered. And yet, in Mussolini’s Italy appearances weighed more than 
economic facts.48

The defl ationary eff ects of the Quota 90 ensured that Italy did not have 
much boom for the Depression to bust. As could have been expected, 
the fall in both external and internal demand caused unemployment 
to rise considerably before 1929.49 Though Italy did not necessarily fare 
worse than the rest of Eu rope in the Depression, industrial production 
still fell by a third between 1929 and 1932, and did so from a low base. 
In this context unemployment tripled as the government imposed across- 
the- board cuts.50

It was then that Fascism jettisoned economic orthodoxy. At fi rst the 
regime turned inward. Semioffi  cial enti and instituti  were formed to favor 
corporatist production. Inspired by German cartels, Italian industrial-
ists  were encouraged to participate in consorzi, decreasing competition. 
The Industrial Reconstruction Institute, modeled after Herbert Hoover’s 
Reconstruction Finance Corporation, aimed at sustaining production 
in the face of an avalanche of private defaults.51 The resulting deep pen-
etration of the state in the economy would long outlive the Fascist re-
gime. Henceforth industrial production and prices  were micromanaged 
by syndicates, the Confi ndustria association of business (which remains 
a staple of modern Italy), and il Duce himself. The regime also pushed 
for the expansion of public works and welfare programs to kick- start 
growth.52 As elsewhere in Eu rope, the seeds of the welfare state  were 
planted.

Predictably these mea sures made a mockery of bud get discipline: the 
defi cit grew sevenfold between 1930 and 1933, and the public roster 
almost doubled. Following the 1931 banking crisis, the Fascist govern-
ment also stepped in to bail out its banking system, which in eff ect gave 
the government a central role in domestic fi nance.53 Financial crisis ex-
acerbated centralization, autocracy, and fi nancial heterodoxy. But cour-
tesy of the regime’s eff ective propaganda, many around the world  were 
impressed by Rome’s “third way.” “Italy has become a Mecca of po-
liti cal scientists, economists, and sociologists,” wrote an émigré Har-
vard professor in 1936.54
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On the trade front Italy sought retaliation for its main partners’ pro-
tectionism.55 Mussolini’s government imposed trade restrictions and ex-
change controls, alienating Italy from its traditional markets. “Buy 
Italian” became a belligerent slogan.56 Emulating German policy at the 
same time, Rome sought to expand trade with less developed coun-
tries. By the end of 1934 Italy had signed bilateral clearing deals with 
Hungary, Bulgaria, Romania, Yugo slavia, Turkey, and Germany, and 
partial ones with Argentina and Chile.57 But the Italian industrial base 
was far more limited than Germany’s, as  were its trade successes.

Never enthralled by economics, Mussolini was fascinated by diff erent 
victories. The fascist worldview implied that “remaking man” could be 
achieved only by spilling blood in the ser vice of a “fascist collective”—
as opposed to “capitalist individual”— ideal. As the Depression deep-
ened, Roman imperial references multiplied: Mars entered the pantheon 
of Fascist gods. It did so with a bang.58 Offi  cial documents confi rm 
that preparations began in late 1933 for the Fascist invasion of Ethiopia, 
one of Africa’s last in de pen dent states.59 An off ensive hoped to unite 
that territory with Somaliland in a power play that pitted Italy against 
British interests.60 Success would give Italy economic and po liti cal 
control over a vast, contiguous African territory with considerable 
economic potential. Or so was the plan. Italy returned to a period of 
economic growth around the time preparations  were made to forge a 
(larger) “place in the sun.” 61 Beyond dispute, the Fascist drive for colo-
nial expansion was seen then as a profi table endeavor in terms of natural 
wealth to be acquired as well as domestic industrial production in 
war- related industries.62 The evidence from other Eu ro pean countries 
seemed to confi rm this perspective. Only after 1945 would these views 
change.63

The Ethiopian war further weakened the feeble League of Nations.64 
The British and French  were unwilling to break relations with Mus-
solini, whom they had successfully relied upon to contain Hitler a year 
before to protect Austrian in de pen dence.65 This strategy led to the 
Hoare- Laval plan, a precursor of appeasement that sought to save dip-
lomatic face while giving Italy a free hand.66 Mussolini spun it as a tri-
umph. When leaked, opinion across Eu rope rightly perceived it as a 
betrayal of Ethiopia.67 Almost reluctantly the League imposed economic 
sanctions, curtailing Italy’s access to the Balkan markets.68
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Two months before the beginning of the Spanish Civil War, on May 
9, 1936, Mussolini appeared for a speech before half a million Italians. 
Only a week earlier contracts had been signed in Rome promising 
funding and supplies for Iberian conspirators. Overlooking a refash-
ioned Via dell’Impero from his favorite balcony, the dictator explained 
that the Italian state had ceased to simply be a monarchy: after “four-
teen years of irrepressible energy and discipline of youth,” it was now 
an empire.69 King Victor Emmanuel III, sleepless after staring at an Af-
rican map all night, was now king of Italy and emperor of Ethiopia. 
Although the preferred historical analogies  were Roman, echoes of Vic-
torian Britain  were not too distant. Mussolini reserved for himself the 
title “Founder of the Empire.” Though uncorroborated, the rumor was 
that the king had toyed with the idea of naming him prince, but Mus-
solini declined, fearing some old Fascists would disapprove. Regard-
less, tributes to the new Augustus multiplied: Mussolini was now ge-
nius, statesman, Caesar.70

It was none other than poet- cum- politician Gabriele D’Annunzio 
who had revived the imperial rhetoric il Duce appropriated: “Even if 
the coast of Tripoli  were a desert, even if it would not support one 
peasant or one Italian business fi rm, we still need to take it to avoid 
being suff ocated in mare nostrum.”71 In the aftermath of victory, the aged 
poet wrote to the politician who had fulfi lled his unrealized dreams: 
“You have subjugated all the uncertainties of fate and defeated every 
human hesitation. . . .  You have nothing more to fear.”72 The Italian 
economy, however, struggled after an expensive, diffi  cult war. The 
bud get defi cit was so extreme that Italy was forced to go off  the gold 
standard and devalue 41 percent to regain competitiveness. And yet a 
1937 pamphlet detailed the “economic development” that Fascist rule 
had allegedly brought to Ethiopia, the heart of “Italian East Africa.”73 
Conquest and colonization  were veiled in mission civilisatrice termi-
nology: “At the moment of Italian occupation, Ethiopia was in a state 
of disintegration . . .  suff ering from a paralysis which had endured for 
centuries, thus preventing the vast resources of Ethiopia from being 
developed for the benefi t of mankind.” Yet one nation had intervened 
to right this wrong: “Italy was obliged to begin everything from the 
very beginning . . .  and within two years [it] has laid the foundations 
of a new civil and economic system.”74 Tellingly for a time of broken 
international trade, the pamphlet’s fi rst page featured an illustration 
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of the raw materials Italy could procure from Ethiopia. Then it de-
tailed the workings of the new empire: state- sponsored banks, indus-
trial conglomerates, migrant labor, and the introduction of the lira.75 
This last move had allowed Mussolini’s overworked foreign exchange 
minister, Felice Guarneri, to reduce allocation of foreign exchange for 
certain raw materials. Yet it was no game changer: the glittering em-
pire could not be relied upon for key industrial inputs. In what can 
be seen as a preview of the Spanish intervention, the African empire 
cost far more resources than it generated, with the war alone costing 
12 billion lire.76 And yet Mussolini saw it as the “greatest colonial war 
in all history.”77 If only reality had matched the propaganda.78

In the context of sanctions, Hitler’s Germany served as deus ex 
machina: it provided Mussolini with a diplomatic lifeline in the midst 
of continental isolation.79 Leaving behind their Austrian disagreements, 
the dictators came together over Italian rights to empire, thwarting 
French desires to drive Rome away from Berlin. Such rapprochement 
proved a smart gamble for Hitler’s anti- League policy, conducted— like 
the Spanish decision— increasingly outside the structure of von Neur-
ath’s Auswärtiges Amt. The Italian economy by 1936 had promising 
outlets for expansion but suff ered from similar limitations on strategic 
raw materials, foreign exchange, and markets as its newfound ally.

Mussolini did not take time to consolidate. Instead he jumped on 
another opportunity to assert Fascist power, this time in the western 
Mediterranean. When Francoist envoy Luis Bolín off ered payment 
guarantees against what ever supplies Italy could provide to the Nation-
alist war eff ort, Ciano responded, “Mister Bolín, Mister Bolín, the 
eventuality of those payments has not even crossed our minds.” Inter-
vention was not a matter of money, for “if we did what you suggest . . .  
we would become active belligerents in a civil war.”80 As it turns out, 
Bolín’s self- aggrandized account was incorrect; contracts that involved 
fi nancier Juan March detailed payments in exchange for promised sup-
plies for the rebellion. It is almost inconceivable that a date for the up-
rising had not been discussed.81 And yet, when rebellion materialized, 
Mussolini dithered. Only on July 25, following a call from the exiled 
Spanish king, further fi nancial backing, and sensationalistic news about 
Blum’s eagerness to help the Republic, did Mussolini give his blessing. 
Thus Savoia- Marchetti aircraft joined the Junkers airlifting Francoist 
troops from Morocco.82
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Italy and Germany had in de pen dently agreed to support Franco when 
the Quai d’Orsay formally proposed a policy of nonintervention to make 
up for Prime Minister Blum’s volte-face from his stated desires to arm 
the Republic. At the time and in secret, Abwehr head Adm. Wilhelm 
Canaris and his Italian counterpart, Gen. Mario Roatta, discussed pro-
viding supplies in “roughly” equal amounts.83 Such bilateral meetings 
had been an innovation created by the Abyssinian crisis.84 Yet Spain 
forced even closer collaboration. On August 7, as the continental press 
roared with news of French supplies being smuggled into Spain, Rome 
shipped twenty- seven fi ghter planes, twelve anti- aerial guns, and fi ve 
tanks. They  were destined for the southern front, where Nationalists 
 were making headway from rebel- held Seville. By the end of August 
1936, at another rendezvous, Canaris and Roatta agreed to share de-
tails of their Iberian involvement, coauthoring a memorandum that de-
tailed every last machine gun sent.85 The agreements stipulated a pref-
erence for Franco over all other generals in Nationalist Spain, which 
matched Hitler’s July 25 decision. This only strengthened Franco’s grip 
on power, even though—as we have seen—he was not part of the orig-
inal Junta. It involved a change of focus from prerebellion contracts in 
Rome. Preempting Italian designs for Mediterranean bases, Canaris pro-
posed a clause abandoning all territorial claims over Spanish territory.86 
Ciano eventually agreed, relieved to hear there would be no German 
demands on Morocco. Yet, as we have seen, German eff orts in Spain 
by this time  were already shifting toward economic rather than terri-
torial goals. As diplomatic contact between Rome and Berlin intensi-
fi ed in the following two months, shipments to Spain grew: Rome sent 
more tanks, planes, and supplies.87 But how much intervention could 
Italy aff ord? Few countries in Eu rope  were spending as much on for-
eign war without a clear economic strategy underpinning it.88

Money aside, Mussolini also sent Arconovaldo Bonaccorsi, known 
as Conte Rossi, an eccentric and fanatical Fascist, to Majorca to fi ght 
off  a Republican invasion.89 The mission was accomplished in two 
weeks, yet Rossi remained. Delusions of grandeur ensued: not only did 
Rossi rename the island’s main avenue Via Roma, but he also toured 
the island daily in an Italian coupe with his confessor “hunting for 
Reds.” He wore a large white cross on his neck while declaring to pious 
Majorcan elites that he required “a woman a day.”90 Eventually he over-
stepped the mark: by trying to establish a Majorcan trade monopoly 



206 HI T LER’S SH A DOW EMPIR E 

with Italy, he managed to annoy the powerful March family. Following 
loud complaints in Rome from an original fi nancial backer for the re-
bellion, il Conte was eventually recalled.91

Ironically, while Rossi “conquered” Majorca, Italy joined the Non- 
Intervention Committee, which began proceedings in London. Italian 
and German delegates worked to prevent any signifi cant resolution from 
passing. And Soviet and British delegates, for diff erent reasons, acqui-
esced.92 “Each move of the NIC [was] made to serve the rebellion,” 
wrote U.S. Ambassador Claude Bowers. “[The] committee was the most 
cynical and lamentably dishonest group that history [had] known.”93 
It was not a wholly unfair characterization.

In Rome little changed in practice; support for Franco only intensi-
fi ed and with it military coordination with Berlin. In October Ciano 
established a naval guard under Capt. Giovanni Ferretti guaranteeing 
all naval traffi  c to Nationalist ports, a move that was beyond the logis-
tical reach of the German Kriegsmarine.94 This gave logistical alterna-
tives for both troops and soon for raw materials. Shipments could now 
get beyond the dwindling Republican blockade in ways other than 
through Oliveira Salazar’s Portugal. It was a response to a German re-
quest, which in retrospect fi t economic motivations: the Italian naval 
guard was not there just to guarantee military deliveries.95

Armed with Italian and German supplies, Franco attacked Madrid 
in late November. The city’s defenders held on. All the same, on No-
vember 19 Italy joined Germany in recognizing Franco’s as Spain’s le-
gitimate government. The Guardian speculated that the announcements 
had been coordinated.96 The fascist powers also confi rmed the depar-
ture of diplomatic envoys to Nationalist headquarters in Burgos. A week 
later, and after intense negotiations led by Ciano’s chief of staff , Filippo 
Anfuso, the Fascists and the Nationalists rushed a treaty. Unlike Ger-
many’s concurrent dealings, the main focus of the document was po-
liti cal: “The Fascist Government and the Spanish Nationalist Govern-
ment will maintain close contacts with each other, and will concert 
their actions on all questions of common interest, particularly on those 
concerning the Western Mediterranean . . .  and will lend each other 
mutual support in the eff ective defense of their common interests.”97 
Astonishingly the fourth article called for the abolition of League of 
Nations Article (16), accused of being “full of grave dangers to peace.”98 
There  were also vaguer economic promises, more weakly worded than 
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German documents: “[The signatories] believe it is of value to lay 
down . . .  the method to be adopted for the exploitation of their own 
economic resources, particularly raw materials, . . .  [and] develop as 
much as possible all forms of economic relations and sea and air com-
munications.”99 Together with a provisional, limited clearing agree-
ment signed three days before and modeled after those agreed upon 
with the Balkans, Anfuso’s treaty foresaw raw materials fl owing from 
Spain to Italy to at least partly compensate for the cost of intervention. 
Potential for Italian compensation in Spain did exist; beyond prom-
ises, however, the Italian experience was radically diff erent than 
Germany’s.100

Economic compensation and penetration  were simply not Fascist pri-
orities in Spain. When Franco’s push to take Madrid failed, Mussolini 
sought more military control.101 Ciano or ga nized a Spanish Offi  ce 
within his ministry to centralize command and “all requests from the 
military mission in Spain” less than a week after Anfuso’s treaty.102 While 
Germany pressed Franco to obtain permanent economic concessions, 
Rome doubled down militarily: it sent more than ten times the men 
in the Condor Legion. Their objective was po liti cal: to act decisively 
in Franco’s war and strengthen the regime’s reputation as a major Eu-
ro pean power. Propaganda spoke of shaping “Fascist character.”103 So 
a test in total war loomed. Four days into his job, the new head of the 
offi  ce received a note from Mussolini ordering three thousand Fascist 
volunteers be sent to Spain “in order to put some backbone into the 
Spanish Nationalist formations.”104 At the time, the Nationalist lead-
ership wanted well- trained German and Italian troops for strategic as-
saults and all the air power they could get; the value of thousands of 
zealous Fascist militias answering to Rome was dubious at best. That 
is perhaps why, upon hearing Mussolini’s plans, Franco wondered out 
loud, “Who requested them?”

Just as he was in no position to reject German economic demands, 
Franco was in no position to turn down troops. Italian shipments soon 
outgrew anything Anfuso had foreseen. By February 1937 there  were 
forty- nine thousand Italian troops on Iberian soil, to be or ga nized into 
the Corps of Voluntary Troops.105 Of the four divisions put under Roat-
ta’s command, three comprised Fascist recruits— appropriately baptized 
God Wills It, Black Arrows, and Black Pens— and a fourth, the Littorio, 
which stemmed from the Italian Army.106 The demographics provide 
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insight into recruitment: they  were overwhelmingly young and from 
impoverished southern Italy, where unemployment was very high. 
These men  were attracted by the mercenary promise of a salary for ser-
vice abroad. A sample of volunteers was reported to have an average of 
more than three children each, without much income to speak of.107 
So the Manchester Guardian was not wrong when it argued, “Italians 
have no desire to go and fi ght [in Spain] . . .  , but thousands have vol-
unteered . . .  for the sake of the pay.”108 Subsequently Germany increased 
its supply shipment to largely match matériel from Rome; not so troops.

British Foreign Secretary Eden continued attempting to steer Italy 
away from Berlin, a goal also shared by Paris. Eden struggled to “nor-
malize” Italian relations personally, often by approaching Ambassador 
Dino Grandi directly.109 On January 2, 1937, in spite of gargantuan Fas-
cist commitments in Spain, an Italian- British modus vivendi was an-
nounced.110 It came to be known as the “Gentlemen’s Agreement,” 
though British diplomats worried that “exchange of assurances might 
be a better title and less likely to raise a smile.”111 The architecture of 
foreign relations generally and British responses to the dictators spe-
cifi cally put France in an awkward position, raising fears of isolation 
in Paris.112 The Anglo- Italian agreement promised to maintain Spain’s 
territorial integrity and avoid all postwar annexations, a key strategic 
concern of the Royal Navy.113 This may have defeated the intentions 
of zealots like Rossi, but it was a diplomatic coup for Mussolini; it kept 
a door open to a long- term deal with Britain even while relations with 
Berlin blossomed. It gave Italy options.114

On Iberian soil, however, “Italian invasion” struggled. After the 
failure to take Madrid came the tragedy of Guadalajara. This Francoist 
off ensive, led by Italian troops, turned swiftly into a Republican coun-
teroff ensive, fortifi ed by Soviet military supplies and international bri-
gades. On March 18, 1937, through a combination of bad weather and 
misguided tactics, Roatta’s men withdrew. It was perhaps the Second 
Republic’s fi nest military hour.115 The international press blasted re-
ports of the Italian reversal. In a dispatch to the United States, Ernest 
Hemingway wrote enthusiastically, “It is hard to overemphasize the 
importance of this battle, where native Spanish battalions, composed 
mainly of boys untrained last November, not only fought stubbornly 
in defense with other better- trained troops, but attacked in a compli-
catedly planned and perfectly or ga nized military operation. . . .  
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Brihuega will take its place in military history with the other decisive 
battles of the world.”116 The New York Times went as far as to compare 
Mussolini’s Guadalajara to Napoleon’s Bailén, the 1808 battle that 
changed the course of Bonaparte’s Spanish campaign.

Infuriated, Mussolini escalated even further. He ordered massive new 
shipments of men and supplies.117 Barely a week after Guadalajara, this 
newfound bravado of the Fascist leadership had consequences as far as 
London, where the French delegation at the Non- Intervention Com-
mittee complained explicitly about Italian intervention. In a “very ur-
gent” tele gram to Berlin, the German ambassador wrote that Paris 
“would not allow [herself ] to be treated in such a cavalier manner, as 
if she  were a second- rate state.”118 According to the Quai d’Orsay, the 
Italian behavior amounted to a “serious danger to the [continental] 
peace.”119

Not for the last time Mussolini disregarded French complaints. He 
even went as far as to publish an unsigned article in Il Popolo d’Italia, 
arguing that the world had misinterpreted Guadalajara. “Of the 40 ki-
lometers gained in their advance, the [Italian] Legionaries retained 20 
at the end of the battle. . . .  What was then the 10- day battle of Gua-
dalajara?,” he asked rhetorically. “A victory. An authentic victory.”120 
The coexistence of such words with Italian participation at the NIC is 
astonishing. There is no doubt that in the aftermath of Guadalajara, 
Fascist intervention became more closely intertwined with Italy’s in-
ternational reputation. In contrast to the more careful Auswärtiges Amt, 
Hitler did not seem to mind; heavy Italian involvement in Spain al-
lowed the Führer more room for maneuver elsewhere, and, as it turns 
out, it had no tangible eff ects on Germany’s economic hegemony in 
Spain.121

While Mussolini fretted about “status,” others in Rome worried 
about cost. The total bill for involvement in Spain increased greatly, 
not least due to Italy’s gargantuan troop commitments in Spain less than 
a year after the conclusion of the Ethiopian war. Anfuso and Guarneri, 
the foreign exchange minister,  were most concerned.122 Anfuso’s di-
plomacy had attempted to check expenditures while setting the stage 
for some sort of repayment. The liberally minded Guarneri, a remnant 
from the old liberal days of early Fascism, was bent on reminding il 
Duce that Italy simply lacked the resources to sustain his great power 
foreign policy. In Ciano’s diaries, almost every single appearance by 
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Guarneri is followed by expressions of doubt from both the foreign min-
ister and Mussolini, who accused him of “needless pessimism.”123 On 
November 27, 1937, for instance, Ciano reported that he found in a 
British intercept “evidence of Guarneri’s doubts regarding the fi nan-
cial situation.” Was he a traitor? Ciano wrote, “The Duce told me that 
he is watching him, given the Confi ndustria environment he comes 
from.”124 Guarneri was a man of big business. In order to criticize the 
illiberal moves toward closure, dirigisme, and increasingly economic 
autarky, Guarneri would later compare Italy’s strategy to Germany’s: 
“Schacht had opened the German economy to a period of full recovery 
which, assisted by the game of alliances, had created many benefi ts in 
terms of exports.”125 But Italy did not enjoy such benefi ts because of 
Mussolini’s choices; compared to Germany, Italy pursued more extreme 
autarky and committed itself to relatively larger military undertakings 
given the size of its economy.126 The former directly led to lower ex-
ports, while the latter drained scant foreign reserves through military 
investments. And the promised spoils of war never quite materialized 
as advertised.

Guarneri’s worries permeated the 1937 treaties with Spanish Nation-
alists. The offi  cial excuse for signing new deals was the recognition on 
both sides that Anfuso’s original accords could not cover the greatly 
increased levels of Italian aid. By then it was obvious the war would 
continue for months, if not years.127 The treaties represented clear ef-
forts to off set the foreign reserve drain created by the Spanish supplies, 
most of which required raw materials beyond the humble “lira sphere.” 
It was eff ectively a variation of Schacht’s “import problem,” except that 
Italy’s commitments  were relatively larger and its economy far smaller 
than Germany’s.128

Others in the Fascist leadership worried, too. Vincenzo Fagiuoli, 
president of the state- sponsored conglomerate Italian Society of Fer-
tilizers (SAFNI), negotiated a preferential treaty for Italy with the Fran-
coist authorities, signed in mid- April 1937.129 The agreement stipulated 
that Spain would pay around 150 million lire per year on a debt that 
was estimated, at the time, at around 2 billion lire. This represented a 
sevenfold increase in the annual payments from Anfuso’s accords months 
before. Although the agreement has been interpreted as a major Italian 
triumph, the higher Spanish payments  were largely consistent with aug-
mented Italian men and supplies since late November. The National-
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ists  were promising to pay more, but only because Italy was spending 
so much more in their war.130 This was no breakthrough in debt re-
payment, nor did it imply the stabilization of Fascist expenses. Beyond 
recognized debt, Fagiuoli managed to include transfers of at least 75 
million lire in merchandise in the treaty before the end of the year, 
focusing on ores, wool, and hard currency.131 Though almost insignifi -
cant when compared to the total size of Italian investments, the Burgos 
archives confi rm that Guarneri’s ministry pressed hard to fulfi ll that 
provision.132

When discussing compensation, however, the Nationalists refused 
to make any concessions about own ership. This contrasts with the 
German progress through the HISMA- ROWAK system. As much was 
acknowledged by German ambassador Wilhelm Faupel upon receiving 
a confi dential report detailing economic concessions to Italy on Jan-
uary 12: “We have obtained far more [than the Italians] in this [eco-
nomic] respect through HISMA.”133 With regard to in- kind transfers, 
Italians did receive sporadic shipments from Spanish mines, including 
Rio Tinto. Yet the size of transfers to Italy was minuscule; they did 
not even begin to cover expenses.134

The Republican military victories of mid-1937 forced Nationalists 
to ask Rome for even more help. The request was so large that Anfuso 
traveled to Burgos to discuss it with Franco directly.135 There, he man-
aged to tone down requests while ensuring that at least a quarter of 
the total would be paid for in foreign exchange and raw materials so as 
to minimize the drainage on Italian supplies that could not easily be 
replenished. Nicolás Franco expressed doubts about this arrangement 
in consideration of Nationalist Spain’s almost non ex is tent foreign ex-
change. Concurrently and through HISMA, the Germans  were taking 
over an ever- larger percentage of trade in goods that conceivably could 
have been sold in the international market for hard currency. German 
advantage thus implied Italian disadvantage. So Anfuso echoed Fagi-
uoli: he suggested direct own ership of mines, which the Italians would 
have more than gladly received as payment. But the Spaniards politely 
dodged the suggestion.136

They would try again. When Nicolás Franco visited Rome in 
August 1937, the Italians sought to involve Fagiuoli’s SAFNI and a bank 
consortium with the hope of leveraging loans and centralizing control 
over Spanish- Italian economic exchanges. This suggests that a year into 
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the war and after a gargantuan ramp-up in intervention directed by 
Mussolini and Ciano, members of the Fascist government tried to move 
closer to a HISMA- ROWAK model. The Fascist administration more 
broadly conceived was more interested in payment than “fascist soli-
darity” at a rate the country could not aff ord. Led by the Bank of Rome, 
a bank consortium would lend Franco 250 million lire, which he could 
then use to purchase war matériel from Italy.137 But did fi nancial engi-
neering change anything? SAFNI would also oversee all future transac-
tions and agree on prices with Nationalist companies, thus helping off set 
the cost of war matériel.138 Italy had found a way to get some of its in-
vestment back—at least theoretically. Meeting with Mussolini, Franco 
fretted about the “massive” shipments from the Soviet Union; while 
the Italian leader declined surface vessels for the Nationalists, he did 
commit to better patrolling of Turkish coasts.139

Although it was his signature on the latest accords, Ciano’s mind 
drifted away from economics. As Franco’s troops conquered the mineral- 
rich Basques, all of Ciano’s diary entries on Spain dealt exclusively with 
po liti cal and military developments.140 In stark contrast, Nazi repre-
sentatives at the time rushed to open HISMA offi  ces in the North. On 
August 25, 1937, for instance, Ciano celebrated: “Santander fell today 
under the fi re of our [CTV] Legions. . . .  I think back to the days of 
Guadalajara. Many  were really frightened at that time. . . .  But we kept 
the faith.”141 Two days later he made it clear which Iberian spoils he 
cared about most: “I cabled [CTV commander] Bastico, tactfully, to 
obtain the fl ags and cannons taken from the Basques. I envy the French, 
[Napoleon’s] Galerie des Invalides, and the Germans, the Military Mu-
seum.” After all, “no painting is worth a fl ag taken from the enemy.” 
Ciano would get his fl ags, but the war was not yet won— and mean-
while the bill kept growing. British Cabinet documents confi rm that 
London was well aware of Italy’s rising fi nancial diffi  culties; in a re-
port discussing Fascist threats on Egypt, it was noted that Italy did not 
seem to be replenishing imported fuel supplies “for fi nancial reasons.”142 
The Spanish drain only added to Italy’s diffi  culties.

In early 1938, when Nicolás Franco arrived in Rome to once more 
ask for help, an intransigent Guarneri awaited him. The minister’s po-
sition was clear: no more supplies would be shipped before an agree-
ment was reached on payment terms. Negotiations reached an impasse.143 
International tensions escalated due to Hitler’s designs for Austria and 
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Czech o slo vak i a, so much so that even Ciano entertained doubts about 
how much Italy was spending in Spain. On March 26 he wrote in his 
diary, “I discussed the 1938 consignment [of weapons] with Nicolás 
Franco. They ask for a billion’s [lire] worth of goods, with payment in 
kind, or almost, and very chancy. . . .  We give blood for Spain. Is that 
not enough?”144

Payment in kind was not even assured. Francisco Franco got per-
sonally involved. “I request your able collaboration and eff ective sup-
port for the solution of these [fi nancial] problems,” he wrote directly 
to Mussolini. Franco wanted il Duce to help “overcome the obstacles 
and the diffi  culties that such requests always encounter in administra-
tive organisms.” Then he resorted to fl attery: “In their severity and le-
gitimate defense of the public interests, [negotiators] become obstinate, 
and need to be spurred on by the po liti cal genius of someone who, like 
yourself, directs the destiny of an empire.”145 Adulation worked. Over-
ruling Guarneri, Mussolini instructed the deal be closed despite the 
Spaniards’ “chancy” ability to pay. He who directed the “destiny of an 
empire” ignored the more cautious voices in his government.146

The Italian compensation system was a broken one not only when 
compared with the contemporary Nazi ones but also in terms of the 
absolute price and quality of Iberian spoils. For instance, in July 1938 
Nationalist authorities needed forty aircraft engines from Fiat and Cap-
roni to restock their fl eet and regain aerial superiority.147 Yet a debate 
between the SAFNI and Franco’s men arose over Spanish exports to 
Italy. Guarneri’s ministry refused compensation in iron ore at the ex-
change rate off ered by the Spaniards, which made the crucial raw ma-
terial almost as expensive as it would have been in the international 
market.148 What was the point of the sacrifi ce? Eventually the Spanish 
envoy acknowledged in a secret memorandum to Burgos, “I do not 
think we can get the exchange at those prices.”149

Quality also became an issue. Italians  were adamant that their sup-
plies come from Rio Tinto mines. Yet the Spaniards had already com-
mitted that production, a very large percentage of which went to none 
other than Germany. Eventually a deal was brokered guaranteeing some 
future production: the Nationalists promised 100,000 tons of Rio Tinto 
pyrites. Once again the contrast with Germany was stark: at the time 
Bernhardt’s men planned for the development of their own mines, the 
Montaña project, in clear violation of the existing Nationalist mining 
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law.150 All Italian attempts at own ership had been either ignored or po-
litely rebuff ed. Not so Germany’s. If one considers how much they  were 
being forced to relinquish through Bernhardt’s HISMA- ROWAK and 
Germany’s aggressive diplomacy, it was sensible for Franco’s men to do 
everything they could to avoid further depleting their natural wealth. 
Once again Italians delivered; but, constrained by German demands, 
the Spaniards rarely reciprocated.151

The winds of wider war blew stronger than ever when the Spanish Civil 
War fi nally came to an end in 1939. It was in this context that negotia-
tions began in Rome to settle the gargantuan war debts that Nation-
alist Spain had accumulated. Although the absolute amounts  were 
nothing prohibitive when compared to world war fi gures, they  were 
still sizable— and had clear impacts on Italy’s own war preparedness. 
Even then, however, Fascist leadership disregarded economic consid-
erations for po liti cal purposes. Having steered Franco into passing a fas-
cistic labor law in late 1938 reminiscent of the Rocco laws, Mussolini 
and Ciano sought to add Spain to the Anti- Comintern Pact, which 
had strengthened their alignment with Nazi Germany.152 But negotia-
tions between Burgos, Berlin, and Rome progressed slowly. Infl uenced 
by his need for more supplies to advance on stubborn Madrid, Franco 
ultimately agreed to join. On March 31, 1939, a day before the offi  cial 
end of the war, Franco secretly adhered to the Anti- Comintern Pact.153

In the coming months, however, the Francoist government avoided 
large payments or agreement on a debt payment plan.154 Back in Rome 
it was time for a proper accounting; a confi dential report sent to Cia-
no’s ministry fi nally confi rmed Guarneri’s pessimism: Italian interven-
tion in Spain had cost over 8 billion lire.155 Depending on which esti-
mate one chooses, this represented between 6 to 8 percent of Italian 
GDP.156 To provide a modern comparison, the Brown University “Costs 
of War” project estimated in 2013 that the total cost of the U.S. war in 
Iraq cost 2.2 trillion 2013 U.S. dollars. This is roughly equivalent to 
1.3 percent of GDP per year of engagement, less than half the com-
parative weight of the Italian intervention in Spain.157 Meanwhile 
Spanish transfers of raw materials and foreign currency during the war 
had accounted little over half a billion lire, meaning little over 5 per-
cent of the total, direct Italian expenditure. And this fi gure did not 
include further costs like pension benefi ts for war veterans, needed in 
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spite of the charade of “volunteers” for foreign consumption.158 Although 
the investment had been large—at least four times larger than what was 
originally envisioned in 1936— Italy had little to show for it. The con-
trast with German own ership of mines, companies, and the larger trans-
fers secured by Bernhardt’s HISMA- ROWAK dual monopoly is ob-
vious enough.

In the following months Franco sought to seduce Mussolini into 
showing his imperial largesse yet again. In 1939 il Duce personally in-
tervened to defer Spanish repayment and then condone debts. Barely a 
month before Hitler unleashed his Wehrmacht on Poland, for instance, 
Ciano had sent a short note to Franco dated August 21 stating, “Duce 
gives six more months to the payment of 300 M[illion] lire due on the 
21st of the current month.”159 After the war Guarneri complained, “The 
results [of the Spanish intervention]  were scarce, and not even distantly 
comparable to the human sacrifi ce and material transfers that Italy had 
withstood in order to support the Francoist cause.” The behavior of 
Franco’s men, eager to maneuver from a position of relative strategic 
weakness and lack of resources, is logical. Guarnieri’s main antagonist 
remained his boss: “We [Guarneri and his ministry] had to concen-
trate our best eff orts to prevent Mussolini from giving in to his desire 
of appearing magnanimous with regards to existing debts.”160 Once 
more calls for caution fell on deaf ears. On May 8, 1940, a new accord 
between Rome and Madrid forgave over 3 billion lire since Italy rec-
ognized “the great struggle of reconstruction and its friendly commit-
ment to her [Spanish] needs.”161 The Spanish strategy of relying on Mus-
solini’s generosity to avoid pressures prevailed. The remaining 5 billion 
lire  were to be paid through a deferred plan lasting no less than twenty- 
fi ve years. Given Italy’s context and Germany’s hegemony, to call Fas-
cist behavior “generous” seems like a gross understatement.162 Franco 
would fully settle all debts with Italy only in 1967— a tad too late to 
aid Mussolini in his world war.163

In late 1938 Guarneri had written a succinct but signifi cant intro-
duction to Economic Spain: Today and Tomorrow, in which he sought to 
underscore the importance of economics- focused analyses: “The knowl-
edge of specifi c market economies is an essential premise for an intel-
ligent . . .  policy of commercial expansion abroad. . . .  [This book] 
makes a precious contribution to our knowledge of the Spanish market, 
which Italy must closely follow and study for the possibilities of the 
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day after tomorrow, when victory—to which the youth of the Littorio 
[army] division has given so much energy and blood— will have given 
Spain back its order and work discipline.”164 Yet far from profi ting from 
its vast investment in blood and lire in Spain, Italy had fallen victim to 
its dictator’s misguided economic strategies and, indirectly, Germany’s 
unequal, self- interested, and imperial control of Franco. Consequently 
Italy was left with scant “possibilities for the day after tomorrow.” In-
deed the exercise in great power politics only exacerbated Italy’s fi nan-
cial problems, diminishing its war preparedness. Even without a looming 
world war, the high expenditures in Spain could have been justifi ed 
only in “strategic” terms— and given the way the Axis alliance worked, 
even those results  were meager indeed.

All this was the result of shortsighted policy. During the Depression 
the Fascist government adopted a decidedly aggressive foreign policy, 
which aff ected its fi nances in a number of important ways. It resulted 
in an inward move toward autarky. The grandiose expansionism mean-
while led directly to the battlegrounds of Ethiopia and Spain. At least 
in part to keep up the mirage of Italian strength, Mussolini and Ciano 
made decisions with regard to Spain that went against Italy’s economic 
best interest: they committed too many men, too many supplies, and 
too much foreign exchange to an Iberian adventure for which they nei-
ther received nor required repayment. Succinctly, il Duce put prestige 
over profi t.

Another type of intervention was possible. Powerful but ultimately 
secondary men in the Fascist administration— Anfuso, Guarneri, 
Fagiuoli— worked hard to have Italy profi t from its investment in the 
Francoist war eff ort, or at least to off set its costs. Their failure had im-
portant consequences for Italian fi nancial and military preparedness in 
the looming war. As Roatta would later declare, “Italy’s material pov-
erty cannot be invoked as the sole reason for our lack of military pre-
paredness [in World War II], for in the fascist period huge sums  were 
invested in so many other projects.”165 Spain stands out among those.

Ultimately, as Ciano wrote in March 1939, one part of the Axis be-
haved with “little regard for the other.” He could have seen it coming 
well before the second Czech crisis if he had bothered to focus on fi -
nance rather than fl ags. The intervention in Spain was more revealing 
than the lack of communication over the destiny of Bohemia: Germany 
had used its size and might far more eff ectively than Italy, extracting 
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tangible benefi ts from Franco’s dependence. While Mussolini worried 
about his reputation, the Schachtian principles that underlay the HISMA- 
ROWAK system laid the basis for peacetime dependence of the Spanish 
economy. And when Italian technocrats  were given a chance to attempt 
a more favorable arrangement, they  were too weak and too late.

And yet il Duce was right about one thing: by mid-1939 Italy could 
aff ord to be “hateful to God and to His enemies.” In fully aligning 
himself with Nazi Germany, Mussolini by early 1939 had made his 
choice.166 The “hour of irrevocable decisions,” as he called the decla-
ration of war on June 10, 1940, had come long before that. That is per-
haps why he made only a half- hearted attempt to convince Franco to 
join in the war during their meeting in the town of Bordighera, in spite 
of Hitler’s requests.167 Even his later letters to Franco did “not wish to 
hasten in the least the decisions” the Spanish leader would fail to make 
on behalf of “the two victorious Axis Powers.”168 In fact even at the 
height of the Axis’s military successes, the Italian government fretted 
about the implications of the realignment of Eu ro pean economies to 
fi t Berlin’s designs.169

Simply put, Nazi Germany’s interest was not Fascist Italy’s interest, 
and that became painfully clear in Rome as the world war dragged on. 
Nothing had much changed since the fi rst days of an alliance forged 
on Iberian soil. It was for good reason that in December 1940 Hitler 
claimed that defeat for Rome “had the healthy eff ect of once more com-
pressing Italian claims within the natural boundaries of Italian capa-
bilities.”170 After small engagements in France, Mussolini’s forces fared 
even less well in the Balkans, moving Hitler to invade Greece to “save” 
the campaign. If a fi rst world war had given birth to Fascism, a second 
one would put an end to it.



chapt e r  n ine

THE FORMAL EMPIRE

In earlier times things  were simpler. In earlier times you pillaged. 
He who had conquered a country disposed of the riches of that 
country. At present, things are done in a more humane way. As for 
myself, I still think of pillage, comprehensively.

— Hermann Göring, August 6, 1942

y early 1939 the informal empire that Mussolini never sought was 
tangible for Nazi Germany. The scale of Nazi ambitions is perhaps 
best illustrated by the many industries in which the nascent and 

increasingly diversifi ed SOFINDUS conglomerate planned invest-
ments. What a leading Spanish historian called a “vocation for empire” 
was, in truth, the reality of informal hegemony: from mines and farms 
to trucking and logistics, Bernhardt and his staff   were involved. Their 
goals  were inextricably linked to Germany’s economic needs. By then 
Berlin was taking in the lion’s share of Spanish trade: no less than 
three quarters of all exports.1 In spite of tensions between Bernhardt 
and offi  cial state envoys, the German Embassy in Burgos ultimately 
defended HISMA; diplomats under Ambassador von Stohrer recog-
nized how eff ective dual monopoly had been. As we have seen, Na-
tionalists had repeatedly tried— and failed—to alter how exchanges 
operated. Spain remained poor and at war; a German intervention that 
was radically diff erent from Italy’s yielded a “special relationship” with 
Berlin underpinned by a project of investment and resource extraction 
to “compensate” for investments and set out the framework for the 

B
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long- term control of the Iberian economy. Indeed on Spanish soil 
German economic motivations had overshadowed other concerns.2 
The German goal on the ground was now to perpetuate economic 
hegemony, keeping Spain within Germany’s trade sphere. This was 
consistent with neo- Weltpolitik foreign economic policy in countries as 
distant as Yugo slavia and Argentina.3 The unequal relationship be-
tween Spain and Germany betrayed the “neo co lo nial character” of 
German policy.4 Yet the destiny of this “shadow empire” was inextri-
cably intertwined with Hitler’s wider foreign policy. Would informal 
empire suffi  ce?

This question would be answered by decisions over the economy 
and rearmament that  were up to the Führer; informal empire was not 
enough. The Cabinet radicalization that sidelined Schacht and favored 
Göring between late 1936 and early 1939 implied a policy move to-
ward formal empire. This project began in earnest in central Eu rope, 
with the Austrian Anschluß and Czech o slo vak i a’s dismemberment. Ap-
peasement fed it. The invasion of Poland led to war with France and, 
to Hitler’s surprise, Britain as well in September 1939. Occupation, an-
nexation, and extermination followed what was, at least at fi rst, a rapid 
succession of German military victories. Yet it was this quest for Leb-
ensraum that undid Hitler’s shadow empire in Spain, and six years later, 
Nazi Germany itself.

German territorial expansion began well before the end of the Spanish 
Civil War.5 While Bernhardt and von Stohrer in Spain worked to ex-
pand HISMA into SOFINDUS to cement German hegemony, Hitler 
once again raised the stakes. As we have seen, Hitler was more directly 
in charge of military decisions after the birth of the Oberkommando der 
Wehrmacht, yet his distrust of the military establishment did not dis-
sipate.6 Meanwhile Schacht’s replacement in the Economics Ministry 
and von Neurath’s at the Foreign Ministry removed opposition to 
ever- higher military expenditures.7 The Führer was less constrained 
than ever before.

An opportunity for aggression presented itself barely a month after 
von Neurath’s replacement; the Austrian crisis was to be transforma-
tive for the regime. The fascist but anti- Nazi Austrian premier, Kurt 
Schuschnigg, scheduled a surprise plebiscite on  union with the Reich 
on March 9. In what the Economist described as a “bold step . . .  tilted 
toward the government,” Schuschnigg invited Austrians to vote for a 
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“free and German, in de pen dent and social, Christian and united Aus-
tria.”8 Göring had been encouraging such a  union for years, yet this 
had been the root of tensions with Mussolini before the Spanish Civil 
War.9 Hitler had grown restless. With moderating forces out of power, 
his fi xation on crafting a Greater Germany, an idea easily traceable to 
Mein Kampf, underscored a drive for formal expansion.10

Hitler denounced Schuschnigg’s plebiscite, suggesting it violated the 
terms of a previous agreement, even if he had eff ectively achieved all 
his formal demands. But what Hitler wanted  were not his demands.11 
He then issued an ultimatum favoring Arthur Seyß- Inquart, a Nazi 
lawyer whom Schuschnigg had been forced to accept as interior min-
ister. With Chamberlain’s Britain noncommittal, Schuschnigg decided 
to resign. Austrian president Wilhelm Miklas, however, resisted. Seyß- 
Inquart himself harbored doubts.12 Ultimately everyone— Schuschnigg, 
Seyß- Inquart, even Miklas— gave in. And yet the Wehrmacht invaded 
all the same. The German military was far from ready for war, but there 
was no war: when troops crossed the border on the morning of March 12, 
Austrian crowds greeted them. An American journalist commented sar-
donically that the invasion violated the terms of Hitler’s own ulti-
matum.13 Unlike in 1934, Mussolini acquiesced: “The Duce is pleased 
and tells [Prince] Hesse to inform the Führer that Italy is following the 
events with absolute calm.”14 This led to an unusually eff usive response: 
“I will never forget [Mussolini] for this, never, never, never, come what 
may.”15

There was no ex ante plan. Only in his native Linz did Hitler de-
cide for “total Anschluß,” implying full Austrian annexation and inte-
gration into the Reich. A month later a rubber- stamp plebiscite—to 
this day a preferred mode of authoritarian legitimization— received sup-
port from 99.7 percent of Austrians. The numbers  were suspicious.16 
As remains the case in Eastern Eu rope today, referenda held under mil-
itary occupation are not quite legitimate. Yet anecdotal evidence does 
suggest that Austrians  were generally supportive; Hitler had success-
fully appropriated what was once a dream of the left on the eve of de-
feat in 1918.17 Union materialized long- held pan- German dreams that 
transcended traditional party  lines.18

Seyß- Inquart promulgated a law subordinating Austria to the Third 
Reich. As early as March 17, two days after Hitler spoke in Vienna, 
the Reichsmark was circulating in Austria. Foreign exchange reserves 
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 were sent to Schacht’s (empty) Reichsbank coff ers. Austrian reserves 
 were considerable: 782 million Reichsmarks, 345 million of which  were 
offi  cial reserves, the rest from private sources.19 This infl ow more than 
doubled Reichsbank reserves. Practically they allowed for a trade def-
icit larger than any since 1929, freeing Schacht’s Reichsbank, at least 
temporarily, from almost constant balance of payment concerns. Con-
currently Schacht incorporated the Austrian National Bank into the 
Reichsbank and his “aggressive speech” discussing the success of 
Anchsluß ended with an oath of personal allegiance to Hitler and, if 
that  were not enough, three emphatic, “Sieg Heils.”20 Austrian eco-
nomic integration proceeded relatively swiftly thereafter.21 The Nazis 
eliminated import duties on agricultural machines by mid- April; they 
introduced the Reich turnover tax on May 1 as a fi rst step toward a 
full tributary harmonization.22 “The economic frontier,” noted the 
Economist on April 26, “is gradually disappearing.”23 Tellingly, the ar-
ticle was already featured in the newspaper’s “Germany” section.

The ubiquitous Göring received yet another commission. He vis-
ited Austria to announce a reconstruction plan that focused, unsurpris-
ingly, on rearmament. After a bloodless Anschluß, preparations for a 
diff erent type of annexation marched on. Göring’s speech was a mas-
terpiece of Orwellian doublethink: “Austria is free, but belongs once 
again to the Reich.”24 Actually Austria lost all in de pen dence; at fi rst it 
was made a province (Ostmark) and later subdivided into smaller units 
to weaken the centrality of Vienna. Indeed the “the two- thousand- 
year- old supra- national metropolis” was not even singled out as one of 
the fi ve key cities in Greater Germany for infrastructure projects.25 Hit-
ler’s native Linz, however, was.26 Austrian jurisprudence was likewise 
subordinated. The pro cess was swift and attacks on minorities— chiefl y 
Jews and Austrian nationalists— proliferated.27 Himmler’s SS took the 
reins of the “purifi cation” agenda.28 1938 vintage maps already refl ected 
Germany’s formal expansion.

Austria was not enough. Around the time of the Vienna crisis, Hitler 
encouraged a Sudeten German leader to make demands that the Czech-
o slo vak ian government would fi nd unacceptable. Another border faced 
tensions, which eventually led to the Munich Conference. While Na-
tionalist Ambassador Magaz struggled to justify Franco’s hastened neu-
trality announcement, on November 21 the Reich annexed the Sude-
tenland.29 Munich humiliated Czech o slo vak i a not only diplomatically 
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but also eco nom ical ly: it ceded 40 percent of Czech o slo vak ian indus-
trial capacity, including coveted armaments factories, and 55 percent 
of its coal production.30 Forsaken by the democracies, Czech president 
Edvard Beneš resigned, paving the way for a more pliable successor. In 
March 1939 the Germans took over the rest of the country.31 Such was 
the result of the “second Czech crisis,” which led Mussolini— through 
Dante’s immortal verses—to question the Axis forged over collabora-
tion on Iberian soil.

On paper the Czech o slo vak ian Army had enough divisions to stand 
up to the Wehrmacht; yet once again no war broke out. The Germans 
pressured President Emil Hácha to “invite” German occupation; after 
all their eyes  were already on a new target.32 The destiny of Czechs 
was entrusted to the same Ministry of Interior team that had dealt with 
the legalities of the Anschluß.33 Among them stood out Wilhelm 
Stuckart, a prolifi c theorist of Nazism who was quickly becoming a 
specialist in the practice of territorial annexation.34 Like Austria be-
fore it— but this time through a “Führer decree”— Czechoslovakia 
ceased to exist, replaced by the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia 
and a puppet Slovakian Republic.35 Stuckart’s “constitution” was at best 
confused, proclaiming both the protectorate’s in de pen dence and its de-
pendence on the Reich. It echoed Göring’s description of Austria’s fate. 
In reality the Führer ruled the protectorate at will, a right he would 
later exercise.36 The Czechs retained a local administration, yet their 
dependence was as absolute as Austria’s. A new system of dual citizen-
ship gave automatic rights to Germans residing in the protectorate, but 
it did not work the other way around; henceforth Czechs  were second- 
class citizens.

Economic integration into the Reich proceeded as fast as Austria’s; 
before the protectorate’s constitution was fi nished, Göring’s steel con-
glomerate was already after Czech production.37 The goal was, once 
more, the growth of military preparedness. Requisitions  were sizable: 
Czech  horses  were essential for a Wehrmacht that was far from the fully 
mechanized war- making machine of pop u lar imagination.38 The mon-
etary situation was complicated by the prescient Czech decision to send 
their reserves abroad. But the Bank of En gland agreed— via the Bank 
of International Settlements—to return Czech gold to the protectorate. 
They never got to Prague. Courtesy of the hard work of a diligent Eco-
nomics Ministry offi  cial on whom Schacht had relied to negotiate trade 
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deals, Helmuth Wohlthat, the gold went straight to the Reichsbank.39 
The total annexation infl ux was 360 million Reichsmarks, a net addi-
tion of around 35 percent of existing reserves at Schacht’s Reichsbank.40 
From the perspective of central bank reserves, therefore, empire pro-
vided relief.41 And, notwithstanding his aforementioned private con-
cerns, Schacht was never one to pass up a chance to take credit in public: 
“From the beginning the Reichsbank has been aware of the fact that a 
successful foreign policy can be attained only by the reconstruction of 
the German armed forces.” 42 Like he had in the late 1920s, even at 
this stage he continued to behave as if he  were the Reichsbank.

With rump Czech o slo vak i a, Hitler crossed another border: for the 
fi rst time the Nazis formally took over a territory where ethnic Ger-
mans  were not a majority, revealing the vacuity of previous Nazi ar-
guments.43 Acutely aware that the world’s eyes  were on Prague, Hitler 
appointed von Neurath as protector, a relatively conservative choice 
that was at least partially a signal to foreign audiences. Changes on the 
ground  were nonetheless “revolutionary.” 44 Racial tensions escalated, 
again stoked by the SS.45 Acute observers saw through this, not least a 
young George Kennan, who, stationed in Prague, considered his work 
at the time to be “child’s play.” 46 How long would peaceful Nazi em-
pire last?

While Hitler advanced in Central Eu rope, the Spanish Civil War fi -
nally came to an end: Franco marched into Madrid and on to victory. 
Nationalist alignment with the Axis was such that two important trea-
ties  were signed the week before the end of the War. On March 27 
Spain signed the Anti- Comintern Pact. It became the fi rst country to 
do so since Japan, Italy, and Germany had created the anti- Moscow 
alliance.47 On the very last day of the war, March 31, Franco signed a 
Treaty of Friendship with Germany. This agreement built upon the 
1937–1938 formal treaties and signaled future priorities.48 It stipulated 
Spain’s “benevolent neutrality” in the event of a wider war. Articles 8 
and 9 dealt with economics, expanding the focus of German economic 
penetration into the reconstruction eff ort. Any reading of the Treaty 
strongly suggests that the Third Reich— and not Britain or France, his-
torically the biggest investors in Spain— was expected to be the central 
force behind Spanish reconstruction.49 Despite a truly dire fi nancial 
standing, Franco still moved farther from the democracies and toward 
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Berlin. In what can only be understood as a reaction to alignment with 
Berlin, the British Foreign Offi  ce blocked an essential loan to Madrid.50 
The po liti cal allegiance of Franco’s New Spain was clear enough— and 
it had equally obvious fi nancial consequences.

It was not just politics. Although the war was over, another battle 
dawned for Franco’s regime. Notwithstanding the direct own ership of 
the Montaña project mines beyond what Spanish law had allowed, the 
war time transfers of raw materials shipped back to Hamburg, and all 
the talk of anti- Communist “fascist solidarity,” Nationalists in Spain 
and at the Berlin Embassy continued to worry about the German dual 
monopoly that had so blatantly subordinated Spanish production to 
German needs. They also worried about “the debt”: the repayment of 
thus far unquantifi ed large expenses incurred by Germany on Spanish 
soil not covered by HISMA’s exports. Unlike poorer Italy, Germany 
never seriously considered forgiving Spanish debts. Quite the contrary: 
Ambassador von Stohrer argued on April 14 for “psychological” mea-
sures that could appeal to the vanity of Spanish leaders obsessed with 
the “triumphant” Nazi regime.51 The ambassador also advocated re-
thinking the SOFINDUS investment vehicle, thus making German im-
perial power in Spain “softer.”

An Economics Ministry delegation prepared a key trip to Spain. 
German envoy Sabath previewed the negotiating tactics: Spaniards “are 
to be treated chivalrously” lest they feel “we are demanding payment 
for the shedding of German blood.” And yet he suggested mentioning 
German personnel expenses— meaning the Legion—as a negotiating 
tactic, but “compensation from them is not to be demanded.” Last, “Ital-
ians are not to be off ended.”52 Two months behind schedule but ap-
propriately for the summer season, on June 12, a German delegation 
arrived in San Sebastián; it included all the se nior economic offi  cials 
who had developed economic relations during the Civil War: Sabath 
from the Auswärtiges Amt; Friedrich Bethke, de facto director of 
ROWAK; and the commercial attaché in Madrid, Enge.53 Its leader 
was none other than Wohlthat, one of Schacht’s key trade negotiators.54 
Wohlthat’s schedule those days suggests that though the Economics 
Ministry leadership had changed, Spain’s role within a budding Reich 
imperial system remained; before arriving in Spain, he had negotiated 
an oil deal with Romania in March. Since Schacht’s trade deals in the 
Balkans, Romania had become an integral part of the Nazi informal 
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empire; over 50 percent of its trade was with Germany and, as of the 
Wohlthat- negotiated deal, there was a coordinated fi ve- year develop-
ment plan.55 In the words of IG Farben’s Max Ilgner, the goal of the 
Romanian deal was “to increase [German] exports by playing an ac-
tive role in the industrialization of the world.”56 Interestingly, later 
Wohlthat was stationed in Prague to oversee the integration of the Czech 
industrial base into the Reich, and after Spain he traveled to London 
to negotiate (successfully) the return of Czech gold reserves.57

The Wohlthat- led German delegation toured war- torn Spain. Al-
though they considered a possible adaptation of the dual monopoly, the 
offi  cials stressed the importance of German economic hegemony and 
Spanish supplies for German industry, where most of Spain’s exports 
 were now destined. The Spanish Civil War had radically changed the 
direction of Iberian trade.58 On the Spanish side, by contrast, an in-
ternal government report argued that now that the Civil War was over, 
“there is no reason why we should be forced to accept an economic 
diktat.”59 Franco’s men  were unsurprisingly eager to change the nature 
of their relations with their closest ally and sponsor.

Logistically, however, Spain lacked the basic statistical data needed 
to negotiate a normalization of economic relations. The Germans 
strongly opposed any change that would make exchanges more equal.60 
Wohlthat and his team imposed their will: the SOFINDUS system was 
maintained until a “fuller agreement” was reached. The latter was of 
course nowhere close. Bernhardt’s team was happy with the result, a 
sign it was not ideal for Spain. Although some authors have claimed 
that this result owed much to the po liti cal proclivities of Spanish leaders, 
it seems clear from their own language that they understood how much 
the dual monopoly hurt their economic standing. Yet German hege-
mony meant there was little they could do about it.61 The end result of 
this “imperial tour” was therefore tilted toward German benefi t. It 
would get worse for Spain: following the trip, German diplomats took 
up “the debt,” their ultimate Civil War lever to further expand their 
burgeoning informal empire.

In Eastern Eu rope, meanwhile, tensions escalated even further. Ger-
many’s 1918 humiliation was perhaps nowhere more obvious than in 
Poland’s Prus sian possessions. Such territories  were crucial to Leben-
sraum “theorists.” 62 With Austrian and Czech territories secure, Hitler 
looked to Warsaw. Relatively new minister von Ribbentrop proved to 
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be a skillful negotiator in seducing Stalinist Rus sia; Moscow was as prag-
matic and self- serving as it had been during the Spanish Civil War. Thus 
Nazi Germany and Rus sia eventually signed an unexpected nonaggres-
sion pact.63 Echoing Bonaparte, Hitler spoke privately of a “continental 
bloc” linking Fascist Italy, Rus sia, and even Japan pitted against Britain 
and the United States.64

This time, however, invasion unleashed war.65 When German troops 
crossed the border into Poland on September 1, 1939, Britain and France 
honored their treaty commitments. The twenty-eight days of Blitzkrieg 
 were a success for the Wehrmacht, but the Polish Army fought bravely.66 
As soon as occupation materialized, the usual bureaucratic disputes 
erupted. The Wehrmacht attempted to exercise control over civilian 
administrators— a category that usually involved too many Nazis to 
please the military leadership— and SS “task forces” (Einsatzgruppen).67 
To no avail: Hitler’s orders allowed unpre ce dented liberty to the Party 
and the SS in the management of the occupied territories.68 When Gen. 
Johannes Blaskowitz tried to punish SS members for extreme violence, 
Hitler rebuked him, calling him “infantile” and “out of order.” 69 In early 
October the Führer issued a pardon for German excesses; with this carte 
blanche, retaliations against acts of Polish re sis tance escalated further.70

Four months earlier than originally planned, the Werhrmacht was 
sidelined in occupation management in favor of Party men. This would 
soon become a staple of war- time management. The policy applied in 
par tic u lar to the eastern territories that  were integral to the Lebensraum 
ideological construct.71 Yet formal Nazi empire lacked consistent rules.72 
Territories  were left to the destiny of whoever ran them; some  were 
lucky, most  were not. This was a novel strategy: it represented a 
radical departure from the experience during the Great War, when the 
silent dictatorship’s General Government in Poland was run exclusively 
by the military command.73

Like Austria and Czech o slo vak i a, Poland as such ceased to exist. The 
Polish Corridor and Pomerania  were annexed into the Reich; as per 
von Ribbentrop’s secret treaty clauses, Rus sia occupied a broad swath 
of eastern Poland. The remainder became the General Government, 
with Krakow as its capital. Unlike in the Slovakian puppet state or the 
local administration of the Czech protectorate, Poles  were placed under 
the leadership of a “racially aware” administration. Its leader, Hans 
Frank, was eager to set the standard for Nazi imperial management. 
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Frank himself pointed out the diff erences in treatment during a visit 
to the Czech protectorate: “There  were large red posters in Prague an-
nouncing today that seven [Czechs] had been shot. If I wanted to hang 
a poster for every seven Poles that have been shot then all the forests in 
Poland would not suffi  ce in order to produce the paper necessary.”74 
Extreme corruption and even more extreme violence characterized the 
rule of a man who became known— for the worst reasons—as “the King 
of Poland.”75

In the absence of a formal peace treaty, the disappearance of Poland 
created a legal quandary. This legal limbo bothered the Auswärtiges 
Amt staff , but it scarcely mattered to the Führer. Although the analysis 
of these decisions has focused historically on what they meant for the 
Final Solution, they also had important economic implications. The 
zloty currency kept circulating in the General Government, stamped 
as of 1940 by a new authority. With greater intensity than in either 
Austria or Czech o slo vak i a, the Polish invasion was characterized by 
plunder. Berlin did not mind: Hitler and Göring repeatedly argued that 
the rank and fi le of German troops deserved spoils. But not indiscrim-
inately: the best assets  were reserved for the Party leadership.

At fi rst Frank implemented an uneconomic and unsuccessful but ra-
cially inspired drive to keep the Poles out of most jobs. As the war 
dragged on, however, Polish labor had to be brought into the Reich 
economy, increasingly across the border into Germany proper.76 As 
genocide was perpetrated at an industrial scale all over eastern Eu rope, 
more than a million Poles became forced labor in the Reich.77 Foreign 
workers— with Poles as the largest single source— would rise to 19 per-
cent of the Reich workforce, a staggering number even by today’s glo-
balized standards.

In Spain the Nationalist leadership had expected war. What they had 
not expected was the Ribbentrop- Molotov Pact.78 After their subscrip-
tion to the Anti- Comintern Pact as well as a three- year war at least 
partly justifi ed as “a fi ght against Reds,” Spain’s economic hegemon 
had suddenly found a modus vivendi with Stalinist Rus sia. Ribbentrop- 
Molotov involved the partition of eastern Eu rope and the supply of grain 
and other raw materials from Rus sia to Germany, at least in part to 
sustain the grossly ineffi  cient strategies of Agriculture Minister Darré.79 
In Madrid, however, it caused deep consternation.80
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As soon as Hitler’s war began in earnest, the Anglo- French economic 
blockade presented gargantuan logistical problems for continued ex-
ports to Germany.81 The echoes of the Great War  were loud.82 Yet un-
like during that war, Spain’s economy in 1939 was far more closely tied 
with Germany’s than Britain’s; as we have seen, three years had com-
pletely altered Spain’s economic role in Eu rope.

Then there was “the debt.” The topic of German expenditures during 
the Spanish Civil War had been broached twice before. In May 1939, 
when the Condor Legion left Spain, Germans had left behind equip-
ment coveted by Franco’s regime, including around seventy- fi ve (used) 
war planes, mostly Heinkel 101s and Messerschmitt Bf 109s, the Le-
gion’s fi ghting work horses.83 An agreement had been reached about 
price, including a wear- and- tear discount of 35 percent. This was com-
paratively straightforward. In June– July 1939, however, during 
Wohlthat’s tour and negotiations, the German delegation considered 
Civil War debts a “cardinal” issue for future commercial relations; they 
 were left to a separate commission.84 It was then that the Germans fi rst 
presented their full demands to the Spanish leadership; this involved 
repayment for acknowledged expenses, a new set of expenditures the 
Spaniards did not recognize (but had no way to dispute), and an as-
sessment of Spanish raw material and foreign exchange remittances to 
Germany (almost all via HISMA). The Germans also undervalued the 
Iberian war- time contributions to the German economy.85 Madrid was 
thus presented with a bill detailing all kinds of expenditures; as a ne-
gotiating tactic, the full expenses of the Condor Legion  were some-
times discussed, leading the Spanish to argue that such an approach 
would have turned the legionnaires into outright mercenaries.86 In mid-
1939 the German total was 359 million Reichsmarks, a colossal sum.87 
A considerable problem for the Spaniards was that German sources and 
Bernhardt’s HISMA had kept the accounting. Bookkeeping had not 
been a Francoist priority.88

Torn apart by a thirty- month- long civil war, Spain was in no posi-
tion to honor these obligations.89 After 1945 Franco would complain 
that Spain had already relinquished all available foreign exchange to 
Germany, along with a considerable amount of natural resources that 
could have been sold to Spain’s more traditional customers.90 This would 
suffi  ce to establish German hegemony over the nascent regime. During 
the July 1939 negotiations, however, the Spanish delegation at fi rst com-
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plained that they had expected a “po liti cal answer” to these issues— 
meaning they wanted the same treatment they had received from Italy. 
They should have known better. Then they complained they had al-
ready paid much in kind and foreign exchange during the civil war.

Negotiations reached an impasse, so the issue of debt was still out-
standing when the invasion of Poland triggered war. Wohlthat returned 
to Spain in November 1939 to negotiate a new agreement, to be signed 
in December. By then Germans had a new, crucial preoccupation: to 
keep commercial channels open despite the Anglo- French naval 
blockade.91 It was around this time that the Germans sent their fi rst 
full report of “war debts,” presumably to further their negotiating le-
verage. The Spanish goals meanwhile had not changed: they wanted 
to minimize repayment and once and for all replace the HISMA- 
ROWAK dual monopoly.

What had changed was Madrid’s assessment of its own best interests 
as well as its ability to pursue them. First off , there was better tech-
nical expertise in the Iberian delegation led by José Pan de Soraluce.92 
Spanish historians have argued that the Iberian re sis tance was due to 
the imposition of commercial concerns over po liti cal ones.93 Yet such 
a view ignores the wider geopo liti cal developments. The beginning of 
world war had completely altered a bilateral relationship that had not 
seen any Spanish freedom of action in three years. First, Wohlthat ar-
rived in Spain for a shorter period and with a much- reduced delega-
tion.94 Second, the Germans saw no easy logistical way to keep control 
over Spanish exports in the context of the blockade.95 Perhaps most cru-
cially, with war raging on the Continent it was not plausible for Ger-
mans to argue that the agreement should be part of a fuller commer-
cial treaty. The Germans now required much more cooperation from 
the Spaniards to get raw materials to their industrial centers and around 
the blockade. Recall the German concern about the sustainability of 
raw material supplies in the event of war going back to the early years 
of the regime. And yet Wohlthat tried to maintain the previous 
arrangement.

Constrained by the exigencies of war, German negotiators pushed 
a banking license for SOFINDUS, to be funded by the Spanish govern-
ment as an advance payment on debts, so as to be able to create credit for 
German companies on Iberian soil. In a fi rst, the Spaniards rejected 
this idea. Instead the Francoist government revived the interministerial 
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treaty commission, an entity that had been sidelined for years in nego-
tiations with Germany. It unanimously voted to seek “freedom” from 
Germany for economic relations with other countries.96 Months ear-
lier any such re sis tance would have been unthinkable.

Two confi dential agreements  were eventually signed.97 Wohlthat 
conceded in December that the dual monopoly would no longer be 
the exclusive medium of exchange, at least for the duration of Ger-
many’s war.98 In the Reich the treaties  were rightly interpreted as a 
Spanish victory, so much so that Göring called a special meeting the 
following March at his residence in which he rebuked Wohlthat in front 
of a variety of his colleagues.99 The seasoned negotiator responded that 
they had few alternatives if they wanted to maintain the commercial 
exchange in spite of the Anglo- French blockade. On this point the rest 
of the group seems to have agreed; now at war, Germany needed the 
continued provision of high- quality iron ore, wolfram, mercury, and 
foodstuff s, along with anything that could be extracted from a now 
freer Spain.100 As for “the debt,” the Spaniards had merely promised to 
“look into” the amounts, bills, and exchange rates used to calculate 
the total liability. In the following seven months the Spaniards made 
no further payments in foreign exchange.101 Suddenly time was on Fran-
co’s side.

A further sign of Germany’s weakened position was that Spain moved 
to normalize other economic relations. Asserting their newfound 
freedom, Franco’s regime, which had resisted any connection with the 
democracies just months earlier, signed commercial treaties with both 
France and Britain in early 1940.102 From the German perspective, this 
violated the 1937 promise that Spain’s fi rst comprehensive agreement 
would be with the Third Reich, but from the Spanish point of view 
the agreements signed by Wohlthat and his team had already “fulfi lled” 
that obligation. Legalism aside, Franco was freer to seek counter- 
balancing contacts with Germany’s enemies. Like their re sis tance to fur-
ther economic penetration, this Iberian volte- face would have been im-
probable before the invasion of Poland; with Spain at peace and 
resource- constrained Germany at war, Franco could continue to resist.

What makes the new Spanish stance so remarkable is that in the wider 
foreign policy arena German power was still in the ascendancy. During 
the so- called phony war, the Nazi empire grew almost unwittingly. 
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The Danish government’s declaration of war had no sooner reached 
Germany on April 9, 1940, than the Danes  were forced to capitulate. 
It was perhaps the briefest military campaign in history.103 Control of 
Danish airfi elds and routes was essential for a preemptive attack on 
Norway, launched that very day. Aided by its terrain and an Anglo- 
French expeditionary force, however, Norway resisted.104 Control of 
those territories was essential from an economic as well as a strategic 
perspective: it would allow unfettered access to high- quality ores from 
Narvik.105

The subsequent administration of both territories was dissimilar. The 
Danes  were managed with the least possible oversight: without an over-
bearing viceroy, permanent civilian staff , intervention from the Weh-
rmacht, or even a sizable SS involvement. The German ambassador, 
Cecil von Renthe- Fink, became a “Reich plenipotentiary,” while the 
po liti cal system was left with a degree of in de pen dence that eluded other 
occupied territories.106 This “light touch” not only served as po liti cal 
window- dressing at a time when the destiny of Norway and the Low 
Countries was undecided but also ensured that the Danes kept pro-
ducing what Nazi Germany needed most from them: dairy and other 
primary goods.107 Surrounded by occupied territories, however, for-
eign policy in de pen dence was out of the question. So Danes acquiesced 
to German hegemony and integration into its economic system.

The destiny of Norway could hardly have been more diff erent. 
Having resisted for longer than most— the most, in fact, of any invaded 
country, save Soviet Russia— Hitler once again personally sidelined the 
Wehrmacht. His choice of Rhineland local party chief Josef Terboven 
as Reichskommissar did not bode well for Norwegians; it was further com-
plicated by the existence of a local pseudo- Nazi party with close—if 
complicated— ties to the German Nazi Party.108 Judging by their elec-
toral per for mance before the war, National Samsling (NS), the party 
led by Vidkun Quisling, was anything but pop u lar. In the aftermath 
of King Haakon VII’s exile to London, however, Terboven unilater-
ally abolished the monarchy and established a government made up al-
most exclusively of NS members. This move did not endear him to 
the population. The same applied to the puppet government established 
under Quisling in 1942.109 The London Times coined the use of quisling 
as a synonym for Nazi collaborator; the term has proven far more pop-
u lar than Quisling ever was.110 The years of occupation saw martial law, 
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mass executions, and concentration camps. It was highly unusual for a 
Nazi leader to disgust Goebbels by his treatment of occupied peoples, 
but Terboven somehow managed.111

Belgium and the Netherlands provide further examples of the hap-
hazard nature of formal Nazi imperialism. In Belgium the occupation 
began with massive looting, condoned by the Nazi leadership.112 The 
Reich swiftly annexed the territories lost in Versailles— Eupen, Mal-
médy, and the village of Moresnet— via a Führer decree on May 18.113 
Meeting the king in late 1940, Hitler was vague about the country’s 
future: Belgium would “occupy a position of some sort within the eco-
nomic and po liti cal cooperation with the Reich.”114 It was not to be a 
simple occupation. From a management perspective, however, the 
strategy was not dissimilar to the one followed during the Great War, 
in which Schacht had gotten his fi rst taste of both public ser vice and 
empire. With the exception of the annexed territories, the Wehrmacht 
remained in control throughout the war under Baron Alexander von 
Falkenhausen, an old- school Kaiserreich type whose cousin had run the 
occupation during World War I.115 Perhaps that is why the economic 
integration of Belgium went relatively smoothly: looting stopped, busi-
ness orders poured in from Germany, and Belgian business leaders  were 
quick to integrate their production into the Reich industrial core.116 
Even though production had fallen below 1939 levels, the Germans  were 
not deterred; the economic pie might have been smaller, but the Reich 
took a considerably larger slice. Exports to Germany had priority, and 
after December 1941 exports to other occupied territories  were tech-
nically banned to divert even more trade toward the Reich proper.117 
In spite of currency controls, however, infl ationary pressures built up, 
driven by the artifi cially weak exchange rate of the franc against the 
Reichsmark that furthered German purchasing power. It was another 
World War I déjà vu.118

In the Netherlands the “Rotterdam blitz” echoed Guernica: re sis-
tance against the Wehrmacht ended swiftly on May 14, 1940. Against 
the wishes of the military establishment, the administration of occu-
pied Netherlands was entrusted to the Nazi Party.119 Yet Anschluß vet-
eran Seyß- Inquart implemented a type of occupation radically diff erent 
from Terboven’s in Norway. Hitler had encouraged the Austrian to seek 
collaboration, particularly given the need to access raw materials from 
the unoccupied Dutch Empire. The man Time called “Germany’s handy 
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man for disciplining captured countries” proved to be a careful, eff ec-
tive exploiter.120 Inspired by suggestions from Schacht’s old ally at the 
War Ministry, General Thomas, he resisted looting and mass requisi-
tions. Instead he took a more decentralized approach.121 His so- called 
Auftragsverlagerung policy involved letting local producers fulfi ll orders 
from German businesses, which had eff ective priority over all others. 
By 1940 they accounted for 14 percent of Dutch GDP. Auftragsverlagerung 
was arguably the closest the formal Nazi empire ever came to informal 
empire, meaning that control was less violent and arbitrary as well as 
more rooted in economic incentives for the local population. Dutch 
unemployment decreased so rapidly that Seyß- Inquart boasted to a Party 
outlet that he had solved in half a year what the Dutch government 
failed to do over a de cade since the Depression.122 This policy was cer-
tainly more eco nom ically effi  cient than Göring’s looting and the more 
systematic exploitation displayed after 1942.

By mid-1940 Hitler’s focus was on France, which had not mounted 
an aggressive campaign.123 During the winter of 1939–1940 he sent 
workers back to factories so as to avoid a severe impact on the over-
heated economy, where the shortage of labor remained acute.124 Mean-
while forced labor into the Reich began to grow not only from an-
nexed territories but increasingly from occupied territories.125 The 
German invasion, codenamed Fall Gelb, advanced faster than even the 
Wehrmacht had expected; the French, badly or ga nized and question-
ably led, did not resist for long.126 By May 23 the British Expeditionary 
Force and some of the best French troops had been encircled; the 
Dunkirk evacuation is remembered in Britain as a triumph, when in 
reality it was the salvage operation at the end of what Churchill ap-
propriately called “a colossal military disaster.” A French armistice fol-
lowed on June 22.

Because of its size and importance, France would be a key test for 
German imperialism. Three weeks after the armistice, on July 15, 
Franco- German frontiers  were readjusted back to the 1871 borders. Al-
sace, Lorraine, and three other French departments (Moselle, Bas- Rhin, 
and Haut- Rhin)  were henceforth fully integrated into the Reich.127 
Under some of the same men responsible for the Austrian and Czech 
“integrations,” these territories  were to be Germanized “within ten 
years.” The Nazis took these goals very seriously.128 As of early August, 
statistics in the regions became indistinguishable from those in the rest 
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of the Reich. On August 16 the Reichsbank published a report on the 
economy of Alsace- Lorraine. It seems obvious the report had been in 
the works since before the invasion.129 France was divided. There  were 
two occupied areas— one under German military command and a tiny 
one under Italian control, a fi tting symbol of Mussolini’s role in Hitler’s 
plans. Then there was Marshal Pétain’s Vichy government, which even-
tually administered the rest of France.130 Pétain’s fascistic “New Order” 
worked only within German- imposed constraints. The Economist 
editors  were right to point out there  were three Frances: “one occupied, 
one muzzled, and one exiled.”131

Without a proper peace treaty, however, France’s ultimate destiny 
was unclear.132 From an economic perspective, France was a prize bigger 
than all the other occupied territories put together. Göring— whom 
General Thomas, echoing Schacht’s similarly condescending remarks, 
addressed as “not an economist”— behaved characteristically: he oversaw 
massive looting in luxury and industrial goods.133 This fi t his concep-
tion of France as a “defeated nation.”134 Thereafter he focused on 
adapting French airplane factories for Luftwaff e production, a goal that 
was aided by France’s extensive aluminum industry.

As elsewhere, German soldiers in France received occupation cur-
rency (Reichskreditkassenschein) to be used for their expenses.135 The cen-
tral bank (Banque de France) was forced to issue corresponding francs 
and to charge the French government for the cost. This implied a gen-
erous occupation subsidy; such monetary expansion in a growing 
economy fed infl ation. France suff ered: the overvaluation of the Reichs-
mark against the franc was extreme, surpassed only by the exchange 
rate with the Greek drachma.136

Logistically the exploitation of the crown jewel in the German Em-
pire proceeded through levying egregious occupation costs that had 
little to do with actual Wehrmacht expenditures. These had been “ne-
gotiated” by an economic delegation under Hans Hemmen that re-
sisted Göring’s more brutal approach in favor of “lighter” management. 
Eager to maintain good relations with Pétain’s regime, the Wehrmacht 
and von Ribbentrop’s Auswärtiges Amt supported it. Göring com-
plained about the “humane” way the French  were treated; he also pro-
fessed nostalgia for outright “pillaging.”137 But even the “moderate” 
Wehrmacht had taken no less than eighty- one thousand tons of copper 
from France, Belgium, and the Netherlands immediately after the suc-
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cessful invasions. In all, 13 billion francs’ worth of raw materials would 
be taken from France.138

As leading economic historians of the period have argued, however, 
the lack of certain key resources in the occupied territories and the lack 
of access to their imperial possessions (applicable to France and Bel-
gium) severely limited what Germany could hope to gain from its glit-
tering continental empire. This meant that the resources that could be 
obtained from what remained of Germany’s informal empire— 
principally Spain but also the Balkans— were still essential. The longer 
the war, the worse Germany’s resource handicap became.139

Blitzkrieg on French soil brought Mussolini into the war. But it did 
not bring in a far more cautious Franco, who was desirous of “tran-
quility.”140 Yet the Generalísimo was tempted all the same. In a Sep-
tember 16 meeting between von Ribbentrop and Ramón Serrano 
Suñer— Franco’s brother- in- law, soon to be the Spanish foreign 
minister— the Germans off ered French Morocco to Spain in exchange 
for belligerence, as long as Germany could have bases and, perhaps most 
crucially, formal mining rights.141 In order to fulfi ll the Spanish mili-
tary’s centuries- long North African obsession, Franco wanted control 
of Gibraltar and Oran as well. As we have seen, these aims directly ad-
dressed Royal Navy preoccupations since the beginning of the Spanish 
Civil War. Franco invited Hitler to meet.142

In mid-1940 Berlin authorized Bernhardt to write a letter to Franco 
directly, expressing eagerness to continue economic exchanges while 
the Iberian government “analyzed” war debts. Bernhardt’s focus was 
on the commercial debts in a masked attempt to unblock negotiations. 
At the time German formal control over western Eu rope was, other 
than in Spain, absolute.143 In the pro cess the preeminence of SOFINDUS 
was reasserted as a vehicle to turn Spanish debts into productive 
investments for Germany. Writing on July 5, a week after France’s 
capitulation, Bernhardt complained to Franco that not enough raw 
materials fl owed to Germany, while promising further “military 
cooperation”— meaning new matériel for the regime—if exports re-
covered.144 The fi nal amount was not prohibitive since the “commer-
cial” debt “from Spain to HISMA” was only around 15 million Reichs-
marks. Bernhardt’s intervention was initially successful with the Spanish 
leadership. And yet this time around, the Spanish bureaucracy in charge 
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of foreign exchange created impediments for SOFINDUS invest-
ments.145 At the time Germans wanted to use existing war debts to pay 
for fruit imports, a choice that underscores the importance of Spain in 
the German trading system beyond the industrial needs of “the war 
economy.”146 In this sense the focus is reminiscent of Schacht’s during 
his secret Republican contacts.

Germans complained once again about the Iberian war debts. This 
time the Spanish government understood it could delay no longer, and 
agreed to send a delegation to Berlin to audit bills. Yet they would take 
until the following September to fi nish. On October 20 the Führer 
took a train to the South of France on the way to the Spanish border. 
There he met French prime minister Pierre Laval, who sought better 
relations between the Vichy regime and Nazi Germany.147 Hitler sug-
gested at least some of France’s colonial possessions would become 
German after the war, but that did not deter the eager Laval.148 Hitler 
and von Ribbentrop  were encouraged: they favored Vichy France as a 
potential ally over Francoist Spain.

Three days later Hitler arrived in Hendaye to meet Franco, whose 
train was late.149 On the French side of the border, this was the closest 
the Führer had ever been— and ever would be—to Spain. Franco opened 
the conversation by expressing gratitude for Nazi intervention in the 
Civil War; yet he had come to ask a hefty price for military support in 
Hitler’s war. Eager to avoid the French Empire siding with De Gaulle’s 
Free French government in exile, Hitler did not have that much to 
give.150 The Führer off ered Gibraltar if Spain joined a “wide front” 
against Britain, but it was clear he did not want to antagonize the French. 
Franco enumerated his extensive demands. Hitler stood up, irritated, 
and threatened to leave.151

Talks nonetheless continued. When he fi nally left, Hitler was heard 
saying, “There’s nothing to be done with this man.”152 Later that month 
in Florence he would famously complain to Mussolini that he would 
rather have his teeth pulled out than talk to Franco again. For his part, 
Franco told Serrano Suñer, “These people are intolerable. They want 
us to come into the war in exchange for nothing.”153 Hitler’s later 
meeting with Pétain went far better than that with Franco. During the 
long train  ride back to Germany, Hitler pressed on Wehrmacht heavy-
weights Jodl and Keitel that the coming summer would be an ideal time 
to move against Stalin.154 An invasion of the Soviet Union, code- named 
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Barbarossa, was therefore Hitler’s strategic answer to two intertwined 
failures: to woo Soviet foreign minister Molotov into a new arrange-
ment and to subdue Britain.155 Whether Hitler’s attitude would have 
been diff erent if Franco had been more forthcoming than Pétain is im-
possible to ascertain.156 What we do know is that Hitler’s almost con-
current dispatch of German agents to Romanian oil fi elds, an old bas-
tion of his South Eastern economic empire, led a jealous Mussolini to 
launch a unilateral invasion of Greece. It would prove to be a ruinous 
move.157

After Hendaye, Spain redoubled eff orts to assert its newfound freedom. 
At a meeting attended by both Franco and Serrano Suñer, the Gener-
alísimo instructed his men to delay any agreement on German war debts. 
Franco commented that there would likely be “far more benefi cial” 
ways to settle a bill “incurred in the fi ght against communism” after 
the wider war ended. In a cable to Berlin, Ambassador von Stohrer spec-
ulated that Franco wanted to treat the debts in a “global peace confer-
ence.” Franco hoped a victorious Hitler would simply forgive the Civil 
War debts.158

In light of such instructions, debt negotiations stalled. Constrained 
by war needs as well as the blockade, SOFINDUS lacked funds to de-
velop investments and expand its role in the reconstruction economy. 
In a counterfactual world without Hitler’s ever- growing military 
commitments— soon to include the Soviet Union— a diff erent projec-
tion of power in peacetime Spain would have been likely. As it was, 
however, Bernhardt could only hope to develop the investments he had 
already secured without new funds. A provisional agreement over ex-
isting debts was reached in Berlin only on February 28, 1941, through 
a protocol signed by Wohlthat on behalf of Germany and Ginés Vidal 
for Spain. The Spaniards did recognize a debt total in this document, 
yet they insisted on a “global reduction.”159 Franco hoped Mussolini’s 
debt forgiveness would act as a pre ce dent for Hitler. But that was wishful 
thinking. In stark contrast to pre– world war Ibero- German relations, 
the Nazis began to see themselves as unable to achieve what they 
wanted— and yet they did not budge on debts. Having achieved at least 
a nominal agreement on the amount (including a small hike, presum-
ably due to new expenses or interest),160 offi  cials in Berlin decided to 
wait until after the success of Barbarossa to press Spain on the debts; 
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they maintained their focus on the fl ow of crucial raw materials in-
stead.161 The golden days of informal empire, when Germans demanded 
and the Spanish obliged,  were decidedly over.

Delayed by untimely interventions in Yugo slavia and Greece, the 
Wehrmacht invaded the Soviet Union on June 22, 1941. Goebbels noted 
it was the same day Napoleon had chosen for his ill- fated invasion 129 
years before; keenly aware of the historical parallel, Hitler commissioned 
“experts” to claim Bonaparte had actually invaded on June 23.162 Only 
in light of Britain’s dogged re sis tance did Hitler return to the “crusade 
against Communism”; after all, ideological aversion had not impeded 
the 1939 Ribbentrop- Molotov Pact. Barbarossa was a colossal military 
off ensive undertaken by 3 million troops; like Napoleon’s, its begin-
ning was auspicious.163 Lebensraum imperial thinking permeated it. 
“What India was for En gland, the eastern territory will be for us,” Hitler 
declared in his military headquarters a month later.164

When Barbarossa failed to achieve decisive victory, however, man-
agement of the formal empire changed radically. Goebbels did not speak 
of “total war” before 1943; all the same, economic data suggest a more 
systematic exploitation of western occupied territories began far ear-
lier, in late 1941. Before this turning point the Auftragsverlagerung system 
fi rst implemented by Seyß- Inquart in the Netherlands had been im-
ported into Belgium and Denmark.165 As we have seen, a system rem-
iniscent of informal empire techniques allowed for collaboration with 
local elites and businesses in the running of occupation.166 Yet the Eastern 
Front demanded an amount of resources that this system simply could 
not muster.

In late 1941 economic and fi nancial controls  were once again tight-
ened in Germany, gearing the country for a longer war.167 Some ac-
counts have put a “turning point” in December 1941, when it became 
obvious that Barbarossa was not the resounding success it fi rst seemed 
to be.168 As early as August, however, General Thomas considered 
closing down 40 percent of Dutch industry— despite an ongoing pro-
duction boom—in order to remedy Germany’s coal shortages, a stra-
tegic defi ciency exacerbated by France’s import needs.169 Thereafter 
Germans redoubled eff orts to import labor into the Reich to take ad-
vantage of higher domestic productivity. At least temporarily slave labor 
boosted production. “Increased exploitation” took until into 1942 to 
apply to the French economy, but it was vicious when it did.170
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Nazi ideology and, more important, Hitler’s leadership style con-
tributed to the management bottlenecks in the empire, which  were cou-
pled with repression of the lower classes.171 The Führer’s state has been 
described as a “government without administration.”172 Scholars have 
referred to this style as “polycratic,” meaning there  were multiple, often 
overlapping pockets of power within. The inevitable bureaucratic in-
fi ghting that resulted ensured all sorts of decisions  were elevated to the 
dictator. Key moments in the history of the Third Reich— the Night 
of the Long Knives, the remilitarization of the Rhineland, the estab-
lishment of Schacht’s “economic dictatorship,” intervention in the 
Spanish Civil War, the Four- Year Plan, Schacht’s sidelining, the An-
schluß, the invasion of Poland and eventually Barbarossa— involved de-
cisions that  were, ultimately, Hitler’s alone. After the defeat at Sta lin-
grad, to borrow Bracher’s classic phrase, leadership began to turn from 
polycratic to “chaotic.”173 Frick’s Interior Ministry seemed to acknowl-
edge as much in a 1942 report: “It is one of the most characteristic or-
gan i za tional principles of National Socialism that tasks of great po liti cal 
priority . . .  are assigned not to agencies with clearly defi ned compe-
tencies, but to a trusted individual furnished with sweeping powers.”174 
This fundamental issue with decision making was problematic not only 
in the military establishment that Warlimont’s OKW revolutionized 
but also in the economic arena.175

Far from the “economic dictatorship” Schacht led between 1934 and 
mid-1937, a plethora of economic decision makers competed for fi nite 
resources and control. There was Göring, himself “not an economist,” 
and his grand Four- Year Plan; General Thomas at the OKW; and the 
Economics Ministry staff , now under a more pliable Walther Funk, who 
eventually took charge of the Reichsbank. If that  were somehow not 
enough, Hitler personally expanded the role of “plenipotentiaries” in 
the economy; he made Fritz Todt responsible for munitions, and, after 
Todt’s death in early February 1942, the architect Albert Speer suc-
ceeded him as minister of armaments and war production. The posi-
tions  were run separately from the military command, the Economics 
Ministry, and even the Four- Year Plan administration, duplicating (or, 
to be precise, quadruplicating) orders and bureaucratic infi ghting. Each 
answered to Hitler directly. Schacht’s point about the need for ultimate 
responsibility in economic decision making in his 1938 letters to the 
Führer seemed, in retrospect, justifi ed. Collaboration, so sought- after 
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in occupied Eu rope, was never a feature of the upper echelons of Nazi 
rule.

Never one to be left behind, Göring created his own plenipotentia-
ries. Although Paul Pleiger was a far more capable manager than his 
boss, his commission over the Reich’s coal supply led to bottlenecks.176 
Corruption always featured prominently in Göring’s enterprises.177 With 
plunder and exploitation on the rise, productivity fell. Paradoxically 
when Hitler needed it most, the formal empire ended up producing 
less. This was at least partly a result of production bottlenecks and re-
source shortages, but labor productivity fell in France and other oc-
cupied territories as the war dragged on. War weariness, demoraliza-
tion, and outright re sis tance increased, as did public perception of the 
futility of the Nazi war eff ort.178 This did not stop Berlin from de-
manding ever more resources: the Reich requisitioned 19 percent of 
French national income in 1940, almost 21 percent in 1941, and 36.6 
percent in 1943, their last full year in control of French territory.179 
Strained natural resources, or gan i za tional chaos, and falling produc-
tivity of the post- Barbarossa Nazi formal empire in the West vindi-
cated alternate modes of continental hegemony.

Going back to Poland’s General Government, the East was always 
diff erent. Economic decisions  were always secondary to a racial project 
that became ever more radicalized by the proximity of the war front.180 
Hitler’s “India” was not one where Germany merely exercised po liti cal 
and economic control. Rather it was one where “Nazi colonization” 
demanded the outright extermination of non- Germanic peoples.181 The 
early excesses in annexed territories and Frank’s General Government 
eventually developed into the Final Solution, a project viciously— and 
programmatically— executed as of 1942.182 Those who welcomed the 
invading Wehrmacht as liberators from Soviet oppression in 1941 
changed their mind swiftly, as soon as the true, murderous colors of 
German Empire became evident.

Barbarossa led to a period when Franco sought to ally himself closer 
with Hitler, while still asserting a level of in de pen dence that had not 
existed prior to September 1939. In the fi rst, successful months of 
German invasion of the Soviet Union, Spain paid its commercial bal-
ance in cash— and to Bernhardt.183 It was the only time there  were no 
delays in the pro cess. Internal documents from Francoist ministers be-
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tray the motive for swift payment: Franco and his closest clique be-
lieved Hitler would prevail over Stalin.184 Barbarossa also fi t the Fran-
coist ideology far better than the Ribbentrop- Molotov Pact ever did. 
In keeping with this anti- Communism, the Spanish government sent 
the División Azul (Blue Division) to the Eastern Front. Around forty 
thousand Spaniards fought in the Volkhov riverfront and the siege of 
Leningrad between mid-1941 and late 1943, unwittingly brought into 
a war of annihilation for Nazi Lebensraum.185 At the time Madrid in-
sisted on new military supplies from Nazi Germany. Once again Franco 
wanted planes, guns, artillery. At various times and well into 1943, 
Franco promised these supplies would be used to defend Spain from a 
potential Allied invasion.186 The Führer had not forgotten Hendaye. 
In the midst of its impossible two- front war, furthermore, Germany 
could not aff ord the same resources it had once deployed in Spain. And 
Franco continued to dither on repaying the old war debts.

As the war dragged on, Spain became an important supplier of an-
other key resource that Nazi Germany lacked: labor. Franco sent workers 
to Nazi Germany, and his government obtained a further reduction of 
its outstanding debts through “discounts” on these workers’ wages.187 
The Francoist leadership therefore benefi ted directly from this quasi- 
slave labor, which the Germans insisted on training themselves.188

Yet by this time Francoist Spain depended heavily on some strategic 
Allied supplies. Chief among them was oil, one of those resources that 
U.S. industry gave Franco on credit during the Civil War. Heavily con-
strained, particularly after Barbarossa, Nazi Germany was not an al-
ternative source for these supplies. Yet most of Spain’s foreign trade was 
still tilted to Germany and its formal empire. According to 1944 data, 
39.2 percent of all Spanish exports went to Germany proper and an-
other 30 percent to German- occupied territories. Although German 
informal empire was no longer tangible on Iberian soil, trade integra-
tion remained: Spain was a key German source of raw materials from 
ores to foodstuff s, including ammonia, nitrogen, and war manufactures 
like uniforms and parachutes.

As we have seen, the loss of German hegemony in Spain predated 
the turning tides of war. Still tied to Germany commercially but es-
sentially freed from the German economic hegemony, Franco’s gov-
ernment sought to balance the Axis with the Allies as the war dragged 
on. At a few instances during the Civil War, Franco attempted to counter 
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German impositions with renewed British contacts. This was successful 
only seldom and did not really alter the trade and policy domination 
by Germany, a key consequence of the Spanish Civil War.189 Well into 
World War II, however, rising U.S. infl uence added to British coun-
terbalancing. This would eventually lead to a confrontation with 
Franco— and set the stage for the international ostracism of Spain that 
followed Allied victory.

On November 14, 1942, President Roo se velt sent Franco a cordial 
public letter explaining the need for U.S. troops and matériel in North 
Africa to fi ght Gen. Erwin Rommel’s Africakorps. Rommel’s invasion 
of Egypt threatened British dominance of the Middle East and its supply 
channels.190 After mentioning U.S.- Spanish “friendship” three times 
in the fi rst sentence, Roo se velt highlighted the benefi ts of cooperation: 
“Spain has nothing to fear from the United Nations.”191 Though he wel-
comed FDR’s letter publicly and privately, Franco did not alter his re-
lations with the Third Reich. Just two days before, in a letter from For-
eign Minister Francisco Gómez- Jordana to his ambassador in Berlin, 
Franco had ordered the ambassador to “seek for Spain (the only nation 
in the world which openly and sincerely professes her friendship for 
the Third Reich) war materiel, free of charge, in order to resist the 
Allies.”192 Franco’s militaristic regime still desired cutting- edge weap-
onry as insurance and, in stark contrast to the past, it wanted it gratis.

It was wolfram exports to the Axis, however, that triggered a crisis 
symbolic of the dusk of German infl uence and the dawn of U.S. infl u-
ence. Starting in mid-1943 the State Department had been pushing for 
a wolfram embargo that would stop Germany from furnishing this cru-
cial raw material from Spanish mines.193 With the second highest melting 
temperature of any element, wolfram was instrumental for the produc-
tion of rocket engines, at the core of the technological breakthroughs 
eagerly publicized by Speer’s Ministry of Armaments.194 No “miracle 
weapon” would save the doomed Nazi war eff ort, but the United States 
still struggled to limit Germany’s access to the key resource. Unsur-
prisingly Spanish foreign minister Gómez- Jordana resisted: “An em-
bargo of wolfram would mean a break with Germany because Ger-
many would not tolerate it.”195

In spite of British hesitation, Carlton J. H. Hayes, the U.S. ambas-
sador to Spain, advocated for economic sanctions to punish Franco’s 
economic ties to the Axis: “So long as our economic supplies to Spain 
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particularly of petroleum are furnished as nearly automatically as at 
present I fear he [Franco] will continue to believe he can maintain his 
present attitude [of steering the middle course] without penalty from 
us.” In words that echoed those uttered by Germans a few years earlier 
the ambassador concluded, “By far our strongest weapon is the eco-
nomic weapon.”196 Oil supplies to Franco  were eventually cut for long 
enough to get the dictator’s approval for a wolfram export cap. It was 
thanks to British mediation that an agreement was reached.197

German resource isolation intensifi ed as its armies began to lose 
ground. When the Allies advanced, Franco too became more isolated. 
In 1945 Roo se velt wrote a tele gram to Hayes’s replacement in Madrid 
anticipating the end of Eu ro pean hostilities. FDR, who had come to 
regret his lack of support for the Spanish Republic, was not as wel-
coming as he had been in 1942: “Having been helped to power by Fas-
cist Italy and Nazi Germany, and having patterned itself along totali-
tarian lines the present regime of Spain is naturally the subject of 
distrust. . . .  Most certainly we do not forget Spain’s offi  cial position 
with and assistance to our Axis enemies at the time when the fortunes 
of war  were less favorable to us.” Roo se velt’s was, if anything, an un-
derstatement. “There are many things which we could do and nor-
mally would be glad to do in economic and other fi elds to demon-
strate that friendship [with the Spanish people]. The initiation of such 
mea sures is out of the question at this time, however, when American 
sentiment is so profoundly opposed to the present regime.”198

The San Francisco Conference echoed this sentiment when a 
Mexican- sponsored resolution excluding Spain from the United Na-
tions was passed by acclamation.199 The same applied in Potsdam, where 
Churchill and Stalin supported Roo se velt’s desire to isolate Franco.200 
For his part, Don Juan de Borbón, the exiled Bourbon heir to the 
Spanish throne, had issued the Lausanne Manifesto on March 19, 1945, 
denouncing fascism and criticizing Franco’s close ties with Nazi Ger-
many and Fascist Italy.201 The dictator’s rule in the last months of World 
War II became markedly antimonarchist because of an emerging rift 
with those who favored another Bourbon restoration.202

While Franco’s repression machine quelled domestic dissent, his am-
bassador in Washington acted defensively. Juan Cárdenas, none other 
than the duplicitous ambassador in Blum’s France at the beginning of the 
Civil War, cited Roo se velt’s 1942 letter to Franco amid a much- massaged 
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treatment of Nazi relations in a letter to the secretary of state. His 
closing, however, betrayed reactionary tendencies: “Spain, in short, 
will unfalteringly maintain its rights and is ready to isolate itself from 
those who may have such an impaired conception of international re-
lations among peoples.”203 Thereafter, the regime manipulated statis-
tics to underplay how much it had contributed to the German war ef-
fort, in par tic u lar with respect to wolfram exports; it also made as few 
references as possible to eff ectively stolen remittances of Spanish workers 
laboring in Nazi Germany.204

Nonetheless international ostracism did materialize. In February 1946 
the French Cabinet unilaterally closed its border and cut off  all trade 
with Spain in reaction to the summary execution of anti- Franco dis-
sidents.205 The regime had tried to show a better face, but Franco re-
mained Franco. Simultaneously the French administration pressured its 
British and U.S. allies to pursue a similar blockade. Before he penned 
his “Long Tele gram,” the U.S. chargé d’aff aires in Moscow George 
Kennan wrote about Soviet designs in Spain, “Po liti cally as well as stra-
tegically Rus sians recognize in Spain a key territory in which it is highly 
important for them to win infl uence.”206 If Allied isolation led to a new 
civil war, as Hitler had once predicted, then a Communist Spain could 
well emerge victorious. After all, since late 1945 Communist- dominated 
maquis groups had renewed armed struggle against Franco’s regime.207

In the Tripartite Declaration of March 4, 1946, the Allies declared, 
“As long as General Franco continues to rule Spain, the Spanish people 
cannot anticipate full and cordial association with those nations of the 
world which have, by common eff ort, brought defeat to German Na-
zism and Italian Fascism, which aided the present Spanish regime in 
its rise to power and after which the regime was patterned.”208 Op-
position to Franco became a central tenet of U.S. policy until the Eisen-
hower administration, when anti- Communism trumped concerns about 
anachronistic fascism and led to the establishment of military bases on 
Iberian soil in 1953.209 Only then did the Francoist regime begin to 
reverse a disastrous economic policy modeled after Nazi Autarkie.

The decline and fall of Germany’s informal empire in Spain began when 
Hitler launched his bid for Lebensraum, unleashing world war in the 
pro cess. The birth of Nazi formal empire put an end to the uneven 
relationships that had given Germany economic hegemony over the 
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nascent Francoist regime, a shadow empire forged through the deci-
sive German intervention in the Spanish Civil War. After the failed 
summit in Hendaye, the same Spanish state that had created legal ex-
ceptions to accommodate German demands created impediments for 
resource extraction. That is not to say that Germany did not obtain 
some benefi t from its relationship with Spain, for it continued to im-
port the raw materials it needed to keep up the war eff ort. Yet the terms 
of engagement  were radically diff erent and far less advantageous to Ger-
many: hegemony was gone. Eventually British and U.S. involvement 
further curtailed Spain’s economic ties to Nazi Germany, even though 
Francoist ideology clung to pseudo-fascism. This led directly to Franco’s 
international ostracism, one that would be maintained until at the very 
least 1953.

By September 1, 1939, the tables had turned for good. Crafting the 
exploitative, genocidal, and ultimately ephemeral empire for which we 
remember the Nazis required burying the informal one on Iberian soil.



c on c lu s ion

INTEGRATED EU ROPE

He was also told of [Roman] battles . . .  and what [the Romans] 
did in Spain to get possession of the silver and gold mines there. 
By planning and per sis tence they subjugated the  whole region, 
although it was very remote from their own.

—1 Maccabees 8: 1–3

nly Eu rope’s po liti cal consolidation can bring about an intensifi ca-
tion of the  whole economic life in the Eu ro pean sphere and elimi-
nate the disturbances and tensions that so far have prevented the 

fruitful co- operation,” wrote Eu rope’s most powerful economic offi  -
cial. In a pamphlet ominously titled The Economic Future of Eu rope, he 
described a bright tomorrow: “The Eu ro pean economies can be de-
veloped to a much higher degree and the[ir] yield increased materially 
by co- operation that is based on logic.” The goal was straightforward: 
“It will be necessary to bring about a consolidation of the common 
economic bond between the peoples of Eu rope. This will be made pos-
sible by closer co- operation in all spheres of economic policy.” He then 
explained the rationale for such ever closer integration: “Economic 
solidarity in Eu ro pean countries should make it possible to uphold 
Eu ro pean economic interests more eff ectively against other corre-
sponding groups in the world economy.”1

Such ideas are mainstream today, when an increasingly postnational 
Eu ro pean Union guarantees a common market for twenty- eight na-
tions from Latvia to Portugal and an evolving monetary  union of eigh-

O
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teen states managed by Eu rope’s most federal institution, the Eu ro pean 
Central Bank. But it was hardly so in the summer of 1940, when The 
Economic Future of Eu rope was penned by Walther Funk, Hjalmar Schacht’s 
successor at the Reichsbank and the Ministry of Economics. A lethargic 
journalist who had once edited the Berliner Börsenzeitung, a leading 
German fi nancial newspaper, Funk had been introduced to Hitler by 
Schacht before the Nazi seizure of power.2 In words that echoed his 
pre de ces sor’s nationalistic economic framework, Funk continued, “Eu-
ro pean countries today recognize their natural trade partner. . . .  
Germany’s potential economic power is so great that she has, besides 
the ability to produce her own war requirements, suffi  cient capacity to 
produce export surplice [sic].”3 Less than a month after the armistice with 
a humiliated France, on July 20, 1940, the minister announced an 
economic New Order to reconstruct war- torn Eu rope.

What kind of integrated Eu rope did the Nazis dream of ? At a press 
conference in Berlin following the armistice with France, Funk pre-
dicted that Schacht’s bilateral trade treaties would eventually give way 
to multilateral deals with centralized clearing in Berlin. Schacht’s De-
pression- era goal of decoupling Germany from Britain and the United 
States would thus be achieved. In the pro cess Germany would become 
the undisputed core of Eu rope. Its economic leadership would not be 
contested. “By concluding long- term trade agreements with Eu ro pean 
countries,” Funk explained, “it is intended that the Eu ro pean economic 
systems shall adapt themselves to the German market by a system of 
production planned far into the future.” 4 Centrally planned rational-
ization and specialization would be directed— and dictated— from 
Berlin.

The New Order would ensure that: “[Countries] will be able to se-
cure for themselves a safe and steady market for many years ahead.”5 
The void left by the apparent failure of classical liberalism after the break-
down of globalization would be fi lled by German economic theory.6 
Some building blocks existed already: po liti cal alignment, economic 
dependence, and foreign policy subservience  were rewarded in Den-
mark and the Netherlands, where elites profi ted from German indus-
trial orders with comparatively little oversight.7 The German logic im-
plied that Britain and the United States, with their imperial preference 
and gold hoarding, respectively, could not off er a compelling alterna-
tive. While Britain struggled, Funk reasoned, the Nazi state was “able 
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to keep her  house, and be it remembered it is a much enlarged  house, 
in order.” A Pax Germanica would “guarantee Greater Germany max-
imum economic security and the German people maximum consump-
tion in commodities.”8 Coming from a man who had thrived in Goe-
bbels’s Ministry of Propaganda, Funk’s economic New Order constituted 
a calculated public relations off ensive: under German rule reconstruc-
tion would yield Eu ro pean  union.

Hitler was more cautious. Never particularly interested in economics, 
he preferred to keep his long- term plans vague.9 He cared little for fi -
nancial architecture, preferring talk of actual architecture instead: co-
lossal squares, gargantuan train stations, and majestic monuments oc-
cupied his mind.10 Perhaps only in that respect did the Führer share 
Funk’s vision of a German- led Eu rope standing up to the vastness of 
the United States, a central preoccupation of his since the days of his 
Second Book.11 A few months earlier, on April 5, an unusually frank Goe-
bbels had told the media, “If anyone asks how you conceive of the new 
Eu rope, we have to reply that we don’t know. Of course we have some 
ideas about it. But if we  were going to put them into words it would 
immediately create more enemies for us.”12

On November 19, 1940, a dossier of (incomplete) press clippings de-
tailing Funk’s evolution of Schachtian economics landed on John May-
nard Keynes’s desk at the British Trea sury.13 Attached to it was a note 
from Harold Nicolson at the Information Ministry asking Keynes to 
counter Funk. “The dossier which you sent along with your letter seems 
to suggest we should do well to pose as champions of the pre- war eco-
nomic status quo,” began Keynes’s reply a day later, “and outbid Funk 
by off ering good old 1920–21 or 1930–33, i.e. gold standard or inter-
national exchange laissez- faire aggravated by heavy tariff s, unemploy-
ment,  etc.” That would not be enough. “Is this particularly attractive 
propaganda?” Keynes asked rhetorically. “If you think it is, [then] I am 
certainly not the man to put it across. . . .  Obviously I am not the man 
to preach the beauties and merits of the pre- war gold standard.”14 It 
was his “barbarous relic,” after all.15

Schacht and Keynes had known each other since at least 1922, when 
the British economist had planned the Manchester Guardian’s Recon-
struction Supplements series.16 Their contributors list includes some of the 
fi nest economic thinkers of Eu rope and the United States: Fisher, Pigou, 
Leffi  ngwell, Lamont, Einaudi, Hilferding, Rathenau, and Schacht.17 



When Schacht took the reins of the Reichsbank, Keynes was supportive 
of his stabilization eff orts, most crucially the Dawes Plan.18 The admi-
ration seems to have become mutual in the late 1920s, when, lest we 
forget, Keynes also drifted toward economic nationalism. Following 
the failure of the World Economic Conference in 1933, Keynes deliv-
ered the Finlay Lecture at University College Dublin, titled “National 
Self- Suffi  ciency.”19 According to Keynes’s leading biographer, it “seemed 
to swing the full circle from Adam Smith to Friedrich List, the German 
founder of economic nationalism; or, for the contemporary- minded, 
to Dr. Schacht, Nazi Germany’s economic overlord.”20

It is hence less surprising that Keynes was not too critical of Funk’s 
Schachtian framework. “In my opinion about three- quarters of the pas-
sages quoted from the German broadcasts [about the plan] would be 
quite excellent if the name of Great Britain  were substituted for 
Germany. . . .  If Funk’s plan is taken at its face value, it is excellent and 
just what we ourselves ought to be thinking of doing.” Worthy advice 
followed nonetheless: “If [the plan] is to be attacked, the way to do it 
would be to cast doubt and suspicion on its bona fi des. The point is . . .  
not what Funk purports to do is objectionable, but what he will actu-
ally do.”21 It was a characteristically astute observation. At a time when 
the Luftwaff e brought the war to London, Keynes had admittedly not 
devoted too much time to the postwar economic order. “No one I have 
yet seen has the foggiest idea of what [postwar economics] ought to 
be,” he admitted to Nicolson.22 Yet Funk’s plan forced Keynes to start 
pondering it seriously, four years before the Bretton Woods conference 
recast the global fi nancial architecture for the second half of the 
century.23

As it turns out, Keynes did have something to send Nicolson: a piece 
of economic propaganda he had produced earlier that year criticizing 
Nazi economic management. Its title, ¿Qué quiere decir el area?, betrayed 
its origin: Keynes’s pamphlet was requested, produced, and distrib-
uted by the British Embassy in Franco’s Spain.24 The purpose of the 
pamphlet— perhaps his fi rst blueprint for the postwar order— was to 
argue that trading within Britain’s “sterling area” benefi ted Spain far 
more than remaining within Germany’s economic system. His key point 
was that, as early as 1940, Britain and its empire off ered more to Fran-
co’s Spain than Nazi Germany did. It was an argument Schacht would 
have had to agree with; Germany still suff ered from its recurring capital 
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shortage, and all the conquests in the previous years had failed to over-
come a severe lack of strategic raw materials: oil, coal, building stone, 
minerals from iron ore to wolfram, and of course food.

Franco’s Spain did not have much of a choice before the advent of 
world war; the decisive German intervention in the Spanish Civil War 
created economic dislocations that the Germans wittingly and ruthlessly 
exploited to create informal control of the nascent Francoist regime. 
After 1939, however, Franco was freer to follow Keynes’s advice: the 
advent of world war radically altered the balance of power, burying 
Hitler’s Spanish shadow empire.

Nazi Germany’s empire had many faces. In the East a racialist project 
driven and directed by the Nazi Party led to a barbaric exercise in ex-
termination and the crassest forms of economic exploitation. In the West 
the haphazard nature of Nazi rule meant that diff erent countries re-
ceived diff erent treatment. Much was left to the local personalities. After 
the failure of Operation Barbarossa in 1942, however, outright exploi-
tation and labor conscription increased throughout Hitler’s formal em-
pire.25 So too did terror and genocide. Unable to seduce and having 
reached the limits of coercion, the Nazi empire was, all in all, a cata-
strophic failure.26 Yet its failure was not a foregone conclusion when 
the Nazis came to power in 1933. Brutal exploitation was certainly not 
the preferred mode of projecting international power during the Nazis’ 
fi rst foreign policy adventure.

As Gallagher and Robinson once observed, “It would clearly be un-
real to defi ne [British] imperial history exclusively as the history of those 
colonies coloured red on the map.”27 No map ever included Spain as 
part of Hitler’s empire. Nor did any map of the British Empire include 
Brazil or Argentina in the late nineteenth century. The purpose of these 
pages has been to argue that the German intervention in the Spanish 
Civil War constituted a project of informal imperialism inspired by 
Hjalmar Schacht, the lead economic architect of the Nazi recovery. 
Schacht’s was an alternative vision of German hegemony in Eu rope, 
one that favored Weltpolitik over Lebensraum.

The opportunity for Germany was born out of Iberian decline. Spain’s 
decades- long duel with itself led to a nasty, brutish, protracted civil war. 
The Nationalist rebellion that ignited it was not only uncoordinated 
but also largely unsuccessful; the generals sparked the social revolution 
they had sought to prevent. Broke and divided, their rebellion seemed 



doomed. In order to prevail against Spain’s legitimate government, they 
needed the tools of modern warfare the country had not been able to 
aff ord for de cades. The diplomatic decisions of July 25, 1936 made fas-
cist intervention the primary determinant of the war’s outcome. In what 
has rightly been called “a world war in miniature,” it was fascist inter-
vention that allowed for Nationalist victory.28

The dictators, however, did not embark on their Spanish adventures 
for ideological or strategic considerations alone. Mussolini followed 
his traditional Mediterranean policy. Antibolshevism and balance of 
power— along with Wagnerian bravado— informed Hitler’s decision to 
overrule a more careful and conservative Auswärtiges Amt. In a matter 
of weeks Reich diplomats, economic policymakers, and the Nazi Party 
began a long quest to profi t from the economic and po liti cal disloca-
tions created by the Civil War. For all its poverty, Spain remained re-
source rich— and a resource- starved Third Reich seized its chance.

On Iberian soil it fell to Nazi Party functionaries to craft informal 
empire. Most of them in fact answered not to Schacht but to Göring, 
who managed to outmaneuver Schacht po liti cally in late 1937.29 Yet 
the project was possible and profi table not because of Göring but be-
cause of Germany’s “economic dictator” and the economic system he 
was building. Schacht was the main architect of a Nazi economic system. 
His policy framework— monetary stimulus, concealed but extensive re-
armament, economic decoupling from Britain and the United States, 
trade diversion toward less developed countries where Germany could 
leverage its force, veiled export promotion, controversial debt manage-
ment, exchange and trade controls, and unpre ce dented state oversight 
of industry— delivered the weapons and dictated the priorities of German 
offi  cials operating in Spain.

In less than three years Germany eclipsed two centuries of Anglo- 
French dominance in Spain, suggesting that Spain was a more successful 
testing ground for informal empire than better- known targets of German 
infl uence in the Balkans, central Eu rope, and even Latin America. Con-
trolled by Bernhardt on the Nazi’s behalf, HISMA became a Reich- 
sponsored vehicle for a form of hegemony; this, as it turns out, was a 
type of vehicle for which Schacht had advocated. The goal was eco-
nomic symbiosis, whereby Germany exchanged the product at the core 
of its economic recovery (armaments) for control and, eventually, own-
ership of Spanish raw materials.
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The “economic dictator” of Nazi Germany was powerful indeed; 
but his vision was always contested. While he argued for clearing agree-
ments as the basis of long- term German economic hegemony, eff ec-
tively securing countries’ roles within Germany’s trading sphere, Göring 
and other Nazis favored sustaining a domestic boom that by 1937 was 
becoming too dependent on armaments. More than a turf war between 
two hubristic men, this was a battle between two conceptions of German 
power. The fi rst was Weltpolitik, focused on international markets and 
informal control; in the post- Wilhelmine period, Schacht had been one 
of its key supporters. The second, Lebensraum, favored a formal em-
pire, located in the East and involving a type of colonial resettlement 
that would require at the very least a massive relocation of local popu-
lations and at the most unpre ce dented genocide. Lebensraum promised 
“essential living space,” a concept intertwined with racialist interwar 
pseudo- science. The war of annihilation in turn necessitated unpre ce-
dented levels of economic self- suffi  ciency— autarky—at least for the 
“transformative confl agration,” another glorifi ed concept in völkish ide-
ology generally bereft of traditional economic considerations.

From his education as a disciple of List’s school of the “national 
economy” to his experience in Kaiserreich- occupied Belgium; from 
his fi rst term at the Reichsbank to his experience at 1920s international 
conferences, Schacht embodied the Weltpolitik tradition. Like Keynes, 
Schacht was convinced that the shipwreck of globalization was not tem-
porary. Germany’s salvation therefore lay in the pursuit of its own, stra-
tegic self- interest. Unilateralist and aggressive, Schachtian economics 
was not the only nationalist economics in Europe— but it was argu-
ably the most successful. For Schacht, decoupling from Britain and the 
United States would allow an assertive Germany to craft its own, al-
ternative economic and po liti cal hegemony over Eu rope. This concep-
tion of power did not require formal control; as he consistently argued 
on the perennial question of colonies, sovereignty mattered less than 
market access and natural resources.

With his unpre ce dented dual mandate over economic and mone-
tary policy, Schacht was at the heart of German economic policymaking 
between 1933 and 1937. He imposed comprehensive control over the 
German economy and crafted a network of bilateral trade deals that 
projected power beyond Germany’s borders. This “modern equivalent 
of barter” was particularly useful for a nation devoid of foreign exchange 



reserves and armies but equipped with a highly productive industrial 
sector. Lacking colonies, Germany would obtain inputs in exchange 
for its industrial produce. Through subsidies Schacht pushed overvalued 
German goods, and through clearing he dispensed with the lubricants 
of global trade— gold and hard currency— that his Reichsbank lacked.

Although it has been consistently ignored in the discussions of Nazi 
Germany’s po liti cal economy, Spain was unlike the other targets of 
Schachtian trade policy. In contrast to Latin America or the Balkans, 
Franco’s Nationalists needed precisely the products Hitler’s Sparta was 
so keen on producing. It exported its theoretically unproductive military 
output in exchange for strategic raw materials— including iron ore, py-
rites, wolfram, and foodstuff s— that fed back into the German economy. 
Far from doing Spain a fascist favor, Germany pressed fi rst for economic 
benefi ts and eventually direct own ership. While Britain, France, and 
the United States remained aloof, HISMA- ROWAK became a state- 
sponsored (if corrupt) vehicle for investment in Spain and German 
hegemony. This approach diff ered materially from— and arguably 
undermined— Fascist Italy’s own intervention.

During the Civil War the economic symbiosis between Spain and 
Germany worked, to the detriment of not only Spain’s more traditional 
trading partners, but also Mussolini’s Italy, Franco’s other sponsor. Raw 
material and foreign exchange transfers led to long- term investments 
on Spanish soil, as the German authorities sought to deepen trade re-
orientation by acquiring assets in Spain. Schacht’s part- time foreign 
policy interventions underscored what the Reich wanted to get out of 
a dependent Spain. This was anything but a relationship of equals. As 
the British representatives of Rio Tinto kept reminding the Foreign 
Offi  ce, resource- extraction in Spain helped Nazi Germany become 
better prepared for war. Perhaps more crucial was the eff ort to cement 
Germany’s central role in the Nationalist economy far beyond the end 
of the civil war.

Yet the onset of World War II wrecked Germany’s shadow empire 
in Spain, allowing Franco a freedom of action that he had lacked be-
fore. Although scholars like Leitz and García Pérez have been quick to 
call the German project in Spain a “failure” when looking at the 1936–
1945 period as a  whole, a diff erent conclusion may be reached by nar-
rowing the focus. All Nazi projects  were failures by 1945. But be-
tween 1936 and 1939 Germany reversed more than two centuries of 
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Anglo- French economic hegemony. At the end of its Civil War, the 
Francoist regime was friendly, pliable, and utterly dependent on Nazi 
diktats. The contrast with Fascist Italy could not be starker. A Ger-
many constrained in resources had become Spain’s most important 
trading partner. It would remain so well into the war. And without 
a wider war, it is highly likely that such dependence would have con-
tinued beyond when it did.

This leads us to the key question: Why was Schacht’s framework 
abandoned? Why was informal empire, as crafted in Spain as in the 
Balkans, not enough? The answer is partly po liti cal, partly ideological. 
Paradoxically, around the time his foreign trade model was succeeding 
in Spain, Schacht’s star waned in Berlin. The Spanish project can thus 
be placed within an internal radicalization that saw other, more tradi-
tionally conservative German leaders— men like von Neurath, Go-
erdeler, even von Blomberg— ousted from the Reich’s leadership. Men 
with a stronger commitment to Nazi ideology came to the fore.30 In 
contrast to Schacht, ideologues like Himmler and Darré believed the 
extension of informal control over other territories would not solve Ger-
many’s problems permanently.31 In Bernd Wenger’s formulation, how-
ever, their gamble on war “involved risks so great that they defy ratio-
nalization in terms of pragmatic self- interest.”32 The “war of the world” 
had a fundamentally diff erent character from anything Schacht had con-
templated. This was the essence of Hitler’s leadership. Rather than eco-
nomic preeminence in the Weltpolitik tradition that prevailed under 
Schachtian management until 1937, it was the goal of racially recast 
Lebensraum that dominated thereafter.

After 1939 Schacht was po liti cally disowned. Though he remained 
minister without portfolio until well into the war, he was neither con-
sulted on nor informed of Hitler’s decisions.33 A leading historian has 
suggested he attempted to defect to the United States in 1939.34 Allied 
troops in 1945 found him at Dachau, where he had been sent after Claus 
von Stauff enberg’s attempt to assassinate Hitler in July 1944. It was at 
Nuremberg that Schacht would see his bitter rival once again. During 
the trials, Allied soldiers showed the banker to a prison cell with two 
bathtubs. One was reserved for him, while in the other lay an over-
sized, naked Göring busily washing himself. “Sic transit gloria mundi!” 
Schacht refl ected. 35



* * *
On April 22, 1942, some weeks before the dinner party at which he 
boasted about his decisive role in the Spanish Civil War, Hitler devoted 
one of his diatribes to fi nanciers. Reminiscing about disagreements with 
Schacht, he wondered, “Seeing that the  whole gang of fi nanciers is a 
bunch of crooks, what possible point was there in being scrupulously 
honest with them?” Schacht had fatally underestimated the man through 
whom he aspired to remake Germany. “The method [of not disclosing 
one’s intentions] was also to the advantage of the fi nancial experts them-
selves;” the Führer continued, “for if things should go wrong, they 
would then be in the position to justify themselves in the public eye 
by claiming they had not been told the truth.”36 This was precisely 
Schacht’s defense at Nuremberg, where he claimed, as in his question-
able autobiography, that Hitler “would have found other methods and 
other assistance; [since] he was not a man to give up.”37 Calling Schacht 
“the façade of starched respectability,” U.S. prosecutor Robert Jackson 
insisted that the banker was “part of a movement that he knew was 
wrong, but was in it just because he saw it was winning.”38 It was a fair 
characterization of a hubristic man driven by an insatiable thirst for 
power. Yet neither naked opportunism nor enabling Hitler’s rearma-
ment was considered worthy of capital punishment. Perhaps it was not 
that Schacht was innocent, only that, as he allegedly told a visitor, for 
the trials to seem legitimate, someone had to walk out alive.39 There-
after Schacht would be found advising emerging market governments, 
running his own banking business, and somehow fi nding the time to 
stoke fears of infl ation by criticizing the “easy money” policies of the 
Reichsbank’s successor, the Bundesbank, in the 1960s.40

Schacht’s Faustian pact with Hitler yielded not only massive rear-
mament but also an informal projection of German economic power 
that promised more enduring results than the ultimately self- defeating, 
suicidal quest for Lebensraum. In light of the evidence that German in-
formal empire in Francoist Spain was in many respects viable, a dif-
ferent version of an “integrated” Eu rope becomes all too easy to imagine, 
buried though it has been for seven de cades.
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